Alcohol consumption and its association with long-term prognosis among cardiovascular disease patients

Chengyi Ding

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy Department of Epidemiology and Public Health University College London

Declaration

I, Chengyi Ding confirm that the work presented in this thesis is my own. Where information has been derived from other sources, I confirm that this has been indicated in the thesis.

Chengyi Ding

Abstract

Moderate alcohol consumption has been reported to be cardio-protective among apparently healthy individuals, but it remains unclear if this association is also present in those with cardiovascular disease (CVD). Inconsistency exists across guidelines regarding the recommended drinking limits for CVD patients. This thesis consists of three studies aiming to better understand alcohol consumption in this patient population and its association with long-term prognosis.

By pooling the results from de novo analyses of three cohorts and 12 published studies identified through a systematic review, meta-analyses of 48423 CVD patients (Study 1) found lower risk of mortality and subsequent cardiovascular events for an alcohol consumption up to 105 grams per week compared to current non-drinking. These effects, however, were significantly attenuated or absent after distinguishing former drinkers from non-drinkers. Meanwhile, little is known about the longitudinal dynamics of alcohol consumption in CVD patients and the associated health risks.

With repeated-measures data from two cohorts (n=12502), Study 2 plotted CVD patients' mean trajectory of weekly alcohol consumption as a function of time, centred on the date of diagnosis and spanning up to 30 years before and after the diagnosis. For male patients, mean consumption increased over time, peaked at eight years before diagnosis at 95 grams per week, and declined afterwards. A flatter trajectory was seen in female patients, which remained stable at around 30 grams per week and started to decline after diagnosis.

In Study 3, alcohol consumption trajectory was further differentiated into six distinct groups in an inception cohort of 1306 patients with incident CVD and related to their subsequent mortality risk from all causes. Patients who consistently drank moderately (within 112 grams per week) had a similar risk of mortality as those who were continuous non-drinkers. While increases in risk were found among patients who stopped drinking compared to continuous moderate drinkers, former drinkers also had the worst self-rated health.

Temporal variability in alcohol consumption highlights the importance of taking a longitudinal approach to examine alcohol health relations. Findings indicating

protective effects of baseline moderate drinking in CVD patients may be largely explained by a referent group contaminated by less healthy former drinkers and are not seen when considering long-term drinking trajectories. This thesis provides novel knowledge about alcohol's relation to cardiovascular health, which could be used to inform CVD patient care and low-risk drinking guidelines.

Impact statement

While the notion of potential health benefits related to moderate alcohol consumption has been widely studied among general populations, very few reports have looked at patients who have already experienced a CVD event and the methodology used is flawed in several important respects. It therefore has remained unclear what drinking advice should be given to CVD patients regarding their subsequent health, with varying consumption limits recommended in different clinical guidelines. This thesis addresses this research gap through three separate studies. Taken independently and together, these studies showcase novel research contributions which both advance future research and have implications for guidelines and patient care.

In addition to consolidating 20 years of existing evidence on the topic of alcohol consumption and prognosis in CVD patients, the meta-analyses outlined in this thesis (Study 1) bring in new insights by adding additional data from cohort analyses and, for the first time, evaluate the role of alcohol in experiencing a subsequent cardiovascular event. Findings from this body of work highlight several critical issues that need to be accounted for when modelling alcohol-related health risks. This work serves as a definitive contemporary source of evidence for CVD patients and their physicians worldwide to consult when making clinical decisions about their drinking and provides preliminary support for downward revisions of low-risk drinking limits in existing guidelines.

With prospectively recorded alcohol consumption across multiple assessment times, this thesis also presents the first attempt to show amongst CVD patients specifically how weekly consumption changes over a prolonged period from pre- to post-diagnosis, first assessed by plotting mean trajectories (Study 2) and then by differentiating between trajectory groups (Study 3). These findings can inform future inquiry into how alcohol drinking in an at-risk population is related to initial and subsequent disease onset and mortality. Additionally, this thesis has furthered the understanding of how long-term drinking profiles are associated with CVD patients' mortality risk (Study 3). In particular, it shows the additional insights obtainable from longitudinal exposure assessment, clarifying how a life course approach would be a fruitful avenue for future alcohol research.

Findings from this thesis have been disseminated through publications, conference presentations, and the media. The results of meta-analyses have been published in *BMC Medicine* and press released through the communications team at Springer Nature. The resulting media attention was extensive, including coverage from The Times, CNN, Reuters and UCL News. The remaining two pieces of work have been presented and discussed at international conferences and have resulted in two peer-reviewed publications.

Acknowledgements

I am truly grateful to all who have assisted in one way or another to the completion of this PhD work.

I am greatly indebted to my supervisors, Professor Annie Britton and Dr. Dara O'Neill. Without their constant support, encouragement, and insightful ideas, this thesis would not have been possible. They helped me maintain progress towards my goals, encouraged me when manuscript submissions not going as expected, and were with me all the way as I struggled to fathom out the complexities inherent in alcohol research. Their commitment and kindness have gone far above and beyond what could be expected. I just feel incredibly fortunate to have worked with and learnt from such intelligent, genuine, and supportive people.

I would also like to thank many of my lovely colleagues within the UCL Research Department of Epidemiology and Public Health. I am very grateful to my examiners Professor Jonathan Emberson and Dr. Rebecca Lacey for taking the time to appraise my thesis and perform my viva. Also, to Dr. Steven Bell for examining my upgrade. I hope I can repay their kindness in one day.

Importantly, I would also like to acknowledge all the participants and members of the study teams within Health Survey for England, Scottish Health Survey, UK Biobank study, Whitehall II study and EPIC-Norfolk study, for generously giving their time and efforts, and showing long-term dedication that has made examining drinking trajectories among CVD patients of this scale possible.

Lastly, I am eternally grateful to my family for their unconditional love and support throughout my research and writing up. Especially my fiancé supported and encouraged me when work was challenging. I know surviving the COVID-19 pandemic as a junior trainee doctor in the NHS and coping with the secondhand anxiety when I needed to meet deadlines has not been easy.

Table of contents

Declaration2
Abstract
Impact statement5
Acknowledgements7
Table of contents 8
List of tables 11
List of figures 13
List of abbreviations
Introduction to the thesis
Chapter 1 Background 20
1.1 Global burden of CVD
1.2 Alcohol consumption and related harms
1.3 Alcohol consumption and CVD23
1.3.1 Cardio-protective effect of alcohol in general population
1.3.2 Impact of alcohol on CVD patients 29
1.4 Aims and objectives 33
Chapter 2 Association of alcohol consumption with morbidity and
mortality in CVD patients: update and expanded meta-analysis (Study 1)35
2.1 Introduction to the study
2.2 Methods
2.2.1 De novo cohort analyses
2.2.2 Systematic review and meta-analysis
2.3 Results
2.3.1 Associations of alcohol with mortality and cardiovascular morbidity in
study cohorts
2.3.2 Characteristics of studies included in meta-analysis
2.3.3 Alcohol and all-cause mortality among CVD patients
2.3.4 Alcohol and cardiovascular mortality among CVD patients

2.3.5 Alcohol and cardiovascular events among CVD patients 2.3.6 Sensitivity analyses	84 89
2.4 Discussion	91
Chapter 3 Trajectories of alcohol consumption before and after CVI)
diagnosis: a longitudinal case-control study (Study 2)	97
3.1 Introduction to the study	97
3.2 Methods	98
3.2.1 Study design and population	98
3.2.2 Alcohol consumption	99
3.2.3 Covariates	99
3.2.4 Statistical analysis	100
3.3 Results	103
3.3.1 Sample characteristics	103
3.3.2 Trajectories of alcohol consumption prior to diagnosis	107
3.3.3 Trajectories of alcohol consumption following diagnosis	111
3.3.4 Post hoc analyses	114
3.4 Discussion	120
Chapter 4 Alcohol trajectories in relation to all-cause mortality in C	/D
patients: a prospective cohort study (Study 3)	125
4.1 Introduction to the study	125
4.2 Methods	126
4.2.1 Study design and population	126
4.2.2 Alcohol consumption	129
4.2.3 Outcome	133
4.2.4 Covariates	133
4.2.5 Statistical analysis	133
4.3 Results	135
4.3.1 Sample characteristics	
	135
4.3.2 Alcohol consumption trajectories and all-cause mortality	135 139
4.3.2 Alcohol consumption trajectories and all-cause mortality 4.3.3 Alcohol consumption categories based on single assessment.	135 139 139
 4.3.2 Alcohol consumption trajectories and all-cause mortality 4.3.3 Alcohol consumption categories based on single assessment . 4.3.4 Sensitivity analyses 	135 139 139 139 141

4.4 Discussion
Chapter 5 General discussion 149
5.1 Summary of findings 149
5.2 Strengths and limitations 151
 5.3 Implication and future work
5.4 Concluding remarks 160
Appendices
Appendices for Chapter 2 161
Appendices for Chapter 3 210
Appendices for Chapter 4 227
References

List of tables

Table 2.1 Baseline characteristics of participants included versus excluded from
analyses of HSE/SHeSs and UK Biobank 45
Table 2.2 Characteristics of participants at baseline 49
Table 2.3 Sensitivity analyses for association of drinking categories with
mortality and cardiovascular events in CVD patients, not adjusting for BMI 59
Table 2.4 Sensitivity analyses for association of drinking categories with
mortality and cardiovascular events in CVD patients, restricted to never
smokers
Table 2.5 Characteristics of 14 studies included in meta-analyses 63
Table 2.6 Drinking categories, effect estimates, and confounder adjustment
reported by studies on all-cause mortality65
Table 2.7 Drinking categories, effect estimates, and confounder adjustment
reported by studies on cardiovascular mortality
Table 2.8 Drinking categories, effect estimates, and confounder adjustment
reported by studies on cardiovascular events
Table 2.9 Best-fitting models and results of the meta-analysis on all-cause
mortality in CVD patients
Table 2.10 Best-fitting models and results of the meta-analysis on
cardiovascular mortality in CVD patients
Table 2.11 Best-fitting models and results of the meta-analysis on subsequent
cardiovascular events in CVD patients
Table 2.12 Results of meta-analysis on mortality in CVD patients using fixed
effect model
Table 3.1 Sample characteristics at the most recent phase before diagnosis 105
Table 3.2 Contribution of different beverage types to total alcohol intake in the
Whitehall II study 107
Table 3.3 Regression coefficients for the fixed effects of the best-fitting
multilevel growth curve models using imputed data
Table 4.1 Regression coefficients for the best-fitting group-based trajectory
model
Table 4.2 Patient characteristics by alcohol consumption trajectories 136
Table 4.3 Association between alcohol consumption and risk of all-cause

Table 4.4 Sensitivity analyses for association between alcohol trajectories and	b
all-cause mortality1	41
Table 4.5 Self-rated health over the assessment interval by alcohol	
consumption trajectories 1	43
Table 4.6 Association between alcohol trajectories and all-cause mortality with	h
further adjustment for changes in self-rated health 1	44

List of figures

Figure 1.1 Association of alcohol consumption with the risk of (a) all-cause
mortality and (b) cardiovascular mortality in CVD patients, a study by Costanzo
et al. [120]
Figure 2.1 An illustration of examples of the FP2 curve shapes available with
different power values of (p1, p2), a study by Royston et al. [161]
Figure 2.2 Flowchart of inclusion criteria for participants in HSE/SHeSs and UK
Biobank
Figure 2.3 Association of drinking categories with mortality and cardiovascular
events in CVD patients by study cohorts
Figure 2.4 Association of drinking categories with (a) all-cause mortality, (b)
cardiovascular mortality and (c) cardiovascular events in CVD patients, stratified
by cohort and sex
Figure 2.5 Association of drinking categories with (a) all-cause mortality, (b)
cardiovascular mortality and (c) cardiovascular events in CVD patients, stratified
by cohort and primary events
Figure 2.6 Study selection flowchart
Figure 2.7 Overall dose-response association between alcohol consumption
and risk of all-cause mortality in CVD patients, using maximally adjusted
estimates
Figure 2.8 Association between alcohol and all-cause mortality in CVD patients,
stratified by sex
Figure 2.9 Association between alcohol and all-cause mortality in CVD patients,
stratified by primary events
Figure 2.10 Association between alcohol and all-cause mortality in CVD
patients, relative to different non-drinking groups
Figure 2.11 Association between alcohol and all-cause mortality in CVD
patients, by different method of assessing alcohol consumption
Figure 2.12 Overall dose-response association between alcohol consumption
and risk of cardiovascular mortality in CVD patients, using maximally adjusted
estimates
Figure 2.13 Association between alcohol and cardiovascular mortality in CVD
patients, stratified by sex

Figure 2.14 Association between alcohol and cardiovascular mortality in CVD Figure 2.15 Association between alcohol and cardiovascular mortality in CVD Figure 2.16 Association between alcohol and cardiovascular mortality in CVD Figure 2.17 Overall dose-response association between alcohol consumption and risk of subsequent cardiovascular events in CVD patients, using maximally Figure 2.18 Association between alcohol and cardiovascular events in CVD Figure 2.19 Association between alcohol and cardiovascular events in CVD Figure 2.20 Association between alcohol and cardiovascular events in CVD Figure 2.21 Association between alcohol and cardiovascular events in CVD Figure 3.1 Flowchart of the case selection for each study...... 104 Figure 3.2 Trajectories of the mean volume of weekly alcohol consumption prior to and following the diagnosis of cardiovascular diseases, stratified by sex and case/control group (crude models using imputed data)...... 109 Figure 3.3 Trajectories of the mean volume of weekly alcohol consumption prior to and following the diagnosis of cardiovascular diseases, stratified by sex and Figure 3.4 Trajectories of the mean weekly alcohol consumption among males, stratified by case/control and age group (maximally adjusted models using Figure 3.5 Trajectories of the mean weekly alcohol consumption among females, stratified by case/control and age group (maximally adjusted models using imputed data) 118 Figure 3.6 Trajectories of the mean weekly alcohol consumption across age, stratified by sex and case/control group (crude models using imputed data). 119 Figure 3.7 Trajectories of the mean weekly alcohol consumption across age, stratified by sex and case/control group (maximally adjusted models using imputed data)......120

Figure 4.1 An illustration of study design	128
Figure 4.2 Alcohol consumption trajectories of the six groups identified using	J
group-based trajectory modelling	131

List of abbreviations

ACCF	American College of Cardiology Foundation
ACE	Angiotensin-converting enzyme
ADH	Alcohol dehydrogenase
AHA	American Heart Association
AIC	Akaike information criterion
ALDH2	Aldehyde dehydrogenase 2
Аро	Apolipoprotein
AvePP	Average posterior probability
BIC	Bayesian information criterion
BMI	Body mass index
CABG	Coronary artery bypass grafting
CHD	Coronary heart disease
CI	Confidence interval
CRP	C-reactive protein
CSE	Certificate of Secondary Education
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
EPIC	European Prospective Investigation of Cancer Study
FP	Fractional polynomial
GBTM	Group-based trajectory modelling
GCSE	General Certificate of Secondary Education
GENIUS-CHD	Genetics of Subsequent Coronary Heart Disease
GGT	Gamma-glutamyl transferase
GWAS	Genome-wide association study
HDL	High-density lipoprotein
HES	Hospital Episode Statistics
HF	Heart failure
HNC	Higher National Certificate
HND	Higher National Diploma
HR	Hazard ratio
HSE	Health Survey for England
ICD	International Classification of Diseases
IL	Interleukin
IQR	Interquartile range
IV	Instrumental variable
LVEF	Left ventricular ejection fraction

MI	Myocardial infarction
MICE	Multiple imputation by chained equations
MR	Mendelian randomisation
NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
NYHA	New York Heart Association
NVQ	National Vocational Qualification
OPCS4	Office of Population Censuses and Surveys' Classification of Interventions and Procedures Version 4
PCI	Percutaneous coronary intervention
PVC	Premature ventricular contraction
RR	Relative risk
SE	Standard error
SD	Standard deviation
SHeSs	Scottish Health Survey
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus
WHO	World Health Organization

Introduction to the thesis

This thesis starts with an overview of the definition and epidemiology of cardiovascular disease (CVD) in <u>Chapter 1</u>, describing its profound negative impact on public health and economic costs around the globe. With UK cohorts being used in the thesis, UK-specific CVD statistics will be provided in addition to global data.

As a leading modifiable risk factor for the global disease burden, alcohol consumption will be singled out as the exposure of interest, summarising current research that indicates the possibility of a cardio-protective effect at moderate levels of drinking in the general population. Evidence that suggests the impact of drinking patterns and underlying mechanisms will also be presented.

The chapter will then highlight the importance of secondary prevention in the healthcare of CVD patients and a possible role that alcohol can play in it. By summarising current guidelines and research on alcohol's association with CVD patients' prognosis, this chapter will point out the evidence gap in this area.

Chapters 2 to 4 comprise three different studies. Each chapter has four sections relating to the introduction, methodology, findings, and discussion of the study.

A previous meta-analysis, from over a decade ago, on the association between alcohol and CVD patients' prognosis was limited to mortality. **Chapter 2 (Study 1)** reports the results of an updated and expanded meta-analysis study that has included recent published studies, de novo findings from three large-scale UK cohorts – the Health Survey for England (HSE), the Scottish Health Survey (SHeSs) and the UK Biobank study, as well as morbidity outcomes. In addition to identifying reductions in risk of both mortality and cardiovascular morbidity at moderate levels of drinking compared to non-drinking among CVD patients, the new meta-analysis study will also outline some potential shortcomings underlying current investigations, such as inappropriate reference group selections and the use of single time-point alcohol observations.

Addressing these shortcomings, <u>Chapter 3 (Study 2)</u> presents a longitudinal nested case-control study illustrating how weekly alcohol consumption changes

over a prolonged period of up to 30 years before and after the onset of CVD, with repeated measures of alcohol intake from two ongoing UK cohorts – the Whitehall II study and the European Prospective Investigation of Cancer (EPIC)-Norfolk study. The chapter draws attention to the possible bias from single time-point alcohol assessments and the heterogeneity in drinking profiles over time across CVD patients, concluding that additional insights may be gained by applying a longitudinal, trajectory-based approach when modelling health risk in relation to alcohol consumption.

<u>Chapter 4 (Study 3)</u> includes a prospective cohort study that addresses several limitations in existing methods and formally examines whether long-term drinking profiles influence CVD patients' prognosis. Using repeated-measures data spanning up to three decades from the Whitehall II study, different trajectory groups of alcohol consumption are determined in an inception cohort of patients with incident CVD and linked to their subsequent risk of death from all causes. The results will also be compared to those of analyses based on single alcohol intake assessment in the same cohort to explore the utility of taking a longitudinal approach in examining the association of alcohol with health outcomes.

Finally, in <u>Chapter 5</u>, the findings from Chapters 2 to 4 are brought together and summarised. The Chapter also discusses the strengths and limitations, implications for practice and further work.

Chapter 1 Background

1.1 Global burden of CVD

CVD refers to a group of diseases that involve the heart and/or blood vessels, mainly including coronary heart disease [CHD, angina and myocardial infarction (MI)], stroke, congenital heart disease and vascular dementia [1].

CVD is the leading cause of mortality and a major contributor to disability across the world [2], responsible for an estimated 18.6 million deaths or one-third of all global deaths in 2019 [3]. Over the past few decades, due to modifications in risk factors and advances in medical treatments, large declines in CVD mortality have been seen in most regions of the world [4, 5]. In the UK for example, in 1969 the age standardised mortality rate from total CVD was 1045 per 100000 and this had fallen to 255 per 100000 in 2019 [6]. According to the 'Heart and Circulatory Disease Statistics 2021' report published by the British Heart Foundation [6], the main types of CVD are CHD and stroke, with nearly half of CVD deaths throughout the UK caused by CHD and a quarter by stroke. CHD by itself is the greatest single cause of death in the UK. In 2019, around 64000 deaths were due to CHD, accounting for 13% of all male deaths and 8% of all female deaths.

The improvements in survival have led to a high prevalence of people living with CVD and consequently huge amounts of healthcare and economic costs. Data from the Global Burden of Disease Study show that the number of prevalent CVD cases worldwide has increased rapidly since 1990, reaching 523 million in 2019 [3]. The total cost attributed to CVD was estimated at US\$863 billion in 2010, more than half (55%) of which came from direct healthcare costs and the remaining from indirect costs (productivity loss from disability or premature death and lost work time because of medical care). Overall, the global CVD cost is expected to rise and exceed US\$1 trillion by 2030 [7]. In the UK, it is estimated that currently 2.3 million people are suffering from CHD and 1.3 million people have survived a stroke [8]. With such a large patient population, the UK spent £9 billion on treating CVD each year. Taking indirect costs into account, CVD results in an economic impact of £19 billion to the UK economy each year [8].

In summary, CVD imposes a tremendous public health and economic burden around the globe, including the UK. Despite the declining trend in mortality, the huge number of patients who survive with the condition and the related costs underscore the importance of improving healthcare for CVD patients.

1.2 Alcohol consumption and related harms

Alcohol is a widely used psychoactive substance, which has toxic and dependence-producing properties [9]. Population levels of alcohol consumption are typically presented as three indicators: prevalence of current drinkers, total alcohol per capita consumption in litres of pure alcohol per person per year, and consumption in grams of pure alcohol per person per day. According to the most recent data published by the World Health Organization (WHO) [10], almost half of the global adult population (43%), which is 2.348 billion people of the population aged 15 years and over, are current drinkers. Taking into account both recorded and unrecorded alcohol (alcohol that is not accounted for in official statistics owing to unregulated production or importation), per capita consumption in the adult population worldwide was 5.5 litres of pure alcohol in 2005 (which translated into 11.9 grams of pure alcohol per person per day) and this had increased to 6.4 litres (13.9 grams per day) in 2016. Among drinkers per capita consumption rose globally from 11.5 litres (25.0 grams per day) to 15.1 litres (32.8 grams per day) over the same period, with about one guarter of all alcohol estimated to be consumed in the form of unrecorded alcohol.

Alcohol consumption is deeply ingrained within Western society. In 2017, an estimated 29.2 million people in the UK population drank alcohol [11]. In England, latest data from the HSE 2019 show that 80% of people aged 16 years and over drank alcohol in the previous year, and 48% drank alcohol at least once per week; there was a higher proportion of men than women who drank alcohol in 2019 (83% and 78%, respectively), with 55% of men and 41% of women drinking alcohol at least once per week [12]. Over the past few decades, the UK has seen a marked increase in recorded per capita consumption, from 7.1 litres (15.4 grams per day) in 1961 to 9.8 litres (21.3 grams per day) in 2016 [13]. Together with consumption of unrecorded alcohol, the annual per capita consumption in the UK reaches 11.4 litres (24.8 grams

per day), which is higher than the European average of 9.8 litres (21.3 grams per day). The UK also has a higher prevalence of heavy episodic drinking (29.8%; defined as 60 grams or more of pure alcohol on at least one single occasion at least once per month) compared to European (26.4%) or global (18.2%) averages [10].

Alcohol is associated with a large range of health conditions and remains one of the leading modifiable risk factors for the global disease burden [14]. Using a comparative risk assessment approach, Shield et al. [15] estimated that worldwide in 2016, alcohol was responsible for 5.3% of all deaths (3.0 million deaths) and 5.0% of all disability-adjusted life years (that is 131.4 million years of healthy life lost through disability and premature mortality), with the main contributors being injuries (intentional and unintentional) and digestive diseases. In keeping with the trend in alcohol consumption (as described above), the UK recorded 8974 deaths from alcohol-specific causes in 2020, an increase of 18.6% compared with 2019. More than three-quarters of these deaths were caused by alcoholic liver disease [16]. Indeed, within the UK, liver disease is the only major cause of death that is still rising year on year, with numbers increased by 400% since 1970, and is the biggest cause of death in people aged between 35-49 years old [17]. Consequently, the annual financial burden of alcohol on the UK society, through the increased costs of healthcare, policing, absenteeism, and other social problems, has been estimated at around £21 billion [18].

The huge burden and predicted increase in use until at least 2030 [19] highlight the need to implement the best evidence-based alcohol policies. Reducing the use of alcohol may also have a beneficial impact on other behavioural health risk factors, with studies consistently suggesting that alcohol changes affect tobacco more than tobacco changes affect alcohol [20]. Existing interventions tend to focus solely on heavier drinkers, through healthcare and social services and awareness-raising activities. Although treating alcohol dependence is important, clinical addiction treatment has not been shown to reduce population-level consumption and related harms [21]. Information dissemination and education alone that seek to change individuals' drinking behaviour have been largely unsatisfactory [22]. Despite being recommended by the WHO as the most cost-effective alcohol policies, across-the-board measures addressing

the physical availability, marketing, and price and taxation of alcohol are being implemented at a very slow pace. Data from 173 countries, which responded to the 2016 Global Survey on Alcohol and Health [10], show increasing number of licences to distribute and sell alcohol, with about two in five countries reporting growth in the number of licences to produce alcohol. Almost half of the countries have no restrictions on advertising alcoholic beverages on the internet and social media, and fewer than half of them use price strategies such as adjusting taxes to keep up with inflation and income levels, imposing minimum unit pricing or banning below-cost selling or volume discounts. A common argument against more stringent regulations and advocated by the alcohol industry is that these control policies would penalise the majority of drinkers who consume alcohol moderately, and that, because of the perceived benefits of alcohol on health conditions like CVD, moderate drinkers should be free from most interventions.

1.3 Alcohol consumption and CVD

1.3.1 Cardio-protective effect of alcohol in general population

Unlike the well-established adverse effects of alcohol use on conditions such as liver cirrhosis, injuries and certain cancers [23], moderate drinking has been associated with a lower risk of CVD versus non-drinking or heavier consumption (termed the J-shaped curve) in an extensive body of research on general populations, though whether the association is causal in nature remains under debate [24-26]. A comprehensive study addressing the association of alcohol with CVD outcomes in general population was undertaken by Ronksley et al. in 2011 [27]. By pooling data from 84 longitudinal cohort studies, Ronksley et al. assessed a broad array of relevant cardiovascular outcomes which included mortality from total CVD, CHD or stroke, and incidence of CHD or stroke. In accordance with many meta-analyses on this topic [28-33], their results showed that, compared with non-drinking, 2.5-14.9 grams of alcohol per day was associated with a 14-25% reduction in the risk of all five outcomes, while larger amounts of alcohol increased risks for stroke incidence and mortality. When studies were pooled chronologically, they found that the overall relations between alcohol intake and CVD/CHD became apparent at least one decade ago, and subsequent studies have made little changes to the estimated

associations. Similar observations have also been reported in more recent large-scale studies [34-37]. For example, a population-based cohort study, which included over 1.9 million participants and removed former/occasional drinkers from the non-drinking group, found an elevated risk of CHD, CVD and all-cause mortality among non-drinkers compared with moderate drinkers (within contemporaneous UK guidelines of 21 units per week for men and 14 units per week for women), whereas drinking exceeding the guidelines increased the risk of experiencing all outcomes except CHD [37].

1.3.1.1 Roles of drinking patterns and beverage type

In addition to the amount of alcohol consumed, the effect of alcohol on cardiovascular health can also vary depending on the pattern of consumption. In particular, binge or episodic heavy drinking has been found to increase the risk of CVD, modifying the protective association seen for average moderate drinkers. In a meta-analysis of 14 studies involving 4718 coronary events, heavy irregular drinking occasions (>60 grams of pure alcohol per occasion) were significantly associated with a 45% increased risk of CHD morbidity and mortality after controlling for average total alcohol intake [38]. Similar results have been reported in another meta-analysis of seven studies comparing two distinct drinking groups with the same average alcohol intake [31]: moderate drinkers (average intake >0 and <30 grams per day) who engaged in heavy episodic drinking, as compared with lifetime abstainers, had a pooled relative risk (RR) for developing CHD of 1.12 [95% confidence interval (CI)=0.91-1.37], whereas drinkers with the same average amount but without heavy drinking occasions had a pooled RR of 0.64 (95%CI=0.53-0.71). Using two large datasets from a community and an outpatient population, respectively, a recent study from USA [39] examined drinking frequency of 434321 participants and found elevated risk of cardiovascular and total mortality in binge drinkers (consuming 5 or more drinks on an occasion) and very frequent drinkers (6-7 times weekly), compared to those who consumed alcohol in moderate amounts 3 times weekly. Previous studies have also linked binge drinking pattern with higher stroke risk [40-42]. Binge drinking can lead to excessive concentrations of alcohol at the tissue level, accelerates alcohol metabolism and generation of reactive oxygen species and alcohol metabolites, and disrupts the antioxidant mechanisms [43]. Consequently, the UK Chief Medical Officers have advised

people who regularly drink as much as 14 units a week to spread their drinking evenly over 3 or more days per week [44].

Furthermore, there has been much discussion about whether different types of alcoholic beverage have differential influences on health. Some postulate that drinking wine may confer a greater cardiovascular benefit than other forms of alcohol, because wine contains polyphenols (like resveratrol and flavonoids) which have antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and cytoprotective properties [45]. Regular consumption of wine, especially red wine, has often contributed to explain the so-called French Paradox – the observation of a low incidence of and mortality rates from CHD in France despite the fact that saturated fat intakes, serum cholesterol, blood pressure and prevalence of smoking are no lower there than elsewhere [46]. However, most studies investigating the role of beverage type have found no major differences in CVD outcomes [33, 47, 48], indicating that the substantial portion of the apparent protection is from alcohol itself, rather than other, variable components [49]. Significant imbalances present between drinkers of different beverages with respect to various sociodemographic and lifestyle factors [50]. The differential cardio-protective effect of wine is accordingly most likely confounded by an overall more favourable cardiovascular risk profile among wine drinkers, as well as by the fact that wine is more often consumed in moderation in comparison to beer or spirit [51].

A recent published cohort study on 309123 UK participants suggested that consuming alcohol without food was associated with higher mortality (HR=1.10, 95%CI=1.02-1.17) relative to consumption with food when the same amount of alcohol was consumed overall; drinking with or without food however did not have an association with the risk of major cardiovascular events, liver cirrhosis, accidents/self-harm and cancer incidence [52]. In an Italian study, compared to drinkers of wine with meals, drinkers of wine outside meals were found to be at higher risk of all-cause, non-CVD and cancer mortality independent of the amount of alcohol consumed [53]. It is hypothesised that the presence of food causes prolonged gastric emptying, and that alcohol is absorbed more slowly in the intestine, resulting in lower and delayed peak blood alcohol levels [54, 55].

1.3.1.2 Putative biological mechanisms

Meanwhile, there is also some evidence that indicates the existence of

mechanisms by which alcohol might protect against CVD [56, 57]. Lipoproteins, namely high-density lipoprotein (HDL, commonly known as the 'good' cholesterol), have been considered as the primary biological pathway involved in the alcohol-CVD association [47]. In a meta-analysis of 63 feeding studies in this area, Brien et al. systematically reviewed the effects of alcohol intake on 21 candidate causal biomarkers and found that moderate alcohol consumption benefited a variety of the assessed biomarkers [58]. Specifically, for 30 grams alcohol (or about 3.5 UK units) consumed per day Brien et al. reported an increase in circulating HDL-cholesterol level of 3.66 mg/dL (95%CI=2.22-5.13) and an increase in apolipoprotein A-I (Apo A-I, the main structural and functional protein component of HDL) of 8.67 mg/dL (95%CI=6.81-10.32). Similar results have been found in a more recent randomised feeding trial conducted among men at high cardiovascular risk and without documented CVD, where serum HDL-cholesterol, Apo A-I and Apo A-II significantly increased by 5%, 6% and 7%, respectively, after four weeks of moderate alcohol use (30 grams per day) [59]. It is, however, noteworthy that the extent to which changes in HDL-cholesterol alter risk of cardiovascular adverse outcomes remains controversial. Pharmaceutical drugs that simply raise the amount of circulating HDL-cholesterol have not consistently resulted in decreased CVD and mortality risk [60, 61], bringing into doubts the potential cardiovascular benefits of alcohol-induced increase in HDL concentration.

Low-density lipoprotein (LDL, the 'bad' cholesterol) is a well-established risk factor for CVD. While the meta-analysis by Brien et al. [58] found no association between levels of alcohol consumption and LDL-cholesterol, others suggested that an association might exist and vary by population characteristics [62]. With increasing alcohol intake, circulating LDL-cholesterol has been reported to be decreased in Japanese [63] and Danish men and women [64] but increased in elderly Italian men [65] and Turks [66]. Discrepancies in analyses of different populations may partly result from allele-specific genetic effects [67]. For example, a previous study identified interactions between three ApoA5 genotypes and alcohol in determining serum LDL-cholesterol levels [68], and analysis of the Spanish EPIC cohort found that higher LDL-cholesterol with alcohol intake was primarily restricted to those carrying at least one copy of the Apo E4 allele [69].

Observational studies and meta-analyses have reported that moderate alcohol consumption was associated with lower risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) [70-72]. A comprehensive meta-analysis of 38 studies, representing 125926 incident T2DM cases in 1.9 million individuals, found a J-shaped relationship between alcohol intake and T2DM risk [70]. Compared with abstainers, reductions in risk were recorded at drinking levels of less than 63 grams of alcohol per day, with risk increasing above this threshold. Peak risk reduction was observed at 10-14 grams per day, with a decrease of 18% in hazards. Moderate drinking is demonstrated to increase insulin sensitivity and glucose metabolism by inhibiting fatty acid release from adipose tissue and elevating levels of adiponectin [73, 74]. Consumption of 30 grams of alcohol per day has been found to reduce insulin concentration during fasting by 19.2% and improve insulin sensitivity by 7.2% in nondiabetic postmenopausal women [75]. Also, similar alterations in glucose metabolism have been seen in patients with diabetes [76] and metabolic syndrome [77]. Increased insulin sensitivity, which is the converse of insulin resistance, is related to a decreased risk of developing T2DM and CVD.

Systemic inflammation is associated with cardiovascular risk [78, 79], and alcohol appears to have anti-inflammatory properties at low dose, most likely mediated through changes in cytokine profiles and cell signalling pathways [80-82]. It has been reported that, compared with non-drinkers and heavy drinkers, moderate drinkers tended to have lower levels of C-reactive protein (CRP), interleukin (IL)-6 and IL-1 receptor antagonist, an inflammatory marker profile which is consistent with conferring a reduced risk of developing CHD [83]. Although investigated to a lesser extent, alcohol in moderation may also have favourable effects on clotting-fibrinolysis system [84-86] and endothelial function [87, 88]. Given the crucial role of thrombosis/atherosclerotic arteries in major cardiovascular events, these effects may be important in mediating the posited benefits conferred by alcohol and require further evaluation.

1.3.1.3 Controversies over the cardio-protective effect

Nevertheless, many continue to question the cardio-protective effect of moderate drinking due to a number of methodological limitations in the current evidence base, which is comprised mainly of observational studies [25, 89].

Important among these are residual confounding and reverse causality, issues that plague epidemiological research more generally in efforts to establish causal inference [90]. Specifically, many cardiovascular risk factors have been found to be more prevalent among non-drinkers than moderate drinkers [91]; these factors, if not adequately accounted for, can lead to spurious conclusions. There are also concerns about misclassification and selection bias that are more pertinent to the investigation of alcohol-CVD association [92]. The bestknown example of the former is 'sick guitter' bias, whereby individuals who may have guit drinking owing to illness are included in the non-drinking reference group, making moderate drinkers appear to be at lower risk of adverse outcomes by comparison [93]. Healthier or more resilient drinkers are more likely to be enrolled into studies later in life, resulting in selection bias that favours drinkers in relation to non-drinkers [94]. Furthermore, although moderate alcohol consumption has been reported to promote beneficial changes in several biomarkers of cardiovascular health in short-term interventional studies (as described above), such benefits may only be transitory [90]. Alcohol can have delayed and/or cumulative effects [95], which can only be clarified with a long duration of follow-up. As long-term clinical trials of moderate alcohol use seem impractical and unethical, observational studies with more sophisticated designs are warranted to confirm or refute the currently still probably beneficial effect of moderate drinking [24].

Mendelian randomisation (MR) is an approach that has become increasingly popular in recent years for investigating the causal effect of alcohol on health. As a type of instrumental variable (IV) analysis, MR utilise genetic variants as proxies for exposures [96]. Unlike the exposures of interest, genetic variants are randomly assorted at meiosis. As such, observational studies based on this approach mimic the features of a randomised trial and are therefore not generally susceptible to bias from unmeasured confounding and reverse causation (that are typical of conventional observational epidemiology as discussed above), provided that all assumptions underlying the MR design hold true [97]. Additionally, effects derived from MR research are thought to be equivalent to lifetime differences, thereby reducing issues pertinent to transient fluctuations in exposures [98].

MR studies examining the causal role of alcohol in moderation on

cardiovascular health have yielded mixed results and varied in their methodology. For example, using the single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) rs1229984 in alcohol dehydrogenase 1B (ADH1B) as the genetic instrument, Silverwood et al. [99] performed a MR study among 80057 individuals of European ancestry (sourced from the Alcohol-ADH1B Consortium) and found evidence for a non-linear effect of alcohol consumption on several cardiovascular traits, such as CRP, body mass index (BMI) and waist circumference, suggesting that moderate drinkers had a more favourable cardiovascular risk profile compared to non-drinkers. Such causality, however, was not found in MR studies of Chinese populations, where aldehyde dehydrogenase 2 (ALDH2)-rs671 alone [100] or combined with ADH1Brs1229984 [101] served as the instruments. Given that MR is relatively new and substantial methodological heterogeneity (and weakness) exists across current MR studies on alcohol's relation to CVD, it is not yet possible to draw definite conclusions about causality of the associations found. Particularly, MR should not yet be considered as a substitute for long-term randomised trials and has its own potential sources of bias, including weak instruments, collider bias and residual population stratification [102]. Nevertheless, being a rapidly evolving approach, MR provides new opportunities to test causality in alcohol research. With continuous progress in methodology, MR is expected to add significantly to the ongoing debate about the potential health benefits of moderate drinking; this is discussed further in Chapter 5 Section 5.3.2.

1.3.2 Impact of alcohol on CVD patients

As indicated in Section 1.1, despite the worldwide falling trend in CVD mortality rates, the number of CVD patients may actually be increasing because of the more advanced treatments of these patients and also the ageing of populations [103]. More importantly, this enlarging patient group carries a very high risk for subsequent events [104]. Therefore, CVD patients have been recognised as top priority for reducing CVD burden, while improving wellbeing and preventing cardiovascular events (secondary prevention) have been regarded as essential goals of their healthcare [105].

Lifestyle and dietary habits interventions are the cornerstone of CVD prevention efforts [106]. However, the impact of alcohol consumption on CVD patients'

long-term prognosis remains less well documented and recommendations for patients regarding upper limits of drinking vary substantially across different guidelines (with some examples listed in Box 1.1) [107-110]. Noteworthily, these recommendations are supported mainly by evidence from general population studies. While light to moderate drinking appears to be cardio-protective in general populations (see Section 1.3.1), it may be erroneous to extend the posited cardio-protective effects to CVD patients due to their more advanced age, higher rate of comorbidities, compromised blood vessels as well as the prescribed medications they take to prevent future events [111, 112]. Specifically, with the possibility of disease progression and recurrent events, patients with established CVD may derive considerable benefit from any protection conferred by moderate drinking. Alternatively, these patients may become more sensitive to alcohol's adverse effects on several cardiovascular functions such as raised heart rate and blood pressure levels [113, 114], shifting the overall association away from a clinical benefit. Though not fully understood, epidemiological evidence indicates that the biological mechanisms by which alcohol may influence CVD prognosis are different from those mediating the initial disease onset (detailed further in Chapter 2 Section 2.4) [115, 116]. Alcohol has been reported to have no direct protective effect on myocardium following ischaemia-reperfusion injury in some experimental studies [117, 118]. These findings further stress the need for clarifying the role of alcohol in the patient groups, despite a significant body of literature on alcohol consumption and primary events from the general population.

Box 1.1 Recommendations on alcohol consumption for CVD secondary prevention

- AHA/ACCF (American Heart Association/American College of Cardiology Foundation) Secondary Prevention and Risk Reduction Therapy for Patients With Coronary and Other Atherosclerotic Vascular Disease: 2011 Update: "All patients should be counselled regarding the need for lifestyle modification: weight control; increased physical activity; alcohol moderation – up to 1 drink per day for women and up to 2 drinks per day for men according to the national dietary guidelines with 1 drink equal to 14 grams of ethanol [119]; sodium reduction; and emphasis on increased consumption of fresh fruits, vegetables, and low-fat dairy products [108]."
- Guidelines for the Prevention of Stroke in Patients With Stroke and Transient Ischemic Attack: A Guideline for Healthcare Professionals From the AHA/American Stroke Association (2014): "Patients with ischemic stroke, TIA, or haemorrhagic stroke who are heavy drinkers should eliminate or reduce their consumption of alcohol; light to moderate amounts of alcohol consumption (up to 2 drinks per day for men and up to 1 drink per day for nonpregnant women, with 1 drink equal to 14 grams of ethanol) may be reasonable, although non-drinkers should not be counselled to start drinking [109]."
- Acute coronary syndromes NICE (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence) guideline (2020), 1.9 Lifestyle changes after an MI: "For advice on alcohol consumption, see the UK government drinking guidelines [107] – men and women should not regularly drink more than 14 units (or equivalent to 112 grams) of alcohol per week [44]."
- Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease: Pocket Guidelines for Assessment and Management of Cardiovascular Risk (WHO, 2007), Part 2 Management of people with established CHD, CeVD or peripheral vascular disease (secondary prevention): "Individuals who take more than 3 units (or equivalent to 30ml≈23.7 grams) of alcohol per day should be advised to reduce alcohol consumption [110]."

Research on the relations between alcohol consumption and prognosis among CVD patients has been sparse and inconsistent. The most recent meta-analysis to have investigated this association was conducted by Costanzo et al. in 2010 (referred to as the 2010 meta-analysis below) [120]. By pooling data of 16351 patients with a history of MI, angina, or stroke from eight studies published between 1998 and 2008, they found a J-shaped dose-response relationship between alcohol and mortality, with the greatest reduction in risk evident at about 7 grams per day for all-cause mortality (RR=0.82, 95%CI=0.90-0.75) and 8 grams per day for cardiovascular mortality (RR=0.78, 95%CI=0.87-0.70) relative to non-drinkers (Figure 1.1).

Unfortunately, the 2010 meta-analysis was limited to studies on mortality and did not include any non-fatal outcomes. CVD patients are at high risk of recurring events and those non-fatal events can severely impair their guality of life [121, 122], it is therefore of great importance to examine the association of alcohol with cardiovascular morbidity, thereby providing a more complete picture of how alcohol consumption can be managed for optimal secondary CVD prevention. Furthermore, all the individual study estimates contributing to the 2010 meta-analysis were calculated according to a single baseline measure of alcohol intake, despite apparent changes in drinking behaviour across the life course [123] and findings that instability in drinking behaviour over time increases CHD/mortality risk among general populations (discussed further in Chapter 4 Section 4.1) [124-126]. While several new studies addressing alcohol and CVD patients' prognosis [127-129] have been published in the decade since the 2010 meta-analysis, no study to date has examined the impact of changing drinking levels in this patient population. Large knowledge gaps remain regarding alcohol consumption over time amongst CVD patients and the associated health consequences.



Figure 1.1 Association of alcohol consumption with the risk of (a) all-cause mortality and (b) cardiovascular mortality in CVD patients, a study by Costanzo et al. [120]

1.4 Aims and objectives

The overarching aim of this thesis is to investigate the association between alcohol consumption and long-term prognosis in patients with established CVD. This will include determining the upper thresholds of patients' alcohol intake associated with lower risk for mortality as well as cardiovascular morbidity, to help in the formulation of evidence-based low-risk drinking guidelines. There will also be particular focus on a longitudinal, trajectory-based approach that illustrates and accounts for the dynamic diverse nature of alcohol use in CVD patients, thereby improving the validity of estimates of the association between alcohol and health risks.

The specific objectives of this thesis are as follows:

- To estimate the dose-response relationships between alcohol consumption and risk of mortality and subsequent cardiovascular events in CVD patients (Chapter 2),
- (2) To describe patients' mean trajectories of alcohol consumption and possible changes in mean consumption in relation to their CVD onset (Chapter 3),
- (3) To explore the heterogeneity in trajectories of alcohol consumption among CVD patients (Chapter 4),
- (4) To investigate how different trajectories of alcohol consumption are associated with patients' mortality risk (Chapter 4), and
- (5) To assess the utility of taking a longitudinal approach in developing a better understanding of the association between alcohol and health outcomes (Chapter 4).

Chapter 2 Association of alcohol consumption with morbidity and mortality in CVD patients: update and expanded meta-analysis (Study 1)¹

2.1 Introduction to the study

As discussed in the previous chapter (see Section 1.3.2), the latest metaanalysis study (the 2010 meta-analysis [120]) to have explored the association between alcohol and CVD patients' long-term prognosis included only mortality outcomes and was published over one decade ago. This chapter therefore presents an updated and expanded meta-analysis study that has included de novo findings from three large-scale contemporary cohorts as well as those from 12 published studies identified through a systematic review. In addition to estimating risk of mortality among CVD patients, this meta-analysis also examined the dose-response association between alcohol intake and subsequent cardiovascular events. Quantitative syntheses were conducted on each outcome of interest and reported in this chapter following a two-step framework, first calculating estimates of the association separately in the contributing cohorts (see the sections below on 'De novo cohort analyses') and then meta-analysing the results together with those available in published literature (see the sections below on 'Systematic review and meta-analysis').

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 De novo cohort analyses

2.2.1.1 Study cohorts and participants

Data were derived from participants in HSE [130], SHeSs [131], and UK Biobank [132]. The datasets were chosen for their large sample size and coverage of pertinent variables (alcohol intake data, relevant covariates and verified outcome data). Complete cohort profiles are available via the above citations. Briefly, HSE/SHeSs is a series of surveys which use a multistage stratified design to draw a nationally representative sample of the general

¹ Some of the findings presented in this chapter have informed the journal article: Ding C, O'Neill D, Bell S, Stamatakis E, Britton A. Association of alcohol consumption with morbidity and mortality in patients with cardiovascular disease: original data and meta-analysis of 48423 men and women. BMC Med. 2021;19(1):167. Please see Appendix 2.1 for full paper.

population living in England/Scottish households. Each survey year consists of a new sample of private residential addresses and participants and entails a household interview followed by a nurse visit to collect baseline information on demographics, anthropometry, self-reported health, and health-related behaviours. Participants have been asked for consent to follow-up through data linkage, thus converting cross-sectional survey data into a longitudinal study with samples from different survey years assessed across a range of health outcomes. The present analyses combined data from the 1994-2008 HSE datasets and the 1995, 1998 and 2003 SHeSs datasets and were restricted to participants aged 16 years and over self-reporting diagnosis of MI/angina (not recorded separately) or stroke prior to baseline.

UK Biobank is a prospective study of more than 500000 participants, aged 40-69 years when recruited in 2006-2010. Participants were invited to attend one of 22 centres across England, Scotland, and Wales, where a touchscreen questionnaire was completed, a nurse-led interview was performed, and physical measurements were taken. Participants were included in the data analyses if they had MI, angina, or stroke before recruitment based on record linkage to the Hospital Episode Statistics (HES, 2 December 1980 onwards). Algorithmic definitions developed by the UK Biobank Outcome Adjudication Group were applied for identification of MI [133] and stroke [134]; overall accuracy of algorithmically defined events using hospital records in UK Biobank was high, with an estimated positive predictive value of 75-100% for MI and 68-90% for stroke [135]. Classification algorithms for angina were developed using the process and data fields (diagnoses in the primary or any secondary position) recommended by the Group [135] with relevant codes from the International Classification of Diseases (ICD) Edition 9 and Edition 10 listed in Appendix 2.2 [136].

2.2.1.2 Alcohol assessment

At baseline of each cohort, participants were asked about their drinking status (never, former, or current drinker) and were asked to report their average weekly or monthly consumption of different types of alcoholic beverages. These measures were then converted into standard UK units and summed to obtain an average alcohol consumption in units per week, where one unit contains 8
grams of ethanol [137] and is equivalent to half a pint of beer/cider, half a glass of wine, one measure of spirits, or one glass of fortified wine [138]. A large glass of alcopops and other forms of alcohol count as 1.5 units [139]. Former drinkers were categorised separately from never drinkers, and never drinkers were used as the reference group to provide additional data for meta-analyses on different non-drinking reference group. Current drinkers were categorized into three groups in line with the NICE definitions: low-level drinkers (\leq 14 units per week), medium-level drinkers (>14 to \leq 50 units per week for men, >14 to \leq 35 units per week for women), and high-level drinkers (>50 units per week for men, >35 units per week for women) [140]. Additional information on drinking patterns (the timing of consuming alcohol in relation to food and frequency of binge drinking) was obtained from UK Biobank, but not available from HSE/SHeSs.

2.2.1.3 Covariates

Covariates considered in analyses were assessed at baseline and included age, sex, smoking status (never, ex-smoker, or current smoker), self-reported history of diabetes and hypertension, socioeconomic position or education, BMI, and regular medications (cholesterol-lowering medications, antihypertensive medications, antiplatelet agents, digoxin, and warfarin). In HSE/SHeSs, socioeconomic position was defined using the participant's occupational classification, categorised as low (semi-skilled or unskilled manual), intermediate (skilled non-manual or manual) or high (professional or managerial technical) [141]. For UK Biobank participants, highest educational qualification was used as a proxy for socioeconomic position and categorised into four levels: (1) none; (2) O levels, General Certificate of Secondary Education (GCSE), Certificate of Secondary Education (CSE) or equivalent; (3) A/AS levels, National Vocational Qualification (NVQ), Higher National Diploma (HND), Higher National Certificate (HNC) or other professional qualification; and (4) college, university degree or higher [142].

2.2.1.4 Outcome

Alcohol consumption was assessed in relation to three outcomes: all-cause mortality, cardiovascular mortality (ICD-10 codes I00-I99) [143] and major cardiovascular events (as defined below). Date and underlying cause of death (coded with ICD-10) were ascertained by national death registries and all

37

cohorts contributed to the mortality analyses. Participants were censored at their date of death (if not from cardiovascular causes), the date they left the UK or the end of follow-up (until 14 February 2011 in HSE, 31 December 2009 in SHeSs or 9 February 2018 in UK Biobank), whichever came first.

Cardiovascular events were defined as a composite of angina, fatal and nonfatal MI and stroke, revascularization procedures (angioplasty or coronary artery bypass graft), death from heart failure (HF), and sudden cardiac death, and only UK Biobank contributed data to the analysis on cardiovascular events. Non-fatal events were identified from linked HES records using primary diagnoses coded with ICD-10 and procedures coded with OPCS4 (the Office of Population Censuses and Surveys' Classification of Interventions and Procedures Version 4), as given in Appendix 2.2. Any hospital or death records that occurred within 28 days of the date for a detected event were considered to relate to the same event [144]. Participants were followed up until the date of their first detected event or were censored on the date they left the UK or the last date of data linkage (31 March 2017).

2.2.1.5 Statistical analysis

Due to differing study designs and unavailability of identical covariates (see sections 2.2.1.1 and 2.2.1.3 above), pooled analysis (individual participant data meta-analysis) of HSE/SHeSs and UK Biobank was not considered appropriate. Instead, statistical analyses were conducted for each dataset independently. Multivariable Cox proportional hazard models were used to calculate hazard ratios (HRs) and 95% CIs for the associations of different drinking categories with each outcome of interest versus never drinkers. Adjustments were made for age, sex, and smoking status in initial models and then for all covariates in maximally adjusted models. For HSE/SHeSs datasets, additional adjustment for survey wave was made using shared-frailty models to account for within-group correlations. Plots of Schoenfeld residuals against time were inspected to ensure the validity of the proportional hazards assumption (see Appendix 2.3). In stratified analyses by primary cardiovascular events, models were mutually adjusted for each other (MI, angina, and stroke) as well as all covariates. For example, models were adjusted for all covariates plus previous angina and stroke in the stratified analysis for patients with a history of MI, and for stroke

patients models were adjusted for all covariates, previous angina and MI. Interactions between drinking category and sex in relation to each outcome of interest were tested using the likelihood ratio method, comparing models with and without the interaction term. Because BMI could act as both a confounder and a mediator of the effects, a sensitivity analyses was carried out by not adjusting BMI in the maximally adjusted models. Sensitivity analysis restricted to never smokers was also performed, diminishing any residual confounding by smoking status.

2.2.2 Systematic review and meta-analysis

2.2.2.1 Search strategy and study selection

This chapter followed PRISMA and MOOSE reporting guidelines for metaanalyses of observational studies [145, 146]. Medline and Embase were searched using subject headings and free-text terms for relevant studies up to 30 July 2020. No restriction was made on language or date of publication, and the full search strategy is presented in Appendix 2.4. Also, bibliographies of eligible studies and a previous systematic review [111] on this topic were handsearched for any studies missed by the initial database searches.

After removing duplicates and multiple reports from the same dataset (retaining the study with the longer follow-up), citations were screened by Chengyi Ding (CD) to exclude any that did not report a prospective relationship between alcohol consumption and outcomes of interest among patients with established CVD. Full text of the remaining citations was then independently assessed by two pairs of reviewers – CD plus Professor Annie Britton (AB) or Dr. Dara O'Neill (DON) – for eligibility.

Studies were selected if they met all of the following criteria:

- Longitudinal study design, including randomized control trials where alcohol consumption was not part of the interventions,
- (2) Study population were patients with a history of MI, angina, or stroke,

- (3) Exposure to alcohol was reported across at least three categories of volume, inclusive of a non-drinking group (to allow for testing curvilinear associations),
- Outcome was all-cause mortality, cardiovascular mortality, or subsequent cardiovascular events, and
- (5) Risk estimates were adjusted at least for age, sex, and smoking status.

Studies were excluded if the reported alcohol consumption could not be converted into grams per day or if frequency counts, risk estimate, and its corresponding 95%CI were not available after contacting the authors. The interrater agreement for this review process was high with a Fleiss kappa of 0.85. Any disagreements were resolved by consensus. If necessary, study authors were contacted to obtain data suitable for inclusion in the meta-analyses.

2.2.2.2 Data extraction and quality assessment

Data extraction was undertaken by one reviewer (CD) and then independently checked by a second reviewer (AB/DON), using a standardized data extraction form. Extracted information included study design (setting, sample size, length of follow-up), patient demographics (primary events, baseline age, sex), assessment of alcohol use and outcomes, frequency counts and risk estimates by drinking category and confounder adjustments. Whenever available, the amount of alcohol consumed was collected, using grams of alcohol per day as the common unit of measure. To convert the number of drinks to grams in four included studies (one conducted in Italy [127] and three in USA [147-149]) which did not specify the quantity of ethanol contained in one drink, countryspecific standard drinks (Italy=12 grams, USA=14 grams [150]) were applied. A factor of 0.79 was used for the conversion of millilitres to grams (where 1 millilitre of ethanol equals to 0.79 grams [151]) in one study [152]. In six studies [129, 147, 153-156], exposures to alcohol were categorised according to time periods longer than one day and were transferred into daily estimates by assuming an even distribution; for example, weekly alcohol intakes were divided by seven. Where averages were not reported for each drinking category, the midpoints of the range were chosen. For open-ended upper categories, mean values were defined as 1.2 times the lower boundary as proposed by Berlin et

al. [157]. Similar findings were observed when multiplying the lower boundary for the open-ended upper categories by 1.0, 1.4, or 1.6 rather than 1.2 (see Appendix 2.5).

Given that a non-drinking reference group was used in all included studies except one [155], risk estimates for different drinking categories compared to non-drinkers were preferred. For a single study where occasional drinkers served as the reference group [155], the risk estimates were recalculated to obtain alternative estimates each versus a non-drinker group. An Excel spreadsheet developed by Hamling et al. was applied during the recalculation to account for the non-independence between risk estimates that shared a common reference group [158]. When a study reported risk estimates with different degrees of statistical adjustment for confounding, the most adjusted one was used. Furthermore, to investigate the possible impact of overadjustment for potential mediators on the results, a sensitivity analysis was performed by using risk estimates that were only controlled for age, sex and smoking status, the three most relevant confounding factors for the alcohol-CVD relationship [31]. RRs were used as the common measure of association across studies, and HRs were considered equivalent to RRs [70]. Study quality was assessed using the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (see Appendix 2.6) [159]. The scale consists of eight items assessing studies in the following three dimensions: (1) selection of cohorts, (2) comparability of study design and analysis, and (3) outcome ascertainment and adequacy of follow-up. A study is awarded stars for items within each dimension for a maximum of nine stars.

2.2.2.3 Data synthesis

For each outcome of interest, a family of second-degree fractional polynomial models (FP2) was generated to perform a power transformation of the exposure variable [160]:

$$\log RR = \begin{cases} \beta_1 x^{p_1} + \beta_2 x^{p_2} & \text{if } p_1 \neq p_2 \\ \beta_1 x^{p_1} + \beta_2 x^{p_2} \log(x) & \text{if } p_1 = p_2 \end{cases}$$

whereby convention x^0 (with power p=0) equals log(x) rather than 1. p₁ and p₂ were taken from a predefined set P = (-2, -1, -0.5, 0, 0.5, 1, 2, 3) which allows for a very large and varied set of functions, including U- and J-shaped curves, to be generated. Figure 2.1 shows some examples of the FP2 curve shapes [161]. For x=0, the function would start from log RR=0 and therefore no constant term (that is the intercept) was considered in the models for the present study [162]. Best fit was defined as the model with the lowest deviance.





With the terms of exposure identified in the best-fitting FP2, a two-stage regression model was fitted to summarise the association between alcohol consumption and each outcome of interest. The first stage generated the dose-response model within each study and the second stage pooled study-specific trends using a random effect model to account for heterogeneity between studies [163, 164]. Heterogeneity between studies was quantified using the I² index [165], and a sensitivity analysis was performed using a fixed effect meta-analysis model when no heterogeneity existed. Additional sensitivity analysis was carried out by excluding studies of the lowest quality. Several pre-defined subgroup analyses were also performed according to sex, primary event, and type of non-drinking reference group and alcohol assessment for each outcome of interest.

Publication bias was assessed through visual inspection of funnel plots and Egger's regression test for asymmetry [166]. As asymmetry cannot be examined using continuous dose-response data, alcohol consumption in each study was reclassified into three groups (0-10, 10-20, and >20 grams per day) according to its averages of the reported categories. For each outcome, analysis of asymmetry was repeated for each of the three drinking groups. All statistical analyses were performed using Stata (version 15.1). A P-value (two-sided) <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Associations of alcohol with mortality and cardiovascular morbidity in study cohorts

As shown in Figure 2.2, complete data for the de novo cohort analyses were available for 2802 participants (MI/angina=2341, stroke=535) in HSE/SHeSs and 14386 participants (MI=5333, angina=9589, stroke=2064) in UK Biobank. Compared with participants who were included in analyses, those who were excluded due to missing data were more likely to be female, older, less educated; they also had higher BMI, a higher prevalence of diabetes, and reported less use of alcohol and cardiovascular drugs (Table 2.1).

Cohort samples at initial exposure assessment HSE/SHeSs=38012, UK Biobank=502536

Participants with pre-existing angina, MI, or stroke HSE/SHeSs participants with self-reported MI/angina or stroke (n=6270) UK Biobank participants with HES confirmed angina, MI, or stroke (n=18532)



Figure 2.2 Flowchart of inclusion criteria for participants in HSE/SHeSs and UK Biobank

	Included	Excluded	P-value*
HSE/SHeSs			
Total N	2802	3468	
Age, mean (SD), years	67.3 (10.6)	69.1 (11.7)	<0.001
Missing	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Alcohol intake, mean (SD), g/day	9.0 (16.9)	6.3 (13.5)	<0.001
Missing	0 (0.0)	1899 (54.8)	
BMI, mean (SD), kg/m ²	28.1 (4.8)	28.7 (5.0)	<0.001
Missing	0 (0.0)	1244 (35.9)	
Sex			
Male	1598 (57.0)	1825 (52.6)	<0.001
Female	1204 (43.0)	1643 (47.4)	
Missing	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Smoking status			
Never	861 (30.7)	1197 (34.5)	0.005
Ex-smoker	1357 (48.4)	1566 (45.2)	
Current smoker	584 (20.8)	697 (20.1)	
Missing	0 (0.0)	8 (0.2)	
History of diabetes			
No	2474 (88.3)	2989 (86.2)	0.013
Yes	328 (11.7)	479 (13.8)	
Missing	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
History of hypertension			
No	2408 (85.9)	2976 (85.8)	0.887
Yes	394 (14.1)	492 (14.2)	
Missing	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Socioeconomic position†			
Low	843 (30.1)	971 (28.0)	0.164
Intermediate	1312 (46.8)	1446 (41.7)	
High	647 (23.1)	807 (23.3)	
Missing	0 (0.0)	244 (7.0)	
Cholesterol-lowering medications			
No	2158 (77.0)	1244 (35.9)	<0.001
Yes	644 (23.0)	1037 (29.9)	
Missing	0 (0.0)	1187 (34.2)	
Antihypertensive medications			
No	1260 (45.0)	744 (21.5)	<0.001
Yes	1542 (55.0)	1537 (44.3)	
Missing	0 (0.0)	1187 (34.2)	
Antiplatelet agents			
No	1542 (55.0)	981 (28.3)	<0.001

Table 2.1 Baseline characteristics of participants included versus excluded from analyses of HSE/SHeSs and UK Biobank

Yes	1260 (45.0)	1300 (37.5)	
Missing	0 (0.0)	1187 (34.2)	
	0700 (00 4)		0.047
INO Martin	2700 (96.4)	2167 (62.5)	0.017
Yes	102 (3.6)	114 (3.3)	
Missing	0 (0.0)	1187 (34.2)	
Warfarin			
No	2802 (100.0)	2281 (65.8)	NA
Yes	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Missing	0 (0.0)	1187 (34.2)	
UK Biobank			
Total	14386	4146	
Age, mean (SD), years	61.6 (6.2)	61.2 (6.5)	<0.001
Missing	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Alcohol intake, mean (SD), g/day	19.2 (21.4)	13.5 (17.1)	<0.001
Missing	0 (0.0)	3370 (81.3)	
BMI, mean (SD), kg/m²	29.2 (4.9)	30.1 (5.4)	<0.001
Missing	0 (0.0)	250 (6.0)	
Sex			
Male	10161 (70.6)	2525 (60.9)	<0.001
Female	4225 (29.4)	1621 (39.1)	
Missing	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Smoking status			
Never	5360 (37.3)	1502 (36.2)	<0.001
Ex-smoker	7241 (50.3)	1768 (42.6)	
Current smoker	1785 (12.4)	675 (16.3)	
Missing	0 (0.0)	201 (4.8)	
History of diabetes			
No	11941 (83.0)	3259 (78.6)	<0.001
Yes	2445 (17.0)	887 (21.4)	
Missing	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
History of hypertension			
No	6316 (43.9)	1829 (44.1)	0.809
Yes	8070 (56.1)	2317 (55.9)	
Missing	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Highest educational qualification‡			
None	4663 (32.4)	1581 (38.1)	<0.001
O levels or equivalent	2082 (14.5)	497 (12.0)	
A levels or equivalent	4623 (32.1)	1028 (24.8)	
Degree	3018 (21.0)	501 (12.1)	
Missing	0 (0.0)	539 (13.0)	
Cholesterol-lowering medications			
No	2459 (17.1)	727 (17.5)	0.001
Yes	11927 (82.9)	3032 (73.1)	

Missing	0 (0.0)	387 (9.3)	
Antihypertensive medications			
No	4313 (30.0)	1149 (27.7)	0.485
Yes	10073 (70.0)	2610 (63.0)	
Missing	0 (0.0)	387 (9.3)	
Antiplatelet agents			
No	2978 (20.7)	965 (23.3)	<0.001
Yes	11408 (79.3)	3181 (76.7)	
Missing	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Digoxin			
No	14177 (98.5)	4086 (98.6)	0.979
Yes	209 (1.5)	60 (1.4)	
Missing	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Warfarin			
No	13516 (94.0)	3914 (94.4)	0.278
Yes	870 (6.0)	232 (5.6)	
Missing	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	

Data are number (percentage) unless otherwise specified.

*One-way ANOVA was used on continuous data and the chi-squared test on categorical data; analyses were based on complete cases.

† Socioeconomic position was defined using the participant's occupational classification, categorised as low (semi-skilled or unskilled manual), intermediate (skilled non-manual or manual), or high (professional or managerial technical).

⁺ Highest educational qualification was categorised into four levels: None; O levels/GCSE, CSE or equivalent; A/AS levels, NVQ, HND, HNC or other professional qualification; College or university degree or higher.

SD=standard deviation, NA=not applicable.

Characteristics of participants stratified by cohorts and drinking categories are presented in Table 2.2. On average, UK Biobank participants were younger and consumed more alcohol than HSE/SHeSs participants; they also had higher BMI and reported a higher prevalence of diabetes, hypertension, and taking cardiovascular drugs. Compared to never and low-level drinkers, high-level drinkers were more frequently male, current smokers and younger of age. Conversely, never drinkers had the highest proportions of female and never smokers.

It can also be seen in Table 2.2 that among 12103 current drinkers in the UK Biobank dataset, wine was the most commonly consumed beverage contributing a mean of 49.8% to total alcohol intake, followed by beer/cider (35.3%), spirits (12.9%) and fortified wine and other forms (1.9%). The same pattern was seen in all drinking categories, although high-level drinkers consumed relatively more wine than low- and medium-level drinkers; the mean percentage of alcohol derived from wine was 55.1% for high-level drinkers, 48.7% for medium-level drinkers and 50.1% for low-level drinkers. Drinkers in medium- and high-level categories more frequently reported consuming alcohol without meals than low-level drinkers.

Using online follow-up questionnaires, frequency of binge alcohol consumption (consuming six or more units of alcohol on one occasion) was measured in a very small subset of 2621 UK Biobank participants, of whom 834 (31.8%) reported binge drinking less than monthly to monthly and 489 (18.7%) weekly to daily (Table 2.2). Compared to other drinking categories, high-level drinkers had higher frequency of binge drinking, though caution is needed when interpreting the result due to large number of missing values.

Table 2.2 Characteristics of participants at baseline

	Never drinker	Former drinker	Low-level drinker	Medium-level drinker	High-level drinker	Overall
HSE/SHeSs*						
Ν	263 (9.4)	383 (13.7)	1630 (58.2)	458 (16.3)	68 (2.4)	2802 (100.0)
Age, mean (SD), years	69.0 (11.0)	67.1 (11.1)	68.2 (10.1)	64.2 (10.9)	60.4 (10.7)	67.3 (10.6)
Alcohol intake, mean (SD), g/day	0.0	0.0	4.0 (4.3)	28.0 (10.2)	85.1 (33.0)	9.0 (16.9)
BMI, mean (SD), kg/m ²	28.5 (5.5)	28.6 (5.7)	27.9 (4.6)	27.9 (4.1)	28.0 (4.2)	28.1 (4.8)
Female	187 (71.1)	189 (49.3)	758 (46.5)	65 (14.2)	5 (7.4)	1204 (43.0)
Smoking status						
Never	157 (59.7)	89 (23.2)	527 (32.3)	78 (17.0)	10 (14.7)	861 (30.7)
Ex-smoker	66 (25.1)	191 (49.9)	799 (49.0)	272 (59.4)	29 (42.6)	1357 (48.4)
Current smoker	40 (15.2)	103 (26.9)	304 (18.7)	108 (23.6)	29 (42.6)	584 (20.8)
History of diabetes	40 (15.2)	74 (19.3)	169 (10.4)	43 (9.4)	2 (2.9)	328 (11.7)
History of hypertension	50 (19.0)	60 (15.7)	224 (13.7)	54 (11.8)	6 (8.8)	394 (14.1)
Socioeconomic position†						
Low	104 (39.5)	138 (36.0)	494 (30.3)	83 (18.1)	24 (35.3)	843 (30.1)
Intermediate	106 (40.3)	186 (48.6)	764 (46.9)	230 (50.2)	26 (38.2)	1312 (46.8)
High	53 (20.2)	59 (15.4)	372 (22.8)	145 (31.7)	18 (26.5)	647 (23.1)
Cholesterol-lowering medications	70 (26.6)	128 (33.4)	328 (20.1)	107 (23.4)	11 (16.2)	644 (23.0)
Antihypertensive medications	168 (63.9)	247 (64.5)	883 (54.2)	217 (47.4)	27 (39.7)	1542 (55.0)
Antiplatelet agents	118 (44.9)	187 (48.8)	725 (44.5)	207 (45.2)	23 (33.8)	1260 (45.0)
Digoxin	9 (3.4)	19 (5.0)	62 (3.8)	10 (2.2)	2 (2.9)	102 (3.6)

UK Biobank								
Ν	1076 (7.5)	1207 (8.4)	5989 (41.6)	5222 (36.3)	892 (6.2)	14386 (100.0)		
Age, mean (SD), years	61.6 (6.6)	61.1 (6.5)	61.9 (6.1)	61.6 (6.0)	60.5 (6.4)	61.6 (6.2)		
Alcohol intake, mean (SD), g/day	0.0	0.0	7.9 (5.1)	30.6 (10.6)	76.7 (26.4)	19.2 (21.4)		
Percentage contribution to total alcoho	l intake, mean (SD)						
Wine	NA	NA	50.1 (40.7)	48.7 (36.4)	55.1 (37.6)	49.8 (38.7) ‡		
Beer/cider	NA	NA	32.3 (38.9)	38.9 (36.3)	32.9 (36.3)	35.3 (37.7)‡		
Spirits	NA	NA	14.7 (27.4)	11.4 (19.8)	11.1 (20.9)	12.9 (23.9)‡		
Fortified wine and others	NA	NA	2.9 (12.0)	1.0 (4.8)	0.9 (5.6)	1.9 (9.1)‡		
Alcohol usually taken with meals								
Yes	NA	NA	2685 (44.8)	1717 (32.9)	237 (26.6)	4639 (38.3) ‡		
No	NA	NA	1691 (28.2)	1638 (31.4)	299 (33.5)	3628 (30.0) ‡		
It varies	NA	NA	1588 (26.5)	1867 (35.8)	355 (39.8)	3810 (31.5) ‡		
Missing	NA	NA	25 (0.4)	0 (0.0)	1 (0.1)	26 (2.1) ‡		
Binge drinking §								
Never	NA	NA	884 (14.8)	392 (7.5)	22 (2.5)	1298 (10.7)‡		
Less than monthly	NA	NA	240 (4.0)	341 (6.5)	32 (3.6)	613 (5.1)‡		
Monthly	NA	NA	62 (1.0)	144 (2.8)	15 (1.7)	221 (1.8)‡		
Weekly	NA	NA	34 (0.6)	272 (5.2)	51 (5.7)	357 (3.0)‡		
Daily or almost daily	NA	NA	6 (0.1)	75 (1.4)	51 (5.7)	132 (1.1)‡		
Missing	NA	NA	4763(79.5)	3998 (76.6)	721 (80.8)	9480 (78.3)‡		
BMI, mean (SD), kg/m ²	30.0 (5.8)	30.2 (6.0)	29.1 (5.0)	28.8 (4.3)	29.0 (4.7)	29.2 (4.9)		

Female	619 (57.5)	447 (37.0)	2242 (37.4)	743 (14.2)	174 (19.5)	4225 (29.4)
Smoking status						
Never	704 (65.4)	350 (29.0)	2616 (43.7)	1512 (29.0)	178 (20.0)	5360 (37.3)
Ex-smoker	252 (23.4)	638 (52.9)	2799 (46.7)	3045 (58.3)	507 (56.8)	7241 (50.3)
Current smoker	120 (11.2)	219 (18.1)	574 (9.6)	665 (12.7)	207 (23.2)	1785 (12.4)
History of diabetes	280 (26.0)	346 (28.7)	1026 (17.1)	676 (12.9)	117 (13.1)	2445 (17.0)
History of hypertension	637 (59.2)	764 (63.3)	3193 (53.3)	2940 (56.3)	536 (60.1)	8070 (56.1)
Highest educational qualification #						
None	432 (40.1)	564 (46.7)	1910 (31.9)	1510 (28.9)	247 (27.7)	4663 (32.4)
O levels or equivalent	141 (13.1)	150 (12.4)	900 (15.0)	742 (14.2)	149 (16.7)	2082 (14.5)
A levels or equivalent	315 (29.3)	295 (24.4)	1948 (32.5)	1760 (33.7)	305 (34.2)	4623 (32.1)
Degree	188 (17.5)	198 (16.4)	1231 (20.6)	1210 (23.2)	191 (21.4)	3018 (21.0)
Cholesterol-lowering medications	841 (78.2)	990 (82.0)	4876 (81.4)	4488 (85.9)	732 (82.1)	11927 (82.9)
Antihypertensive medications	746 (69.3)	855 (70.8)	4047 (67.6)	3774 (72.3)	651 (73.0)	10073 (70.0)
Antiplatelet agents	810 (75.3)	902 (74.7)	4655 (77.7)	4305 (82.4)	736 (82.5)	11408 (79.3)
Digoxin	16 (1.5)	29 (2.4)	86 (1.4)	66 (1.3)	12 (1.3)	209 (1.5)
Warfarin	59 (5.5)	106 (8.8)	358 (6.0)	313 (6.0)	34 (3.8)	870 (6.0)

Data are number (percentage) unless otherwise specified.

* None of the participants in HSE/SHeSs reported using warfarin on a regular basis. Data on drinking patterns were not available for HSE/SHeSs.

+ Socioeconomic position was defined using the participant's occupational classification, categorised as low (semi-skilled or unskilled manual),

intermediate (skilled non-manual or manual), or high (professional or managerial technical).

‡ Percentages were calculated among all current drinkers in the UK Biobank dataset (N=12103).

§ Binge drinking was defined as consuming six or more UK units of alcohol on one occasion.

Highest educational qualification was categorised into four levels: None; O levels/GCSE, CSE or equivalent; A/AS levels, NVQ, HND, HNC or other professional qualification; College, university degree or higher.

SD=standard deviation. NA=not applicable.

During a median follow-up of 9.5 years (interquartile range [IQR]=5.7-13.0) in HSE/SHeSs and 8.7 years (IQR=8.0-9.5) in UK Biobank, there were 1257 deaths among HSE/SHeSs participants and 1640 deaths among UK Biobank participants, of which 492 (39.1%) and 631 (38.5%) deaths were from cardiovascular causes, respectively. Figure 2.3 illustrates the associations of different drinking categories with each outcome of interest, stratified by cohorts. Maximally adjusted analyses using the UK Biobank dataset found a J-shaped curve for both all-cause and cardiovascular mortality, with low- and mediumlevel drinkers showing a lower risk of death than never drinkers. However, no significant difference in risk was found for high-level or former drinkers compared to never drinkers. Similar J-shaped trends were observed for HSE/SHeSs, though none of the associations were statistically significant; this may be attributable to its relatively small sample size of each drinking subgroup.

As to cardiovascular events, a total of 2950 fatal and non-fatal subsequent events were recorded in the UK Biobank dataset, with a median follow-up of 7.5 years (IQR=6.8-8.5). A decreased risk was found in all categories of current drinkers compared to never drinkers (Figure 2.3).

	No. of	No. of		Favors	Favors
Outcome and Cohort	Patients	Events	HR (95% CI)	Decreased Risk	Increased Risk
All-cause mortality					
HSE/SHeSs					
Never drinker	263	100	1.00 (reference)		•
Former drinker	383	156	0.90 (0.69-1.16)	+	<u> </u>
Low-level drinker	1630	775	0.89 (0.71-1.11)	-+	_
Medium-level drinker	458	198	0.91 (0.70-1.18)		<u> </u>
High-level drinker	68	28	0.96 (0.62-1.49)	•	
UK Biobank					
Never drinker	1076	132	1.00 (reference)		
Former drinker	1207	221	1.13 (0.91-1.41)	-	•
Low-level drinker	5989	592	0.74 (0.61-0.89)	_ - -	
Medium-level drinker	5222	574	0.71 (0.58-0.87)	_	
High-level drinker	892	121	0.89 (0.69-1.15)		
Cardiovascular mortality					
HSE/SHeSs					
Never drinker	263	42	1.00 (reference)		•
Former drinker	383	59	0.78 (0.51-1.17)	+	<u> </u>
Low-level drinker	1630	307	0.81 (0.58-1.14)		
Medium-level drinker	458	73	0.76 (0.50-1.14)		<u> </u>
High-level drinker	68	11	0.85 (0.43-1.70)		
UK Biobank					
Never drinker	1076	54	1.00 (reference)		•
Former drinker	1207	91	1.08 (0.77-1.53)		←
Low-level drinker	5988	219	0.65 (0.48-0.88)	+	
Medium-level drinker	5218	221	0.63 (0.46-0.86)	+	
High-level drinker	891	46	0.79 (0.53-1.19)		<u> </u>
Cardiovascular events					
UK Biobank					
Never drinker	1076	258	1.00 (reference)		•
Former drinker	1207	304	0.95 (0.80-1.13)	•	_
Low-level drinker	5989	1155	0.74 (0.64-0.85)		
Medium-level drinker	5218	1050	0.69 (0.60-0.80)		
High-level drinker	892	183	0.71 (0.58-0.86)	- _	
				0.2 0.5	1 1.5 2
				HR (95% CI)

Figure 2.3 Association of drinking categories with mortality and cardiovascular events in CVD patients by study cohorts

Notes: HRs are adjusted for age, sex, smoking status, prevalent diabetes and hypertension, socioeconomic position or education, BMI, and regular use of cholesterol-lowering medications, antihypertensive medications, antiplatelet agents, digoxin, and warfarin. In the stratified analyses, similar results were seen for both sexes (Figure 2.4) and participants having different primary events (Figure 2.5). There were no significant interactions of sex on the association of drinking categories with all-cause mortality (P-value=0.124 and 0.263 for HSE/SHeSs and UK Biobank, respectively), cardiovascular mortality (P-value=0.198 and 0.194 for HSE/SHeSs and UK Biobank, respectively), or cardiovascular events (P-value=0.189 for UK Biobank). Results were essentially unchanged in the sensitivity analysis which did not adjust for BMI (Table 2.3). Analysis restricted to never smoker showed comparable results, except that the CIs were much wider (due to reduced sample size) and for former and high-level drinking an association with increased risk of all-cause and cardiovascular mortality was suggested (Table 2.4).

(a) All-cause mortality

HSE/SHeSs	Ν	Events	1	HR (95% CI)
Female				
Never drinker	187	77	•	1.00 (reference)
Former drinker	189	70	-+	0.76 (0.54, 1.07)
Low-level drinker	758	307	-	0.79 (0.61, 1.02)
Medium-/higher level drinker	70	25	•	0.82 (0.51, 1.31)
Male				
Never drinker	76	23	+	1.00 (reference)
Former drinker	194	86		1.35 (0.84, 2.16)
Low-level drinker	872	468	→	1.30 (0.84, 2.00)
Medium-level drinker	393	173		1.30 (0.83, 2.03)
High-level drinker	63	28		1.37 (0.78, 2.42)
UK Biobank				
Female				
Never drinker	619	65	†	1.00 (reference)
Former drinker	447	69		1.21 (0.85, 1.72)
Low-level drinker	2242	145		0.67 (0.50, 0.90)
Medium–level drinker	743	58		0.76 (0.52, 1.10)
High–level drinker	174	12		0.59 (0.32, 1.11)
Male				
Never drinker	457	67	•	1.00 (reference)
Former drinker	760	152	- +	1.14 (0.85, 1.52)
Low-level drinker	3747	447	-	0.80 (0.62, 1.04)
Medium-level drinker	4479	516	-	0.75 (0.58, 0.97)
High–level drinker	718	109	-	0.99 (0.73, 1.36)
				1
		0.2	0.5 1 2 3	3

HSE/SHeSs Formalo	Ν	Events	:	HR (95% CI)
Never drinker	197	31	•	1.00 (reference)
Former drinker	180	30	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	758	106	-	0.62 (0.46, 1.05)
Medium / higher level drinker	70	7		0.03(0.40, 1.00)
Medium-migher level dimker	70	7	· ·	0.04 (0.27, 1.40)
Male				
Never drinker	76	11	•	1.00 (reference)
Former drinker	194	29		0.94 (0.46, 1.90)
Low-level drinker	872	201	-	1.20 (0.64, 2.24)
Medium-level drinker	393	66		1.04 (0.54, 2.01)
High-level drinker	63	11		1.15 (0.49, 2.70)
UK Biobank				
Female				
Never drinker	619	26	•	1.00 (reference)
Former drinker	447	21		0.98 (0.53, 1.79)
Low-level drinker	2242	46		0.62 (0.38, 1.02)
Medium-level drinker	740	10		0.37 (0.18, 0.80)
High–level drinker	174	2 _	•	0.30 (0.07, 1.29)
Male				
Never drinker	457	28	•	1.00 (reference)
Former drinker	760	70		1.26 (0.80, 1.96)
Low-level drinker	3746	173		0.77 (0.51, 1.15)
Medium-level drinker	4478	211		0.77 (0.52, 1.15)
High–level drinker	717	44	_ -	1.01 (0.62, 1.62)
		0.05	0.2 0.5 1 23	

(b) Cardiovascular mortality

(c) Cardiovascular events

UK Biobank	Ν	Events		HR (95% CI)
Female				
Never drinker	619	119	•	1.00 (reference)
Former drinker	447	87	-	0.98 (0.74, 1.30)
Low-level drinker	2242	323	-	0.78 (0.63, 0.97)
Medium-level drinker	740	117	-+	0.84 (0.64, 1.10)
High–level drinker	174	20		0.61 (0.38, 0.99)
Male				
Never drinker	457	139	•	1.00 (reference)
Former drinker	760	217		0.92 (0.74, 1.14)
Low-level drinker	3747	832	-	0.71 (0.59, 0.85)
Medium–level drinker	4478	933	-	0.65 (0.54, 0.78)
High-level drinker	718	163	-	0.70 (0.56, 0.88)
		0.2	0.5 1	2

Figure 2.4 Association of drinking categories with (a) all-cause mortality, (b) cardiovascular mortality and (c) cardiovascular events in CVD patients, stratified by cohort and sex

Notes: All models were adjusted for the same covariates listed in Figure 2.3.

(a) All-cause mortality

UK Biobank	Ν	Events		HR (95% CI)
Angina Nover drinker	776	01		1.00 (reference)
Former drinker	830	163		1.31 (1.01 1.70)
	4025	300		0.77 (0.61 0.97)
Medium-level drinker	3368	363	_	0.77 (0.01, 0.97) 0.72 (0.56, 0.92)
High-level drinker	581	74		0.89 (0.65, 1.22)
МІ				
Never drinker	350	47	•	1.00 (reference)
Former drinker	416	89	.	1.24 (0.86, 1.78)
Low-level drinker	2104	262	_ _	0.88 (0.64, 1.21)
Medium–level drinker	2134	264	_	0.84 (0.60, 1.16)
High-level drinker	329	47		0.95 (0.63, 1.45)
Stroke				
Never drinker	157	29	•	1.00 (reference)
Former drinker	209	30 —	•	0.58 (0.34, 0.98)
Low-level drinker	866	80	—	0.46 (0.30, 0.71)
Medium-level drinker	699	93 —	•	0.54 (0.35, 0.85)
High–level drinker	133	22 —		0.74 (0.41, 1.32)
HSE/SHeSs				
Stroke				
Never drinker	60	19	+	1.00 (reference)
Former drinker	92	43		1.23 (0.69, 2.20)
Low-level drinker	286	145		1.22 (0.73, 2.07)
Medium-/higher-level drinker	97	50		1.26 (0.69, 2.30)
		0.2 0.	5 1 2 3	
		0.		

UK Biobank Angina	Ν	Events	HR (95% CI)
Never drinker	776	42	1.00 (reference)
Former drinker	839	67	1.12 (0.75, 1.66)
Low-level drinker	4025	151	0.63 (0.44, 0.89)
Medium-level drinker	3365	145	0.60 (0.42, 0.87)
High-level drinker	580	27	0.69 (0.42, 1.14)
МІ			
Never drinker	350	28 🔸	1.00 (reference)
Former drinker	416	42	0.96 (0.59, 1.57)
Low-level drinker	2104	108 🔶	0.61 (0.40, 0.94)
Medium-level drinker	2132	119 🔶	0.63 (0.41, 0.98)
High-level drinker	329	17	0.57 (0.30, 1.05)
Stroke			
Never drinker	157	9 🔸	1.00 (reference)
Former drinker	209	11	0.60 (0.24, 1.51)
Low-level drinker	865	29	0.50 (0.23, 1.08)
Medium–level drinker	699	26	0.45 (0.20, 1.01)
High-level drinker	133	10	1.03 (0.40, 2.65)
HSE/SHeSs			
Stroke			
Never drinker	60	7	1.00 (reference)
Former drinker	92	15	1.27 (0.49, 3.26)
Low-level drinker	286	56 +	1.49 (0.65, 3.45)
Medium-level drinker	87	15	1.40 (0.52, 3.75)
High-level drinker	10	4	2.84 (0.70, 11.51)
		0.2 0.5 1 2 5	12

(b) Cardiovascular mortality

(c) Cardiovascular events

UK Biobank Angina	Ν	Events	HR (95% CI)
Never drinker	776	200 •	1.00 (reference)
Former drinker	839	236 +	0.98 (0.81, 1,18)
Low-level drinker	4025	862 +	0.74 (0.63, 0.87)
Medium-level drinker	3365	757 +	0.69 (0.58, 0.81)
High-level drinker	581	132 +	0.70 (0.56, 0.88)
МІ			
Never drinker	350	111	1.00 (reference)
Former drinker	416	119	0.85 (0.65, 1.11)
Low-level drinker	2104	483	0.69 (0.56, 0.86)
Medium-level drinker	2132	483	0.66 (0.53, 0.82)
High-level drinker	329	73 🔶	0.60 (0.44, 0.81)
Stroke			
Never drinker	157	30	1.00 (reference)
Former drinker	209	41	0.87 (0.53, 1.41)
l ow-level drinker	866	107	0.61 (0.40, 0.92)
Medium-level drinker	699	90 -	0.57 (0.36, 0.88)
High-level drinker	133	13	0.47 (0.24, 0.91)
		0.2 0.5 1 2	2

Figure 2.5 Association of drinking categories with (a) all-cause mortality, (b) cardiovascular mortality and (c) cardiovascular events in CVD patients, stratified by cohort and primary events

Notes: Models for MI, angina, and stroke as primary event were adjusted for each other as well as the same covariates listed in Figure 2.3.

	No. of	No. of	
Outcome and cohort	patients	events	Hazard ratio (95% CI) *
All-cause mortality			
HSE/SHeSs			
Never drinker	263	100	1.00 (Reference)
Former drinker	383	156	0.90 (0.70-1.17)
Low-level drinker	1630	775	0.89 (0.72-1.11)
Medium-level drinker	458	198	0.92 (0.71-1.19)
High-level drinker	68	28	0.97 (0.63-1.50)
UK Biobank			
Never drinker	1076	132	1.00 (Reference)
Former drinker	1207	221	1.13 (0.91-1.41)
Low-level drinker	5989	592	0.74 (0.61-0.90)
Medium-level drinker	5222	574	0.72 (0.59-0.88)
High-level drinker	892	121	0.90 (0.70-1.16)
Cardiovascular mortality			
HSE/SHeSs			
Never drinker	263	42	1.00 (Reference)
Former drinker	383	59	0.78 (0.51-1.17)
Low-level drinker	1630	307	0.81 (0.58-1.14)
Medium-level drinker	458	73	0.76 (0.50-1.14)
High-level drinker	68	11	0.85 (0.43-1.70)
UK Biobank			
Never drinker	1076	54	1.00 (Reference)
Former drinker	1207	91	1.08 (0.76-1.52)
Low-level drinker	5988	219	0.65 (0.48-0.89)
Medium-level drinker	5218	221	0.63 (0.46-0.87)
High-level drinker	891	46	0.80 (0.53-1.20)
Cardiovascular events			
UK Biobank			
Never drinker	1076	258	1.00 (Reference)
Former drinker	1207	304	0.96 (0.81-1.13)
Low-level drinker	5989	1155	0.74 (0.64-0.85)
Medium-level drinker	5218	1050	0.69 (0.59-0.79)
High-level drinker	892	183	0.71 (0.58-0.86)

Table 2.3 Sensitivity analyses for association of drinking categories with mortality and cardiovascular events in CVD patients, not adjusting for BMI

* Adjusted for the same covariates listed in Figure 2.3 EXCLUDING BMI.

Outcome and cohort	No. of patients	No. of events	Hazard ratio (95% CI)
All-cause mortality	•		
HSE/SHeSs			
Never drinker	196	81	1.00 (Reference)
Former drinker	120	45	1.10 (0.70-1.74)
Low-level drinker	619	253	0.83 (0.62-1.12)
Medium-level drinker	88	28	0.94 (0.58-1.52)
High-level drinker	11	5	2.33 (0.81-6.66)
UK Biobank			
Never drinker	712	67	1.00 (Reference)
Former drinker	353	42	1.31 (0.89-1.93)
Low-level drinker	2631	155	0.67 (0.50-0.90)
Medium-level drinker	1521	103	0.74 (0.54-1.03)
High-level drinker	178	18	1.21 (0.71-2.04)
Cardiovascular mortality			
HSE/SHeSs			
Never drinker	196	34	1.00 (Reference)
Former drinker	120	23	1.25 (0.63-2.51)
Low-level drinker	619	109	0.94 (0.59-1.50)
Medium-level drinker	88	10	0.97 (0.44-2.10)
High-level drinker	11	1	1.44 (0.19-11.12)
UK Biobank			
Never drinker	712	26	1.00 (Reference)
Former drinker	353	19	1.47 (0.81-2.67)
Low-level drinker	2631	60	0.66 (0.41-1.06)
Medium-level drinker	1521	40	0.72 (0.43-1.21)
High-level drinker	178	7	1.19 (0.51-2.78)
Cardiovascular events			
UK Biobank			
Never drinker	712	159	1.00 (Reference)
Former drinker	353	71	0.84 (0.63-1.11)
Low-level drinker	2631	440	0.68 (0.57-0.82)
Medium-level drinker	1521	294	0.72 (0.59-0.88)
High-level drinker	178	35	0.79 (0.55-1.15)

Table 2.4 Sensitivity analyses for association of drinking categories with mortality and cardiovascular events in CVD patients, restricted to never smokers

* Adjusted for the same covariates listed in Figure 2.3.

2.3.2 Characteristics of studies included in meta-analysis

As displayed in the flow diagram (Figure 2.6), 1722 unique citations were identified by the initial literature search, of which 12 fulfilled the selection criteria: six reported results separately for all-cause mortality and cardiovascular mortality, three for all-cause mortality only, one for cardiovascular mortality only and three for subsequent cardiovascular events. Data extracted from the 12 published studies represented 31235 CVD patients, among whom 5095 deaths and 1414 subsequent events were reported.

Table 2.5 outlines the characteristics of all studies selected for meta-analyses, inclusive of HSE/SHeSs and UK Biobank. Nine of the 14 studies had a cohort design and the remaining five [127, 147-149, 167] were randomized control trials for a certain drug or diet type with no specific inventions on alcohol consumption. Six studies strictly separated former drinkers from never drinkers within the non-drinking group. In terms of exposure assessment, only three studies utilised repeated measures of alcohol consumption – two reported risk estimates based on each patient's average intake during follow-up [128, 167] and the remaining one performed time-dependent analyses to allow changes in drinking levels [127]. The majority of included studies asked patients to report their average intake since the occurrence of their primary events (post-event alcohol assessment). Three studies used alcohol consumption in the year prior to primary events (pre-event), assuming drinking behaviours remained unchanged over time, even following events [129, 154, 168]. The quality of selected studies was moderate to high on average, with a median score of 8 stars on the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale. Additional details regarding categories of alcohol consumption, risk estimates, and confounder adjustment in each included study are provided in Tables 2.6-2.8.

61



Figure 2.6 Study selection flowchart

Notes: ACM=all-cause mortality, CVE=cardiovascular events, CVD=cardiovascular disease, CVM=cardiovascular mortality.

Table 2.5 Characteristics of 14 studies included in meta-analyses

				Study	Meta-analyses Inclusion*		Fellow	Pagalina	Reference group	Pre- /post-	Multiple	Quality	Drimon	
Source	Country	Dataset	Sex	size, No.	ACM case, No.	CVM case, No.	CVE case, No.	up, y [†]	age, y [‡]	including former drinkers	alcohol assess- ment	alcohol measures	ment score	event
HSE/SHeSs	UK	HSE (1994- 2008)/SHeSs (1995, 1998, 2003)	M, F	2802	1257	492	NA	9.5	67.3	Both [§]	Post	No	9	MI/angina, stroke [∥]
UK Biobank	UK	Initial assessment visit (2006- 2010)	M, F	14386	1640	631	2950	8.7	61.6	Both [§]	Post	No	9	MI, angina, stroke
Levantesi et al. ^[127] 2013	Italy	GISSI study	M, F	11248	1656	NA	1168	5.7	59.4	Yes	Post	Yes	7	MI
Pai et al, ^[128] 2012	USA	Health Professionals Follow-up Study	Μ	1818	468	243	NA	Up to 20	Range 40-75	Yes	Both	Yes	7	MI
Rosenbloom et al, ^[129] 2012	USA	Onset study	F	1253	441	NA	NA	Up to 10	66.1	Yes	Pre	No	9	МІ
Janszky et al. ^[168] 2008	Sweden	SHEEP study	M, F	1332	259	140	NA	8.6	59.4	No	Pre	No	9	MI
Masunaga et al. ^[152] 2006	Japan	Consecutive patients	М	3845	NA	NA	142	1.1	57.2	No	Post	No	8	MI
Aguilar et al. ^[147] 2004	USA, Canada	SAVE trial	M, F	2036	355	284	NA	3.5	59.2	Yes	Both	No	7	МІ
Jackson et al, ^[148] 2003	USA	Physicians' Health Study	М	1320	369	267	NA	4.5	67.4	Yes	Post	No	6	Stroke
de Lorgeril et al, ^[167] 2002	France	Lyon Diet Heart Study	М	353	NA	NA	104	4.0	54.0	Yes	Post	Yes	7	МІ
Mukamal et al. ^[154] 2001	USA	Onset study	M, F	1913	317	238	NA	3.8	61.8	Yes	Pre	No	8	МІ

Shaper et al, ^[155] 2000	UK	British Regional Heart Study	М	596	258	184	NA	12.8	Range 45-64	No	Post	No	9	MI, angina
Valmadrid et al, ^[169] 1999	USA	WESDR	M, F	163	NA	52	NA	Up to 12.3	68.6	No	Post	No	9	MI/angina ^{∥ #}
Muntwyler et al, ^[149] 1998	USA	Physicians' Health Study	М	5358	920	NA	NA	5.0	64.1	Yes	Post	No	6	MI

*Not applicable (NA) if the study was not included in meta-analysis on the outcome.

† Data are mean/median unless otherwise specified. ‡ Data are mean unless otherwise specified.

§ Former drinkers were included only in subgroup meta-analyses on different non-drinking reference group.

|| Results were not reported separately for angina and MI patients.
Older-onset diabetic patients with a history of angina or MI.
ACM=all-cause mortality; CVE=cardiovascular events; CVM=cardiovascular mortality; F=female; M=male.

	Alcohol consum	ption	Risk of all-cause mortality									
Source	Reported exposure categories	Estimated g/day *†	Total (N)	Cases (n)	Measure of association	Effect estimates	Confounder adjustment					
Levantesi et al, 2013	Never/almost never	0.0	3713	645		1.00 (reference)	Age, gender, BMI, smoking, prior MI, history of hypertension, diabetes, peripheral vascular disease,					
	≤0.5 L/day	20.4	5821	874	HR	0.85 (0.76-0.95)	electrical instability, exercise, LVEF, NYHA class, revascularization procedures, intakes of cooked vegetables, raw vegetables, fruit, fish, olive oil, other oil, butter, cheese, and coffee, use of n-3 PUFA, vitamin-E,					
	>0.5 L/day	49.0	985	137		0.80 (0.66-0.98)	antiplatelet agents, ACE inhibitor, lipid-lowering medicat beta-blockers					
	0 g/day	0.0	515	168		1.00 (reference)						
Pai et al	0.1-9.9 g/day	3.1	719	161	HR	0.78 (0.62-0.97)	Age at diagnosis, questionnaire follow-up cycle, smoking,					
2012	10.0-29.9 g/day	15.8	420	97		0.66 (0.51-0.86)	medication, aspirin use, heart failure at MI					
	≥30.0 g/day	42.9	164	42		0.87 (0.61-1.25)						
	None	0.0	761	331		1.00 (reference)	Age, BMI, previous MI, congestive HF, angina, diabetes,					
Rosenbloom	<1 serving/week	1.0	280	70		0.66 (0.50-0.86)	hypertension, non-cardiac co-morbidity, previous medication use, smoking, physical activity, income.					
et al, 2012	≥1 to <3 servings/we	ek 3.8	75	15	HR	0.65 (0.38-1.11)	education, marital status, race, peak creatine kinase level,					
	≥3 servings/week	14.9	137	25		0.71 (0.46-1.09)	ventricular tachycardia during hospitalization					
	Longer-term abstaine	ers 0.0	140	35		1.00 (reference)						
Janszkv et	>0 to <5 g/day	2.5	437	84		0.77 (0.51-1.15)	Age. sex. smoking, obesity, self-reported physical activity.					
al, 2008	5-20 g/day	12.5	447	80	HK	0.77 (0.50-1.18)	history of diabetes, education					
	over 20 g/day	24.1	308	60		0.89 (0.56-1.40)						

	0 drink/week	0.0	1437	274		1.00 (reference)	Age, gender, LVEF, prior MI, history of hypertension,
Aguilar et al,	1 to 10 drinks/week	11.0	532	74	HR	0.91 (0.70-1.19)	Killip class, beta-blocker use at the time of randomization,
2004	>10 drinks/week	24.2	67	7		0.66 (0.31-1.41)	thrombolytic therapy with the qualifying MI, treatment (captopril) assignment
	Rarely/never	0.0	361	128		1.00 (reference)	
Jackson et	<1 drink/week	1.0	133	39	DD	0.88 (0.60-1.28)	Ago amplying dispotos PML exercises anging ML
al, 2003	1-6 drinks/week	7.0	417	93		0.64 (0.48-0.85)	Age, smoking, diabetes, bivil, exercise, anglina, ivi
	≥1 drink/day	16.8	409	109		0.71 (0.54-0.94)	
	Abstainers	0.0	896	196		1.00 (reference)	Age, sex, use of thrombolytic therapy, peak creatine kinase
Mukamal et al. 2001	<7 drinks/week	7.5	696	91	HR	0.79 (0.60-1.03)	level, congestive HF during index hospitalization, ventricular tachycardia during index hospitalization, and
,	≥7 drinks/week	32.1	321	30		0.68 (0.45-1.05)	propensity score
	Teetotalers	0.0	43	18		0.96 (0.57-1.62)	
Shaper et al,	< 1 unit/week	0.6	199	85	DD +	1.00 (reference)	Age, smoking, social class, BMI, pre-existing diabetes,
2000	1-15 units/week	10.3	230	94		1.05 (0.78-1.42)	stroke, and regular medication
	> 16 units/week	24.7	124	61		1.30 (0.93-1.83)	
	Rarely/never	0.0	1125	240		1.00 (reference)	
	1-4 drinks/month	1.2	1227	211		0.85 (0.69-1.05)	
Muntwyler et al, 1998	2-6 drinks/week	8.0	1390	187	RR	0.72 (0.58-0.89)	Age, smoking, diabetes, physical activity, BMI
-,	1 drinks/day	14.0	1424	249		0.79 (0.64-0.96)	
	≥2 drinks/day	33.6	192	33		0.84 (0.55-1.26)	
	Never drinker	0.0	263	100		1.00 (reference)	Age sex smoking socioeconomic position history of
HSE/SHeSs	Low-level drinker	4.0	1630	775	Цр	0.89 (0.71-1.11)	diabetes, hypertension, BMI, cholesterol-lowering
§ M	Medium-level drinker	28.0	458	198		0.91 (0.70-1.18)	medications, antihypertensive medications, antiplatelet
	High-level drinker	85.1	68	28		0.96 (0.62-1.49)	

	Never drinker	0.0	1076	132		1.00 (reference)	
UK Biobank §	Low-level drinker	7.9	5989	592	HR	0.74 (0.61-0.89)	Age, sex, smoking, education, history of diabetes, hypertension, BMI, cholesterol-lowering medications,
	Medium-level drinker	30.6	5222	574		0.71 (0.58-0.87)	antihypertensive medications, antiplatelet agents, digoxin,
	High-level drinker	76.7	892	121		0.89 (0.69-1.15)	Wallalli

* The upper limit of the highest exposure category defined as the lower bound multiplied by 1.2, unless explicitly defined within each publication.

+ Average intake in each consumption category. Where unreported, the median of the upper and lower bounds was used.

‡ Effect estimates re-calculated according to a reference group other than that originally reported. This was undertaken using the method by Hamling et al, as described in text.

§ Measures of usual weekly consumption, categorized as never drinker, low-level drinker (≤ 14 units per week), medium-level drinker (>14 to ≤ 50 units per week for men, >14 to ≤ 35 units per week for women), or high-level drinker (>50 units per week for men, >35 units per week for women).

ACE=angiotensin-converting enzyme; BMI=body mass index; HF=heart failure; HR=hazard ratio; LVEF=left ventricular ejection fraction; MI=myocardial infarction; NYHA=New York Heart Association; PUFA=polyunsaturated fatty acids.

	Alcohol consu	mption	Risk of cardiovascular mortality									
Source	Reported exposure categories	Estimated g/day *†	Total (N)	Cases (n)	Measure of association	Effect estimates	Confounder adjustment					
	0 g/day	0.0	515	92		1.00 (reference)						
Pai et al, 2012	0.1-9.9 g/day	3.1	719	81		0.74 (0.54-1.02)	Age at diagnosis, questionnaire follow-up cycle, smoking,					
	10.0-29.9 g/day	15.8	420	47	пк	0.58 (0.39-0.84)	lowering medication, aspirin use, HF at MI					
	≥30.0 g/day	42.9	164	23		0.98 (0.60-1.60)						
	Longer-term abstainers	0.0	140	23		1.00 (reference)						
Janszky et al, 2008	>0 to <5 g	2.5	437	44	HR	0.61 (0.36-1.02)	Age, sex, smoking, obesity, self-reported physical activity,					
	5-20 g	12.5	447	42		0.62 (0.36-1.07)	history of diabetes, education					
	over 20 g	24.1	308	31		0.69 (0.38-1.25)						
	0 drink/week	0.0	1437	215		1.00 (reference)	Age, gender, LVEF, prior MI, history of hypertension,					
Aguilar et al, 2004	1 to 10 drinks/wee	k 11.0	532	62	HR	1.00 (0.75-1.34)	classification, Killip class, beta-blocker use at the time of					
	>10 drinks/week	24.2	67	7		0.87 (0.40-1.87)	MI, treatment (captopril) assignment					
	Rarely/never	0.0	361	101		1.00 (reference)						
Jackson et	<1 drink/week	1.0	133	29	חח	0.89 (0.58-1.36)	Ago amplying dispotos DML aversion anaine ML					
al, 2003	1-6 drinks/week	7.0	417	62	КК	0.56 (0.40-0.79)	Age, smoking, diabetes, bini, exercise, angina, mi					
	≥1 drink/day	16.8	409	75		0.64 (0.46-0.88)						
	Abstainers	0.0	896	153		1.00 (reference)	Age, sex, use of thrombolytic therapy, peak creatine					
Mukamal et al, 2001	<7 drinks/week	7.5	696	64	HR	0.75 (0.55-1.02)	kinase level, congestive HF during index hospitalization,					
	≥7 drinks/week	32.1	321	21		0.67 (0.41-1.17)	propensity score					

Table 2.7 Drinking categories, effect estimates, and confounder adjustment reported by studies on cardiovascular mortality

	Teetotallers	0.0	43	13		0.98 (0.53-1.82)	
Shaper et al,	< 1 unit/week	0.6	199	62	DD +	1.00 (reference)	Age, smoking, social class, BMI, pre-existing diabetes,
2000	1-15 units/week	10.3	230	62	NN +	0.94 (0.65-1.35)	stroke, and regular medication
	> 16 units/week	24.7	124	47		1.34 (0.91-1.98)	
	Never drinkers	0.0	31	12		1.00 (reference)	
Valmadrid et	<2 g/day	1.0	87	27	RR	0.51 (0.24-1.12)	Age, sex, cigarette smoking, insulin use, glycosylated
al, 1999	2-13 g/day	7.5	20	8		0.43 (0.15-1.22)	the presence and severity of diabetic retinopathy
	≥14 g/day	16.8	25	5		0.26 (0.08-0.81)	
	Never drinker	0.0	263	42		1.00 (reference)	Age any amplying appiagementic position history of
HSE/SHeSs	Low-level drinker	4.0	1630	307	ЦD	0.81 (0.58-1.14)	diabetes, hypertension, BMI, cholesterol-lowering
§	Medium-level drinker	28.0	458	73	пк	0.76 (0.50-1.14)	medications, antihypertensive medications, antiplatelet
	High-level drinker	85.1	68	11		0.85 (0.43-1.70)	agents, ugoxin
	Never drinker	0.0	1076	54		1.00 (reference)	
UK Biobank §	Low-level drinker	7.9	5988	219		0.65 (0.48-0.88)	Age, sex, smoking, education, history of diabetes, hypertension, BMI, cholesterol-lowering medications,
	Medium-level drinker	30.6	5218	221	ΠK	0.63 (0.46-0.86)	antihypertensive medications, antiplatelet agents, digoxin,
	High-level drinker	76.8	891	46		0.79 (0.53-1.19)	wallalli

* The upper limit of the highest exposure category defined as the lower bound multiplied by 1.2, unless explicitly defined within each publication.

† Average intake in each consumption category. Where unreported, the median of the upper and lower bounds was used.

‡ Effect estimates re-calculated according to a reference group other than that originally reported. This was undertaken using the method by Hamling et al, as described in text.

§ Measures of usual weekly consumption, categorized as never drinker, low-level drinker (\leq 14 units per week), medium-level drinker (>14 to \leq 50 units per week for men, >14 to \leq 35 units per week for women), or high-level drinker (>50 units per week for men, >35 units per week for women).

BMI=body mass index; HF=heart failure; HR=hazard ratio; LVEF=left ventricular ejection fraction; MI=myocardial infarction; NYHA=New York Heart Association.

	Alcohol consun	nption	Risk of cardiovascular events									
Source	Reported exposure categories	Estimated g/day *†	Total (N)	Cases (n)	Measure of association	Effect estimates	Confounder adjustment					
Levantesi et al, 2013	Never/almost never	0.0	4108	458		1.00 (reference)	Age, gender, BMI, smoking, prior MI, history of hypertension, diabetes, peripheral vascular disease, electrical instability, exercise, LVEF, NYHA class,					
	≤0.5 L/day	20.4	5446	551	HR	0.87 (0.76-0.99)	revascularization procedures, intakes of cooked vegetables, raw vegetables, fruit, fish, olive oil, other oil, butter, cheese, and coffee, use of $n-3$ PUFA, vitamin-E, antiplatelet agente. ACE inhibiter livid lowering					
	>0.5 L/day	49.0	1694	159		0.90 (0.74-1.09)	medication, beta-blockers					
Masunaga et al, 2006; age <65 years	Abstainers	0.0	1385	54	HR	1.00 (reference)	CABG, atrial fibrillation, PCI, cholesterol-lowering agents, obesity, antiplatelet agents, β-blockers, warfarin, Forrester class, nitrates, coronary					
	<30 ml/day	11.9	1053	20		0.56 (0.32-0.97)	thrombolysis, calcium antagonists, diabetes, smoking, PVC, Gout, Killip class, ACE inhibitors, vasospastic angina, hyperlipidemia, multi-vessel disease,					
	≥30 ml/day	28.4	563	18		0.92 (0.51-1.66)	hypertension, positive exercise ECG, antiarrhythmic agents, angina pectoris					
Masunaga	Abstainers	0.0	533	24		1.00 (reference)						
et al, 2006; age ≥65	<30 ml/day	11.9	250	14	HR	1.02 (0.44-2.35)	Same as above					
years	≥30 ml/day	28.4	61	12		5.75 (2.21-14.90)						
	Non-drinkers	0.0	96	36		1.00 (reference)						
de Lorgeril et al, 2002	<5.41% of total energ intake/day	у 8.9	83	34	DD	0.74 (0.40-1.38)	Diet group, age, current smoking, serum total					
	>5.41 but <9.84%	24.1	89	18		0.41 (0.20-0.83)	cholesterol, and systolic blood pressure					
	>9.84%	51.8	85	16		0.48 (0.24-0.96)						

Table 2.8 Drinking categories, effect estimates, and confounder adjustment reported by studies on cardiovascular events

	Never drinker	0.0	1076	258		1.00 (reference)	And new employed education biotomy of disbates
UK Biobank ‡	Low-level drinker	7.9	5989	1155	HR	0.74 (0.64-0.85)	Age, sex, smoking, education, history of diabetes, hypertension, BMI, cholesterol-lowering medications, antihypertensive medications, antiplatelet agents, digoxin, warfarin
	Medium-level drinker	30.6	5218	1050		0.69 (0.60-0.80)	
	High-level drinker	76.7	892	183		0.71 (0.58-0.86)	

* The upper limit of the highest exposure category defined as the lower bound multiplied by 1.2, unless explicitly defined within each publication.

+ Average intake in each consumption category. Where unreported, the median of the upper and lower bounds was used.

‡ Measures of usual weekly consumption, categorized as never drinker, low-level drinker (≤14 units per week), medium-level drinker (>14 to ≤50 units per week for men, >14 to ≤35 units per week for women), or high-level drinker (>50 units per week for men, >35 units per week for women).

ACE=angiotensin-converting enzyme; BMI=body mass index; CABG=coronary artery bypass grafting; HF=heart failure; HR=hazard ratio; LVEF=left ventricular ejection fraction; MI=myocardial infarction; NYHA=New York Heart Association; PCI=percutaneous coronary intervention; PUFA=polyunsaturated fatty acids; PVC=premature ventricular contraction.

2.3.3 Alcohol and all-cause mortality among CVD patients

Eleven studies, comprising 41743 CVD patients, contributed to this analysis. As shown in Figure 2.7, an overall J-shaped association was observed between alcohol consumption and risk of death from all causes. The protective effect peaked at 7 grams per day, equating to a 21% decrease in risk compared to non-current drinkers (RR=0.79, 95%CI=0.73-0.85), and remained significant up to 62 grams per day (Table 2.9).



Figure 2.7 Overall dose-response association between alcohol consumption and risk of all-cause mortality in CVD patients, using maximally adjusted estimates *Notes: Best-fitting second-degree fractional polynomial models (with 95%Cls) are shown in solid curves with each data point overlaid as circles. Circle size indicates the weighting of each data point and is inversely proportional to the variance of the log-transformed relative risk. The triangle represents the lowest point (maximal protection) of the dose-response curve within the range of dose reported by the data points.*

Subgroup results are illustrated in Figures 2.8-2.11, with model details and risk estimates summarised in Table 2.9. Although the dose-response association was J-shaped in male patients, no increased risk was found among female patients who drank at higher levels. As to primary events, moderate alcohol consumption was associated with a lower risk for total mortality among patients
with a history of MI or angina, but not with stroke. Meta-analysis of estimates relative to non-current drinkers showed a reduction in risk of all-cause mortality for an alcohol intake up to 75 grams per day. This association, however, was remarkably attenuated when compared to a strictly defined reference group of never drinkers or when restricting to studies that utilised repeated measures of alcohol intake. Among those studies with post-event alcohol measures, the association did not change substantively.

Table 2.9 Best-fitting models and results of the meta-analysis on all-cause mortality in CVD patients

Outcome and	No. of	No. of	No. of deaths	Maximal effect	Reversion	Powers for the Best- Fitting FP2		
subgroup	(curves)	patients		RR (95% CI)	g/day	g/day†	dose _1	dose _2
All-cause mortality								
Overall	11 (11)	41743	7563	0.79 (0.73-0.85)	7	62	-0.5	1
Male	6 (6)	19897	3846	0.82 (0.72-0.93)	9	39	0	0.5
Female	3 (3)	6046	1130	0.64 (0.36-1.14)	54	49	-2	3
MI as primary event	9 (9)	29554	5227	0.82 (0.68-0.99)	2	7	-1	0.5
Angina as primary event	2 (2)	8938	994	0.79 (0.64-0.98)	31	46	0.5	3
Stroke as primary event	3 (3)	3618	807	0.71 (0.42-1.20)	12	NA	0	0.5
Reference group including former drinkers	9 (9)	41405	7423	0.77 (0.69-0.85)	16	75	-0.5	2
Reference group excluding former drinkers	4 (4)	17526	3037	0.85 (0.71-1.00)	3	3	-0.5	-0.5
Post-event alcohol assessment	8 (8)	37245	6546	0.81 (0.74-0.88)	9	52	0	0.5
Multiple alcohol measures	2 (2)	12337	2124	0.78 (0.59-1.03)	16	NA	-0.5	-0.5

* Defined as the lowest point of the dose-response curve within the range of dose reported by the studies. † Defined as the dose of alcohol at which protection against the outcome is no longer statistically significant at the 95% confidence level; not applicable (NA) if non-significant association was found at any level of consumption.



Figure 2.8 Association between alcohol and all-cause mortality in CVD patients, stratified by sex



Figure 2.9 Association between alcohol and all-cause mortality in CVD patients, stratified by primary events



Figure 2.10 Association between alcohol and all-cause mortality in CVD patients, relative to different non-drinking groups



Figure 2.11 Association between alcohol and all-cause mortality in CVD patients, by different method of assessing alcohol consumption

2.3.4 Alcohol and cardiovascular mortality among CVD patients

A total of nine studies (24770 patients) were included in the meta-analysis on cardiovascular mortality, and the overall association with alcohol consumption was found to follow a J-shaped curve, as illustrated in Figure 2.12. The reduction in risk was greatest at 8 grams per day (RR=0.73, 95%CI=0.64-0.83) and evident up to 50 grams per day (Table 2.10).



Figure 2.12 Overall dose-response association between alcohol consumption and risk of cardiovascular mortality in CVD patients, using maximally adjusted estimates *Notes: Best-fitting second-degree fractional polynomial models (with 95%CIs) are* shown in solid curves with each data point overlaid as circles. Circle size indicates the weighting of each data point and is inversely proportional to the variance of the log-transformed relative risk. The triangle represents the lowest point (maximal protection) of the dose-response curve within the range of dose reported by the data points.

As shown in Figures 2.13-2.16 and Table 2.10, the J-shaped association between alcohol consumption and cardiovascular mortality was little altered when restricting to male patients; however, again there was no increase in risk at higher levels of consumption among female patients. Similar results were obtained with different types of reference groups and alcohol assessments or among patients with a previous MI. On the contrary, the overall association was close to null among those with angina or stroke.

Outcome and	No. of	No. of	No. of	Maximal effect	Reversion	Powers for the Best- Fitting FP2		
subgroup	(curves)	patients	deaths	RR (95% CI)	g/day	g/day†	dose _1	dose _2
Cardiovascular morta	ality							
Overall	9 (9)	24770	2381	0.73 (0.64-0.83)	8	50	0	0.5
Male	5 (5)	14536	1439	0.72 (0.62-0.85)	9	32	0	0.5
Female	2 (2)	4790	228	0.29 (0.09-1.01)	54	54	0	2
MI as primary event	6 (6)	12422	1320	0.76 (0.64-0.91)	3	25	-2	3
Angina as primary event	2 (2)	8934	406	0.85 (0.66-1.10)	31	NA	3	3
Stroke as primary event	3 (3)	3617	423	0.63 (0.37-1.08)	26	NA	0	3
Reference group including former drinkers	6 (6)	24269	2155	0.73 (0.58-0.93)	13	27	0	0.5
Reference group excluding former drinkers	5 (5)	17683	1349	0.71 (0.55-0.90)	7	29	-0.5	0.5
Post-event alcohol assessment	7 (7)	21525	2003	0.73 (0.60-0.90)	8	43	0	0
Multiple alcohol	1 (1)	1818	243	0.58 (0.40-0.84)	17	33	-0.5	3

Table 2.10 Best-fitting models and results of the meta-analysis on cardiovascular mortality in CVD patients

* Defined as the lowest point of the dose-response curve within the range of dose reported by the studies. † Defined as the dose of alcohol at which protection against the outcome is no longer statistically significant at the 95% confidence level; not applicable (NA) if non-significant association was found at any level of consumption.



Figure 2.13 Association between alcohol and cardiovascular mortality in CVD patients, stratified by sex



Figure 2.14 Association between alcohol and cardiovascular mortality in CVD patients, relative to different non-drinking group



Figure 2.15 Association between alcohol and cardiovascular mortality in CVD patients, by different method of assessing alcohol consumption



Figure 2.16 Association between alcohol and cardiovascular mortality in CVD patients, stratified by primary events

2.3.5 Alcohol and cardiovascular events among CVD patients

Four studies, comprising 28621 CVD patients, examined alcohol's relation to cardiovascular events and were included in this meta-analysis. One study reported dose-response relationship separately for two age groups and thus provided two curves. An alcohol intake up to 15 grams per day was associated with a significant decrease in the risk of subsequent events; the greatest risk reduction was seen at 6 grams per day (RR=0.56, 95%CI=0.34-0.93; Figure 2.17 and Table 2.11).



Figure 2.17 Overall dose-response association between alcohol consumption and risk of subsequent cardiovascular events in CVD patients, using maximally adjusted estimates

Notes: Best-fitting second-degree fractional polynomial models (with 95%CIs) are shown in solid curves with each data point overlaid as circles. Circle size indicates the weighting of each data point and is inversely proportional to the variance of the logtransformed relative risk. The triangle represents the lowest point (maximal protection) of the dose-response curve within the range of dose reported by the data points.

Subgroup analysis stratified by sex showed wide CIs around the curves for both sexes and a decreased risk for an alcohol intake up to about 49 grams per day among female patients (Figure 2.18). Moderate drinking was found to confer a

protective effect among patients having different primary events or studies based on repeated alcohol measures (Figures 2.19 and 2.21). However, when studies including former drinkers in the reference group were excluded, the effect was weakened and became non-significant (Figure 2.20).

Outcome and	No. of	No. of	No. of	Maximal effect	Reversion	Powers for the Best- Fitting FP2		
subgroup	(curves) patients events RR (95% CI) g/d		g/day	g/day†	dose _1	dose _2		
Cardiovascular events	5							
Overall [‡]	4 (5)	28621	4060	0.56 (0.34-0.93)	6	15	-2	-2
Male	3 (4)	13598	2313	0.56 (0.23-1.34)	8	NA	-2	-2
Female	1 (1)	3775	579	0.67 (0.43-1.05)	54	49	-2	3
MI as primary event	4 (5)	20361	2564	0.79 (0.66-0.94)	11	35	-2	3
Angina as primary event	1 (1)	8747	1951	0.69 (0.59-0.81)	35	n.a.	-2	1
Stroke as primary event	1 (1)	1855	240	0.49 (0.26-0.92)	72	n.a.	-2	3
Reference group including former drinkers	3 (3)	25983	4222	0.72 (0.53-0.97)	40	45	1	1
Reference group excluding former drinkers	2 (3)	17020	2788	0.83 (0.58-1.17)	12	NA	3	3
Multiple alcohol measures	1 (1)	353	104	0.41 (0.20-0.83)	24	n.a.	2	3

Table 2.11 Best-fitting models and results of the meta-analysis on subsequent cardiovascular events in CVD patients

* Defined as the lowest point of the dose-response curve within the range of dose reported by the studies. † Defined as the dose of alcohol at which protection against the outcome is no longer statistically significant at the 95% confidence level; not applicable (NA) if non-significant association was found at any level of

consumption; not available (n.a.) if the association remained significant within the range of dose reported by the studies.

 \ddagger All of the four studies measured post-event alcohol consumption and had a quality score \ge 7.



Figure 2.18 Association between alcohol and cardiovascular events in CVD patients, stratified by sex



Figure 2.19 Association between alcohol and cardiovascular events in CVD patients, stratified by primary event



Figure 2.20 Association between alcohol and cardiovascular events in CVD patients, relative to different non-drinking group



Figure 2.21 Association between alcohol and cardiovascular events in CVD patients, using multiple alcohol assessments

2.3.6 Sensitivity analyses

Sensitivity analyses showed that the overall dose-response associations remained robust after excluding studies of the lowest quality (score <7; Appendix 2.7) or restricting analysis to risk estimates that were only adjusted for age, sex, and smoking status (Appendix 2.8). For all-cause and cardiovascular mortality outcomes, there was no evidence of heterogeneity across the first-and second-order polynomial (both I²=0%). Meta-analyses using a fixed effect model yielded similar pooled estimates with slightly narrower CIs (Table 2.12 and Appendix 2.9): the reduction in risk was greatest at 7 grams per day (RR=0.79, 95%CI=0.74-0.84) for all-cause mortality and 9 grams per day (RR=0.73, 95%CI=0.65-0.82) for cardiovascular mortality and remained significant up to 66 and 56 grams per day, respectively. Because of large heterogeneity between studies (I²=75% for both first- and second-order polynomial), it was not considered appropriate to use a fixed effect meta-analysis model for the outcome of subsequent cardiovascular events [170].

Results of Egger's test and funnel plots, as presented in Appendix 2.10, found no evidence of publication bias for all outcomes assessed.

Outrans and	No. of	No. of		Maximal effect	Reversion	
subgroup	studies (curves)	patients	deaths	RR (95% CI)	g/day	point, g/day†
All-cause mortality						
Overall	11 (11)	41743	7563	0.79 (0.74-0.84)	7	66
Male	6 (6)	19897	3846	0.80 (0.73-0.88)	9	51
Female	3 (3)	6046	1130	0.64 (0.36-1.14)	54	49
MI as primary event	9 (9)	29554	5227	0.78 (0.72-0.85)	2	63
Angina as primary	2 (2)	8938	994	0.79 (0.64-0.98)	31	46
Stroke as primary event	3 (3)	3618	807	0.66 (0.54-0.80)	12	41
Reference group including former drinkers	9 (9)	41405	7423	0.78 (0.73-0.82)	15	72
Reference group excluding former drinkers	4 (4)	17526	3037	0.83 (0.73-0.94)	3	22
Post-event alcohol assessment	8 (8)	37245	6546	0.80 (0.75-0.86)	9	64
Multiple alcohol measures	2 (2)	12337	2124	0.81 (0.72-0.91)	12	52
Cardiovascular mort	ality ‡					
Overall	9 (9)	24770	2381	0.73 (0.65-0.82)	9	56
Male	5 (5)	14536	1439	0.75 (0.64-0.87)	10	42
Female	2 (2)	4790	228	0.29 (0.09-1.01)	54	54
MI as primary event	6 (6)	12422	1320	0.78 (0.66-0.91)	43	43
Angina as primary	2 (2)	8934	406	0.85 (0.66-1.10)	31	NA
Stroke as primary event	3 (3)	3617	423	0.59 (0.44-0.79)	28	52
Reference group including former drinkers	6 (6)	24269	2155	0.72 (0.64-0.80)	16	76
Reference group excluding former drinkers	5 (5)	17683	1349	0.72 (0.60-0.86)	7	49
Post-event alcohol	7 (7)	21525	2003	0.74 (0.65-0.84)	7	53

Table 2.12 Results of meta-analysis on mortality in CVD patients using fixed effect model

* Defined as the lowest point of the dose-response curve within the range of dose reported by the studies.

† Defined as the dose of alcohol at which protection against the outcome is no longer statistically significant at the 95% confidence level; not applicable (NA) if non-significant association was found at any level of consumption.

‡ Only one study measured alcohol consumption at multiple time points.

2.4 Discussion

Meta-analysis of new findings from three major UK cohorts together with those from 12 published studies showed J-shaped associations between alcohol consumption and mortality in patients with established CVD. Compared to current non-drinkers, the reduction in risk was largest at 7 grams per day for allcause mortality and 8 grams per day for cardiovascular mortality and held up to 62 and 50 grams per day, respectively. The associations were found in accordance with the 2010 meta-analysis [120] and have also been reported in other high-risk populations, such as patients with hypertension [171] and diabetes [172].

The work presented in this chapter is the first meta-analysis to examine the association between alcohol consumption and any subsequent cardiovascular events among CVD patients. Decreases in risk were evident for any alcohol intake up to about 15 grams per day, an upper limit much lower than those seen for the mortality outcomes. Taken together, findings of this chapter indicated that, among CVD patients, the upper drinking limit for lower risks of mortality and cardiovascular morbidity was approximately 105 grams per week, which was lower than those recommended in most current guidelines. For example, the UK NICE 2020 guidelines recommend MI survivors to drink within 112 grams per week [107]; the AHA/American Stroke Association 2014 guidelines [109] and the AHA/ACCF 2011 guidelines [108] recommend no more than 196 grams per week for male patients with stroke or atherosclerotic vascular disease and 98 grams per week for the female patients; and WHO 2007 recommendations for prevention of recurrent MI and stroke were up to about 166 grams per week [110]. For more details as regards the above guideline recommendations, please refer to Box 1.1 in Chapter 1 Section 1.3.2.

The biological mechanisms whereby alcohol may influence long-term prognosis in CVD patients are not fully understood. While epidemiological studies suggest that HDL-cholesterol mediates approximately half of alcohol's relation to CVD incidence [173], HDL-cholesterol does not appear to be the main pathway responsible for the protective effect of moderate drinking on CVD prognosis. Specifically, in the study by Janszky et al. [116] among survivors of a first MI, adjustment for lipids, including HDL-cholesterol, LDL-cholesterol, Apo A, and

total cholesterol, did not appreciably alter the strength of association between alcohol intake and total mortality. Another study found that moderate drinking was associated with reduced progression of coronary atherosclerosis (as measured by mean luminal diameter change) in women hospitalized with CHD; the effect, however, was only attenuated by 12-13% after further control for HDL-cholesterol [115]. Experimental animal models also showed that alcohol suppressed the progression of existing atherosclerotic lesions and reduced plasma HDL-cholesterol level, indicating that HDL-cholesterol plays little or no role in amelioration of atherogenesis [174]. On the other hand, in line with data from the general population, adjustment for circulating amounts of insulin, insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1, and fibrinogen significantly weakened the association of alcohol with mortality post-MI, as found by Janszky et al [116]. Hence, the prognostic effect of alcohol may be partly explained by its favourable impact on glucose metabolism and prothrombotic factors. Alcohol was also found to inhibit ischemic-induced arrhythmias and significantly reduce the percentage of the ischemic area that underwent necrosis in experimental MI (a rat model of ischemia and reperfusion) [175]. Other proposed mechanisms that remain to be further elucidated within the context of prevalent CVD include lower levels of inflammation [83], decreased platelet activity [84] and better endothelial function [87, 88]. For more detailed description on possible mechanisms that underlie the alcohol-CVD association, please refer to Chapter 1 Section 1.3.1.2.

With almost triple the sample size (48423 CVD patients in total), this chapter expands the findings of the 2010 meta-analysis [120]. In particular, both HSE/SHeSs and UK Biobank provide long-term follow-up of large contemporary samples from the UK general population. The inclusion of these new datasets enables assessments of the risk of drinking within various subgroups, some of which are not available or too small to reliably investigate in published studies on CVD patients. For example, the results from the current chapter suggest that the dose-response associations may be more pronounced among patients with a previous MI than angina or stroke, raising the question of whether differential drinking limits should be recommended in patient subgroups and require further examination.

Furthermore, there is evidence that reductions in risk of all-cause mortality and subsequent events might have been overestimated due to the inclusion of former drinkers in the non-drinking reference group. By comparison, in the 2010 meta-analysis [120], inclusion of former drinkers in the reference group did not seem to bias the association between alcohol consumption and mortality. One possible reason for the discrepancy is that the 2010 meta-analysis adopted a unified ($p_1 = p_2 = 0.5$) rather than a best-fitting transformation when modelling each dose-response curve and thus might have obscured the differences between curves. Former drinkers may include individuals who have stopped drinking because of worsening health (often referred to as 'sick quitters', as discussed in Chapter 1 Section 1.3.1.3), particularly past heavy drinkers [176], therefore making current drinkers appear healthy relative to less healthy noncurrent drinkers [177]. Indeed, in a previous meta-analysis of studies conducted in the general population, reductions in mortality risk among low-volume drinkers were attenuated and insignificant after adjustment for abstainer reference group bias, that is mixing former and occasional drinkers with lifetime abstainers [178]. These could lead to a low-risk drinking limit less than the estimated 105 grams per week. However, this chapter cannot definitely determine the extent of this overestimation with only two studies (one is UK Biobank) that explicitly excluded former drinkers in their analysis on subsequent cardiovascular events, resulting in wide CIs around the corresponding pooled curve.

In the present chapter, there was no increase in risk of mortality and subsequent events among patients with higher alcohol intake. This accords with the 2010 meta-analysis and another meta-analysis of hypertensive individuals [120, 179], but contradicts some research reports from general populations [27, 34]. The discordance between findings from the present chapter and those of general population studies may be partly explained by CVD patients' advancing age. The mean/median age at baseline was greater than 59 years in most datasets utilised in this work (see Table 2.5). Because alcohol-related harms are relatively higher in younger age groups than in the elderly [180], enrolling participants of older age in studies would downplay the risk association compared to an analysis based on drinkers of all ages. Particularly, the likelihood for drinkers to become former drinkers would rise in studies with older

participants, resulting in larger bias from sick quitters (that is when the nondrinking reference group also includes former drinkers who have quit drinking in response to ill health) as discussed above. Patients who drink heavily and remained/enrolled in studies at older ages are more likely to represent 'healthy survivors' or have safer drinking practices [92, 176]. Notably, heavy drinkers are known to be under-represented in some of the included datasets, such as HSE/SHeSs [181] and the Physicians' Health Study [182]. Therefore, potential selection bias may have occurred and led to an underestimation of associations between heavy intake and risks of mortality and subsequent events. Furthermore, most epidemiological studies did not capture the extremes of alcohol use and thus may not have sufficient power to look at the effects of very heavy drinking. As a result, the lack of effects at higher drinking levels seen in this work should be interpreted cautiously, especially in light of the known profound health and societal impact of such elevated intake levels [183], as well as the increasing concerns about alcohol misuse in older populations [184].

The work reported in this chapter has several additional limitations that should be noted. Firstly, as a composite of cardiac mortality and several non-fatal cardiovascular endpoints, the definition of cardiovascular events varied across the three published studies [127, 152, 167], and thus this chapter defined the outcome in UK Biobank based on the most frequently reported events in these studies. However, there was still a significant heterogeneity in the metaanalysis. Recent observational and genetic research has suggested that moderate alcohol consumption is associated with a decreased risk of some but not all types of CVD [37, 101, 185, 186]. Therefore, this heterogeneity might have reflected the complex and diverse impacts of alcohol consumption on different CVD phenotypes.

Secondly, episodic heavy drinking has been suggested to modify the relationship between average alcohol intake and CVD/mortality risk, as detailed in Chapter 1 Section 1.3.1.1. So, there might have been confounding by the drinking pattern, as the selected studies did not exclude 'binge' drinkers. Additionally, data on alcohol intake were self-reported and hence subject to bias. However, self-reported drinking data was validated against HDL-cholesterol and gamma-glutamyl transferase (GGT) in HSE/SHeSs and UK Biobank (see Appendix 2.11). Although this meta-analysis attempted to

minimise confounding by using the most adjusted estimates, residual confounding may still exist. Information on factors such as regular use of medications, dietary behaviour or physical activity was not available in all studies included in this meta-analysis and so there is a possibility of residual confounding by these factors. However, sensitivity analyses found consistent results when using risk estimates that were only adjusted for age, sex, and smoking status, indicating that additional adjustment for these factors is unlikely to substantively influence the associations.

Thirdly, the results of this chapter must be interpreted with caution when it comes to some subgroups that have been investigated in only a limited number of studies. Relatedly, further analyses for beverage type were not possible with sufficient beverage-specific data reported in very few studies. However, the proposed differences in the associations across different beverage types are believed to be more attributed to differences in lifestyle among drinkers rather than a direct effect of the beverage per se (see Chapter 1 Section 1.3.1.1). Similar beverage types were found among drinkers at different levels in UK Biobank. Although the included studies scored as moderate to high quality on the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale, this may not account for some pertinent design/reporting characteristics of many of the studies which had problems that were specific to alcohol exposure and not covered in the scale. In metaanalyses, a relatively strong effect was observed at very low levels of drinking, and this may reflect some under-estimation of alcohol intake expected from studies with self-reported measures. Particularly, despite evidence that drinking levels fluctuate over time [123] and that the experience of ill health could lead to subsequent reduction or cessation of alcohol use [187], the majority of included studies relied upon only single alcohol observations. Little is therefore known about the temporal changes within individuals' drinking behaviour both after primary event and during follow-up, and this will be explored in depth in the next chapter.

In summary, this chapter shows that, amongst CVD patients, an alcohol intake up to about 15 grams per day is associated with lower risks of both mortality and subsequent cardiovascular events relative to non-drinking. At the same time, there is also the possibility that reductions in risk may have been overestimated by studies using a referent group contaminated by less healthy

former drinkers. No evidence of elevated risk among heavy drinkers was found but this was potentially attributable to selection bias and under-representation of such drinkers in the datasets. The findings therefore indicate that, for secondary prevention of CVD, current drinkers may not need to stop drinking but should be informed that lower levels of intake – up to 105 grams (or equivalent to 13 UK units) per week – may be associated with reduced risks. However, non-drinking patients should not be encouraged to take up light drinking because of wellknown adverse effects on other health outcomes, including certain cancers [188]. Chapter 3 Trajectories of alcohol consumption before and after CVD diagnosis: a longitudinal case-control study (Study 2)²

3.1 Introduction to the study

As outlined in Chapter 2 Table 2.5, much of the existing evidence linking alcohol to the long-term prognosis among CVD patients arises from observational studies that measured exposure to alcohol at a single point in time (typically at baseline, either before [129, 154, 168] or after being diagnosed with CVD [148, 152, 155, 169]), In doing so, these studies assume that levels of alcohol consumption remain stable over time, but there are reasons to doubt this. Drinking behaviour varies across the life course [123, 189]. There is also possibility that the onset of disease may lead individuals to re-evaluate their lifestyles and foster positive behaviour changes to enjoy better health outcomes. Analysis of drinking trajectories with repeat alcohol measures is therefore needed to examine longitudinal stability of consumption among CVD patients, particularly possible changes in consumption in relation to the diagnosis. Such information can be used to inform ongoing investigation into how drinking behaviour is associated with the onset and long-term prognosis of CVD.

Few studies have assessed drinking trajectories over time among CVD patients. Levantesi et al. found that most patients reduced their wine consumption during the first six months after the onset of MI [127]. With no drinking data prior to MI, the authors did not examine the impact of MI diagnosis itself on alcohol use. Pai et al. reported a high correlation between levels of consumption assessed immediately before and after MI [128]. However, their analysis included men only. Notably, change in consumption was based on only two time-point assessments of alcohol and, therefore, the authors were unable to estimate the shape of trajectories or distinguish true change from measurement error [190].

² Some of the findings presented in this chapter have informed the journal article: Ding C, O'Neill D, Britton A. Trajectories of alcohol consumption up to 30 years before and after the diagnosis of cardiovascular diseases: a longitudinal case-control study of 12502 participants. J Epidemiol Community Health. doi:10.1136/jech-2021-217237. Please see Appendix 3.1 for full paper.

Estimations of longitudinal drinking trajectories have also been drawn from studies linking alcohol to broader categories of life events which include newly occurring CVD [191-193]. However, these analyses were characterised by heterogeneous results as well as different methodological limitations such as (1) reliance on crudely categorised measures of alcohol intake, (2) short durations of observation and (3) utilisation of a small number of measurement occasions, which in combination limited insights into trajectories of alcohol consumption from pre- to post-CVD diagnosis over an extended time frame.

The work presented in this chapter aims to describe the mean trajectories of alcohol consumption among CVD patients, highlighting any possible changes in mean consumption after their CVD diagnosis. It examines the extent to which alcohol consumption changes over a prolonged period of up to 30 years before and after the onset of CVD with repeated alcohol measures from two large UK cohorts. By using a case-control study design, a group of controls were also sampled from the same source population that gave rise to the CVD cases but without the condition. Given that the present work aimed to offer perspectives on a changing behaviour (rather than defining its health risk), this control group served as a background reference, which helped to illustrate potential fluctuations in alcohol intake as individuals age over the life course rather than being a comparator about how drinking trajectories might be related to the occurrence of CVD.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Study design and population

A 'nested' case-control study was conducted within two ongoing UK cohorts: the Whitehall II study, comprising 10308 British civil servants aged 35-55 years at enrolment during 1985-88 [194], and the EPIC-Norfolk study, comprising 25639 residents in Norfolk aged 39-79 years at enrolment in 1993 [195]. The cohorts were chosen because they both measured alcohol intake (and covariates) repeatedly for the same individuals over a considerable time span and had reliable information on the date of CVD diagnosis through linkage to electronic health records. Participants with a previous diagnosis of CHD (angina or MI) or stroke prior to the enrolment date were excluded from the analysis. Cases were

defined as participants who developed incident CHD or stroke during follow-up (until 31 March 2019 in Whitehall II and 31 March 2016 in EPIC-Norfolk), as ascertained from linked data, and had at least one alcohol measure both before and after the date of diagnosis. Up to four controls were randomly selected for each case from those who were free of CHD and stroke during follow-up and provided at least one alcohol measure both before and after the time of diagnosis of the case. Cases and controls were individually matched by cohort, sex, and age at baseline (±1 year).

3.2.2 Alcohol consumption

Data on alcohol consumption were extracted from eight phases of the Whitehall II study and three phases of the EPIC-Norfolk study. At each phase, participants were asked to report the number of alcoholic drinks (measures of spirits, small glasses of wine, and pints of beer/cider) they had consumed in the week prior to interview. Drinks were converted into grams of ethanol in the same way as described in the preceding chapter (see Section 2.2.1.2), by assuming 8 grams per measure of spirits or small glass of wine and 16 grams per pint of beer/cider [150]. These converted measurements were then added up to define the total volume of weekly alcohol consumption in grams. The date of interview was compared with the date of diagnosis (for controls the date of diagnosis of their matched case) to determine whether an alcohol measure reflected the drinking level before or after the onset of disease.

3.2.3 Covariates

Covariates were drawn from each phase along with alcohol assessment and included age, sex, ethnicity (white or non-white) and marital status (married/cohabiting or other). Socioeconomic position was measured using occupational information and categorised as high, intermediate or low, representing income and status at work [83]. Additional data on health behaviours were obtained on smoking status (current, former, or never), physical activity (active or inactive) and dietary behaviour (frequency of fruit and vegetables consumed in a week). Information on BMI (kg/m²), self-reported history of hypertension or use of anti-hypertensive drugs and self-rated health (excellent/good, fair, or poor) was also collected.

3.2.4 Statistical analysis

3.2.4.1 Trajectory modelling

Time (in years) was centred on the date of diagnosis for cases and for controls the date of diagnosis of their matched case, which were each coded as year zero. Volume of alcohol consumed as a function of time prior to or following diagnosis was estimated using multilevel growth curve models in which observations were nested within individuals within cohorts. The models were fit with a random intercept and random slope on time at the individual level, and a random intercept at the cohort level. This allowed each individual to have their own drinking trajectory and accounted for the clustered nature of the data. The fixed effects of the models thus described the population mean trajectories. Detailed model equations are given below [196]:

The Level-1 (observation level) model equation was

$$y_{tij} = \alpha_{0ij} + \alpha_{1ij}f(time_{tij}) + e_{tij}$$

where y_{tij} was the volume of alcohol consumed at time t for individual i nested within cohort j. α_{0ij} and α_{1ij} represented the intercept and slope for individual i in cohort j. $f(time_{tij})$ was the best fitting first- or second-degree fractional polynomial (FP) transformations of the 'time' variable at time t for individual i in cohort j (see Chapter 2 Section 2.2.2.3 and below for further information on FP modelling). e_{tij} was the time-, individual-, and cohort-specific residual.

The Level-2 (individual level) equations were

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_{0ij} &= \beta_{00j} + \nu_{0ij} \\ \alpha_{1ij} &= \beta_{10j} + \nu_{1ij} \end{aligned}$$

where β_{00j} and β_{10j} were the cohort-specific intercept and slope of the drinking trajectory, interpreted as the mean initial value and the mean rate of change for all of the individuals who were nested within cohort j. The residuals v_{0ij} and v_{1ij} were individual-specific random effects, capturing the variability of each individual's trajectory around their own cohort-specific mean trajectory.

Finally, given the possible cohort differences and clustering of data by cohort, a further random effect was included in the models to allow cohort-specific intercepts. The Level-3 (cohort level) equation was thus

$$\beta_{00j} = \gamma_{000} + u_{00j}$$

where γ_{000} was the overall mean intercept pooling over all individuals in both cohorts. The residual u_{00j} captured the variability of each cohort-specific intercept around the overall mean value.

Models were fit separately for cases and controls and for males and females. To examine how drinking may change following the onset of CVD, separate models were constructed according to whether alcohol measures were reported before or after the documented date of diagnosis. Models were then incrementally adjusted for sociodemographic factors, health behaviours and health status. All of the covariates were allowed to vary over time, except for sex and ethnicity.

FP has been applied in the multilevel framework to model the longitudinal trajectory of alcohol consumption according to T2DM status [197]. Using height growth in girls during infancy and early childhood as an illustrative example, Tilling et al. compared FP and linear spline (also called 'piecewise model', which assumes implausible linearity and models trajectory as a series of connected lines jointed at 'knots') in the multilevel setting and concluded that the two approaches performed similarly [198]. Considering that linear spline does not have the same smoothness as FP and that the optimal methods for selecting knots in spline fitting remains unsettled [199], this work used FP terms (power p = -2, -1, -0.5, 0, 0.5, 1, 2 and 3) to best describe the shape of alcohol trajectory in CVD patients and their matched controls [200]:

The first-degree FP equations were defined as

$$f_1(time_{tij}) = \begin{cases} \beta_0 + \beta_1 time_{tij}^{p_1} & \text{if } p_1 \neq 0\\ \beta_0 + \beta_1 \log(time_{tij}) & \text{if } p_1 = 0 \end{cases}$$

And the second-degree FP equations were

$$f_{2}(time_{tij}) = \begin{cases} \beta_{0} + \beta_{1}time_{tij}^{p_{1}} + \beta_{2}time_{tij}^{p_{2}} & \text{if } p_{1} \neq p_{2} \\ \beta_{0} + \beta_{1}time_{tij}^{p_{1}} + \beta_{2}time_{tij}^{p_{2}}\log(time_{tij}) & \text{if } p_{1} = p_{2} \end{cases}$$

Model fit was assessed using the Bayesian information criterion (BIC), with fit statistics for each model reported in Appendix 3.2. An improvement in fit was defined as any reduction in the BIC \geq 10 [201]. Robust standard errors were calculated for the best fitting model.

3.2.4.2 Multiple imputation

Missing covariate data were handled with multiple imputation by chained equations (MICE) [202, 203], using the *mi* commands in Stata. MICE treat repeated measurements in longitudinal studies as distinct variables (often referred to as 'Just Another Variable' [204]) and impute incomplete variables iteratively via a sequence of separate regression models that predicted missing values conditional on all other variables within the models. All covariates, having missing values or not, in the substantive analysis of interest (that is growth curve models in the trajectory analysis) were included in the imputation models. Variables on 'volume of alcohol consumption' and 'time to diagnosis' were also included in the imputation models but only observed values of these variables were used in the substantive analysis.

For different variable types, the most appropriate regression model was chosen. Specifically, logistic regressions were used for binary variables and ordinal logistic regressions for ordered categorical variables. In the case of alcohol consumption, truncated regression models were used, restricting the lower limit of predicted value to zero. Data were log transformed for skewed continuous variables. The 'augment' option was selected to avoid perfect prediction, by adding random observations with very small weights to the dataset during estimation. Imputations were done separately by cohort and 50 imputations were run within each cohort – a value equal to at least the total proportion of participants without complete case data [202]. Table 3.1 shows the proportions of missing values for each variable stratified by cohort and case/control status.

Sensitivity analysis was carried out by comparing imputed data (primary analysis) to complete case data. Results derived using complete case methods were broadly concordant with those obtained using multiple imputation (see Appendices 3.3-3.4). Upon identifying age as the main influencing factor, in a series of post hoc analyses, drinking trajectories were examined either within subgroups defined by age at the time of diagnosis or using age (in years) as the time scale. All analyses were performed using Stata 15.1. All P-values were two-sided and a P-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Sample characteristics

As presented in Figure 3.1, of the 35947 participants enrolled at baseline, there were 9178 incident CVD cases during a median follow up of 21.2 (IQR=19.8-31.3) years. Among these, 2501 cases had at least one alcohol measure both before and after the time of diagnosis, providing 12285 observations. Eligible cases were predominantly male (71.6%) and had a mean age of 65.39 (SD=9.33) years at diagnosis.

Table 3.1 shows the characteristics of the cases and their matched controls (control: n=10001, observations=50357) at the most recent phase prior to the diagnosis. Median time from this phase to diagnosis was 2.6 (IQR=1.3-3.9) years among the Whitehall II participants and 4.0 (IQR=2.3-6.7) years among the EPIC-Norfolk participants.

On average, cases showed a worse cardiovascular risk profile than controls, with a greater proportion of the participants currently smoking, being physically inactive and having higher BMI. Cases were also more likely to have hypertension and rate their health as poor. In terms of alcohol consumption, cases in the EPIC-Norfolk study reported slightly lower levels of drinking than matched controls, whereas drinking levels were similar for the two groups in the Whitehall II study.



Figure 3.1 Flowchart of the case selection for each study

	The Whitehall II study				The EPIC-Norfolk study					
	Case	e (n=1349)	Control (n=5396) P-va		P-value*	Case (n=1152)		Control (n=4605)		P-value*
Age (years) †	62.05	(9.04)	61.87	(8.98)	0.509	69.30	(8.07)	69.13	(8.06)	0.522
Male	1027	(76.13)	4108	(76.13)	1.000	764	(66.32)	3053	(66.30)	0.989
Alcohol intake in last week (grams) ‡	56	(8, 128)	56	(16, 128)	0.446	28	(10, 80)	36	(12, 92)	0.031
Ethnicity										
White	1161	(86.06)	5054	(93.66)	<0.001	1146	(99.48)	4582	(99.50)	0.169
Non-white	186	(13.79)	328	(6.08)		1	(0.09)	15	(0.33)	
Missing	2	(0.15)	14	(0.26)		5	(0.43)	8	(0.17)	
Marriage										
Married/cohabiting	1054	(78.13)	4191	(77.67)	0.748	943	(81.86)	3918	(85.08)	0.003
Other	295	(21.87)	1201	(22.26)		205	(17.80)	656	(14.25)	
Missing	0	(0.00)	4	(0.07)		4	(0.35)	31	(0.67)	
Socioeconomic position										
High	538	(39.88)	2546	(47.18)	<0.001	524	(45.49)	2254	(48.95)	0.128
Intermediate	604	(44.77)	2191	(40.60)		446	(38.72)	1659	(36.03)	
Low	207	(15.34)	659	(12.21)		161	(13.98)	636	(13.81)	
Missing	0	(0.00)	0	(0.00)		21	(1.82)	56	(1.22)	
Smoking										
Never smoker	574	(42.55)	2691	(49.87)	<0.001	413	(35.85)	2052	(44.56)	<0.001
Ex-smoker	578	(42.85)	2217	(41.09)		616	(53.47)	2198	(47.73)	
Current smoker	197	(14.60)	484	(8.97)		114	(9.90)	329	(7.14)	
Missing	0	(0.00)	4	(0.07)		9	(0.78)	26	(0.56)	

Table 3.1 Sample characteristics at the most recent phase before diagnosis

Physical activity										
Active	1222	(90.59)	4988	(92.44)	0.024	746	(64.76)	3393	(73.68)	<0.001
Inactive	124	(9.19)	397	(7.36)		406	(35.24)	1212	(26.32)	
Missing	3	(0.22)	11	(0.20)		0	(0.00)	0	(0.00)	
Fruit and vegetable consumption										
≥ Daily	915	(67.83)	3833	(71.03)	0.021	1122	(97.40)	4472	(97.11)	0.908
< Daily	434	(32.17)	1563	(28.97)		4	(0.35)	17	(0.37)	
Missing	0	(0.00)	0	(0.00)		26	(2.26)	116	(2.52)	
BMI (kg/m ²)†	26.83	(4.08)	25.88	(3.93)	<0.001	27.35	(3.74)	26.41	(3.51)	<0.001
Missing	0	(0.00)	1	(0.02)		1	(0.09)	6	(0.13)	
Hypertension										
No	931	(69.01)	4319	(80.04)	<0.001	582	(50.52)	3566	(77.44)	<0.001
Yes	415	(30.76)	1056	(19.57)		570	(49.48)	1039	(22.56)	
Missing	3	(0.22)	21	(0.39)		0	(0.00)	0	(0.00)	
Self-rated health										
Excellent/good	983	(72.87)	4611	(85.45)	<0.001	813	(70.57)	4072	(88.43)	<0.001
Fair	300	(22.24)	680	(12.60)		289	(25.09)	496	(10.77)	
Poor	66	(4.89)	102	(1.89)		36	(3.13)	21	(0.46)	
Missing	0	(0.00)	3	(0.06)		14	(1.22)	16	(0.35)	

Covariates were drawn from the phase just before the date of diagnosis for cases and for controls the date of diagnosis of their matched case.

Values are numbers (percentages) unless otherwise specified. * To examine within-cohort differences between case and control groups, one-way ANOVA was used on continuous data and the chi-squared test on categorical data; analyses were based on complete cases.

† Mean (standard deviation).

‡ Median (interquartile range).

Table 3.2 presents the percentage contribution of different beverage types to total alcohol intake in a subset of Whitehall II participants who reported drinking in the past week at both phases immediately before and after diagnosis (noting that binge drinking and drinking with meals were not consistently examined in Whitehall II; no data on drinking patterns were available from EPIC-Norfolk). Overall, wine contributed most to total weekly alcohol intake in both cases and controls before and after CVD diagnosis, followed by beer/cider and spirits. While total consumption was similar between cases and controls, controls drank relatively more wine and less beer/cider. The mean percentage of alcohol derived from wine was slightly higher after diagnosis, as well as in controls than in cases.

•									
	Case (n=902)	Control (n=4061)							
At the most recent phase before diagnosis*									
Total alcohol intake in grams/week †	88 (48-160)	80 (48-160)							
Wine %	49.71 (35.24)	53.05 (35.28)							
Beer/cider %	32.40 (33.58)	29.70 (32.66)							
Spirits %	17.89 (25.14)	17.25 (25.27)							
At the phase immediately after diagnosis \ddagger									
Total alcohol intake in grams/week †	80 (40-144)	80 (48-144)							
Wine %	52.66 (35.98)	56.88 (35.39)							
Beer/cider %	30.71 (33.69)	27.33 (32.00)							
Spirits %	16.63 (25.79)	15.78 (24.61)							

Table 3.2 Contribution of different beverage types to total alcohol intake in the Whitehall II study

Values are means (standard deviations) unless otherwise specified.

* Median time from this phase to diagnosis was 2.5 (IQR=1.3-3.8) years among cases and 2.7 (IQR=1.4-4.0) years among controls.

† Median (interquartile range).

⁺ Median time from this phase to diagnosis was 2.4 (IQR=1.3-3.6) years among cases and 2.2 (IQR=1.1-3.4) years among controls.

3.3.2 Trajectories of alcohol consumption prior to diagnosis

Drinking trajectories prior to diagnosis were estimated based on 5367 observations among 1791 male cases and 1868 observations among 710 female cases. For trajectories among matched controls, there were 7161 men and 2840 women, providing 37395 and 12962 observations, respectively. Overall, among male cases, mean consumption increased over time, peaking at around eight years before diagnosis at 95 (95%CI=60-130) grams per week and declining afterwards. At 30 years prior to diagnosis, the mean weekly volume of alcohol consumed among male cases was higher than among controls; however, by the time of diagnosis, the consumption was estimated to be roughly equivalent between the two groups, at around 90 grams per week (Figure 3.2).

Mean consumption among female cases remained stable over time, at about 30 grams per week. There was little difference in the average volume of alcohol consumption between female cases and controls at 30 years prior to diagnosis, whereas controls had a weekly consumption about 10 grams higher than cases by the time of diagnosis (Figure 3.2).

The crude models were incrementally adjusted to assess the effect of a broad range of sociodemographic characteristics, lifestyle, and health-related factors on disparities in alcohol consumption between cases and controls. Results are reported in Table 3.3 and displayed in Figure 3.3. Up to the time of diagnosis, variation in alcohol volume grew substantially among female cases. Differences in consumption at the time of diagnosis were greater between male cases and controls following adjustments but attenuated between female cases and controls.


Figure 3.2 Trajectories of the mean volume of weekly alcohol consumption prior to and following the diagnosis of cardiovascular diseases, stratified by sex and case/control group (crude models using imputed data) *Notes: Dashed curves represent 95%Cls.*





Notes: Figures are reported according to mean and referent held values (that is 65 years old at diagnosis, white, married, high socioeconomic position, never-smoking, physically active, eating fruits/vegetable daily, self-rated health as excellent/good, reporting no history of hypertension and with a BMI value of 26 kg/m²).

3.3.3 Trajectories of alcohol consumption following diagnosis

Drinking trajectories following diagnosis were estimated using the same set of cases as in the pre-diagnosis analysis above. A total of 3722 observations from male cases and 1328 observations from female cases contributed to the post-diagnosis estimation.

As shown in Figure 3.2, the mean volume of alcohol consumption among male cases dropped from 87 (95%CI=54-120) grams per week to 74 (95%CI=45-102) grams per week after the date of diagnosis, and then slightly rose to 78 (95%CI=40-116) grams per week at the subsequent three and a half years, before gradually declining to 31 (95%CI=2-61) grams per week at 30 years after diagnosis. By contrast, a continuous steeper decrease in consumption was found for their matched controls. These results, however, should be interpreted with caution as the CIs continued to be wide and greatly overlapped.

Among female cases, mean consumption fell marginally to 25 (95%CI=20-30) grams per week after the date of their diagnosis. Consumption kept decreasing in both female cases and controls during the 30 years following diagnosis, with a steeper rate of decrease in the latter.

Similar regression coefficients and drinking trajectories were obtained from adjusted models, except that a markedly attenuated drop in the average volume of alcohol consumption after the date of diagnosis was found among male cases and a greater variation in alcohol consumed was seen among female cases (Table 3.3 and Figure 3.3).

Best-fitting models				Model 1		Model 2			Model 3			Model 4			
		Obs	n	Coefficient	Robust SE	P- value	Coefficient Robust SE	P- value	Coefficient	Robust SE	P- value	Coefficient	Robust SE	P- value	
Male															
Case,	Time ²	5367	1791	14.02	0.68	<0.001	13.15	1.19	<0.001	13.68	1.14	<0.001	10.31	0.52	<0.001
pre-	Time ²			-10.77	0.59	<0.001	-10.35	0.92	<0.001	-10.69	0.85	<0.001	-8.83	0.12	<0.001
onset	Intercept			68.09	16.68	<0.001	113.90	1.89	<0.001	88.99	5.01	<0.001	23.21	29.99	0.439
Case,	Time ⁻²	3722	1791	-2436.96	919.61	0.008	-2837.56	1164.62	0.015	-2808.99	1214.59	0.021	-2635.08	1092.75	0.016
post-	Time ⁻²			3386.79	1042.04	0.001	4088.46	1386.48	0.003	4030.64	1435.09	0.005	3873.59	1335.15	0.004
onset	Intercept			-70.03	11.21	<0.001	38.80	10.75	<0.001	20.13	8.55	0.019	-35.36	40.10	0.378
Control	Time ¹	37395	7161	44.32	7.17	<0.001	43.81	7.45	<0.001	44.08	7.40	<0.001	35.17	4.70	<0.001
	Time ²			-9.07	0.75	<0.001	-9.16	0.85	<0.001	-9.17	0.83	<0.001	-8.00	0.61	<0.001
	Intercept			39.70	1.28	<0.001	141.43	0.91	<0.001	128.35	4.76	<0.001	60.39	15.74	<0.001
Female															
Case,	Time ³	1868	710	-0.02	0.04	0.553	-0.06	0.02	0.021	-0.02	0.02	0.134	-0.01	0.02	0.785
pre- onset	Intercept			30.01	0.54	<0.001	52.13	4.65	<0.001	42.88	11.41	<0.001	54.15	7.84	<0.001
Case,	Time ³	1328	710	-0.10	0.03	<0.001	-0.12	0.03	<0.001	-0.11	0.03	<0.001	-0.12	0.03	<0.001
post- onset	Intercept			27.72	3.24	<0.001	66.70	20.69	0.001	61.86	21.54	0.004	60.92	16.83	<0.001

Table 3.3 Regression coefficients for the fixed effects of the best-fitting multilevel growth curve models using imputed data

Control	Time ¹	12962	2840	15.00	6.51	0.021	13.72	5.84	0.019	13.27	5.82	0.023	11.77	4.24	0.005
	Time ²			-3.41	0.82	<0.001	-3.29	0.79	<0.001	-3.18	0.80	<0.001	-2.93	0.66	<0.001
	Intercept			24.31	6.41	<0.001	71.88	12.75	<0.001	66.30	14.76	<0.001	62.58	10.93	<0.001

* To describe the shape of each trajectory, a group of first- and second-degree fractional polynomials with powers from a predefined set (-2, -1, -0.5, 0, 0.5, 1, 2, 3) was used to derive a power transformation of the 'Time' variable. The superscript numbers following 'Time' in the table above refer to power terms that provide the best fit. Obs=observations, SE=standard error.

Model 1: unadjusted.

Model 2: as Model 1, plus adjustment for age at diagnosis, ethnicity, marital status, and socioeconomic position.

Model 3: as Model 2, plus adjustment for smoking, physical activity, frequency of fruit and vegetables consumed in a week.

Model 4: as Model 3, plus adjustment for prevalent hypertension (self-reported doctor diagnosed hypertension or use of antihypertensive drugs), BMI, self-rated health.

3.3.4 Post hoc analyses

Alcohol consumption trajectories prior to and following diagnosis within different age groups (35-49, 50-59, 60-69, \geq 70 years at the time of diagnosis) are shown in Figures 3.4-3.5. Among females, age groups 35-49 and 50-59 years were combined due to the small number of cases in the former (n=31). For both sexes, trajectories from adjusted analyses (with adjustment for the same covariates listed in Table 3.3 Model 4) had highly overlapping CIs, indicating little difference in mean weekly consumption of alcohol between cases and controls in any specific age group. As presented in Figures 3.6-3.7, similar trajectories of mean consumption were also found between cases and controls when using age as the time scale.







35-49 years old at diagnosis — case (n=119, obs=749) — control (n=457, obs=3012)



60-69 years old at diagnosis — case (n=691, obs=3554) — control (n=2819, obs=15110)





190 -

-30 -2

(b)



Figure 3.4 Trajectories of the mean weekly alcohol consumption among males, stratified by case/control and age group (maximally adjusted models using imputed data)

Notes: Figures are reported according to mean and referent held values, that is 46 years old at diagnosis for (a), 56 years old for (b), 65 years old for (c), or 75 years old for (d) PLUS other values as specified in the legend of Figure 3.3. obs=observations.





Figure 3.5 Trajectories of the mean weekly alcohol consumption among females, stratified by case/control and age group (maximally adjusted models using imputed data)

Notes: Figures are reported according to mean and referent held values, that is 54 years old at diagnosis for (a), 65 years old for (b), or 75 years old for (c) PLUS other values as specified in the legend of Figure 3.3. obs=observations.



Figure 3.6 Trajectories of the mean weekly alcohol consumption across age, stratified by sex and case/control group (crude models using imputed data). *Notes: Dashed curves represent 95%Cls.*



Figure 3.7 Trajectories of the mean weekly alcohol consumption across age, stratified by sex and case/control group (maximally adjusted models using imputed data). Notes: Figures are reported according to mean and referent held values as specified in the legend of Figure 3.3.

3.4 Discussion

The work reported in this chapter is the first study to describe the mean trajectory of weekly alcohol consumption spanning up to 30 years before and

after CVD diagnosis. With repeated measures of alcohol from two large UK cohorts, this work benefited from its prospective case-control design, reliable ascertainment of CVD cases and wide coverage of the adult life span (with data collected from ages 35 to 92 years). By mapping and centring alcohol data on the date of diagnosis, drinking trajectories pre- or post-CVD were fitted with separate models, allowing curves to have different shapes. Overall, little difference was found in the mean volume of alcohol consumed among those diagnosed with CVD and those without the condition. For patients of both sexes, there was a small reduction in alcohol consumption in the years straddling the diagnosis. Altogether, the findings from this chapter provide novel insights into how engagement in a known determinant of health changes before and after the onset of disease. These insights can inform future inquiry into how drinking behaviour in an at-risk population is related to initial/subsequent disease onset as well as mortality.

The drinking trajectories observed among controls in this chapter are broadly in agreement with studies on lifetime drinking patterns among general population samples which report that alcohol consumption increases from adolescence to middle age and then decreases as people get older, with lower overall consumption in women than men [123]. The present work extended these findings by looking at CVD patients and found consumption trajectories that were roughly similar to the consumption patterns observed in their matched controls; similarities between cases and controls regarding drinking trajectories were seen within different age groups, suggesting that changes in consumption over time may be largely attributable to the effect of age. This is an important observation which has not typically been reflected in current evidence base for alcohol drinking among CVD patients. Studies linking alcohol to long-term prognosis of CVD have predominantly used just one measure of exposure, mostly at baseline (as shown in Chapter 2 Table 2.5), and thus overlook the changes in drinking during follow up (which may be several decades for some health outcomes) and are at risk of misclassification bias, with longer intervals increasing the likelihood of misclassification [205]. For the few studies with serial measures of alcohol, levels of consumption were commonly categorized according to each individual's average intake during follow up [128, 167]. Such

121

aggregation can still mask the pattern of changes in consumption within individuals over time and its possible impact on subsequent health risks.

In the present chapter, wide CIs were observed for estimates of population mean trajectories, which are likely to be attributable to a high variability in trajectories across individual CVD patients. Addressing heterogeneity in drinking pattern over time has been the research focus of alcohol epidemiology in recent years [92]. Many efforts have been made to differentiate between long-term trajectories of alcohol intake among the general population in terms of drinker typologies (for instance, persistent moderate drinker, mostly heavy drinker, increasing drinker, etc.) [206, 207] and link these typologies to health outcomes such as incidence of T2DM [208] and CHD [124]. However, such a trajectory approach has yet to be used to examine the health consequences of alcohol among CVD patients. Future research needs to investigate the benefits/harms of well-classified drinking patterns in secondary prevention of CVD to better inform lifestyle choices and health education in regard to these.

Over the years surrounding diagnosis, there was a drop in the mean volume of alcohol consumed among CVD patients, although the overlapping CIs limits interpretation of this finding. A similar pattern of results has been reported for a new diagnosis of T2DM [197] and other medical conditions including cancer [191, 193]. Mechanisms underlying the reductions in drinking following CVD onset could not be identified with information from the source cohorts. Likely reasons for the reductions include ill health (and related reduction in ability to socialise or enjoy alcohol consumption), health precaution, pharmacological contraindication, or adherence to medical advice. Patients included in the present study were diagnosed across a broad span of time (spanning the years 1986 to 2016) where different drinking advice and CVD management were applied. In the UK, low risk drinking guidelines were first released in 1987 with recommendations of no more than 21 units (1 unit equals 8 grams of pure ethanol) per week for men and 14 units per week for women [209]. The recommended limits were transited to daily (no more than 3-4 units per day for men and 2-3 units per day for women) in 1995 [210], before reverting to weekly (no more than 14 units per week for both men and women) in the latest drinking guidelines published in 2016 [44]. For secondary prevention of CVD, it has been recommended that advice on alcohol consumption should be given in line

with the above-mentioned national recommendations [211, 212]. Unfortunately, it was not possible to ascertain what advice the CVD participants in each cohort were told in real clinical practice where drinking decisions need to be made appropriate to the circumstances of each individual.

The work presented in this chapter has additional limitations that warrant consideration. First, as with other longitudinal cohort studies, the findings from this chapter were prone to selection attrition. Heavier drinkers might be more likely to drop out and be under-represented in the datasets, which could have biased downwards the mean estimates. Secondly, the measurement of alcohol was based on self-reports; although it is subject to estimation error and the strength of some alcohol beverages is likely to have increased over time [213], research has shown that drinking data collected through this method remains valid and reliable, especially when involving specified time-frames ('past week' instead of 'usual' reference frames) and beverage-specific questions [214, 215]. Thirdly, analyses of drinking trajectories in the present study were dependent on drinking volume only. Sufficient data on other characteristics of alcohol consumption, such as drinking frequency and context, may provide a more detailed illustration of how drinking behaviour changes over time. Furthermore, many major life events, such as retirement [216], could affect alcohol drinking and were not included in the present analyses; however, a comprehensive discussion of possible predictors of changes in alcohol consumption is beyond the scope of this chapter. Data presented here were collected from two UK cohorts: one being a 'white collar' occupational cohort (the Whitehall II study) and the other a population-based cohort. Clearly, there were some cohort differences, most likely due to demographic characteristics such as socioeconomic position. Apart from adjustments for these characteristics, the inclusion of cohort-level random effects in the modelling took into account data clustering and thereby improved the validity of the results obtained. Although the present analysis attempted to account for concurrent changes in many other lifestyle and health-related factors, residual confounding owing to unmeasured factors might still be possible.

In summary, this chapter is the first piece of research to show amongst CVD patients specifically how weekly alcohol intake changes across a wide span of the life course, covering a period of up to 30 years before and after the

123

diagnosis. The findings provide a basis of evidence that can inform future inquiry into how drinking behaviour in an at-risk population is related to initial/subsequent disease onset as well as mortality. Future research needs to examine the drinking behaviour in other ways, such as the frequency and context of consumption (for example, with meal or role in wider dietary guidance) as well as address the impact of changes in drinking behaviour on CVD patients to better inform lifestyle advice and healthcare policy. To shed light on the latter, the next chapter will present a further investigation into the heterogeneity in patients' alcohol consumption trajectories (as indicated by the wide CIs and discussed above); efforts will also be made to clarify the mortality risk associated with different drinking trajectories in CVD patients. Chapter 4 Alcohol trajectories in relation to all-cause mortality in CVD patients: a prospective cohort study (Study 3)³

4.1 Introduction to the study

As summarised earlier in Chapter 1 Section 1.3, the association between moderate alcohol consumption and reduced risk of CVD is well documented and heatedly debated; however, relatively few studies have focused on patients who have already experienced a CVD event and the effects that alcohol drinking may have on their subsequent health. Findings from Chapter 2 suggest that drinking up to 105 grams of ethanol per week is associated with lower risks of mortality and subsequent cardiovascular events than non-drinking in those with established CVD; this threshold is lower than the upper limits of drinking recommended in most current guidelines (as listed in Box 1.1).

Similar to the critiques of studies on general populations [92, 217], the evidence among CVD patients is far from robust for several important reasons. Firstly, most studies (11 out of 14) included in the meta-analyses presented in Chapter 2 only looked at the association with single baseline measure of alcohol intake, despite evidence from Chapter 3 and the literature that drinking behaviours change over time and that misclassification of alcohol intake has the potential to bias the risk estimates [218, 219]. Longitudinal prospective assessment of intake is needed to accurately measure long-term exposure to alcohol, and this is particularly relevant when studying biological processes that cause chronic effects on health [220]. Secondly, in those few studies of CVD patients that did include longitudinal assessment of alcohol and subsequent health risks [127, 128, 167], the methodology used can be questioned. In most cases these studies categorised the patients into different drinking groups according to each patient's average intake during follow-up, with no accounting for intra-individual variation in drinking levels over time. Failure to capture such variation may result in over-simplistic interpretation of alcohol use and consequent outcomes, as there is evidence from general population samples that unstable drinking

³ Some of the findings presented in this chapter have informed the journal article: Ding C, O'Neill D, Britton A. Trajectories of alcohol consumption in relation to all-cause mortality in patients with cardiovascular disease: a 35-year prospective cohort study. Addiction. doi:10.1111/add.15850. Please see Appendix 4.1 for full paper.

patterns confer increased risks for CHD and total mortality independent of average intake [124-126]. Thirdly, these studies were often limited by the inclusion of former drinkers in the non-drinking group. As discussed in Chapter 2, patients may quit drinking in response to ill health, and such sick quitters could potentially bias risk estimates if not analysed separately [70]. Fourth, most studies also had a heterogeneous group of patients with incident or recurrent CVD events and did not adequately account for concurrent changes in other lifestyle and health factors – such as smoking which is associated with both levels of drinking and with mortality [221], and thus might confound the results.

It therefore remains unclear what advice should be given to CVD patients in terms of their alcohol consumption and subsequent prognosis. The present chapter contributes to this deficit in evidence using data with repeated measures of alcohol intake spanning up to three decades, with aims to (1) describe the heterogeneity in longitudinal trajectories of alcohol consumption in patients with incident CVD events, (2) link different trajectories to risk of all-cause mortality, and (3) compare these associations with findings based on single time-point assessment of alcohol intake in the same cohort to assess the utility of taking a longitudinal approach in examining alcohol's relation to health.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Study design and population

The Whitehall II study (used previously in Chapter 3) was chosen for the present analyses as it was able to provide reliable information on CVD incidence and subsequent mortality (tracked through linkage with administrative databases) and collected alcohol intake data repeatedly from the same individuals across study phases. Phase 1 of the Whitehall II study (at enrolment) involved a clinical examination as well as a self-administered questionnaire to collect information including demographics, health status and lifestyle factors. Subsequent phases of data collection have alternated between questionnaire alone and questionnaire accompanied by a clinical examination. Data used in the chapter came from phase 1 (1985-88), 2 (1989-90), 3 (1991-93), 5 (1997-99), 7 (2002-04), 9 (2007-09), 11 (2012-13) and 12 (2015-16) of the study.

After excluding participants with previously diagnosed CHD, stroke or cancer at phase 1 (n=178), an inception cohort of 1705 was identified, who survived an incident CHD/stroke event from phase 1-12. All patients with repeated measures of alcohol (at least two measures, starting from the most recent phase pre-incident CVD; Figure 4.1) were included, resulting in an analytical sample of 1306.



Figure 4.1 An illustration of study design

Notes: This is an illustrative example of how drinking trajectory was constructed for a participant who had an incident CVD event in the year 1995 and was alive at the end of follow-up.

4.2.2 Alcohol consumption

At each phase, participants were asked to report the number of alcoholic drinks (measures of spirits, glasses of wine, and pints of beer/cider) they had consumed in the previous week. Drinks were converted into UK units of alcohol using the same conversion protocol implemented in earlier chapters. For more information regarding the drinks-to-units conversion, please refer to Chapter 2 Section 2.2.1.2. These converted measurements were summed to define the total weekly alcohol intake in units. Intakes at each phase were then categorised into none, moderate (1-14 units per week) and heavy (>14 units per week) to reflect the current UK drinking guidelines [44].

The present analysis used all available alcohol category data (divided into 0, 1-14 and >14 units per week and coded as 0, 1 and 2, respectively) collected at the most recent phase pre-incident CVD (defined as assessment occasion 1) and from all subsequent phases post-incident CVD to better represent longterm drinking trajectories, with an illustrative example presented in Figure 4.1.

Group-based trajectory modelling (GBTM) was applied to identify groups of patients following different trajectories of alcohol consumption, using the traj command in Stata [222]. GBTM is an application of the finite mixture models for longitudinal data. Unlike growth mixture modelling (which is also based on finite mixture models), GBTM does not assume that the population is composed of discrete groups defined by different trajectories. Instead, GBTM uses groups as a statistical device for approximating the unknown distribution of trajectories in the population and thus is more appropriate for elucidating heterogeneity in alcohol use over time (as population differences in drinking trajectories are unlikely to be clear-cut) [223]. Trajectory models were estimated with 3-6 groups and for each group a polynomial function of assessment occasion (up to second order) was considered, as suggested by previous research [224, 225]. BIC and Akaike information criterion (AIC) values were used to select optimal number and shape of groups. Patients were assigned to the group for which their posterior membership probability was highest. Model adequacy was assessed using the recommended average posterior probability, with AvePP ≥0.7 in all groups demonstrating a high assignment accuracy [226].

129

Results of the best-fitting model in the GBTM analysis are reported in Figure 4.2 and Table 4.1. Model fit statistics are given in Appendix 4.2. A six-group model provided best fit to the data and showed adequate classification accuracy; AvePP for each trajectory group was between 0.75-0.93. The identified trajectory groups are labelled a posteriori as: (1) long-term abstainers, (2) stable moderate drinkers, (3) reducing moderate drinkers, (4) former drinkers, (5) occasional heavy drinkers, and (6) stable heavy drinkers.



Figure 4.2 Alcohol consumption trajectories of the six groups identified using groupbased trajectory modelling

Notes: Models were based on repeated measures of drinking category (0, 1-14 and >14 units per week and coded as 0, 1 and 2, respectively) derived from the most recent phase pre-incident CVD (assessment occasion 1) and all subsequent phases post-incident CVD (assessment occasions 2-8). Solid lines indicate estimated trajectories and dot symbols indicate observed group means at each assessment occasion.

Trajectory group	Allocated group membership	Average posterior probabilities *	Parameter	Estimate	SE	P-value
Long-term abstainers	15.5%	0.93	Intercept	-1.821	0.236	<0.001
			Linear	0.190	0.050	<0.001
Stable moderate	53.9%	0.86	Intercept	1.116	0.036	<0.001
drinkers			Linear	-0.026	0.010	0.010
Reducing moderate	6.0%	0.77	Intercept	1.171	0.121	<0.001
drinkers			Linear	-0.247	0.040	<0.001
Former drinkers	6.3%	0.75	Intercept	7.400	208.059	0.972
			Linear	-6.987	235.822	0.976
			Quadratic	0.700	29.544	0.981
Occasional heavy	8.5%	0.80	Intercept	5.873	0.553	<0.001
drinkers			Linear	-1.616	0.247	<0.001
			Quadratic	0.139	0.026	<0.001
Stable heavy drinkers	9.8%	0.81	Intercept	2.260	0.154	<0.001
			Linear	0.223	0.067	0.001

Table 4.1 Regression coefficients for the best-fitting group-based trajectory model

Trajectories were modelled with alcohol category data that were divided into 0, 1-14 and >14 units per week and coded as 0, 1 and 2, respectively. * Posterior probabilities of group membership for individuals assigned to each group, an average of >0.7 demonstrates good

classification accuracy. SE=standard error.

4.2.3 Outcome

All-cause mortality was traced through the national mortality register until 28 February 2021. Patients contributed person time from the date of last available alcohol assessment (which was defined as the current work's baseline) until the occurrence of death or censoring.

4.2.4 Covariates

Sociodemographic variables included age, sex, and ethnicity (white or nonwhite). Socioeconomic position was defined using either current or last recorded employment grade as high, intermediate, or low. Health behaviours were assessed and comprised smoking (current, former, or never), physical activity (meeting or below WHO recommendations [227], that is ≥150 minutes of moderate-intensity or ≥75 minutes of vigorous-intensity activity per week) and dietary behaviour (frequency of fruit and vegetables consumed in a week). Further medical information was obtained on self-reported use of cardiovascular drugs, prevalent diabetes (defined as reported doctor-diagnosed diabetes or use of antidiabetic drugs, or clinically measured fasting blood glucose ≥7.0 mmol/L) and hypertension (defined as reported doctor-diagnosed hypertension or use of antihypertensive drugs, or clinically measured systolic/diastolic blood pressure ≥140/90 mmHg). Covariates were assessed at the most recent phase pre-incident CVD. To account for variability in the exposure assessment interval, the time difference between the date of first and last available alcohol assessment was calculated for each patient and included as a further covariate. Follow-up observations on health behaviours and medical status were also derived from the same phase when the last available alcohol assessment was recorded.

4.2.5 Statistical analysis

Prior to undertaking inferential analyses, MICE was completed to address missing covariate data [202]. Outcome (the Nelson-Aalen hazard and outcome indicator) and exposure (alcohol intakes at each phase) variables were also included in the imputation model but only observed values of these variables were used in the substantive analysis (that is survival analysis, please see below) [228, 229]. Repeated measurements were treated as distinct variables in

133

the imputation model [204]. Simulation studies show that this approach performs well in similar longitudinal settings [203, 230]. Altogether, 100 imputations were run. For more information regarding the construction of imputation models, please refer to Chapter 3 Section 3.2.4.2.

HRs for all-cause mortality in relation to drinking trajectories were estimated using Cox proportional hazards regression models. Models were first adjusted for age, sex, and intake assessment interval (Model 1), then additionally for ethnicity, socioeconomic position, health behaviours and medical status (Model 2). Covariates in Models 1 and 2 were from the most recent phase pre-incident CVD. To account for changes in health behaviours as well as updates to medical status, in Model 3 further adjustment was made for covariates (smoking, physical activity, dietary behaviour, use of cardiovascular drugs, prevalent diabetes and hypertension) assessed at the phase of last available alcohol assessment. The reference group for the present analysis was stable moderate drinkers [231]. Schoenfeld residuals were plotted to ascertain that the proportional hazards assumption had not been violated (see Appendix 4.3).

A further analysis was performed with drinking categories defined using *only* data from the last available alcohol assessment, so that findings from the main analyses (trajectory approach) can be compared to those that would have been obtained using the conventional approach in which exposure to alcohol was only assessed at one time-point. Sensitivity analyses were conducted on a number of patient characteristics (sex and primary events), allowing for a more homogenous sample. A stricter inclusion criterion of having at least three alcohol measures was applied to minimise the potential misclassification of exposure. Complete case analysis was performed to assess the influence of multiple imputation on the results.

As shown in Chapter 2 Figure 2.7, the intake threshold associated with significantly increased risk of mortality among CVD patients may be higher than 14 units per week, so in exploratory post hoc analyses, average weekly intake during the assessment interval was calculated for each patient in the group of stable heavy drinkers. The group was then divided into two subgroups based on the group mean value of average weekly intakes, and their associations with mortality were examined. Additional post hoc analysis was conducted with

further adjustment for concurrent changes in patients' self-rated health (excellent/good, fair, or poor). Self-rated health has been shown to be a valid measure of overall health status as well as a predictor of mortality among participants of the Whitehall II study [232, 233]. Such analyses help to reveal whether changes in alcohol consumption occur as a consequence of worsening health. All analyses were performed using Stata 15.1. A two-sided P-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Sample characteristics

Table 4.2 shows the characteristics of the study population stratified by alcohol trajectories, as well as the proportion of missingness. The most common derived trajectory groups were stable moderate drinker (53.9%), followed by long-term abstainers (15.5%) and stable heavy drinkers (9.8%). Overall, the resultant trajectories comprised a median assessment interval of 12.2 (IQR=7.0-18.0) years, with each patient contributing an average of 4 (IQR=3-5) measures of alcohol.

Mean age at the most recent phase pre-incident CVD ranged from 56.8 (SD=7.9) years for stable heavy drinkers to 64.1 (SD=9.1) years for former drinkers. Long-term abstainers were more likely to be female, non-white and of lower socioeconomic position. Heavy drinkers (occasional or stable) were more likely to be male, of white ethnicity and high socioeconomic position; they were also more frequently past or current smokers at the most recent phase pre-incident CVD.

Across all trajectory groups, the proportions of patients currently smoking or meeting physical activity recommendations decreased from the most recent phase pre-incident CVD to the phase of last available alcohol assessment. The prevalence of cardiovascular drug use, diabetes and hypertension increased over the same period.

Table 4.2 Patient characteristics h	···/	alcohol	consumption	trajactorias
Table 4.2 Fallent characteristics b	JY	alconor	consumption	trajectories

	Stable moderate drinkers	Long-term abstainers	Reducing moderate drinkers	Former drinkers	Occasional heavy drinkers	Stable heavy drinkers	Overall
No. of patients	704 (53.9)	203 (15.5)	78 (6.0)	82 (6.3)	111 (8.5)	128 (9.8)	1306 (100)
Intake assessment interval, median (IQR) years	12.2 (6.9-17.9)	10.8 (5.2-17.2)	17.8 (12.9-23.3)	7.2 (4.2-12.6)	12.4 (6.4-18.2)	14.2 (11.2-19.1)	12.2 (7.0-18.0)
No. of alcohol measures, median (IQR)	4 (3-5)	3 (2-4)	5 (4-5)	3 (2-4)	4 (2-5)	4 (3-5)	4 (3-5)
At the most recent phase pro	e-incident CVD						
Age, mean (SD) years	60.4 (8.9)	61.1 (9.2)	57.3 (8.1)	64.1 (9.1)	59.1 (9.1)	56.8 (7.9)	60.1 (9.0)
Male	574 (81.5)	97 (47.8)	44 (56.4)	53 (64.6)	107 (96.4)	123 (96.1)	998 (76.4)
Ethnicity							
White	635 (90.2)	131 (64.5)	65 (83.3)	69 (84.1)	109 (98.2)	123 (96.1)	1132 (86.7)
Non-white	68 (9.7)	71 (35.0)	13 (16.7)	13 (15.9)	2 (1.8)	5 (3.9)	172 (13.2)
Missing	1 (0.1)	1 (0.5)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	2 (0.2)
Socioeconomic position							
High	314 (44.6)	29 (14.3)	14 (17.9)	24 (29.3)	63 (56.8)	81 (63.3)	525 (40.2)
Intermediate	321 (45.6)	92 (45.3)	41 (52.6)	43 (52.4)	43 (38.7)	47 (36.7)	587 (44.9)
Low	69 (9.8)	82 (40.4)	23 (29.5)	15 (18.3)	5 (4.5)	0 (0.0)	194 (14.9)
Smoking status							
Never smoker	279 (39.6)	91 (44.8)	36 (46.2)	41 (50.0)	35 (31.5)	32 (25.0)	514 (39.4)
Ex-smoker	302 (42.9)	61 (30.0)	21 (26.9)	33 (40.2)	56 (50.5)	67 (52.3)	540 (41.3)
Current smoker	79 (11.2)	30 (14.8)	14 (17.9)	7 (8.5)	17 (15.3)	21 (16.4)	168 (12.9)
Missing	44 (6.3)	21 (10.3)	7 (9.0)	1 (1.2)	3 (2.7)	8 (6.3)	84 (6.4)

Physical activity *

Met recommendations	242 (34.4)	42 (20.7)	13 (16.7)	27 (32.9)	42 (37.8)	34 (26.6)	400 (30.6)
Below recommendations	422 (59.9)	142 (70.0)	55 (70.5)	53 (64.6)	66 (59.5)	84 (65.6)	822 (62.9)
Missing	40 (5.7)	19 (9.4)	10 (12.8)	2 (2.4)	3 (2.7)	10 (7.8)	84 (6.4)
Fruit/vegetable consumption							
≥Daily	462 (65.6)	121 (59.6)	53 (67.9)	59 (72.0)	81 (73.0)	77 (60.2)	853 (65.3)
<daily< td=""><td>204 (29.0)</td><td>65 (32.0)</td><td>18 (23.1)</td><td>23 (28.0)</td><td>25 (22.5)</td><td>42 (32.8)</td><td>377 (28.9)</td></daily<>	204 (29.0)	65 (32.0)	18 (23.1)	23 (28.0)	25 (22.5)	42 (32.8)	377 (28.9)
Missing	38 (5.4)	17 (8.4)	7 (9.0)	0 (0.0)	5 (4.5)	9 (7.0)	76 (5.8)
Use of cardiovascular drugs							
Yes	248 (35.2)	84 (41.4)	23 (29.5)	30 (36.6)	40 (36.0)	39 (30.5)	464 (35.5)
No	437 (62.1)	110 (54.2)	54 (69.2)	52 (63.4)	69 (62.2)	85 (66.4)	807 (61.8)
Missing	19 (2.7)	9 (4.4)	1 (1.3)	0 (0.0)	2 (1.8)	4 (3.1)	35 (2.7)
Prevalent diabetes†							
Yes	73 (10.4)	50 (24.6)	10 (12.8)	13 (15.9)	16 (14.4)	17 (13.3)	179 (13.7)
No	612 (86.9)	145 (71.4)	67 (85.9)	69 (84.1)	93 (83.8)	107 (83.6)	1093 (83.7)
Missing	19 (2.7)	8 (3.9)	1 (1.3)	0 (0.0)	2 (1.8)	4 (3.1)	34 (2.6)
Prevalent hypertension ‡							
Yes	360 (51.1)	129 (63.5)	44 (56.4)	46 (56.1)	63 (56.8)	69 (53.9)	711 (54.4)
No	325 (46.2)	66 (32.5)	33 (42.3)	36 (43.9)	46 (41.4)	55 (43.0)	561 (43.0)
Missing	19 (2.7)	8 (3.9)	1 (1.3)	0 (0.0)	2 (1.8)	4 (3.1)	34 (2.6)
At the phase of last available a	alcohol assessmer	nt					
Smoking status							
Never smoker	259 (36.8)	83 (40.9)	29 (37.2)	31 (37.8)	31 (27.9)	27 (21.1)	460 (35.2)
Ex-smoker	376 (53.4)	81 (39.9)	26 (33.3)	34 (41.5)	65 (58.6)	91 (71.1)	673 (51.5)
Current smoker	27 (3.8)	13 (6.4)	7 (9.0)	1 (1.2)	8 (7.2)	4 (3.1)	60 (4.6)

Missing	42 (6.0)	26 (12.8)	16 (20.5)	16 (19.5)	7 (6.3)	6 (4.7)	113 (8.7)
Physical activity *							
Met recommendations	142 (20.2)	22 (10.8)	11 (14.1)	12 (14.6)	23 (20.7)	27 (21.1)	237 (18.2)
Below recommendations	510 (72.4)	163 (80.3)	57 (73.1)	56 (68.3)	79 (71.2)	93 (72.7)	958 (73.4)
Missing	52 (7.4)	18 (8.9)	10 (12.8)	14 (17.1)	9 (8.1)	8 (6.3)	111 (8.5)
Fruit/vegetable consumption							
≥Daily	500 (71.0)	125 (61.6)	43 (55.1)	57 (69.5)	78 (70.3)	87 (68.0)	890 (68.2)
<daily< td=""><td>186 (26.4)</td><td>62 (30.5)</td><td>23 (29.5)</td><td>13 (15.9)</td><td>28 (25.2)</td><td>38 (29.7)</td><td>350 (26.8)</td></daily<>	186 (26.4)	62 (30.5)	23 (29.5)	13 (15.9)	28 (25.2)	38 (29.7)	350 (26.8)
Missing	18 (2.6)	16 (7.9)	12 (15.4)	12 (14.6)	5 (4.5)	3 (2.3)	66 (5.1)
Use of cardiovascular drugs							
Yes	642 (91.2)	174 (85.7)	67 (85.9)	74 (90.2)	101 (91.0)	117 (91.4)	1175 (90.0)
No	60 (8.5)	28 (13.8)	11 (14.1)	8 (9.8)	10 (9.0)	11 (8.6)	128 (9.8)
Missing	2 (0.3)	1 (0.5)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	3 (0.2)
Prevalent diabetes†							
Yes	239 (33.9)	109 (53.7)	47 (60.3)	46 (56.1)	40 (36.0)	52 (40.6)	533 (40.8)
No	465 (66.1)	94 (46.3)	31 (39.7)	36 (43.9)	71 (64.0)	76 (59.4)	773 (59.2)
Prevalent hypertension ‡							
Yes	609 (86.5)	173 (85.2)	66 (84.6)	77 (93.9)	97 (87.4)	111 (86.7)	1133 (86.8)
No	93 (13.2)	29 (14.3)	12 (15.4)	5 (6.1)	14 (12.6)	17 (13.3)	170 (13.0)
Missing	2 (0.3)	1 (0.5)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	3 (0.2)

Values are numbers (percentages) unless stated otherwise.

* Physical activity meeting WHO recommendations defined as ≥150 minutes of moderate-intensity or ≥75 minutes of vigorous-intensity activity per week. † Defined as reported doctor-diagnosed diabetes or use of antidiabetic drugs, or clinically measured fasting blood glucose ≥7.0 mmol/L.

‡ Defined as reported doctor-diagnosed hypertension or use of antihypertensive drugs, or clinically measured systolic/diastolic blood pressure ≥140/90 mmHg.

4.3.2 Alcohol consumption trajectories and all-cause mortality

During a median follow-up of 5.0 (IQR=4.4-5.7) years after the last alcohol assessment, there were 380 deaths. The associations between trajectories and all-cause mortality are presented in Table 4.3. Long-term abstainers, stable and occasional heavy drinkers all had a similar risk of mortality as stable moderate drinkers after adjustment for all included covariates (Model 3; HR=1.13, 95%CI=0.83-1.55; HR=1.10, 95%CI=0.76-1.60; and HR=1.25, 95%CI=0.86-1.81, respectively).

Compared to stable moderate drinkers, former drinkers had higher risk of mortality after adjustment for covariates from the most recent phase preincident CVD (Model 2; HR=1.84, 95%CI=1.26-2.68). The effect remained but was slightly attenuated in a maximally adjusted model with further adjustment for changes in other health behaviours and medical status (Model 3; HR=1.74, 95%CI=1.19-2.54).

4.3.3 Alcohol consumption categories based on single assessment

In analyses of drinking categories defined according to intakes from the last available alcohol assessment, former drinkers had a point estimate of mortality risk greater than one when compared with moderate drinkers and adjusted for covariates from the most recent phase pre-incident CVD (Model 2; HR=1.24, 95%CI=0.94-1.63); this effect, however, was not statistically significant and was further attenuated in a maximally adjusted model (Model 3; HR=1.16, 95%CI=0.87-1.53). There was little difference in mortality risk amongst abstainers and heavy drinkers compared to moderate drinkers (Table 4.3).

Alashal consumption	No. of	No. of	Hazard ratio (95%CI)						
	death	patients	Model 1*	Model 2†	Model 3‡				
Trajectories									
Stable moderate drinkers	192	704	1.00 (Reference)	1.00 (Reference)	1.00 (Reference)				
Long-term abstainers	63	203	1.16 (0.86-1.56)	1.18 (0.87-1.62)	1.13 (0.83-1.55)				
Reducing moderate drinkers	21	78	1.16 (0.73-1.84)	1.14 (0.72-1.83)	1.08 (0.67-1.73)				
Former drinkers	35	82	1.77 (1.22-2.55)	1.84 (1.26-2.68)	1.74 (1.19-2.54)				
Occasional heavy drinkers	34	111	1.28 (0.88-1.85)	1.24 (0.86-1.80)	1.25 (0.86-1.81)				
Stable heavy drinkers	35	128	1.19 (0.83-1.72)	1.13 (0.78-1.64)	1.10 (0.76-1.60)				
Categories based on single ass	essment or	nly §							
Moderate drinkers	187	652	1.00 (Reference)	1.00 (Reference)	1.00 (Reference)				
Abstainers	59	187	1.08 (0.80-1.46)	1.11 (0.81-1.52)	1.04 (0.76-1.44)				
Former drinkers	78	245	1.23 (0.94-1.61)	1.24 (0.94-1.63)	1.16 (0.87-1.53)				
Heavy drinkers	56	222	0.91 (0.67-1.23)	0.86 (0.63-1.17)	0.85 (0.62-1.15)				

Table 4.3 Association between alcohol consumption and risk of all-cause mortality

* Adjusted for sex, age, and intake assessment interval.

†Additionally adjusted for ethnicity, socioeconomic position, smoking, physical activity, dietary behaviour, use of cardiovascular drugs, prevalent diabetes and hypertension, assessed at the most recent phase pre-incident CVD.

‡ Additionally adjusted for smoking, physical activity, dietary behaviour, use of cardiovascular drugs, prevalent diabetes and hypertension, assessed at the phase of last available alcohol assessment.

§ Drinking categories defined using intakes from the last available alcohol assessment.

4.3.4 Sensitivity analyses

Results of sensitivity analyses are in Table 4.4. The findings did not alter substantially when restricting analyses to either male patients, those with \geq 3 measures of alcohol or having CHD as first event. Similar associations were observed when using complete case data only.

Alcohol consumption trajectories	No. of death	No. of patients	Hazard ratio (95%CI) *						
Restricting to patients with \geq 3	alcohol mea	sures (n=99	0)						
Stable moderate drinkers	130	533	1.00 (Reference)						
Long-term abstainers	31	136	1.02 (0.66-1.57)						
Reducing moderate drinkers	20	77	1.10 (0.67-1.81)						
Former drinkers	17	45	1.78 (1.04-3.05)						
Occasional heavy drinkers	23	80	1.33 (0.84-2.09)						
Stable heavy drinkers	33	119	1.23 (0.83-1.83)						
Restricting to patients with CHD (n=1212)									
Stable moderate drinkers	175	645	1.00 (Reference)						
Long-term abstainers	60	189	1.22 (0.88-1.68)						
Reducing moderate drinkers	20	75	1.11 (0.68-1.81)						
Former drinkers	28	73	1.53 (1.01-2.33)						
Occasional heavy drinkers	34	106	1.35 (0.93-1.97)						
Stable heavy drinkers	35	124	1.12 (0.77-1.63)						
Restricting to male patients (n	=998)								
Stable moderate drinkers	162	574	1.00 (Reference)						
Long-term abstainers	29	97	0.97 (0.64-1.46)						
Reducing moderate drinkers	11	44	0.90 (0.48-1.70)						
Former drinkers	23	53	1.56 (0.98-2.48)						
Occasional heavy drinkers	33	107	1.22 (0.83-1.78)						
Stable heavy drinkers	34	123	1.06 (0.72-1.55)						
Complete case data only (n=10)61)								
Stable moderate drinkers	170	579	1.00 (Reference)						
Long-term abstainers	48	161	0.97 (0.69-1.37)						
Reducing moderate drinkers	14	49	1.10 (0.63-1.92)						
Former drinkers	26	64	1.54 (1.00-2.37)						
Occasional heavy drinkers	29	93	1.08 (0.72-1.61)						
Stable heavy drinkers	29	104	0.99 (0.66-1.48)						

Table 4.4 Sensitivity analyses for association between alcohol trajectories and allcause mortality

*Adjusted for the same covariates listed in Table 4.3 Model 3.

4.3.5 Post hoc analyses

Among the 128 stable heavy drinkers, mean weekly intake over the assessment interval was 30 (SD=12) units. Patients who died during follow-up had higher weekly intakes than survivors (mean \pm SD: 34 \pm 14 units versus 28 \pm 11 units, respectively). Compared to stable moderate drinkers, hazard ratio for all-cause mortality was 1.53 (95%CI=0.93-2.51) in stable heavy drinkers with weekly intakes >30 units and 0.77 (95%CI=0.45-1.30) in those with weekly intakes ≤30 units in maximally adjusted analysis (with adjustment for the same covariates listed in Table 4.3 Model 3).

As shown in Table 4.5, at the most recent phase pre-incident CVD, long-term abstainers had the lowest proportion of patients rating their health as excellent or good (55.7%), while occasional heavy drinkers had the highest (76.6%). The proportion decreased over the interval from the most recent phase pre-incident CVD to last alcohol assessment in all trajectory groups, with the greatest decrease seen in former drinkers (-36.8%, from 69.5% to 43.9%), followed by occasional heavy drinkers (-23.5%, from 76.6% to 58.6%,) and reducing moderate drinkers (-17.6%, from 65.4% to 53.8%). Further adjustment for changes in self-rated health attenuated the associations between trajectories and all-cause mortality, with risk estimates reported in Table 4.6.

	Stable moderate drinkers	Long-term abstainers	Reducing moderate drinkers	Former drinkers	Occasional heavy drinkers	Stable heavy drinkers				
Self-rated health at the most recent phase pre-incident CVD, n (%)										
Excellent/good	516 (73.3)	113 (55.7)	51 (65.4)	57 (69.5)	85 (76.6)	92 (71.9)				
Fair	128 (18.2)	61 (30.0)	16 (20.5)	18 (22.0)	21 (18.9)	24 (18.8)				
Poor	23 (3.3)	12 (5.9)	5 (6.4)	7 (8.5)	2 (1.8)	2 (1.6)				
Missing	37 (5.3)	17 (8.4)	6 (7.7)	0 (0.0)	3 (2.7)	10 (7.8)				
Self-rated health a	nt last available alcoho	ol assessment, n ((%)							
Excellent/good	481 (68.3)	96 (47.3)	42 (53.8)	36 (43.9)	65 (58.6)	90 (70.3)				
Fair	167 (23.7)	60 (29.6)	19 (24.4)	28 (34.1)	33 (29.7)	29 (22.7)				
Poor	38 (5.4)	28 (13.8)	9 (11.5)	8 (9.8)	9 (8.1)	8 (6.3)				
Missing	18 (2.6)	19 (9.4)	8 (10.3)	10 (12.2)	4 (3.6)	1 (0.8)				

Table 4.5 Self-rated health over the assessment interval by alcohol consumption trajectories

Table 4.6 Association between alcohol trajectories and all-cause mortality with further adjustment for changes in self-rated health

Alcohol consumption trajectories	No. of death	No. of patients	Hazard ratio (95%CI) *
Stable moderate drinkers	192	704	1.00 (Reference)
Long-term abstainers	63	203	1.03 (0.75-1.41)
Reducing moderate drinkers	21	78	1.04 (0.64-1.67)
Former drinkers	35	82	1.53 (1.04-2.25)
Occasional heavy drinkers	34	111	1.13 (0.78-1.64)
Stable heavy drinkers	35	128	1.12 (0.78-1.63)

*Adjusted for the same covariates listed in Table 4.3 Model 3 <u>PLUS</u> self-rated health assessed at the most recent phase pre-incident CVD and at the phase of last available alcohol assessment.

4.4 Discussion

In this inception cohort of patients with incident CVD events, six different drinking trajectories were derived with repeated assessments spanning up to 30 years and linked to their subsequent risk of total mortality. Through iterative modelling that accounted for changing lifestyle and health status, this chapter found no evidence that patients who consistently consumed alcohol within the recommended limit of 14 units per week had a lower risk of mortality compared to long-term abstainers. Meanwhile, former drinkers had greater mortality risk than stable moderate drinkers.

The elevated risk of mortality among former drinkers was only appreciable when considering long-term drinking trajectories and was not significantly detected in the analyses using single intake assessment. Indeed, a large proportion of patients in this cohort did not have stable drinking trajectories following their incident CVD. Apart from those transiting from drinking to non-drinking, this chapter also observed an overall decrease in alcohol intake over time among some continuers (reducing moderate drinkers and occasional heavy drinkers), as has also been reported elsewhere [127, 234]. The tendency towards desistance/lower levels of drinking with increasing age suggests that categorization of alcohol intake based on single time-point measurements may be problematic, especially when applied to cohorts with long follow-up periods and older participants. These highlight the importance of longitudinal measures
and a life course approach in examining the effect of alcohol on health and the work presented in this chapter should be replicated with other outcomes.

The findings from this chapter echo other research which suggests that former drinkers have poorer self-perceived general health [235] and are at higher risk of experiencing adverse outcomes including CHD and overall mortality than moderate drinkers [124, 236]. As a reason for the higher risk seen in former drinkers, the sick-quitter hypothesis proposes that a substantial number of former drinkers have quit drinking for health reasons [93, 237]. In line with this hypothesis, former drinkers were found to have a higher prevalence of poor self-rated health than other groups at the most recent phase pre-incident CVD and showed the biggest decrease in the proportion of patients reporting good to excellent health during follow-up. The association for former drinkers was weakened following further adjustment for self-rated health, suggesting that poorer general health may partially explain former drinkers' increased likelihood of death and perhaps may have driven the decision to abstain itself.

In the present work, no statistically significant protective effect was found in relation to consistent moderate drinking compared to long-term abstinence. This concurs with general population studies measuring alcohol intake over time (collected either as repeated measures or as recall of past drinking levels) and the risk of death from all causes [91, 238, 239]. For example, in a cohort of 24029 individuals from a nationally representative sample of USA adults aged more than 50 years, Goulden et al. measured alcohol use at three time points and found no evidence of an association between any level of regular alcohol consumption and reduced all-cause mortality; the HR in fully adjusted analyses was 1.02 (95%CI=0.94-1.11) for <7 drinks per week, 1.14 (95%CI=1.02-1.28) for 7-14 drinks per week, 1.13 (95%CI=0.96-1.35) for 14-21 drinks per week, and 1.45 (95%CI=1.16-1.81) for ≥21 drinks per week [91]. Regarding CVD patients, longitudinal assessment of alcohol has been reported in two previous studies, where low levels of consumption were found to be associated with lower mortality [127, 128]. However, both studies have used a reference group composed of former drinkers and lifetime abstainers. The lower mortality risk for moderate drinking compared with non-drinking could potentially be caused by a less healthy comparison group contaminated by sick guitters (as discussed above). This speculation is further supported by findings from Chapter 2, where

the removal of former drinkers from the reference group eliminated the protective effect of moderate drinking on all-cause mortality among CVD patients [240].

Furthermore, the variety of reasons for which people abstain from drinking throughout life may introduce other biases. For instance, non-drinkers in later life may include those who adopt lifelong teetotalism due to continual poor health, the so-called 'sick non-starters' [241]. In this work, only a small minority of CVD patients were long-term abstainers. Notably, this group consisted mainly of women from lower socioeconomic position with higher prevalence of cardiometabolic risk factors and disease as well as poorer self-rated health, a pattern that has also been reported in other study populations where alcohol use is normative [242, 243]. It has been suggested that members of this minority differ from drinkers on a number of health determinants and that unmeasured confounders may have contributed to the excess risk seen in this group [244, 245]. These motivated the choice of considering moderate drinkers as the reference group throughout this chapter and might explain the slightly increased point estimate for long-term abstainers, despite the extensive level of adjustment in the present analyses.

Although excessive drinking has been found to raise the risk of total mortality in the general population [186, 246], the level from which this effect is evident is less clear. This chapter assessed the impact of heavy drinking on CVD patients using the 14 units per week threshold advocated by the current UK guidelines and observed no elevated risk for those who consistently drank above this limit. Previous dose-response analyses using data from 83 general population cohorts have reported an intake threshold for increased mortality risk at ≥200 grams per week (25 units per week) [186]. This agrees with the results of post hoc analyses, where an increased risk was seen in stable heavy drinkers with higher average intakes (>30 units per week). Clearly, the small number of patients within this group precludes any firm conclusion. Further data is therefore needed to explore alternative intake thresholds and validate the findings of the current work. In addition, heavy drinkers who remain in the cohort are likely to be 'healthy survivors' [92]. At the most recent phase preincident CVD, the proportion of patients drinking in excess of guidelines (36% male and 13% female) is lower than the recent estimates from HSE (39% male

and 20% female aged 55-64 years) [12], which means that heavy drinkers may be under-represented in the Whitehall II study. These potential selections could have reduced the estimate of association between heavy drinking and mortality risk, and thus caution is required when interpreting the absence of effect among heavy drinkers seen in this chapter.

Immortal time in epidemiology refers to a period of observation or follow-up during which death (or an outcome that determines end of follow-up) cannot occur [247]. Immortal time bias can arise when this period of 'immortality' is either misclassified with respect to exposure status or excluded from the analyses [248]. Because participants must survive to have their drinking trajectories measured, the period between first and last available alcohol assessment is considered immortal. To avoid immortal time bias, this work studied only 'survivors' of the immortal period [249], by following patients for the outcome of all-cause mortality from the date of last available alcohol assessment. Additional adjustment was made for the length of alcohol assessment interval, accounting for the imbalance in immortal time across different trajectory groups.

There are several limitations that should be acknowledged. First, alcohol measures in the Whitehall II study are self-reported and thus prone to estimation error. However, as discussed previously (see Chapter 3 Section 3.4), drinking data collected via this method remains valid and reliable. Comparison of alcohol consumption reported by the Whitehall II participants also suggests patterns similar to those in other UK cohorts [123]. Secondly, because of power limitations restricting further refinement, this chapter was unable to incorporate other drinking characteristics into the construction of trajectories. Additional data may provide insights into other drinking patterns, such as binge drinking, which could further clarify the observed mortality risk associated with unstable drinking trajectories. Relatedly, subgroup analyses (for example, in female or by age groups) were not possible due to the small number of patients in certain trajectory groups. In addition, participants in the Whitehall II study are not a representative sample of the general population; however, it has been shown that cardiometabolic-related etiological evidence from this occupational cohort are broadly in agreement with those obtained from nationally representative cohorts [250]. Although this work considered a wide range of covariates and

accounted for their changes in the analyses, the possibility of residual confounding or confounding by unmeasured factors cannot be ruled out.

In summary, the work reported in this chapter has illustrated the dynamic and diverse nature of alcohol use in CVD patients and how long-term drinking profiles are associated with their subsequent risk of death from all causes. By demonstrating the differing insights obtainable from single time-point and repeated exposure assessment, this chapter has also confirmed the utility of taking a longitudinal approach in examining the association of alcohol with health outcomes. CVD patients who consistently drank within the UK guidelines of 14 units per week had a similar risk of mortality as those who were continuous abstainers; therefore, this chapter does not support a protective effect of moderate drinking on total mortality. Patients who stopped drinking following incident CVD were at greater risk of mortality than continuous moderate drinkers; however, the former drinkers also had the highest proportion with poor self-rated health before CVD onset and experienced the greatest degree of health deterioration during follow-up. These findings contribute to the dearth of evidence on health effects of alcohol consumption among CVD patients.

Chapter 5 General discussion

5.1 Summary of findings

The concept of a potentially cardio-protective effect of moderate drinking has been largely studied and debated among general populations (see Chapter 1 Section 1.3.1). However, relatively few data are available in those who have already experienced a cardiovascular event; there is also inconsistency across guidelines regarding the recommended limits of alcohol intake for these patients (see Chapter 1 Section 1.3.2; Box 1.1). This thesis aimed to contribute to filling this gap by presenting a comprehensive meta-analysis and two longitudinal studies, evaluating alcohol consumption among CVD patients and its association with long-term prognosis.

Firstly, in Chapter 2, a series of meta-analyses were performed to consolidate all available evidence on the topic of alcohol consumption and CVD patients' prognosis and, for the first time, to evaluate the role of alcohol in experiencing a second cardiovascular event. The synthesis of data from three large-scale cohorts and 12 existing published studies corroborated previously reported Jshaped associations between alcohol intake and mortality relative to nondrinking, with a risk reduction that peaked at 7 grams per day for all-cause mortality and 8 grams per day for cardiovascular mortality and remained significant up to 62 and 50 grams per day, respectively (Figures 2.7 and 2.12). Reductions in risk of subsequent cardiovascular events were found among patients who consumed no more than 15 grams per day and were greatest at 6 grams per day (Figure 2.17). Taken collectively, the most up-to-date observational data suggested that, among CVD patients, the upper drinking limit for lower risks of both mortality and cardiovascular morbidity compared to non-drinkers was about 105 grams (or equivalent to 13 UK units) per week, which was lower than those recommended in most current guidelines (as listed in Box 1.1).

Meanwhile, several methodological issues were identified through the metaanalyses that may undermine the validity of inferences drawn from the results. Particularly, reductions in risk seen with moderate alcohol consumption were significantly attenuated or absent when restricted to the few studies that

excluded former drinkers from the non-drinking reference group (Figures 2.10 and 2.20). This concurs with the hypothesis that current non-drinkers include sick quitters, and this can erroneously lead to suggested protective effects of drinking compared to non-drinking. No evidence of elevated risk among heavy drinkers was found but this was potentially attributable to selection bias, where heavy drinkers most susceptible to alcohol may have died or stopped drinking at earlier ages and be under-represented in the datasets. With existing studies relying predominantly on single time-point alcohol observations (Table 2.5), there was also a lack of consideration given to changes in consumption levels over time and its possible impact upon the observed associations.

To provide in-depth evidence of the extent to which alcohol consumption changes in relation to the onset of CVD, Chapter 3 went on to plot patients' mean trajectory of weekly alcohol intake as a function of time, centred on the date of diagnosis and spanning up to 30 years before and after the diagnosis (Figure 3.2). Specifically, for trajectories prior to diagnosis, mean volume of alcohol consumed among male patients increased over time, peaking at around eight years before diagnosis at 95 grams per week. Trajectories following diagnosis showed mean consumption in male patients dropped from 87 to 74 grams per week after the date of diagnosis and then slightly rose to 78 grams per week at the subsequent 3.5 years, before gradually declining to 31 grams per week at 30 years after diagnosis. Flatter and lower trajectories were seen in female patients. Here, the mean consumption remained stable prior to diagnosis (at about 30 grams per week), fell marginally to 25 grams per week after the date of diagnosis, and kept decreasing afterwards. Moreover, for both sexes, there was a high variability in drinking trajectories across patients, as indicated by the wide CIs. These observations draw attention to the risk of misclassification bias inherent to conventional analyses that had only alcohol data at one time point. The evidence base may be further improved by accounting for the heterogeneity within long-term drinking profiles in the context of secondary CVD prevention.

Therefore, in Chapter 4, the longitudinal association between differential drinking profiles and subsequent risk of total mortality was examined in an inception cohort of 1306 patients with incident CVD events, using data with repeated measures of alcohol intake spanning up to three decades. A total of

six trajectory groups were identified (Figure 4.2). Besides those with stable drinking patterns (long-term abstainers, stable moderate or heavy drinkers), there were also groups of patients who stopped (former drinkers) or reduced drinking (reducing moderate drinkers or occasional heavy drinkers) following the onset of CVD. This finding remains in line with the declining trends in mean consumption post-CVD reported in Chapter 3 Figure 3.2 and highlights the dynamic and changeable character of alcohol use among CVD patients.

In multivariable models adjusted for changing lifestyle and health status (Model 3 in Table 4.3), patients who consistently drank within the UK guidelines of 14 units per week (stable moderate drinkers) had a similar risk of mortality from all causes as those who were continuous abstainers. This finding was robust to a range of sensitivity analyses (Table 4.4) and in accordance with findings from Chapter 2 Figure 2.10, which reported an attenuated and non-significant reduction in mortality risk among current drinkers when former drinkers were excluded from non-drinkers. Furthermore, patients who stopped drinking following the events were at greater risk of mortality than stable moderate drinkers; this finding was not seen when only using single time-point intake assessment (Table 4.3), thus confirming the utility of taking a longitudinal approach in examining the association of alcohol with health outcomes. In consistent with sick quitter hypothesis, former drinkers had the highest proportion with poor self-rated health before CVD onset and reported the greatest deterioration in their health during follow-up (Table 4.5). The association was significantly weakened following further adjustment for selfrated health (Table 4.6), suggesting that the increased risk of mortality in former drinkers was more likely attributable to their poorer general health rather than a lack of 'protection' from alcohol. Although the sample size was too small to draw firm conclusions, patients who consistently drank far above the guidelines (for example, with an average intake of more than 30 units per week) appeared to have an elevated risk of mortality compared to stable moderate drinkers.

5.2 Strengths and limitations

Major strengths of this thesis include a more recent and in-depth meta-analysis (Chapter 2) and the ability to use repeated measures of alcohol intake on the

same individuals across multiple time-points. To overcome limitations of studies utilising single time-point alcohol observations, a trajectory-based approach was applied in the longitudinal analyses presented in Chapters 3 and 4. In addition to minimising bias due to misclassification (for example, when alcohol intake assessed at the time of enrolment does not accurately represent intake during follow-up), such an approach also allows for differentiation between long-term profiles of alcohol consumption among CVD patients, taking into account both drinking volume and its stability within an individual over time. The derived trajectories reflect UK government's drinking guidelines [44], and thus facilitate the translation of evidence and have policy relevance (which will be discussed later in Section 5.3.1). Importantly, access to prospectively recorded alcohol intake data before the incidence of CVD enables distinguishing between recent and longer-term abstainers, each presumed and later confirmed to have disparate risks of mortality compared to continuous moderate drinkers. The longitudinal analyses also benefit from the long study period of over three decades, reliable ascertainment of CVD or mortality outcomes as well as repeated assessments on a broad range of sociodemographic, lifestyle and health-related factors.

Discussion of weakness specific to each study are provided in detail in the relevant chapters (see Sections 2.4, 3.4 and 4.4). However, there are some important limitations that may impact the overall interpretation of the findings presented in this thesis and hence need to be pointed out.

Firstly, as discussed earlier in each of the Chapters 2-4, alcohol consumption in this thesis was measured using self-reports. Most commonly, participants in the study cohorts were asked to report the number of alcoholic drinks that they had consumed during the last week, assuming that the snapshots of alcohol consumption in the week prior to the interview were reflective of the usual (habitual) weekly consumption over the period between assessments. Although this may introduce error into the results, the repetition of these snapshots helps to improve the accuracy in estimating long-term alcohol exposure, which is likely to be more aetiologically relevant than a single baseline measure [220].

Secondly, both categories of alcohol consumption in Chapter 2 and trajectories constructed in Chapters 3 and 4 were based on variables of drinking volume

only, and so this thesis was not equipped to assess the role of other characteristics pertaining to alcohol use such as frequency and context (for example, consume with or without food or water). In the general population, drinking more frequently is arguably a greater determinant of men's risk for incident MI than the actual volume consumed [251]. Similarly, binge drinking pattern or the timing of alcohol use in relation to meals may confound or modify the associations between average alcohol intake and CVD (see Chapter 1 Section 1.3.1.1); unfortunately, these data were not adequately captured in the datasets utilised. Relatedly, detailed information on drinking history prior to recruitment to the Whitehall II study was also not available. It is therefore possible that long-term abstainers identified in Chapter 4 might have included some individuals who ceased drinking in young adulthood due to awareness of familial health risk or impaired health, and the possibility of sick quitter bias cannot be definitively excluded.

Thirdly, data presented in this thesis came from individuals who took part in epidemiological studies (for example, the Physicians' Health Study contributed to meta-analyses in Chapter 2 and the Whitehall II study used in Chapters 3 and 4) and were available for follow-up lasting up to several decades. This may result in selection bias (healthy cohort effect) [252], especially for heavy drinkers. Indeed, a consistent under-representation of heavy drinkers was found across the present work, meaning that any effect reported for heavy intake is likely to be an underestimate of the 'true' association.

Another form of selection bias that may present in this thesis is index event bias. It arises when the occurrence of a particular event (index event) is required for inclusion in a study [253]. The requirement represents a source of selection, which can induce correlations between previously independent risk factors among those selected and hence can lead to biased conclusions [254]. Index event bias explains the antithetical observation that obesity increases the risk for CHD onset but protects against recurrent coronary events (the obesity paradox) [255]. Prior use of aspirin reduces the risk for primary MI but elevates the risk for MI recurrence (the aspirin paradox) [256]. As to alcohol consumption, moderate drinking has been reported to be associated with lower risk of developing CVD in general populations (as described in Chapter 1 Section 1.3.1). Therefore, it can be assumed that patients who developed CVD

despite being moderate drinkers had other risk factors contributing to the disease onset that surpassed any protection conferred by alcohol consumption. There remains a possibility that these other risk factors (both known and unknown) could have influenced the subsequent course of patients following the initial cardiovascular events, causing additional recurrence risk and mortality among moderate drinkers included in the analyses.

Finally, this thesis is underpowered to assess very heavy drinking, which may be associated with increased mortality risk amongst CVD patients (as indicated in Chapter 4 Section 4.3.4). As with much of the earlier work in this area [238, 257], this thesis is constrained by the relatively low number of female drinkers (female heavy drinkers in particular), which precludes further investigations into sex-specific effects. Likewise, the small sample size of patients included in Chapter 4 limits the statistical power and prevents additional subgroup/causespecific analyses as well as a more sophisticated trajectory modelling. Also, findings of this thesis should be interpreted keeping in mind the observational nature of the datasets, which precludes firm conclusions about causal inferences.

5.3 Implication and future work

5.3.1 Implications for guidelines and patient care

For patients with established CVD, consistently moderate alcohol consumption does not associate with reduced mortality risk compared to long-term abstinence. In terms of subsequent cardiovascular events, available observational evidence suggestive of protective effects at moderate levels of drinking are methodologically weak, with underlying causal mechanisms yet to be clearly established. There are strong indications that the proposed cardiobenefit accruing to moderate drinkers has been overstated due to an already unhealthy comparison group of non-drinkers; and such cardiobenefit, if it exists, is most likely to occur and be greatest at lower intake levels (for example, 6 grams per day or equivalent to 5 UK units per week, as indicated by Figure 2.17) than those recommended in most current guidelines.

Although additional data are needed to make robust recommendations about the exact drinking limits in this patient population, the findings from this thesis may still have important implications for optimising guidelines in regard to these. Currently, guidelines for secondary prevention of CVD only warn specifically against heavier alcohol consumption [107-110], keeping the upper drinking limits in line with guidelines for the general population [44, 119]. Perhaps more stringent recommendations on alcohol use should be applied to CVD patients, for example advising all current drinking patients to further reduce their consumption even within the recommended limits. In addition to benefiting from any possible protection against a second event (which is likely to be present at intake levels much less than the recommended limits), the net burden of harms associated with alcohol would also be lowered through an overall reduction in patients' alcohol consumption, given that drinking even at the modest level increases risk of developing certain cancers [258-260] and liver disease [21]. Because unhealthy lifestyle behaviours (including smoking, poor nutrition, alcohol, and physical inactivity, collectively known as 'SNAP') usually cluster [261, 262] and that alcohol is commonly comorbid with other substance use such as illicit drugs, prescription painkillers and gabapentinoid drugs [263], a decrease in alcohol intake may also lead to improvements in these risk factors and thus has a wider range of positive impacts on health.

This is of particular concern when considering patients' generally older age and that the old are more physiologically sensitive to alcohol-related harms due to the effects of ageing, more co-morbidity and medication use [264-266]. Such a view is further supported by the latest report 'Our Invisible Addicts, 2nd edition' from the Royal College of Psychiatrists [263], arguing that UK's current low-risk drinking guidelines (no more than 14 units of alcohol per week) may still be too high for the older population, especially those with physical and mental disabilities and taking medications. As such, the report recommends that people aged 65 years and over should drink no more than 11 UK units per week, with no more than 3 units per day. Similar recommendations are made by the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism, USA [267], that is no more than 7 USA-standard drinks (or equivalent to 12 UK units) per week and no more than 1-2 drinks on any single day for those older than 65 years.

Meanwhile, recommendations to initiate light to moderate drinking for perceived

cardio-benefits should not be made in the absence of evidence from randomized controlled trials, as well as the risk of non-vascular conditions and alcohol dependency [268]. Particularly, patients who fully abstain from alcohol may do so for reasons such as persistent poor health, low alcohol tolerance, a history of misuse, or pharmaceutical contraindication. Other lifestyle recommendations, including smoking cessation, increased physical activity, and combined dietary interventions with more convincing evidence of benefits in CVD patients (approximate 25% to 45% mortality risk reduction) [112], should therefore be given higher priority in the healthcare and management of patients at this time.

5.3.2 Future research directions

The work presented in Chapter 4 has illustrated the additional insights that can be obtained when capturing long-term drinking profiles in lieu of relying solely on baseline alcohol intake. An important next step would be replication studies with other outcomes, using different longitudinal datasets where repeated measures are available for a considerable period and of sufficient regularity. Based on lessons learned from this work and wider evidence including that from the general population, the following are suggestions for conducting such investigations in future research:

- Firstly, apart from aggregated cardiovascular mortality or events, future research may benefit from using more homogeneous phenotypes as outcomes of interest (for example, ischaemic/haemorrhagic stroke), as there is growing evidence from general population samples that diverse or even opposite dose-response associations may exist between alcohol and the risk of developing different CVD phenotypes [37, 186].
- Secondly, larger sample sizes are needed to facilitate analyses by
 patient subgroups as well as to enable testing of possible interactions for
 factors such as sex and age groups. Capacity for modelling non-linear
 associations would also be improved with an increasing number of
 heavier drinkers. Where sample size permitted, long-term occasional
 drinkers should be singled out and used as the reference group. This is
 because they are more comparable to moderate drinkers than long-term

abstainers in terms of potential confounders, and it seems implausible that alcohol would have any prolonged physiologic effect given their infrequent and very small consumption [92, 269].

- Thirdly, exposure to alcohol should be measured as accurately as possible, with adequate information about 'basic' drinking patterns which include frequency and amount of alcohol consumption and binge drinking [49]. Although self-reported alcohol data are generally considered valid and reliable, future studies may benefit from emerging technologies such as transdermal alcohol sensors which provide objective measures of alcohol use and thereby may serve as a means of validating/correcting estimates from self-reports [270].
- Lastly, research suggests that light to moderate alcohol consumption has no protective effect on MI survivors whose cardiac function has been severely impaired – for example, patients with a left ventricular ejection fraction less than 40% post MI [147], or having anterior wall infarcts [128] that generally cause greater infarct size and more extensive left ventricular remodelling and dysfunction than non-anterior infarcts [271]. Hence, studies examining patient cohorts with more detailed clinical data may be fruitful.

While the importance of longitudinal assessments has been widely recognised in alcohol epidemiology, there is no generally agreed way to analysing such datasets. In addition to trajectory-based approaches, whereby drinking patterns over time are first established (either pre-defined by the researchers or determined with statistical models) and then related to health outcomes, future studies may also consider the joint modelling framework, for example using shared random effects models [272] or latent class models [273]. Joint modelling allows simultaneous analyses for repeated measurement and time-toevent outcome data. It has been shown to reduce bias and improve efficiency compared to separate analyses and has been applied in several research areas such as CD4 counts and AIDS [274, 275], aortic valve function [276], renal disease [277-279] and cancer [280]. Furthermore, there is no consistent practice as to how to handle former drinkers in analyses of alcohol-related risks. The most common practice is to separate former drinkers from long-term

abstainers (to avoid sick-quitter bias) and treat them as a single exposure group. Some argue that doing so may result in selecting a healthier current drinker sample [281]. A possible solution to overcome this problem is to perform 'intention-to-treat' analysis, that is putting former drinkers back to one of the current drinking categories based on their past consumption levels [282]. However, this solution can only be applied in studies that assess the association with baseline drinking categories (not used in the de novo cohort analyses in Chapter 2 due to lack of data on former drinkers' earlier consumption in both HES/SHeSs and UK Biobank datasets). How to deal with issues of former drinkers in the context of longitudinal analysis represents a key area for future work.

MR is a promising approach to test causality in observational studies (as detailed in Chapter 1 Section 1.3.1.3) and should continuously be leveraged in alcohol epidemiology. Most MR studies to date examining alcohol's relation to cardiovascular health have focused on functional variants in alcohol metabolizing genes, mainly ALDH2-rs671. Less important variants include ADH1B-rs1229984 and ADH1C-rs698. In east Asians, these variants are common, jointly affect alcohol exposure to a great extent and thus can be suitable instruments for MR analyses [283]. Among populations of European ancestry, however, ALDH2-rs671 is monomorphic; the functional variants end up explaining only little variance in alcohol consumption, resulting in weak instrument bias and low power of analyses [284]. With the availability of largescale genome-wide association studies (GWAS) [285], researchers wishing to conduct MR studies are now able to select a set of strong and robust genetic variants associated with alcohol consumption, without knowing the underlying biological mechanisms. The use of multiple variants increases the variance in alcohol consumption explained (especially for European-descent populations), enabling a broader assessment relating to the robustness of findings to pleiotropy and validity of the instruments chosen [286]. Indeed, data from GWAS have been used in a most recent MR study examining alcohol consumption instrumented by up to 94 SNPs in relation to several CVD phenotypes [287].

Furthermore, because observational literature suggests a non-linear (often Jshaped) association between alcohol consumption and CVD/mortality outcomes, it is of particular relevance to explore the possible non-linearity in the context of MR. Common statistical methods for MR design (such as two-stage least squares regression) assume a linear exposure-outcome relationship. In recent years, several different strategies, for example modelling the localized average causal effects with fractional polynomials or a piecewise linear function, have been proposed to deal with non-linearity in MR [288, 289]. But so far only very few non-linear MR analyses have been performed about alcohol and cardiovascular health, with some finding evidence of non-linear trends [99, 290] and others not [100, 101]. Significant research gaps also exist in the field of MR between alcohol and CVD prognosis, most likely due to the barriers associated with poor data availability, collider bias and measurement of disease progression [291]. In the absence of single large-scale data source, the Genetics of Subsequent Coronary Heart Disease (GENIUS-CHD) Consortium has been established, to bring together over 50 cohorts of CHD patients with data on biomarkers, genes, and subsequent events [292]. Future MR studies with large samples and advanced methodology are warranted to yield a more complete picture of the role alcohol plays in both CVD aetiology and prognosis.

This thesis was written during the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, which has already caused the loss of over 4.9 million lives and infected more than 243 million people worldwide by 26 October 2021 [293]. Patients with cardiovascular conditions are disproportionately affected by the pandemic, given their higher risk of complications and mortality from the infection [294]. In addition to deferring necessary care due to the fear of contracting the virus or restructuring of health services [295-297], CVD patients are also subject to sustained social distancing or even shielding (staying at home to reduce exposure risk), which can cause significant disruptions to daily routines and alter their lifestyles, including drinking habits [298]. Preliminary data suggest that drinking has become more polarised at early stages of the pandemic: in a survey of 1797 regular drinkers with cardiometabolic disease from 13 countries, 11.3% reported an increase in their alcohol consumption since the outbreak began, while 45.4% said they drank less [299]. As the relaxation of social distancing measures (for example, resurgence of physical social interactions and reopening of bars and restaurants) may offset or intensify any previous changes in patients' alcohol use [300, 301], an important question that needs to be addressed in future

research is the temporal evolution of these changes in drinking and the associated consequences. Such research would subsequently guide management of CVD patients in current and future pandemics, as well as adding to the knowledge regarding alcohol in relation to cardiovascular health.

5.4 Concluding remarks

The body of research presented in this thesis has advanced the understanding of alcohol use as a changing behaviour and its long-term implications on the wellbeing of CVD patients.

Among patients with established CVD, this thesis has shown no evidence of lower mortality risk for consistent moderate drinkers compared to continuous abstainers. Within the context of recurrent events, findings of protective effects associated with baseline moderate drinking may be largely attributable to an already unhealthy comparison group of non-drinkers; such cardio-protective effects, if real, are most likely to occur at lower consumption levels (up to 105 grams per week) than those recommended in most current guidelines. This thesis therefore encourages the downward revision of low-risk drinking limits in existing guidelines to both promote cardiovascular health in this patient population and reduce alcohol-related harm.

From a research standpoint, this thesis provides the first in-depth evidence on the dynamics and differentiation of alcohol consumption among CVD patients, highlighting the importance of taking a longitudinal approach. Future research should seek to replicate this work and expand on it to include more homogeneous outcomes, other populations and drinking characteristics. There is also a need for the development of methodologies aiming to better incorporate longitudinal and genetic data for the analyses of alcohol health relations.

Appendices

Appendices for Chapter 2

Appendix 2.1 Publication of results from meta-analyses

Ding et al. BMC Medicine (2021) 19:167 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-021-02040-2

BMC Medicine

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Open Access

Association of alcohol consumption with morbidity and mortality in patients with cardiovascular disease: original data and meta-analysis of 48,423 men and women



Chengyi Ding^{1*}, Dara O'Neill², Steven Bell^{3,4,5}, Emmanuel Stamatakis⁶ and Annie Britton¹

Abstract

Background: Light-to-moderate alcohol consumption has been reported to be cardio-protective among apparently healthy individuals; however, it is unclear whether this association is also present in those with disease. To examine the association between alcohol consumption and prognosis in individuals with pre-existing cardiovascular disease (CVD), we conducted a series of meta-analyses of new findings from three large-scale cohorts and existing published studies.

Methods: We assessed alcohol consumption in relation to all-cause mortality, cardiovascular mortality, and subsequent cardiovascular events via de novo analyses of 14,386 patients with a previous myocardial infarction, angina, or stroke in the UK Biobank Study (median follow-up 8.7 years, interquartile range [IQR] 8.0–9.5), involving 1640 deaths and 2950 subsequent events, and 2802 patients and 1257 deaths in 15 waves of the Health Survey for England 1994–2008 and three waves of the Scottish Health Survey 1995, 1998, and 2003 (median follow-up 9.5 years, IQR 5.7–13.0). This was augmented with findings from 12 published studies identified through a systematic review, providing data on 31,235 patients, 5095 deaths, and 1414 subsequent events. To determine the best-fitting dose-response association between alcohol and each outcome in the combined sample of 48,423 patients, models were constructed using fractional polynomial regression, adjusting at least for age, sex, and smoking status.

Results: Alcohol consumption was associated with all assessed outcomes in a J-shaped manner relative to current non-drinkers, with a risk reduction that peaked at 7 g/day (relative risk 0.79, 95% confidence interval 0.73–0.85) for all-cause mortality, 8 g/day (0.73, 0.64–0.83) for cardiovascular mortality and 6 g/day (0.50, 0.26–0.96) for cardiovascular events, and remained significant up to 62, 50, and 15 g/day, respectively. No statistically significant elevated risks were found at higher levels of drinking. In the few studies that excluded former drinkers from the non-drinking reference group, reductions in risk among light-to-moderate drinkers were attenuated.

* Correspondence: chengyi.ding.17@ucl.ac.uk

¹Research Department of Epidemiology and Public Health, University College London, London, UK

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



© The Author(s). 2021 **Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/public/domain/zeto/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated in a credit line to the data. **Conclusions:** For secondary prevention of CVD, current drinkers may not need to stop drinking. However, they should be informed that the lowest risk of mortality and having another cardiovascular event is likely to be associated with lower levels of drinking, that is up to approximately 105g (or equivalent to 13 UK units, with one unit equal to half a pint of beer/lager/cider, half a glass of wine, or one measure of spirits) a week.

Keywords: Alcohol, Cardiovascular disease, Mortality, Secondary prevention, Meta-analysis

Background

Lifestyle and dietary habits play an important role in the secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease (CVD) [1]. However, the impact of alcohol consumption on CVD patients' prognosis is unclear and recommendations for patients regarding upper limits of drinking vary substantially across different guidelines [2-5]. While light-to-moderate alcohol consumption is associated with a lower risk of developing multiple cardiovascular outcomes in general population cohorts [6, 7], it is difficult to extend the posited cardio-protective effects to CVD patients because of their typically older age and compromised vasculature as well as the medications they take to prevent secondary events [8]. In addition, for CVD patients, there are concerns about the potential detrimental effects of alcohol on the circulatory system, such as hypertension, arrhythmias, and haemorrhagic stroke, which may exacerbate their existing pathological conditions [9].

The most recent meta-analysis to have explored the association between alcohol consumption and prognosis among CVD patients was undertaken by Costanzo et al. in 2010 [10]. Pooling data from eight observational studies published between 1998 and 2008, they identified a maximal 22% relative risk (RR) reduction at approximately 8 g/day for cardiovascular mortality and 18% at 7 g/day for all-cause mortality among patients with myocardial infarction (MI), angina, or stroke, relative to nondrinkers, with risk increasing in a dose dependent manner above these levels. However, their analysis was limited to studies only on mortality and did not consider any non-fatal outcomes. Understanding how alcohol consumption is related to cardiovascular morbidity is of great importance to CVD patients because this population is at high risk of recurring cardiovascular events which can significantly compromise the patients' quality of life [11]. Including morbidity information will complement the existing evidence base to provide a more complete picture of how alcohol consumption can be managed for optimal secondary CVD prevention. Additionally, further studies [12-14] have been published in the decade since the last meta-analysis. Given the growing debate on this topic, a more detailed and comprehensive reassessment of the evidence is warranted in the absence of long-term clinical trials [9].

We thus analysed individual data from three largescale cohorts. In addition to estimating risk of mortality among CVD patients, we also examined the association between alcohol intake and subsequent cardiovascular events. To consolidate all available evidence on this topic, we conducted meta-analyses of our results with those from published studies identified through a systematic review.

Methods

De novo cohort analyses

Study cohorts and participants

Data were obtained from participants in the Health Survey for England (HSE), the Scottish Health Survey (SHeSs), and UK Biobank. Descriptions of each cohort are provided in Additional file 1 (Appendix S1). The present analyses combined data from the 1994–2008 HSE datasets and the 1995, 1998, and 2003 SHeSs datasets and were restricted to participants aged \geq 16 years reporting to have been diagnosed with MI/angina (not recorded separately) or stroke prior to baseline. For UK Biobank, we identified participants with MI, angina, or stroke before recruitment based on record linkage to the Hospital Episode Statistics (HES), using algorithms defined in Additional file 1 (Appendix S1 and Table S1 [15–29]).

To be eligible for the analysis, participants in HSE/ SHeSs and UK Biobank had to have baseline information about their drinking status and average alcohol intakes, plus age, sex, smoking status, self-reported history of diabetes and hypertension, socioeconomic position/education, body mass index, and regular medications. We separated former drinkers from never drinkers and categorised current drinkers into three groups: low-level drinkers (≤ 14 units/week, one unit contains 8g of ethanol [30] and is equivalent to half a pint of beer/lager/ cider, half a glass of wine, or one measure of spirits/fortified wine [31]), medium-level drinkers (>14 to ≤50 units/week for men, >14 to \leq 35 units/week for women), and high-level drinkers (>50 units/week for men, >35 units/week for women) [32]. Further details of the alcohol assessment and covariates are described in Additional file 1 (Appendix S1).

We assessed alcohol consumption in relation to three outcomes (each ascertained by national death registries or HES records): all-cause mortality, cardiovascular mortality, and major cardiovascular events. We defined cardiovascular events as a composite of angina, fatal and non-fatal MI and stroke, revascularisation procedures (angioplasty or coronary artery bypass graft), death from heart failure, and sudden cardiac death, and only UK Biobank contributed data to the analysis on cardiovascular events. Participants were followed up until the date of their death or first detected event, or were censored on the date they left the UK or the last date of data linkage (cohort specific). Additional details of outcome ascertainment and follow-up procedures are in Additional file 1 (Appendix S1).

Statistical analysis

We used multivariable Cox proportional hazard models to calculate hazard ratios (HRs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for the associations of different drinking categories with each outcome of interest relative to never drinkers. Adjustments were made for age, sex, and smoking status in initial models and then for all covariates in maximally-adjusted models. For HSE/SHeSs datasets, we additionally adjusted for survey wave using shared-frailty models to account for within-group correlations. Schoenfeld residuals were plotted to ascertain that the proportional hazards assumption had not been violated (see Additional file 1: Figure S1). Models for MI, angina and stroke as primary event in further stratified analyses were adjusted for each other as well as all covariates.

Systematic review and meta-analysis Search strateay and study selection

This study followed PRISMA and MOOSE guidelines [33, 34]. MEDLINE and Embase were searched for relevant studies up to 30 July 2020, using a combination of subject headings and free-text terms with no restrictions on language or publication date (see Additional file 1: Table S2). In addition, the reference lists of eligible studies and a previous systematic review [35] on this topic were manually checked to add any studies missed by the initial database searches.

After removing duplicates, citations were screened to exclude any that did not report a prospective relationship between alcohol consumption and outcomes of interest among patients with pre-existing CVD. Full text of the remaining citations were then independently assessed by two pairs of reviewers (CD and AB/DON) for eligibility. Studies were retained if they met the selection criteria for study design (longitudinal study including randomised control trials not involving alcohol), study population (MI, angina, or stroke patients), exposure (alcohol consumption reported across ≥3 categories, inclusive of a non-drinking group, to allow for testing a curvilinear relationship), outcomes (all-cause or cardiovascular mortality, cardiovascular events), and risk estimates (at least adjusted for age, sex, and smoking). We excluded studies if the reported alcohol consumption could not be converted into gram per day or if frequency counts, risk estimate, and its corresponding 95%CI were not available after contacting the authors. The interrater agreement for this review was high (Fleiss κ = 0.85).

Data extraction and quality assessment

Data extraction was conducted by one reviewer (CD) and then verified by a second reviewer (AB/DON). When available, we collected data on the amount of alcohol consumed. Given that most studies included in our analyses reported alcohol consumption on a daily basis, we used grams of alcohol per day as the common unit of measurement. To convert the number of drinks to grams in four included studies (one conducted in Italy [12] and three in USA [36-38]) which did not specify the quantity of alcohol in one drink, we assumed country-specific standard drinks (i.e. Italy 12g, USA 14g) [39]. A factor of 0.79 was used for the conversion of millilitres to grams (i.e. 1 ml alcohol = 0.79 g [40]) in one study [41]. Exposures categorised according to time periods longer than 1 day were transferred into daily estimates, assuming an even distribution of consumption over the reference period. Where averages were not reported for each drinking category, the midpoints of the range were chosen. For open-ended upper categories, mean values were defined as 1.2 times the lower boundary as suggested by Berlin et al. [42]. Similar results were obtained when multiplying the lower boundary for the open-ended upper categories by 1.0, 1.4, or 1.6 instead of 1.2 (see Additional file 1: Figure S2).

Multiple alcohol measures were used in three included studies, two of which reported risk estimates based on the average intakes during follow-up [13, 43] and the remaining one performed time-dependent analyses to allow changes on drinking habits [12]. In addition, most of the included studies asked patients to report their average consumption since the occurrence of their primary events (post-event alcohol assessment), whereas three studies used alcohol intake in the year prior to primary events (pre-event), assuming drinking habits remained stable over time, even following events [14, 44, 45].

Because all included studies except one [46] used a non-drinking reference group, we preferred risk estimates for different drinking categories versus nondrinkers. For a single study that used occasional drinkers as the reference group [46], the risk estimates were recalculated to derive alternative estimates each relative to a non-drinker group. A Microsoft Excel spreadsheet developed by Hamling et al. was used during the recalculation to account for the non-independence between estimates sharing a common reference group [47]. When a study reported risk estimates with different degrees of statistical adjustment for confounding, we used the most-adjusted one. Furthermore, to investigate the possible impact of over-adjustment for potential mediators on our results, we performed a sensitivity analysis by using risk estimates that were only controlled for age, sex, and smoking, the three most important confounding factors for the alcohol-CVD relationship. With all estimates reported being RR or HR, RR served as the common measure of association across studies. HRs were treated as measures of RRs [48]. Study quality was assessed using the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (see Additional file 1: Appendix S2) [49].

Data synthesis

For each analysis, a family of second-degree fractional polynomial models (FP2: log RR = $\beta_1 x^{p1} + \beta_2 x^{p2}$, x^0 equals log(x) rather than 1 and the model becomes log RR = $\beta_1 x^p + \beta_2 x^{Pl}$ og(x) when $p_1 = p_2$) was generated to derive a power transformation of the exposure variable [50]. p_1 and p_2 were taken from a predefined set P= (-2, -1, -0.5, 0, 0.5, 1, 2, 3) which allows for a very large and varied set of functions, including U- and J-shaped curves, to be generated. For x = 0, the function would start from log RR = 0 and therefore no constant term (i.e. the intercept) was considered in our models [51]. The best fit among the family of models was defined as that with the lowest deviance.

With the terms of exposure identified in the bestfitting FP2, a two-stage regression model was fitted to summarise the relationship between alcohol consumption and each outcome of interest. The first stage generated the dose-response model within each study and the second stage pooled study-specific trends using a random effect model to accommodate the heterogeneity across studies [52, 53]. A sensitivity analysis was done by excluding studies of the lowest quality and pre-defined subgroup analyses according to sex, primary event, and type of non-drinking reference group and alcohol assessment for each outcome of interest.

The overall degree of heterogeneity was quantified using the l^2 index [54]. We assessed evidence of publication bias through visual inspection of funnel plots and Egger's regression test for asymmetry [55]. All statistical analyses were performed using Stata (version 15.1).

Results

Associations of alcohol consumption with mortality and cardiovascular morbidity in study cohorts

Complete data for the de novo cohort analyses were available for 2802 participants (MI/angina=2341, stroke= 535) in HSE/SHeSs and 14,386 (MI=5333, angina=9589, stroke=2064) in UK Biobank (see Additional file 1: Figure S3). On average, UK Biobank participants were younger and reported higher consumption of alcohol than HSE/SHeSs participants (Table 1).

During a median follow-up of 9.5 years (interquartile range [IOR], 5.7-13.0) in HSE/SHeSs and 8.7 years (IQR, 8.0-9.5) in UK Biobank, we identified 1257 deaths among HSE/SHeSs participants and 1640 deaths among UK Biobank participants, of which 492 (39.1%) and 631 (38.5%) deaths were due to cardiovascular causes, respectively. Maximally adjusted models of UK Biobank dataset revealed a J-shaped association for both all-cause and cardiovascular mortality, with low- and mediumlevel drinkers having a decreased risk compared with never drinkers but no difference in risk for high-level or former drinkers (Fig. 1). Although similar J-shaped trends were observed for HSE/SHeSs, none of the associations were statistically significant, probably due to the relatively small sample size of each drinking subgroup (Fig. 1). We noted differential associations by sex and primary cardiovascular events in stratified analyses (see Additional file 1: Figures S4 and S5).

A total of 2950 fatal and non-fatal subsequent cardiovascular events were recorded in UK Biobank, with a median follow-up of 7.5 years (IQR, 6.8–8.5). A lower risk of cardiovascular events was observed across all categories of current drinkers (Fig. 1), within participants of both sexes and with different primary events (see Additional file 1: Figures S4 and S5).

Characteristics of studies included in meta-analysis

Of the initial 1722 unique citations, 12 published studies fulfilled the selection criteria (see Additional file 1: Figure S6). Table 2 outlines the characteristics of all studies selected for meta-analyses, inclusive of HSE/SHeSs and UK Biobank. Nine of the 14 studies had a cohort design and the remaining five [12, 36–38, 43] were randomised control trials for certain drug or diet type with no specific inventions on alcohol consumption. The quality of selected studies was moderate to high on average, with a median score of 8 on the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale. Additional details regarding alcohol consumption, effect estimates, and confounder adjustment are provided in Additional file 1 (Tables S3–S5).

Alcohol consumption and all-cause mortality among CVD patients

Eleven studies, comprising 41,743 CVD patients, contributed to this analysis. Overall, a J-shaped association was observed, with a protective effect that peaked at 7 g/ day and remained significant up to 62 g/day (Fig. 2A, Table 3). Although the dose-response trend followed a Jcurve in men, we found no increased risk among women at higher levels of drinking (see Additional file 1: Figure S7). Regarding primary events, moderate drinking was associated with a lower risk for total mortality among patients with a previous MI or angina, but not with stroke (see Additional file 1: Figure S8). Pooled analysis

	HSE/SHeSs						UK Biobank					
	Never drinker	Former drinker	Low-level drinker	Medium-level drinker	High-level drinker	Overall	Never drinker	Former drinker	Low-level drinker	Medium-level drinker	High-level drinker	Overall
z	263 (9.4)	383 (13.7)	1630 (58.2)	458 (16.3)	68 (2.4)	2802 (100.0)	1076 (7.5)	1207 (8.4)	5989 (41.6)	5222 (36.3)	892 (6.2)	14386 (100.0)
Age, mean (SD), y	69.0 (11.0)	67.1 (11.1)	68.2 (10.1)	64.2 (10.9)	60.4 (10.7)	67.3 (10.6)	61.6 (6.6)	61.1 (6.5)	61.9 (6.1)	61.6 (6.0)	60.5 (6.4)	61.6 (6.2)
Alcohol intake, mean (SD), g/ day	0.0	0.0	4.0 (4.3)	28.0 (10.2)	85.1 (33.0)	9.0 (16.9)	0.0	0.0	7.9 (5.1)	30.6 (10.6)	76.7 (26.4)	19.2 (21.4)
BMI, mean (SD), kg/m ²	28.5 (5.5)	28.6 (5.7)	27.9 (4.6)	27.9 (4.1)	28.0 (4.2)	28.1 (4.8)	30.0 (5.8)	30.2 (6.0)	29.1 (5.0)	28.8 (4.3)	29.0 (4.7)	29.2 (4.9)
Female	187 (71.1)	189 (49.3)	758 (46.5)	65 (14.2)	5 (7.4)	1204 (43.0)	619 (57.5)	447 (37.0)	2242 (37.4)	743 (14.2)	174 (19.5)	4225 (29.4)
Smoking status												
Never	157 (59.7)	89 (23.2)	527 (32.3)	78 (17.0)	10 (14.7)	861 (30.7)	704 (65.4)	350 (29.0)	2616 (43.7)	1512 (29.0)	178 (20.0)	5360 (37.3)
Ex-smoker	66 (25.1)	191 (49.9)	799 (49.0)	272 (59.4)	29 (42.6)	1357 (48.4)	252 (23.4)	638 (52.9)	2799 (46.7)	3045 (58.3)	507 (56.8)	7241 (50.3)
Current smoker	40 (15.2)	103 (26.9)	304 (18.7)	108 (23.6)	29 (42.6)	584 (20.8)	120 (11.2)	219 (18.1)	574 (9.6)	665 (12.7)	207 (23.2)	1785 (12.4)
History of diabetes	40 (15.2)	74 (19.3)	169 (10.4)	43 (9.4)	2 (2.9)	328 (11.7)	280 (26.0)	346 (28.7)	1026 (17.1)	676 (12.9)	117 (13.1)	2445 (17.0)
History of hypertension	50 (19.0)	60 (15.7)	224 (13.7)	54 (11.8)	6 (8.8)	394 (14.1)	637 (59.2)	764 (63.3)	3193 (53.3)	2940 (56.3)	536 (60.1)	8070 (56.1)
Socioeconomic position ^a												
Low	106 (40.3)	186 (48.6)	764 (46.9)	230 (50.2)	26 (38.2)	1312 (46.8)	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Intermediate	104 (39.5)	138 (36.0)	494 (30.3)	83 (18.1)	24 (35.3)	843 (30.1)	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
High	53 (20.2)	59 (154)	372 (22.8)	145 (31.7)	18 (26.5)	647 (23.1)	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Highest educational qualificatic	on ^b											
None	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	432 (40.1)	564 (46.7)	1910 (31.9)	1510 (28.9)	247 (27.7)	4663 (32.4)
O levels or equivalent	NA	NA	NA	NA	٨٨	NA	141 (13.1)	150 (12.4)	900 (15.0)	742 (14.2)	149 (16.7)	2082 (14.5)
A levels or equivalent	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	315 (29.3)	295 (24.4)	1948 (32.5)	1760 (33.7)	305 (34.2)	4623 (32.1)
Degree	NA	NA	NA	NA	ΝA	NA	188 (17.5)	198 (16.4)	1231 (20.6)	1210 (23.2)	191 (21.4)	3018 (21.0)
CholesteroHowering medications	70 (26.6)	128 (33.4)	328 (20.1)	107 (23.4)	11 (16.2)	644 (23.0)	841 (78.2)	990 (82.0)	4876 (81.4)	4488 (85.9)	732 (82.1)	11927 (82.9)
Antihypertensive medications	168 (63.9)	247 (64.5)	883 (54.2)	217 (47.4)	27 (39.7)	1542 (55.0)	746 (69.3)	855 (70.8)	4047 (67.6)	3774 (72.3)	651 (73.0)	10073 (70.0)
Antiplatelet agents	118 (44.9)	187 (48.8)	725 (44.5)	207 (45.2)	23 (33.8)	1260 (45.0)	810 (75.3)	902 (74.7)	4655 (77.7)	4305 (82.4)	736 (82.5)	11408 (79.3)
Digoxin	9 (3.4)	19 (5.0)	62 (3.8)	10 (2.2)	2 (2.9)	102 (3.6)	16 (1.5)	29 (2.4)	86 (1.4)	66 (1.3)	12 (1.3)	209 (1.5)
Warfarin ^c	NA	NA	NA	NA	ΝA	NA	59 (5.5)	106 (8.8)	358 (6.0)	313 (6.0)	34 (3.8)	870 (6.0)
Data are number (percentage <i>BMI</i> , body mass index; <i>H5E</i> , th ^a Socioeconomic position was ^b Highest educational qualifica ^c None of the participants in H) unless othen ne Health Surve defined using trion was categ ISE/SHeSs repo 	vise specified by for England; A the participant' jorised into four irted using warfi	/A, not applicable s occupational cla levels: None, O l. arin on a regular	SD, standard deviati issification, categorise evels/GCSEs, CSEs or e basis	on; <i>SHeSs</i> , the Scott d as low (semi-skille equivalent; A/AS lev	ish Health Surv ed or unskilled els, NVQ or HN	rey manual), inter ID or HNC or e	mediate (skilled equivalent, or ot	non-manual or r	nanual), or high (profe tualification; college o	ssional or manager r university degree	al technical)

: baseline
at
participants
of
Characteristics
-
Table

Page 5 of 14

Outcome and Cohort	Participants	Events	HR (95% CI)	Decreas	ed Risk	Increased Ris
All-cause mortality						
HSE/SHeSs						
Never drinker	263	100	1.00 (reference)		+	
Former drinker	383	156	0.90 (0.69-1.16)		-+	-
Low-level drinker	1630	775	0.89 (0.71-1.11)		-+	
Medium-level drinke	r 458	198	0.91 (0.70-1.18)		-+	-
High-level drinker	68	28	0.96 (0.62-1.49)			
UK Biobank						
Never drinker	1076	132	1.00 (reference)		+	
Former drinker	1207	221	1.13 (0.91-1.41)		-	•—
Low-level drinker	5989	592	0.74 (0.61-0.89)			
Medium-level drinke	r 5222	574	0.71 (0.58-0.87)			
High-level drinker	892	121	0.89 (0.69-1.15)		-+	-
Cardiovascular mortali	ity					
HSE/SHeSs						
Never drinker	263	42	1.00 (reference)		•	
Former drinker	383	59	0.78 (0.51-1.17)			-
Low-level drinker	1630	307	0.81 (0.58-1.14)		-+	-
Medium-level drinke	r 458	73	0.76 (0.50-1.14)			-
High-level drinker	68	11	0.85 (0.43-1.70)	-	•	
UK Biobank						
Never drinker	1076	54	1.00 (reference)		•	
Former drinker	1207	91	1.08 (0.77-1.53)		-	-
Low-level drinker	5988	219	0.65 (0.48-0.88)			
Medium-level drinke	r 5218	221	0.63 (0.46-0.86)	-		
High-level drinker	891	46	0.79 (0.53-1.19)			-
Cardiovascular events	3					
UK Biobank						
Never drinker	1076	258	1.00 (reference)		•	
Former drinker	1207	304	0.95 (0.80-1.13)		-•	-
Low-level drinker	5989	1155	0.74 (0.64-0.85)		-	
Medium-level drinke	r 5218	1050	0.69 (0.60-0.80)		-	
High-level drinker	892	183	0.71 (0.58-0.86)		-	
				0.2 0	.5 1	1.5 2
				HF	(95% CI)	

Fig. 1 Association of drinking categories with all-cause mortality, cardiovascular mortality, and cardiovascular events by study cohorts. Hazard ratios are adjusted for age, sex, smoking status, diabetes, hypertension, socioeconomic position or education, body mass index, and regular use of cholesterol-lowering medications, antipypertensive medications, antiplatelet agents, digoxin, and warfarin. Cl indicates confidence interval; HR, hazard ratio; HSE, the Health Survey for England; SHeSs, the Scottish Health Survey

of estimates relative to non-current drinkers showed a reduced mortality risk for an alcohol intake up to approximately 75 g/day. However, when studies with former drinkers in the reference group were excluded, the association was considerably weakened (see Additional file 1: Figure S9). In addition, among those studies using post-event alcohol measures, the result did not change substantively; a similar trend was seen in studies with multiple measures but failed to reach statistical significance, probably because of the low number of curves (n=2) in this subgroup (see Additional file 1: Figure S10).

Alcohol consumption and cardiovascular mortality among CVD patients

Nine studies, comprising 24,770 patients, were included in the meta-analysis on cardiovascular mortality, and the overall association with alcohol consumption was interpreted as a J-curve. The maximal reduction in mortality risk was found to be 27% at 8 g/day and the reversion

Source	Country	Dataset	Sex	Study	Meta-anal	vses Inclusi	on ^a	Follow	Baseline	Reference	Pre-/post-	Multiple	Quality	Primary
				size, No.	ACM case, No.	CVM case, No.	CVE case, No.	ub, y ⁿ	age, y ^c	group including former drinkers	event alcohol assessment	alcohol measures	assessment score	event
HSE/SHeSs	Ж	HSE (1994–2008) / SHeSs (1995, 1998, 2003)	źш	2802	1257	492	AN	9.5	67.3	Both ^d	Post-	N	6	MI/angina, stroke ^e
UK Biobank	К	Initial assessment visit (2006–2010)	źш	14,386	1640	631	2950	8.7	61.6	Both ^d	Post-	No	6	MI, angina, stroke
Levantesi et al. 2013 [12]	ltaly	GISSI study	Źц	11,248	1656	NA	1168	5.7	59.4	Yes	Post-	Yes	7	W
Pai et al, 2012 [13]	NSA	Health Professionals Follow- up Study	Σ	1818	468	243	NA	Up to 20	Range 40–75	Yes	Both	Yes	7	Ē
Rosenbloom et al., 2012 [14]	NSA	Onset study	ш	1253	441	NA	NA	Up to 10	66.1	Yes	Pre-	No	6	Ē
Janszky et al., 2008 [44]	Sweden	SHEEP study	Źш	1332	259	140	ΝA	8.6	59.4	No	Pre-	No	6	Ā
Masunaga et al. 2006 [41]	Japan	Consecutive patients	Σ	3845	NA	NA	142	1.1	57.2	No	Post-	No	œ	W
Aguilar et al., 2004 [36]	USA, Canada	SAVE trial	Źш	2036	355	284	NA	3.5	59.2	Yes	Both	No	7	W
Jackson et al., 2003 [37]	NSA	Physicians' Health Study	Σ	1320	369	267	NA	4.5	67.4	Yes	Post-	No	9	Stroke
de Lorgeril et al., 2002 [43]	France	Lyon Diet Heart Study	Σ	353	ΝA	NA	104	4.0	54.0	Yes	Post-	Yes	7	W
Mukamal et al., 2001 [45]	NSA	Onset study	Źш	1913	317	238	NA	3.8	61.8	Yes	Pre-	No	œ	W
Shaper et al., 2000 [46]	К	British Regional Heart Study	Σ	596	258	184	ΝA	12.8	Range 45–64	No	Post-	No	6	MI, angina
Valmadrid et al., 1999 [56]	NSA	WESDR	Źш	163	NA	52	NA	Up to 123	68.6	No	Post-	No	6	MI/angina ^{e,}
Muntwyler et al., 1998 [38]	NSA	Physicians' Health Study	Σ	5358	920	NA	AN	5.0	64.1	Yes	Post-	No	9	W
ACM all-cause mortal *Not applicable (NA) *Data are mean/med Cabta are mean unlee efformer drinkers wer efforder-onset diabetic	ity, CVE car if the study ian unless c so otherwise e included orted sepal patients wi	diovascular events, CVM cardiovascu otherwise specified a specified meta-analysis s specified motiving the specified only in subgroup meta-analyses on only in subgroup meta-analyses of the a history of angina or MI	ular m on the differ	ortality, F e outcom. ent non-c	female, <i>HSE</i> e Irinking refer	the Health S ence group	urvey for Eng	land, <i>M</i> m	ale, <i>MI</i> myoc	ardial infarctio	m, SHESs the Scc	ttish Health	Survey	

Ding et al. BMC Medicine (2021) 19:167



point was reached at 50 g/day (Fig. 2B, Table 3). Our results remained little altered when considering studies on men only, or using different types of reference groups or alcohol assessments (see Additional file 1: Figures S7, S9 and S10). Unlike the J-curve observed for men, there was no excess risk of mortality among women at higher levels of consumption (see Additional file 1: Figure S7). Stratified analyses by primary events showed that moderate drinking was associated with a lower risk of cardiovascular mortality among patients with a previous MI; however, among those with angina or stroke, the overall dose-response trend was close to null (see Additional file 1: Figure S8).

Alcohol consumption and cardiovascular events among CVD patients

Among the four studies (28,621 patients) addressing drinking and cardiovascular events, one reported doseresponse trend separately for two age groups and thus provided two curves. Alcohol intake was associated with a significant reduction in the risk of cardiovascular events up to 15g/day (Fig. 2C, Table 3). Pooled analysis of studies on women showed a declined risk for an alcohol intake up to approximately 49 g/day, whereas no reduction in risk was seen in men at any level of consumption (see Additional file 1: Figure S7). Moderate drinking was found to be protective against cardiovascular events within patients of different primary events and studies with multiple alcohol measures (see Additional file 1: Figures S8 and S10). However, when studies including former drinkers in the reference group were excluded, the overall protective effect was attenuated and became non-significant (see Additional file 1: Figure S9).

Sensitivity analyses

Sensitivity analyses excluding studies of the lowest quality (score <7) revealed similar curves (see Additional file 1: Figure S11). Results were consistent when restricting analysis to estimates that were only adjusted for age, sex, and smoking status (see Additional file 1: Figure S12). For mortality outcomes, there was no evidence of heterogeneity across the first- and second-order polynomial (both $I^2 = 0\%$); however, a high degree of heterogeneity (both $I^2 = 75\%$) was noted in studies

Outcome and subgroup	No. of No. of	No. of	Maximal effect size ^a		Reversion	Powers for the Best-Fitting FP2	
	studies (curves)	patients	RR (95% CI)	g/day	point, g/ day ^b	dose_1	dose_2
All-cause mortality							
Overall	11 (11)	41,743	0.79 (0.73-0.85)	7	62	-0.5	1
Male	6 (6)	19,897	0.82 (0.72-0.93)	9	39	0	0.5
Female	3 (3)	6046	0.64 (0.36-1.14)	54	49	-2	3
MI as primary event	9 (9)	29,554	0.82 (0.68–0.99)	2	7	-1	0.5
Angina as primary event	2 (2)	8938	0.79 (0.63–0.99)	39	46	0.5	3
Stroke as primary event	3 (3)	3618	0.71 (0.42-1.20)	12	NA	0	0.5
Reference group including former drinkers	9 (9)	41,405	0.77 (0.69–0.85)	16	75	-0.5	2
Reference group excluding former drinkers	4 (4)	17,526	0.85 (0.71-1.00)	3	3	-0.5	-0.5
Post-event alcohol assessment	8 (8)	37,245	0.81 (0.74–0.88)	9	52	0	0.5
Multiple alcohol measures	2 (2)	12,337	0.78 (0.59–1.03)	16	NA	-0.5	-0.5
Cardiovascular mortality							
Overall	9 (9)	24,770	0.73 (0.64–0.83)	8	50	0	0.5
Male	5 (5)	14,536	0.72 (0.62–0.85)	9	32	0	0.5
Female	2 (2)	4790	0.29 (0.09–1.01)	54	54	0	2
MI as primary event	6 (6)	12,422	0.76 (0.64–0.91)	3	25	-2	3
Angina as primary event	2 (2)	8934	0.72 (0.42-1.23)	56	NA	3	3
Stroke as primary event	3 (3)	3617	0.63 (0.37-1.08)	26	NA	0	3
Reference group including former drinkers	6 (6)	24,269	0.73 (0.58–0.93)	13	27	0	0.5
Reference group excluding former drinkers	5 (5)	17,683	0.71 (0.55-0.90)	7	29	-0.5	0.5
Post-event alcohol assessment	7 (7)	21,525	0.73 (0.60-0.90)	8	43	0	0
Multiple alcohol measures	1 (1)	1818	0.58 (0.40-0.84)	17	33	-0.5	3
Cardiovascular events							
Overall ^c	4 (5)	28,621	0.50 (0.26-0.96)	6	15	-2	-2
Male	3 (4)	13,598	0.56 (0.23-1.34)	8	NA	-2	-2
Female	1 (1)	3775	0.67 (0.43-1.05)	54	49	-2	3
MI as primary event	4 (5)	20,361	0.79 (0.66–0.94)	11	35	-2	3
Angina as primary event	1 (1)	8747	0.69 (0.59–0.81)	35	n.a.	-2	1
Stroke as primary event	1 (1)	1855	0.49 (0.26-0.92)	72	n.a.	-2	3
Reference group including former drinkers	3 (3)	25,983	0.72 (0.53–0.97)	40	45	1	1
Reference group excluding former drinkers	2 (3)	17,020	0.78 (0.46–1.31)	17	NA	3	3
Multiple alcohol measures	1 (1)	353	0.32 (0.14-0.71)	38	n.a.	2	3

Table 3 Best-fitting models and results of the meta-analysis on alcohol consumption and risk of mortality and subsequent cardiovascular events

FP2 second-degree fractional polynomial model, *MI* myocardial infarction ^aDefined as the lowest point of the dose-response curve within the range of dose reported by the studies

^bDefined as the dose of alcohol at which protection against the outcome is no longer statistically significant at the 95% confidence level; not applicable (NA) if non-significant association was found at any level of consumption; not available (n.a.) if the association remained significant within the range of dose reported by The studies the studies measured post-event alcohol consumption and had a quality score \geq 7 for a studies measured post-event alcohol consumption and had a studies of the studies of t

contributing results for cardiovascular events. For all outcomes assessed, we found no evidence of publication bias (see Additional file 1: Figure S13).

Discussion

Meta-analysis of the results from three major UK cohorts together with those from 12 published studies found J-curve relationships between alcohol consumption and mortality in those with cardiovascular disease, with the greatest risk reduction being observed at 7 g/ day for all-cause mortality and 8 g/day for cardiovascular mortality relative to current non-drinkers. This doseresponse trend remains consistent with the last published meta-analysis [10] and has also been reported in other high-risk populations, such as hypertensive [57] and diabetic individuals [58].

To our knowledge, this is the first meta-analysis of alcohol consumption and any subsequent cardiovascular events in patients with previous CVD, in which UK Biobank contributed nearly half of the total sample size. We found a reduction in risk for an alcohol intake up to approximately 15 g/day, an upper limit much lower than those for the mortality outcomes. Taken together, our study suggested that, among CVD patients, the upper drinking limit for lower risks of mortality and cardiovascular morbidity was about 105 g/week, which was lower than those recommended in most current guidelines. For example, the American Heart Association (AHA) and American College of Cardiology Foundation 2011 guidelines on secondary prevention recommend "alcohol moderation"-up to 196 g/week (2 USA drinks/day) for male and 98 g/week (1 USA drink/day) for female according to the national dietary guidelines [59]-for patients with atherosclerotic vascular disease [2]; the same recommendations apply in the AHA/American Stroke Association 2014 guidelines for secondary stroke prevention [5]; the UK National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 2020 guidelines recommend to keep alcohol intake within 112 g/week (14 UK units/week) for both men and women after having an MI [4]; and WHO 2007 recommendations for prevention of recurrent MI and stroke were no more than about 166 g/week (3 units/ day, 1 unit contains 10 ml of pure alcohol) [3].

Strengths and limitations of study

With almost triple the number of CVD patients, our study expands the findings of the last comprehensive review published a decade ago [10]. In particular, both HSE/SHeSs and UK Biobank provide long-term followup of large contemporary samples from the UK general population. The inclusion of these new datasets allows us to examine the risk of drinking within various subgroups, some of which are not available or too small to reliably investigate in published studies. For example, our data suggest that the dose-response associations of alcohol with mortality and morbidity differ by sex and are more pronounced among patients with MI than angina or stroke. These findings raise the question of whether differential drinking limits should be recommended in patient subgroups and warrant further investigation. Furthermore, there is evidence that reductions in risk of all-cause mortality and subsequent events might have been overestimated due to the inclusion of former drinkers in the non-drinking reference group. Former drinkers may include individuals who have quit drinking in response to ill health (i.e. "sick quitters"), particularly past heavy drinkers [60], therefore making current drinkers appear healthy relative to less healthy non-current drinkers. This could lead to a low-risk drinking limit less than the estimated 105g/week; however, we cannot definitely determine the extent of this overestimation with very few studies that explicitly excluded former drinkers.

Many medications commonly used by CVD patients can interact with alcohol by altering the metabolism or effects of the medication and/or alcohol [61]. The interactions may occur with lower amounts of alcohol or follow a dose-response relationship, with the risk and severity of interactions increasing with increasing levels of alcohol consumption [62]. For example, moderate drinking in combination with statins use may be synergistic to confer a lower risk of all-cause mortality [63]. Concurrent heavy drinking with warfarin enhance the anticoagulant effect and may lead to major bleeding [64]. In the present meta-analyses, most (9 out of 14) but not all included studies adjusted for medication use (including antihypertensives, cholesterol-lowering and oral antiplatelet agents) in their most-adjusted models and so there is a possibility of residual confounding by medications. However, sensitivity analyses showed consistent results when using risk estimates that were only adjusted for age, sex and smoking, suggesting that further adjustment for medication use is unlikely to materially impact on our findings.

In the present study, no elevated risk of mortality and cardiovascular events was found at higher levels of alcohol consumption, which is in line with other metaanalysis among CVD patients [10, 65] but contradicts evidence from some of the general population studies [66, 67]. The discrepancy between the present study and previous general population studies may be partly due to the generally older age of CVD patients. The mean/median age at baseline was greater than 59 years in most datasets used in our analyses. Because alcohol-related risk is relatively higher among younger people compared with the elderly [68], enrolling older participants in studies would minimise the risk relationship compared with an analysis that included drinkers of all ages. Notably, with older age of the study participants comes increased likelihood for drinkers to become former drinkers, which might exacerbate the "sick quitters" bias (i.e. when the non-drinking reference group also includes former drinkers who have stopped drinking due to poor health) as discussed above. Patients who drink heavily and enrolled in studies at older ages are more likely to represent "healthy survivors" or have safer drinking patterns [60, 69]. Particularly heavy drinkers are known to be under-represented in some datasets used in our analyses, such as the Physicians' Health Study [70] and HSE/ SHeSs [71]. These potential selections may have biased downwards the estimated associations between heavy intake and risks of mortality and subsequent events.

Furthermore, most included studies did not capture the extremes of drinking and therefore may be underpowered to look at the effects of very heavy drinking. Consequently, the absence of effects at higher levels of consumption seen in our study should be interpreted cautiously, particularly in light of the increasing concerns about alcohol misuse among older people [72] as well as the known wider health and societal impacts in regard to these [73].

The present study has some further limitations. First, as a composite of cardiac mortality and several non-fatal cardiovascular endpoints, the definition of cardiovascular events varied across the three published studies [12, 41, 43], and thus, we defined the outcome in UK Biobank using the most frequently reported events in these studies. However, there was still a significant heterogeneity in the pooled analysis. Recent observational and genetic evidence has suggested that drinking at moderate levels is associated with a decreased risk of some but not all forms of CVD [6, 74–76]. Therefore, this heterogeneity might have reflected the complex and diverse impacts of alcohol consumption on different CVD outcomes.

Secondly, our results must be interpreted with caution when it comes to some subgroups that have been examined in only a limited number of studies. Although the included studies scored as moderate-to-high quality on the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale, this may not account for some pertinent design/reporting characteristics of many of the studies which had problems that were specific to alcohol exposure and not covered in the scale. For example, by relying upon only a single measurement of alcohol consumption, some studies did not consider the effect of temporal changes in drinking behaviour both after primary event and during follow-up; however, our results remained consistent in the analyses restricted to studies using post-event or multiple measures. Further analyses for beverage type were not possible with sufficient beverage-specific data reported in verv few studies.

Thirdly, episodic heavy drinking has been suggested to modify the relationship between average alcohol consumption and CVD/mortality risk [77]. Our results might have been confounded by the drinking pattern, as the selected studies did not exclude "binge" drinkers. Additionally, as with all observational studies and selfreported alcohol intake, our findings are prone to bias; however, self-reported drinking data was validated against high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and gammaglutamyl transferase in HSE/SHeSs and UK Biobank (see Additional file 1: Table S6). Although we attempted to minimise confounding by using the most adjusted estimates, information on dietary habits or physical activity was not available in all studies included in our metaanalysis and residual confounding may still persist.

Conclusions

In summary, our study shows that an alcohol intake up to about 105g (or equivalent to 13 UK units, with one unit equal to half a pint of beer/lager/cider, half a glass of wine, or one measure of spirits) a week is associated with lower risks of both mortality and subsequent cardiovascular events among CVD patients. While this threshold is somewhat lower than those recommended in most current guidelines, specific recommendations regarding the downward revision of such guidelines cannot be made. There is some indication that reductions in risk may have been overestimated by studies using a referent group contaminated by less healthy former drinkers. No evidence of elevated risk among heavy drinkers was found but this was potentially attributable to selections and under-representation of such drinkers in the datasets. Moreover, when developing drinking thresholds for use within guidelines, we must consider the totality of evidence and balance pragmatic concerns [78]. Our findings therefore indicate that, for secondary prevention of CVD, current drinkers may not need to stop drinking but should be informed that lower levels of intake (up to 105g/week) may be associated with reduced risks. However, non-drinking patients should not be encouraged to take up light drinking because of wellknown adverse effects on other health outcomes, such as cancers [79].

Abbreviations

AHA: American Heart Association; BMI: Body mass index; CI: Confidence interval; CVD: Cardiovascular disease; FP2: Second-degree fractional polynomial model; HES: Hospital Episode Statistics; HR: Hazard ratio; HSE: Health Survey for England; IQR: Interquartile range; MI: Myocardial infarction; RR: Relative risk; SHeSs: Scottish Health Survey

Supplementary Information

The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi. org/10.1186/s12916-021-02040-2.

Additional file 1: Supplementary Materials. Supplementary methods for de novo cohort analyses (Appendix S1 and Table S1). Quality assessment checklist (Appendix S2). Literature search strategy (Table S2). Alcohol consumption, effect estimates, and confounder adjustment reported by studies selected for meta-analyses (Table S3-S5). Associations of alcohol intake with HDL-cholesterol and gamma-glutamyl transferase in UK Biobank and HSE/SHeSs (Table S6). Schoenfeld residuals (Figure S1). Results of subgroup and sensitivity analyses for doseresponse relationship between alcohol consumption and risk of all-cause mortality, cardiovascular mortality, and cardiovascular events (Figure S2, S7-S12). Patients inclusion flowchart for HSE/SHeSs and UK Biobank (Figure S3). Association of drinking categories with all-cause mortality, cardiovascular mortality, and cardiovascular events by cohort, sex, and primary events (Figure S4-S5). Study flow diagram (Figure S6). Funnel plots (Figure S13).

Acknowledgements Not applicable.

Authors' contributions

All authors contributed to study design. CD searched the literature. CD, DON, and AB selected the studies and extracted the data. CD analysed the data

and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. ES led the data acquisition and harmonisation of the HSE/SHeSs. DON, SB, and AB were involved in the interpretation of results and critically reviewed the manuscript. All authors approved the submission of the final manuscript.

Funding

This work was supported by the Economic and Social Research Council (ES/ K000357/1), the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Blood and Transplant Research Unit in Donor Health and Genomics (NIHR BTRU-2014-10024), UK Medical Research Council (MR/L003120/1), British Heart Foundation (SP/09/002, RG/13/13/30194, RG/18/13/33946), and the NIHR Cambridge Biomedical Research Centre at the Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. The funding bodies had no role in the design of this study, the collection, analysis, and interpretation of the data, or in writing the manuscript.

Availability of data and materials

Data from UK Biobank (http://www.ukbiobank.ac.uk/) and the Health Survey for England and the Scottish Health Survey (https://www.ukdataservice.ac.uk/) are available to researchers upon application.

Declarations

Ethics approval and consent to participate

This study is a secondary analysis of previously collected data and so additional ethical approval was not required. Ethics approvals for HSE 1994-97 were granted by Local Research Ethics Committees in England, HSE 1998 99 by London North Thames Multicentre Research Ethics Committee (MREC/ 97/2/9, MREC/98/2/89), HSE 2000-07 by London Multicentre Research Ethics Committee (MREC/99/2/91, MREC/00/2/81, MREC/01/2/82, MREC/02/2/72, MREC/03/2/97, 04/MRE02/50, 05/MREC02/47, 06/MRE02/62), and HSE 2008 by Oxford A-Research Ethics Committee (07/H0604/102). SHeSs 1995 and 1998 were approved by all fifteen of the Research Ethics Committees for all Area Health Boards in Scotland, and SHeSs 2003 by Multicentre Research Ethics Committee for Scotland. All participants gave verbal consent to be interviewed for the survey. UK Biobank received approval from the North West Centre for Research Ethics Committee (11/NW/0382) and all participants gave written informed consent.

Consent for publication Not applicable

Competing interests

Dr Steven Bell is Editorial Board Member for BMC Medicine. The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Author details

Research Department of Epidemiology and Public Health, University College London, London, UK. ²CLOSER, Department of Social Science, Institute of Education, University College London, London, UK. ³The National Institute for Health Research Blood and Transplant Unit in Donor Health and Genomics, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, UK ⁴British Heart Foundation Cardiovascular Epidemiology Unit, Department of Public Health and Primary Care, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, UK. ⁵Stroke Research Group, Department of Clinical Neurosciences, University of Cambridge, Cambridge Biomedical Campus, Cambridge, UK. ⁶Charles Perkins Centre, Sydney School of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine and Health, University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia.

Received: 2 March 2021 Accepted: 17 June 2021 Published online: 27 July 2021

References

- Piepoli MF, Corrà U, Abreu A, Cupples M, Davos C, Doherty P, et al. Challenges in secondary prevention of cardiovascular diseases: a review of the current practice. Int J Cardiol. 2015;180:114-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j iicard.2014.11.107.
- Smith SC, Benjamin EJ, Bonow RO, Braun LT, Creager MA, Franklin BA, et al AHA/ACCF secondary prevention and risk reduction therapy for patients with coronary and other atherosclerotic vascular disease: 2011 update: a quideline from the American Heart Association and American College of

Cardiology Foundation endorsed by the World Heart Federation and the Preventive Cardiovascular Nurses Association. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011;58(23): 2432-46. https://doi.org/10.1016/i.jacc.2011.10.824.

- World Health Organization. Prevention of cardiovascular disease: pocket guidelines for assessment and management of cardiovascular risk. 2007 https://www.who.int/cardiovascular_diseases/guidelines/PocketGL ENGLISH.AFR-D-E.rev1.pdf. Accessed 1 Mar 2021. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Acute coronary
- 4. syndromes. NICE guideline [NG185]. 2020. https://www.nice.org.uk/guida nce/ng185/resources/acute-coronary-syndromes-pdf-66142023361477 Accessed 20 May 2021.
- Kernan WN, Ovbiagele B, Black HR, Bravata DM, Chimowitz MI, Ezekowitz MD, et al. Guidelines for the prevention of stroke in patients with stroke and transient ischemic attack: a guideline for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. Stroke. 2014; 45(7):2160-236. https://doi.org/10.1161/STR.00000000000024.
- Bell S, Daskalopoulou M, Rapsomaniki E, George J, Britton A, Bobak M, et al. 6 Association between clinically recorded alcohol consumption and initial presentation of 12 cardiovascular diseases: population based cohort study using linked health records. BMJ. 2017;356:j909.
- Bergmann MM. Rehm J, Klipstein-Grobusch K, Boeing H, Schütze M, Drogan D, et al. The association of pattern of lifetime alcohol use and cause of death in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) study. Int J Epidemiol. 2013;42(6):1772–90. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/ dvt154
- 8. lestra JA, Kromhout D, van der Schouw YT, Grobbee DE, Boshuizen HC, van Staveren WA. Effect size estimates of lifestyle and dietary changes on all cause mortality in coronary artery disease patients: a systematic review Circulation. 2005;112(6):924-34. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.1 04.503995
- Mukamal KJ, Clowry CM, Murray MM, Hendriks HFJ, Rimm EB, Sink KM, et al. Moderate alcohol consumption and chronic disease: the case for a long-term trial. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2016;40(11):2283–91. https://doi.org/1 0.1111/acer.13231
- 10 Costanzo S, Di Castelnuovo A, Donati MB, lacoviello L, de Gaetano G. Alcohol consumption and mortality in patients with cardiovascular disease: a meta-analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2010;55(13):1339–47. https://doi.org/10.1 016/j.jacc.2010.01.006.
- De Smedt D. Clavs F. Annemans I. Dovle F. Kotseva K. Paiak A. et al. Health related quality of life in coronary patients and its association with their cardiovascular risk profile: results from the EUROASPIRE III survey. Int J Cardiol. 2013;168(2):898–903. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2012.10.053
- Levantesi G, Marfisi R, Mozaffarian D, Franzosi MG, Maggioni A, Nicolosi GL, et al. Wine consumption and risk of cardiovascular events after myocardial infarction: results from the GISSI-Prevenzione trial. Int J Cardiol. 2013;163(3): 282–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2011.06.053.
- 13 Pai JK, Mukamal KJ, Rimm EB. Long-term alcohol consumption in relation to all-cause and cardiovascular mortality among survivors of myocardial infarction: the Health Professionals Follow-up Study. Eur Heart J. 2012;33(13): 1598-605. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurhearti/ehs047
- Rosenbloom JI, Mukamal KJ, Frost LE, Mittleman MA. Alcohol consumption patterns, beverage type, and long-term mortality among women survivors of acute myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol. 2012;109(2):147–52. https://doi org/10.1016/i.amicard.2011.08.021.
- Mindell J. Biddulph JP, Hirani V, Stamatakis E, Craig R, Nunn S, et al. Cohort 15 profile: the health survey for England. Int J epidemiol. 2012;41(6):1585-93. nttps://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dvr199
- Gray L, Batty GD, Craig P, Stewart C, Whyte B, Finlayson A, et al. Cohort profile: the Scottish health surveys cohort: linkage of study participants to routinely collected records for mortality, hospital discharge, cancer and offspring birth characteristics in three nationwide studies. Int J epidemiol. 2010;39(2):345–50. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyp155.
- Sudlow C, Gallacher J, Allen N, Beral V, Burton P, Danesh J, et al. UK 17. biobank: an open access resource for identifying the causes of a wide range of complex diseases of middle and old age. Plos Med. 2015;12(3):e1001779 https://doi.org/10.1371/iournal.pmed.1001779.
- Schnier C, Bush K, Nolan J, Sudlow C, UK Biobank Outcome Adjudication Group. Definitions of acute myocardial infarction and main myocardial infarction pathological types UK Biobank phase 1 outcomes adjudication. 2017. http://biobank.ctsu.ox.ac.uk/crystal/crystal/docs/alg_outcome_mi.pdf. Accessed 10 Oct 2019

Ding et al. BMC Medicine (2021) 19:167

- Schnier C, Bush K, Nolan J, Sudlow C, UK Biobank Outcome Adjudication Group. Definitions of stroke for UK Biobank phase 1 outcomes adjudication. 2017. https://biobank.ndph.ox.ac.uk/showcase/showcase/docs/alg_ outcome_stroke.pdf. Accessed 10 Oct 2019.
- Schnier C, Sudlow C, UK Biobank Follow-up and Outcomes Adjudication Group. 2017. Algorithmically-defined health outcomes. 2017. https://biobank.ndph.oxac. uk/showcase/showcase/docs/alg.outcome_main_olf_Acressed 10.0ct 2019
- Timpka S, Fraser A, Schyman T, Stuart JJ, Åsvold BO, Mogren I, et al. The value of pregnancy complication history for 10-year cardiovascular disease risk prediction in middle-aged women. Eur J Epidemiol. 2018;33(10):1003– 10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10654-018-0429-1.
- Dawes P, Cruickshanks KJ, Moore DR, Edmondson-Jones M, McCormack A, Fortnum H, et al. Cigarette smoking, passive smoking, alcohol consumption, and hearing loss. J Assoc Res Otolaryngol. 2014;15(4):663–74. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10162-014-0461-0.
- Egeberg A, Gislason GH, Hansen PR. Risk of major adverse cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality in patients with hidradenitis suppurativa. JAMA Dermatol. 2016;152(4):429–34. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamadermatol.2 015.6264.
- Bansal N, Fischbacher CM, Bhopal RS, Brown H, Steiner MF, Capewell S, et al. Myocardial infarction incidence and survival by ethnic group: Scottish Health and Ethnicity Linkage retrospective cohort study. BMJ Open. 2013; 3(9):e003415. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmiopen-2013-003415.
- Office for National Statistics, Standard occupational classification 2010. 2010. https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/classificationsandstandards/standa rdoccupationalclassificationsoc/soc2010. Accessed 10 Oct 2019.
- Guggenheim JA, Williams C, Eye UKB, Vision C. Role of educational exposure in the association between myopia and birth order. JAMA Ophthalmol. 2015;133(12):1408–14. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2015.3556.
- Aragam KG, Chaffin M, Levinson RT, McDermott G, Choi SH, Shoemaker MB, et al. Phenotypic refinement of heart failure in a national biobank facilitates genetic discovery. Circulation. 2019;139(4):489–501. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.118.035774.
- Papadakis M, Sharma S, Cox S, Sheppard MN, Panoulas VF, Behr ER. The magnitude of sudden cardiac death in the young: a death certificate-based review in England and Wales. Europace. 2009;11(10):1353–8. https://doi. org/10.1093/europace/eup229.
- Smolina K, Wright FL, Rayner M, Goldacre MJ. Long-term survival and recurrence after acute myocardial infarction in England, 2004 to 2010. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes, 2012;5(4):532–40. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCOUTCOMES.111.964700.
- House of Commons Science and Technology Committee. Alcohol guidelines, Eleventh Report of Session 2010–12, 2012 https://publications.pa rliament.ul/pa/cm201012/cmselect/cmsctech/1536/1536.pdf. Accessed 20 May 2021.
- Brown L, National Centre for Social Research. Health Survey for England 2015: adult alcohol consumption. 2016. http://cliftondavies.com/wpcontent/uploads/2016/12/Health-Survey-England-adult-alcoholconsumption.pdf. Accessed 20 May 2021.
- Department of Health. UK Chief Medical Officers' Low Risk Drinking Guidelines. 2016. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploa ds/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/545937/UK_CMOs_report.pdf. Accessed 1 Mar 2021.
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, The PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. BMJ. 2009;339:b2535.
- Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC, Olkin I, Williamson GD, Rennie D, et al. Metaanalysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting. Meta-analysis Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) group. JAMA. 2000;283(15):2008-12. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.283.15.2008.
- Costanzo S, Di Castelnuovo A, Donati MB, Iacoviello L, de Gaetano G. Cardiovascular and overall mortality risk in relation to alcohol consumption in patients with cardiovascular disease. Circulation. 2010;121(17):1951–9. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109865840.
- Aguilar D, Skali H, Moyé LA, Lewis EF, Gaziano JM, Rutherford JD, et al. Alcohol consumption and prognosis in patients with left ventricular systolic dysfunction after a myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2004;43(11): 2015–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2004.01.042.
- Jackson VA, Sesso HD, Buring JE, Gaziano JM. Alcohol consumption and mortality in men with preexisting cerebrovascular disease. Arch Intern Med. 2003;163(10):1189–93. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.163.10.1189.

- Muntwyler J, Hennekens CH, Buring JE, Gaziano JM. Mortality and light to moderate alcohol consumption after myocardial infarction. Lancet. 1998; 352(9144):1882–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(98)06351-X.
- Kalinowski A, Humphreys K. Governmental standard drink definitions and low-risk alcohol consumption guidelines in 37 countries. Addiction. 2016; 111(7):1293–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13341.
- World Health Organization. International guide for monitoring alcohol consumption and related harm. 2000. https://appswho.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/66529/ WHO_MSD_004.pdf?sequence=1. Accessed 1 Mar 2021.
- Masunaga N, Kimura A, Miyataka M, Nishioka N, Hirano Y, Hayashi T, et al. Effects of alcohol consumption on cardiovascular events in male patients with healed myocardial infarction. Circ J. 2006;70(10):1263–8. https://doi. org/10.1253/circj.20.1263.
- Berlin JA, Longnecker MP, Greenland S. Meta-analysis of epidemiologic dose-response data. Epidemiology. 1993;4(3):218–28. https://doi.org/10.1 097/00001648-199305000-00005.
- de Lorgeril M, Salen P, Martin J-L, Boucher F, Paillard F, de Leiris J. Wine drinking and risks of cardiovascular complications after recent acute myocardial infarction. Circulation. 2002;106:1465–9.
- Janszky J, Ljung R, Ahnve S, Hallqvist J, Bennet AM, Mukamal KJ. Alcohol and long-term prognosis after a first acute myocardial infarction: the SHEEP study. Eur Heart J. 2008;29(1):45–53. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurhearti/ehm509.
- Mukamal KJ, Maclure M, Muller JE, Sherwood JB, Mittleman MA. Prior alcohol consumption and mortality following acute myocardial infarction.
- JAMA. 2001;285(15):1965–70. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.285.15.1965.
 Shaper AG, Wannamethee SG. Alcohol intake and mortality in middle aged men with diagnosed coronary heart disease. Heart. 2000;83(4):394–9. https://doi.org/10.1136/heart.83.4.394.
- Hamling J, Lee P, Weitkunat R, Ambühl M. Facilitating meta-analyses by deriving relative effect and precision estimates for alternative comparisons from a set of estimates presented by exposure level or disease category. Stat Med. 2008;27(7):954–70. https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.3013.
- Knott C, Bell S, Britton A. Alcohol consumption and the risk of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of more than 1.9 million individuals from 38 observational studies. Diab Care. 2015; 38(9):1804–12. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc15-0710.
- Wells GA, Shea B, O'Connell D, Peterson J, Welch V, Losos M, Tugwell P. The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of nonrandomised studies in meta-analyses. http://www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical_ epidemiology/oxford.asp. Accessed 1 Mar 2021.
- Royston P, Sauerbrei W. Fractional Polynomials for One Variable. In: Multivariable model-building: a pragmatic approach to regression anaylsis based on fractional polynomials for modelling continuous variables. Chichester: Wiley. 2008. p. 71–98. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470770771.ch4.
- Bagnardi V, Zambon A, Quatto P, Corrao G. Flexible meta-regression functions for modeling aggregate dose-response data, with an application to alcohol and mortality. Am J Epidemiol. 2004;159(11):1077–86. https://doi. org/10.1093/aje/kwh142.
- Orsini N, Bellocco R, Greenland S. Generalized least squares for trend estimation of summarized dose-response data. Stata J. 2006;6(1):40–57. https://doi.org/10.1177/1536867X0600600103.
- White IR. Multivariate random-effects meta-regression: updates to mvmeta. Stata J. 2011;11(2):255–70. https://doi.org/10.1177/1536867X1101100206.
- Higgins JP, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. BMJ. 2003;327(7414):557–60. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.327. 7414.557.
- Egger M, Smith GD, Schneider M, Minder C. Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. BMJ. 1997;315(7109):629–34. https://doi.org/1 0.1136/bmj.315.7109.629.
- Valmadrid CT, Klein R, Moss SE, Klein BEK, Cruickshanks KJ. Alcohol intake and the risk of coronary heart disease mortality in persons with older-onset diabetes mellitus. JAMA. 1999;282(3):239–46. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2 82.3.239.
- Hansen JL, Tolstrup JS, Jensen MK, Grønbæk M, Tjønneland A, Schmidt EB, et al. Alcohol intake and risk of acute coronary syndrome and mortality in men and women with and without hypertension. Eur J Epidemiol. 2011; 26(6):439–47. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10654-011-9564-7.
- Koppes L, Dekker J, Hendriks H, Bouter L, Heine R. Meta-analysis of the relationship between alcohol consumption and coronary heart disease and mortality in type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetologia. 2006;49(4):648–52. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-005-0127-x.

- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and U.S. Department of Agriculture. 2015–2020 Dietary Guidelines for Americans. 8th Edition. December 2015. https://health.gov/sites/default/files/2019-09/2015-2020_ Dietary_Guidelines.pdf. Accessed 1 Mar 2021.
- Ng Fat L, Cable N, Shelton N. Worsening of health and a cessation or reduction in alcohol consumption to special occasion drinking across three decades of the life course. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2015;39(1):166–74. https:// doi.org/10.1111/acer.12596.
- Holton AE, Gallagher PJ, Ryan C, Fahey T, Cousins G. Consensus validation of the POSAMINO (POtentially Serious Alcohol-Medication INteractions in Older adults) criteria. BMJ Open. 2017;7(11):e017453. https://doi.org/10.1136/ bmjopen-2017-017453.
- Moore AA, Whiteman EJ, Ward KT. Risks of combined alcohol/medication use in older adults. Am J Geriatr Pharmacother. 2007;5(1):64–74. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.amjopharm.2007.03.006.
- Kabagambe EK, Kage JN, Judd SE, Slaughter JC, Lipworth L, Sampson U, et al. Alcohol consumption, statin use and risk of all-cause mortality in the reasons for geographic and racial differences in stroke (REGARDS) cohort. Circulation. 2015;131(suppl_1):AP044.
 Roth JA, Bradley K, Thummel KE, Veenstra DL, Boudreau D. Alcohol misuse,
- Roth JA, Bradley K, Thummel KE, Veenstra DL, Boudreau D. Alcohol misuse, genetics, and major bleeding among warfarin therapy patients in a community setting. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf. 2015;24(6):619–27. https://doi.org/10.1002/pds.3769.
- Huang C, Zhan J, Liu YJ, Li DJ, Wang SQ, He QQ. Association between alcohol consumption and risk of cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality in patients with hypertension: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. Mayo Clin Proc. 2014;89(9):1201–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. mayocp.2014.05.014.
- Xi B, Veeranki SP, Zhao M, Ma C, Yan Y, Mi J. Relationship of alcohol consumption to all-cause, cardiovascular, and cancer-related mortality in U. S. adults. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2017;70(8):913–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ja cc.2017.06.054.
- Ronksley PE, Brien SE, Turner BJ, Mukamal KJ, Ghali WA. Association of alcohol consumption with selected cardiovascular disease outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. 2011;342(feb22 1):d671. https:// doi.org/10.1136/bmj.d671.
- Naimi TS, Stadtmueller LA, Chikritzhs T, Stockwell T, Zhao J, Britton A, et al. Alcohol, age, and mortality: estimating selection bias due to premature death. J Stud Alcohol Drugs. 2019;80(1):63–8. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2 019.80.63.
- Naimi TS, Stockwell T, Zhao J, Xuan Z, Dangardt F, Saitz R, et al. Selection biases in observational studies affect associations between 'moderate' alcohol consumption and mortality. Addiction. 2017;112(2):207–14. https:// doi.org/10.1111/add.13451.
- Gaziano JM, Gaziano TA, Glynn RJ, Sesso HD, Ajani UA, Stampfer MJ, et al. Light-to-moderate alcohol consumption and mortality in the Physicians' Health Study enrollment cohort. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2000;35(1):96–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0735-1097(99)00531-8.
- Boniface S, Scholes S, Shelton N, Connor J. Assessment of non-response bias in estimates of alcohol consumption: applying the continuum of resistance model in a general population survey in England. Plos One. 2017; 12(1):e0170892. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0170892.
 Knott CS, Coombs N, Stamatakis E, Biddulph JP. All cause mortality and the
- Knott CS, Coombs N, Stamatakis E, Biddulph JP. All cause mortality and the case for age specific alcohol consumption guidelines: pooled analyses of up to 10 population based cohorts. BMJ. 2015;350(feb10 2):h384. https://doi. org/10.1136/bmj.h384.
- Bardach AE, Alcaraz AO, Ciapponi A, Garay OU, Riviere AP, Palacios A, et al. Alcohol consumption's attributable disease burden and cost-effectiveness of targeted public health interventions: a systematic review of mathematical models. BMC Public Health. 2019;19(1):1378. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-7771-4.
- Millwood IY, Walters RG, Mei XW, Guo Y, Yang L, Bian Z, et al. Conventional and genetic evidence on alcohol and vascular disease aetiology: a prospective study of 500 000 men and women in China. Lancet. 2019; 393(10183):1831–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/50140-6736(18)31772-0.
- Smyth A, Teo KK, Rangarajan S, O[®]Donnell M, Zhang X, Rana P, et al. Alcohol consumption and cardiovascular disease, cancer, injury, admission to hospital, and mortality: a prospective cohort study. Lancet. 2015;386(10007): 1945–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00235-4.
- Wood AM, Kaptoge S, Butterworth AS, Willeit P, Warnakula S, Bolton T, et al. Risk thresholds for alcohol consumption: combined analysis of individual-

participant data for 599 912 current drinkers in 83 prospective studies. Lancet. 2018;391(10129):1513–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)3 0134-X.

- Roerecke M, Rehm J. Alcohol consumption, drinking patterns, and ischemic heart disease: a narrative review of meta-analyses and a systematic review and meta-analysis of the impact of heavy drinking occasions on risk for moderate drinkers. BMC Med. 2014;12(1):182. https://doi.org/10.1186/s1291 6-014-0182-6.
- Holmes J, Angus C, Meier PS, Buykx P, Brennan A. How should we set consumption thresholds for low risk drinking guidelines? Achieving objectivity and transparency using evidence, expert judgement and pragmatism. Addiction. 2019;114(4):590–600. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.143 81.
- LoConte NK, Brewster AM, Kaur JS, Merrill JK, Alberg AJ. Alcohol and cancer: a statement of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(1):83–93. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2017.76.1155.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast, convenient online submission
- thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
 maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions



Appendix 2.2 ICD and OPCS codes used in analyses of UK Biobank and HSE/SHeSs

	An	gina ^[136]			
ICD-9	411, 4119, 413, 4139				
ICD-10	120, 120.0, 120.1, 120.8, 120).9			
	ſ	NI ^[133]			
ICD-10	MI, unclassified	121, 122, 123, 123.0, 123.1, 123.2, 123.3, 123.4, 123.5, 123.6, 123.8, 124.1, 125.2			
ICD-10	ST elevation MI	121.0, 121.1, 121.2, 121.3, 122.0, 122.1, 122.8			
ICD-10	Non-ST elevation MI	121.4, 121.9, 122.9			
	Str	oke ^[134]			
ICD-10	Ischaemic stroke	163, 163.0, 163.1, 163.2, 163.3, 163.4, 163.5, 163.6, 163.8, 163.9, 164.X			
ICD-10	Intracerebral haemorrhage	161, 161.0, 161.1, 161.2, 161.3, 161.4, 161.5, 161.6, 161.8, 161.9			
ICD-10	Subarachnoid haemorrhage	160, 160.0, 160.1, 160.2, 160.3, 160.4, 160.5, 160.6, 160.7, 160.8, 160.9			
	Heart	failure ^[302]			
ICD-10	I11.0, I13.0, I13.2, I25.5, I50.9	142.0, 142.5, 142.8, 142.9, 150.0, 150.1,			
Sudden death [303]					
ICD-10	ICD-10 I46.1, I49.9, R96, R96.0, R96.1				
	Revasculariza	tion procedures ^[304]			
OPCS4	Coronary artery bypass graft	K40, K41, K42, K43, K44, K45, K46			
OPCS4	Percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty	K49, K50, K75			

ICD=the International Classification of Diseases, MI=myocardial infarction, OPCS=OPCS Classification of Interventions and Procedures

Appendix 2.3 Schoenfeld residuals for UK Biobank and HSE/SHeSs

(a) All-cause mortality for Health Survey for England/Scottish Health Survey models



Time



(b) Cardiovascular mortality for Health Survey for England/Scottish Health Survey models





(c) All-cause mortality for UK Biobank models




(d) Cardiovascular mortality for UK Biobank models





(e) Cardiovascular events for UK Biobank models





Time



Time

Appendix 2.4 Literature search strategy

#	Modlino (Ovid)	Poculto
#		Results
1		66993
2	((alcohol or beer\$1 or wine\$1 or spirit or spirits or liquor\$1 or liqueur\$1) adj2 (intake\$1 or consum\$ or drink\$)).ab,ti.	68862
3	exp myocardial infarction/ or exp coronary disease/	363351
4	((isch?emic heart disease\$1 or IHD or myocardial isch?emia or myocardial infarct\$ or MI or acute myocardial infarct\$ or MI or coronary disease\$1 or coronary artery disease\$1 or CAD or coronary heart disease\$1 or CHD or heart disease\$1 or cardiovascular disease\$1 or CVD or angina) adj2 (patients or people or women or men)).ab,ti.	78580
5	((myocardial infarct\$ or MI or acute myocardial infarct\$ or MI) adj2 (surviv\$ or after or following)).ab,ti.	31387
6	exp STROKE/	134621
7	((stroke or strokes or acute cerebrovascular accident\$1 or cerebrovascular accident\$1 or CVA\$1 or apoplexy or brain vascular accident\$1) adj2 (patients or people or women or men or surviv\$ or after or following)).ab,ti.	67330
8	exp cohort studies/ or exp follow-up studies/ or longitudinal studies/	2014690
9	(comment or editorial or letter or case reports or news or review or meta analysis).pt.	6532171
10	1 or 2	106345
11	3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7	551960
12	8 and 10 and 11	1128
13	limit 12 to humans	1128
14	13 not 9	1070
#	Embase (Ovid)	Results
1	exp drinking behavior/	47562
2	((alcohol or beer\$1 or wine\$1 or spirit or spirits or liquor\$1 or liqueur\$1) adj2 (intake\$1 or consum\$ or drink\$)).ab,ti.	94229
3	exp heart infarction/ or exp coronary artery disease/	593221
4	((isch?emic heart disease\$1 or IHD or myocardial isch?emia or myocardial infarct\$ or MI or acute myocardial infarct\$ or MI or coronary disease\$1 or coronary artery disease\$1 or CAD or coronary heart disease\$1 or CHD or heart disease\$1 or cardiovascular disease\$1 or CVD or angina) adj2 (patients or people or women or men)).ab,ti.	115149
5	((myocardial infarct\$ or MI or acute myocardial infarct\$ or MI) adj2 (surviv\$ or after or following)).ab,ti.	42351
6	exp cerebrovascular accident/	209214
7	((stroke or strokes or acute cerebrovascular accident\$1 or cerebrovascular accident\$1 or CVA\$1 or apoplexy or brain vascular accident\$1) adj2 (patients or people or women or men or surviv\$ or after or following)).ab,ti.	111595

8	exp follow up/ or longitudinal study/	1663997
9	(Patent or Tombstone or Note or Editorial or Letter or Erratum or Books or Chapter or Review).pt.	5351012
10	1 or 2	122144
11	3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7	859770
12	8 and 10 and 11	1039
13	limit 12 to human	996
14	13 not 9	960

Appendix 2.5 Association of alcohol with mortality and cardiovascular events in CVD patients: For open-ended upper categories, mean values were defined as lower boundary×1, ×1.4, and ×1.6



(a) All-cause mortality

(b) Cardiovascular mortality



(c) Cardiovascular events



Appendix 2.6 Quality assessment checklist

NEWCASTLE - OTTAWA QUALITY ASSESSMENT SCALE COHORT STUDIES

<u>Notes</u>: A study can be awarded a maximum of one star for each numbered item within the Selection and Outcome categories. A maximum of two stars can be given for Comparability.

Selection

- 1) Representativeness of the exposed cohort
 - a) truly representative of the average current drinkers in the community *

b) somewhat representative of the average <u>current drinkers</u> in the community

- c) selected group of users (e.g., nurses, volunteers)
- d) no description of the derivation of the cohort
- 2) Selection of the non-exposed cohort
 - a) drawn from the same community as the exposed cohort *
 - b) drawn from a different source
 - c) no description of the derivation of the non-exposed cohort
- 3) Ascertainment of exposure
 - a) secure record (e.g., surgical records) *
 - b) structured interview *
 - c) written self-report
 - d) no description
- 4) Demonstration that outcome of interest was not present at start of study
 - a) yes *

b) no

Comparability

- 1) Comparability of cohorts on the basis of the design or analysis
 - a) study controls for smoking status *
 - b) study controls for any additional factor *

Outcome

1) Assessment of outcome

- a) independent blind assessment *
- b) record linkage *
- c) self-report
- d) no description
- 2) Was follow-up long enough for outcomes to occur
 - a) yes, at least six years duration *

b) no

- 3) Adequacy of follow up of cohorts
 - a) complete follow up: all subjects accounted for *
 - b) subjects lost to follow up unlikely to introduce bias: small number lost (>95% follow up) or description provided of those lost *
 - c) follow up rate <95% and no description of those lost
 - d) no statement

Appendix 2.7 Association of alcohol with mortality and cardiovascular events in CVD patients excluding studies with a quality assessment score <7



Appendix 2.8 Association of alcohol with mortality and cardiovascular events in CVD patients using least adjusted estimates (adjusted for age, sex, and smoking status only)



Appendix 2.9 Association of alcohol with mortality in CVD patients using a fixed effect meta-analysis model

(a) All-cause mortality











(b) Cardiovascular mortality











(a) All-cause mortality





(b) Cardiovascular mortality





(c) Cardiovascular events



Appendix 2.11 Associations of alcohol intake with HDL-cholesterol and gamma-glutamyl transferase in UK Biobank and HSE/SHeSs

Study cobort		Alcohol intake (per 100 grams per day) *					
	Never drinker	Low-level drinker	Low-level Medium-level High-level drinker drinker drinker β		β (95% CI)	P-value	
UK Biobank, Gamma-glut							
n	1000	5611	4908	836	1122		
Mean	40.09	41.79	53.08	79.75	38.87	59.11	<0.001
(95% CI) †	(36.46-43.72)	(40.10-43.49)	(51.16-54.99)	(75.83-83.66)	(35.46-42.27)	(54.40-63.82)	
UK Biobank, HDL-cholest	erol (mmol/L) (N=	12334)					
n	917	5123	4481	766	1047		
Mean	1.19	1.26	1.35	1.49	1.20	0.39	<0.001
(95% CI) †	(1.17-1.21)	(1.25-1.27)	(1.34-1.36)	(1.47-1.51)	(1.18-1.22)	(0.36-0.41)	
HSE/SHeSs, HDL-choles	terol (mmol/L) (N=	385)					
n	60	196	55	6	68		
Mean	1.24	1.31	1.43	1.54	1.26	0.40	0.003
(95% CI) †	(1.15-1.34)	(1.26-1.37)	(1.33-1.53)	(1.25-1.83)	(1.17-1.34)	(0.14-0.67)	

* β (95% CI) and P-values were derived from multivariable linear regression models by treating alcohol intake as a continuous variable † Means (95% CI) were derived from multivariable linear regression models by treating alcohol consumption as a categorical variable All models were adjusted for age, sex, smoking status, diabetes, hypertension, socioeconomic position or education, body mass index, cholesterol-lowering medications, antihypertensive medications, antiplatelet agents, digoxin, and warfarin HDL=high-density lipoprotein **Appendix 3.2** Goodness of fit statistics for linear and non-linear trajectories of mean weekly alcohol consumption

(a) Models for control group

Control group		Ferr	ale	Male			
Fractional po terms	olynomial	Log- likelihood	BIC	Log- likelihood	BIC		
time -2		-65015.16	130096.60	-212293.6	424660.9		
time -1		-64800.01	129666.30	-211565.0	423203.7		
time -0.5		-64701.16	129468.60	-211156.1	422385.9		
time 0		-64635.56	129337.40	-212610.5	425263.1*		
time 0.5		-64606.02	129278.30	-210773.7	421621.1		
time 1		-64605.54	129277.40	-210797.6	421669.0		
time 2		-64651.05	129368.40	-211007.7	422089.1		
time 3		-64718.35	129503.00	-211245.8	422565.3		
time -2 +	time -2	-64767.03	129638.20	-211278.1	422671.9		
time -2 +	time -1	-64678.00	129460.20	-210832.9	421781.6		
time -2 +	time -0.5	-64640.94	129386.00	-210651.6	421419.0		
time -2 +	time 0	-64613.25	129330.70	-210532.9	421181.6		
time -2 +	time 0.5	-64605.01	129238.40	-210485.4	421086.7		
time -2 +	time 1	-64605.05	129238.50	-210496.8	421109.5		
time -2 +	time 2	-64603.58	129311.30	-210617.8	421351.3		
time -2 +	time 3	-64639.26	129382.70	-210801.7	421719.2		
time -1 +	time -1	-64613.30	129330.80	-210496.5	421108.8		
time -1 +	time -0.5	-64578.40	129261.00	-210357.4	420830.7		
time -1 +	time 0	-64543.49	129191.10	-210260.8	420637.5		
time -1 +	time 0.5	-64511.36	129126.90	-210208.0	420531.7		
time -1 +	time 1	-64485.66	129075.50	-210191.5	420498.9		
time -1 +	time 2	-64460.75	129025.70	-210236.8	420589.4		
time -1 +	time 3	-64470.82	129045.80	-210365.8	420847.3		
time -0.5 +	time -0.5	-64536.76	129177.70	-210220.2	420556.2		
time -0.5 +	time 0	-64491.08	129086.30	-210111.8	420339.5		
time -0.5 +	time 0.5	-64447.45	128999.10	-210034.7	420185.2		
time -0.5 +	time 1	-64411.26	128926.70	-209986.8	420089.5		
time -0.5 +	time 2	-64373.83	128851.80	-209975.5	420066.9		
time -0.5 +	time 3	-64380.99	128866.10	-210075.7	420256.6		

time 0 +	time 0	-64433.95	128972.10	-209977.4	420070.5
time 0 +	time 0.5	-64380.93	128866.00	-209864.5	419844.7
time 0 +	time 1	-64339.94	128784.00	-209779.7	419675.2
time 0 +	time 2	-64303.26	128710.70	-209721.2	419558.2
time 0 +	time 3	-64314.93	128734.00	-209817.5	419750.9
time 0.5 +	time 0.5	-64324.50	128753.20	-209713.2	419542.3
time 0.5 +	time 1	-64285.17	128674.50	-210484.4	421052.9
time 0.5 +	time 2	-64257.39	128619.00	-209530.4	419176.7
time 0.5 +	time 3	-64277.49	128659.10	-209659.8	419435.4
time 1 +	time 1	-64250.93	128606.00	-209475.0	419065.9
time 1 +	time 2	-64235.65	128575.50	-209436.3	<u>418988.5</u>
time 1 +	time 3	-64265.48	128635.10	-209623.1	419362.1
time 2 +	time 2	-64244.99	128594.10	-209521.1	419158.0
time 2 +	time 3	-64290.50	128685.20	-209823.7	419763.2
time 3 +	time 3	-64341.13	128786.40	-210140.8	420397.4

Numbers following 'time' refer to power terms. BIC=Bayesian information criterion.

* Fit statistics calculated on models with fixed slopes due to issues of convergence for some transformations when random slopes were expressed.

(b) Models for case group (pre-onset)

Case group, pre-onset		Fem	ale	Male		
Fractional polynomial terms		Log- likelihood	BIC	Log-likelihood	BIC	
time -2		-9437.36	18919.91	-31418.84	62880.62*	
time -1		-9435.98	18924.68	-31372.82	62805.76	
time -0.5		-9433.76	18912.72	-31340.04	62740.19	
time 0		-9430.70	18906.60	-31317.23	62694.58	
time 0.5		-9425.98	18904.70	-31307.48	62675.07	
time 1		-9419.71	18884.62	-31306.69	62673.50	
time 2		-9409.58	18871.90	-31315.43	62690.98	
time 3		-9404.40	<u>18854.00</u>	-31328.27	62716.65	
time -2 +	time -2	-9437.30	18927.33	-31418.52	62888.57*	
time -2 +	time -1	-9435.91	18924.55	-31372.74	62814.18	
time -2 +	time -0.5	-9433.74	18920.21	-31339.98	62748.66	
time -2 +	time 0	-9437.29	18897.17	-31317.22	62703.14	
time -2 +	time 0.5	-9423.88	18870.35	-31307.46	62683.62	
time -2 +	time 1	-9417.94	18858.47	-31306.62	62681.94	
time -2 +	time 2	-9409.30	18871.34	-31315.31	62699.32	
time -2 +	time 3	-9404.05	18860.84	-31328.13	62724.97	
time -1 +	time -1	-9435.97	18932.21	-31328.37	62682.50	
time -1 +	time -0.5	-9433.75	18920.23	-31339.85	62748.41	
time -1 +	time 0	-9424.95	18872.49	-31315.63	62657.02	
time -1 +	time 0.5	-9419.61	18861.81	-31307.02	62639.80	
time -1 +	time 1	-9419.38	18891.50	-31306.40	62638.56	
time -1 +	time 2	-9408.97	18870.67	-31306.74	62707.95	
time -1 +	time 3	-9403.62	18867.50	-31301.20	62696.86	
time -0.5 +	time -0.5	-9433.76	18920.25	-31316.72	62659.21	
time -0.5 +	time 0	-9430.58	18913.88	-31317.18	62703.07	
time -0.5 +	time 0.5	-9415.54	18906.41	-31306.44	62638.65	
time -0.5 +	time 1	-9409.97	18895.26	-31300.64	62695.74	
time -0.5 +	time 2	-9401.58	18886.03	-31283.18	62660.83	
time -0.5 +	time 3	-9397.13	18869.58	-31274.12	62642.72	
time 0 +	time 0	-9415.72	18906.76	-31308.00	62710.46	
time 0 +	time 0.5	-9409.62	18894.56	-31303.47	62632.70	
time 0 +	time 1	-9404.28	18883.88	-31281.09	62656.65	
time 0 +	time 2	-9396.66	18868.64	-31261.38	62617.22	

time 0 +	time 3	-9392.95	18861.22	-31252.19	62598.84
time 0.5 +	time 0.5	-9403.88	18883.09	-31305.29	62679.28
time 0.5 +	time 1	-9398.99	18873.30	-31303.23	62675.16
time 0.5 +	time 2	-9392.41	18860.15	-31245.35	62585.16
time 0.5 +	time 3	-9389.76	18854.84	-31238.88	62572.22
time 1 +	time 1	-9394.65	18864.62	-31250.23	62594.93
time 1 +	time 2	-9389.33	18853.99	-31236.11	62566.69
time 1 +	time 3	-9387.87	18851.07	-31233.93	62562.32
time 2 +	time 2	-9386.67	18856.20	-31232.32	<u>62559.11</u>
time 2 +	time 3	-9387.59	18850.51	-31237.85	62570.16
time 3 +	time 3	-9390.41	18856.15	-31247.81	62590.10

Numbers following 'time' refer to power terms. BIC=Bayesian information criterion. * Fit statistics calculated on models with fixed slopes due to issues of convergence for some transformations when random slopes were expressed.

(c) Models for case group (post-onset)

Case group, post-onset		Fem	ale	Male			
Fractional po terms	lynomial	Log- likelihood	BIC	Log- likelihood	BIC		
time -2		-6883.73	13817.80	-21912.83	43883.22		
time -1		-6881.56	13813.46	-21910.24	43878.03		
time -0.5		-6879.94	13803.02	-21909.25	43876.05		
time 0		-6877.92	13798.99	-21908.52	43874.59		
time 0.5		-6883.424	13802.81*	-21908.07	43873.70		
time 1		-6883.172	13802.30*	-21907.94	43873.44		
time 2		-6866.20	13782.73	-21908.71	43874.97		
time 3		-6858.92	<u>13761.00</u>	-21910.83	43879.22		
time -2 +	time -2	-6880.63	13811.61	-21863.43	<u>43817.30</u>		
time -2 +	time -1	-6878.60	13807.54	-21864.13	43818.71		
time -2 +	time -0.5	-6877.08	13804.49	-21864.65	43819.75		
time -2 +	time 0	-6875.18	13807.88	-21899.12	43864.02		
time -2 +	time 0.5	-6872.90	13796.13	-21866.02	43822.49		
time -2 +	time 1	-6870.25	13790.84	-21866.87	43824.18		
time -2 +	time 2	-6864.06	13785.66	-21868.83	43828.11		
time -2 +	time 3	-6857.15	13771.83	-21871.10	43832.64		
time -1 +	time -1	-6878.39	13807.13	-21865.32	43821.09		
time -1 +	time -0.5	-6876.88	13804.10	-21899.87	43865.51		
time -1 +	time 0	-6878.21	13806.75	-21899.75	43865.28		
time -1 +	time 0.5	-6872.73	13795.79	-21899.66	43865.09		
time -1 +	time 1	-6870.10	13790.53	-21868.90	43828.24		
time -1 +	time 2	-6863.93	13785.39	-21871.18	43832.80		
time -1 +	time 3	-6857.04	13771.61	-21873.67	43837.77		
time -0.5 +	time -0.5	-6876.79	13803.92	-21866.93	43824.30		
time -0.5 +	time 0	-6874.91	13800.16	-21900.32	43866.43		
time -0.5 +	time 0.5	-6876.63	13810.79	-21900.25	43866.28		
time -0.5 +	time 1	-6876.56	13803.47	-21870.04	43830.52		
time -0.5 +	time 2	-6863.87	13785.27	-21872.46	43835.37		
time -0.5 +	time 3	-6856.99	13764.32	-21875.04	43840.52		
time 0 +	time 0	-6874.83	13800.01	-21868.93	43828.30		
time 0 +	time 0.5	-6874.76	13799.87	-21870.06	43822.34		
time 0 +	time 1	-6874.70	13799.75	-21871.26	43832.95		
time 0 +	time 2	-6863.82	13785.16	-21873.81	43838.06		

time 0 +	time 3	-6856.95	13771.42	-21876.46	43843.36
time 0.5 +	time 0.5	-6871.06	13792.45	-21902.00	43869.78
time 0.5 +	time 1	-6880.508	13804.16*	-21901.97	43869.72
time 0.5 +	time 2	-6863.77	13785.07	-21875.19	43840.83
time 0.5 +	time 3	-6856.91	13764.15	-21877.90	43846.24
time 1 +	time 1	-6867.48	13785.29	-21903.16	43872.09
time 1 +	time 2	-6863.73	13784.99	-21876.61	43843.66
time 1 +	time 3	-6869.74	13789.83	-21879.35	43849.15
time 2 +	time 2	-6860.17	13770.68	-21879.46	43849.36
time 2 +	time 3	-6856.83	13764.01	-21882.22	43854.87
time 3 +	time 3	-6852.85	13763.22	-21884.94	43860.31

Numbers following 'time' refer to power terms. BIC=Bayesian information criterion. * Fit statistics calculated on models with fixed slopes due to issues of convergence for some transformations when random slopes were expressed. Appendix 3.3 Regression coefficients for the fixed effects of the best-fitting multilevel growth curve models using complete case data

Best-fitting models*				Model 1		Model 2			Model 3			Model 4			
		Obs	s n	Coefficient	Robust SE	P- value									
Male															
Case,	Time ²	4633	1734	10.99	0.20	<0.001	10.28	0.88	<0.001	11.02	0.86	<0.001	7.87	0.49	<0.001
pre-onset	Time ²			-8.19	0.03	<0.001	-7.92	0.49	<0.001	-8.39	0.44	<0.001	-6.66	0.28	<0.001
	Intercept			71.98	16.31	<0.001	116.06	6.45	<0.001	89.89	10.34	<0.001	27.80	28.53	0.330
Case,	Time ⁻²	2835	1388	-2628.45	1209.39	0.030	-2633.68	1443.08	0.068	-2493.58	1506.76	0.098	-2456.12	1429.41	0.086
post-	Time ⁻²			3549.34	1384.11	0.010	3736.08	1704.33	0.028	3551.20	1788.95	0.047	3581.64	1742.05	0.040
onset	Intercept			-68.77	21.10	0.001	52.65	4.87	<0.001	39.46	1.19	<0.001	-27.39	48.87	0.575
Control	Time ¹	31137	6989	37.90	8.43	<0.001	36.40	8.72	<0.001	36.35	8.55	<0.001	28.19	6.01	<0.001
	Time ²			-7.78	0.87	<0.001	-7.69	0.95	<0.001	-7.65	0.90	<0.001	-6.65	0.69	<0.001
	Intercept			47.84	1.06	<0.001	129.43	14.46	<0.001	116.51	19.36	<0.001	44.67	29.30	0.127
Female															
Case,	Time ³	1587	671	0.01	0.10	0.934	-0.05	0.07	0.452	-0.01	0.03	0.799	0.01	0.03	0.822
pre-onset	Intercept			30.65	0.21	<0.001	55.41	3.27	<0.001	44.83	10.44	<0.001	57.55	11.40	<0.001
Case,	Time ³	916	495	-0.08	0.03	0.011	-0.10	0.02	<0.001	-0.08	0.02	<0.001	-0.10	0.02	<0.001
post-onset	Intercept			30.19	3.96	<0.001	73.56	16.28	<0.001	68.27	18.49	<0.001	66.66	12.83	<0.001
Control	Time ¹	10250	2745	13.90	4.90	0.005	12.18	3.90	0.002	11.75	3.80	0.002	10.46	2.26	<0.001
	Time ²			-2.98	0.43	<0.001	-2.83	0.36	<0.001	-2.73	0.35	<0.001	-2.54	0.22	<0.001
	Intercept			25.42	4.44	<0.001	67.51	10.16	<0.001	62.06	12.53	<0.001	56.13	8.78	<0.001

*To describe the shape of each trajectory, a group of first- and second-degree fractional polynomials with powers from a predefined set (-2, -1, -0.5, 0, 0.5, 1, 2, 3) was used to derive a power transformation of the 'Time' variable. The superscript numbers following 'Time' in the table above refer to power terms that provide the best fit. Obs=observations, SE=standard error.

Model 1: unadjusted.

Model 2: as Model 1, plus adjustment for age at diagnosis, ethnicity, marital status and socioeconomic position.

Model 3: as Model 2, plus adjustment for smoking, physical activity, frequency of fruit and vegetables consumed in a week.

Model 4: as Model 3, plus adjustment for prevalent hypertension (self-reported doctor diagnosed hypertension or use of antihypertensive drugs), body mass index, self-rated health.
Appendix 3.4 Trajectories of the mean volume of weekly alcohol consumption prior to and following CVD diagnosis, stratified by sex and case/control group (maximally adjusted models using imputed data versus complete case data)

Notes: Figures are reported according to mean and referent held values (i.e., 65 years old at diagnosis, white, married, high socioeconomic position, never-smoking, physically active, eating fruits/vegetable daily, self-rated health as excellent, reporting no history of hypertension, with a BMI value of 26 kg/m²). Dashed curves represent 95% CIs.







Appendices for Chapter 4

Appendix 4.1 Publication of results on alcohol trajectory and mortality risk

 Received: 23 August 2021
 Accepted: 4 February 2022

 DOI: 10.1111/add.15850

RESEARCH REPORT

ADDICTION **SSA**

Trajectories of alcohol consumption in relation to all-cause mortality in patients with cardiovascular disease: a 35-year prospective cohort study

Chengyi Ding¹ | Dara O'Neill² | Annie Britton¹

¹Research Department of Epidemiology and Public Health, University College London, London, UK

²CLOSER, UCL Social Research Institute, University College London, London, UK

Correspondence

Chengyi Ding, Research Department of Epidemiology and Public Health, University College London, Gower Street, London WC1E 68T, UK.

Email: chengyi.ding.17@ucl.ac.uk

Funding information

Medical Research Council, Grant/Award Numbers: G0902037, MR/K013351/1; National Institutes of Health, Grant/Award Numbers: R01AG013196, R01HL36310; Economic and Social Research Council, Grant/ Award Number: ES/K000357/1; British Heart Foundation, Grant/Award Number: RG/13/2/30098

Abstract

Background and Aims: Research into alcohol consumption and cardiovascular disease (CVD) patients' prognosis has largely ignored the longitudinal dynamics in drinking behaviour. This study measured the association between alcohol consumption trajectories and mortality risk in CVD patients.

Design: Prospective cohort study.

Setting: UK-based Whitehall II Study.

Participants: A total of 1306 participants with incident non-fatal CVD (coronary heart disease/stroke) events.

Measurements: Up to eight repeated measures of alcohol intake were available for each patient from the most recent assessment phase pre-incident CVD and all subsequent phases post-incident CVD, spanning up to three decades. Six trajectory groups of alcohol consumption were identified using group-based trajectory modelling and related to the risk of all-cause mortality, adjusting for demographics and changes in life-style and health status. **Findings:** Three hundred and eighty deaths were recorded during a median follow-up of 5 years after patients' last alcohol assessment. Compared with patients who consistently drank moderately (≤ 14 units/week), former drinkers had a greater risk of mortality (hazard ratio = 1.74, 95% confidence interval = 1.19–2.54) after adjustment for covariates. There was no significantly increased risk of mortality in long-term abstainers, reduced moderate drinkers, stable or unstable heavy drinkers. Cross-sectional analyses based only on drinking information at patients' last assessment found no significant differences in mortality risk for abstainers, former or heavy drinkers versus moderate drinkers.

Conclusions: Cardiovascular disease patients who consistently drink \leq 14 units/week appear to have a similar risk of mortality to those who are long-term abstainers, which does not support a protective effect of moderate drinking on total mortality. Cardiovas-cular disease patients who stop drinking appear to have increased mortality risk compared with continuous moderate drinkers, but this may be linked to poor self-rated health before cardiovascular disease onset.

KEYWORDS

Alcohol, cardiovascular disease, former drinker, longitudinal, mortality, trajectory

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

© 2022 The Authors. Addiction published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Society for the Study of Addiction.

Addiction. 2022;1-11.

wileyonlinelibrary.com/journal/add

1

ADDICTION

INTRODUCTION

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the leading cause of premature mortality and a major contributor to disability [1]. Globally, the number of prevalent CVD cases has increased rapidly since 1990, reaching 523 million in 2019 [2]. The association between moderate alcohol consumption and reduced risk of CVD is well-documented and heatedly debated [3–5]. However, relatively few studies have focused on patients who have already experienced a CVD event and the effects that alcohol drinking may have on their subsequent health. A recent meta-analysis suggests that drinking up to 105 g of ethanol per week is associated with lower risks of mortality and subsequent cardiovascular events than non-drinking in those with established CVD [6]. It is noteworthy that this threshold is lower than the upper limits of drinking recommended in most current guidelines [7–9].

SSA

Similar to the critiques of studies on general populations [10, 11], the evidence among CVD patients is far from robust for several important reasons. First, most studies (11 of 14) included in the meta-analysis only looked at the association cross-sectionally, despite evidence that drinking behaviours change over time and that misclassification of alcohol intake has the potential to bias the risk estimates [12, 13]. Longitudinal prospective assessment of intake is needed to accurately measure long-term exposure to alcohol, and this is particularly relevant when studying biological processes that cause chronic effects on health [14]. Secondly, in those few studies of CVD patients that did include longitudinal assessment of alcohol and subsequent health risks [15-17], the methodology used can be guestioned. In most cases these studies categorized the patients into different drinking groups according to each patient's average intake during follow-up, with no accounting for intra-individual variation in drinking levels over time. Failure to capture such variation may result in over-simplistic interpretation of alcohol use and consequent outcomes, as there is evidence from general population samples that unstable drinking patterns confer increased risks for coronary heart disease (CHD) and total mortality independent of average intake [18-20]. Thirdly, these studies often included former drinkers (who might have guit in response to ill health) in the non-drinking group, which could erroneously lead to a suggested protective effect of drinking compared to non-drinking. Indeed, when former drinkers were excluded from the meta-analysis [6], the protective effect of moderate drinking on all-cause mortality among CVD patients was eliminated. Fourthly, most studies also had a heterogeneous group of patients with incident or recurrent CVD events and did not adequately account for concurrent changes in other life-style and health factors, such as smoking, which is associated both with levels of drinking and with mortality [21] and thus might confound the results.

It therefore remains unclear what advice should be given to CVD patients in terms of their alcohol consumption and subsequent prognosis. We contribute to this deficit in evidence using data with repeated measures of alcohol intake spanning up to three decades. We aimed to (1) describe the longitudinal trajectories of alcohol consumption in patients with incident CVD events, (2) link these trajectories to risk of all-cause mortality and (3) compare these associations with cross-sectional findings in the same cohort.

METHODS

Study design and population

The Whitehall II Study is an ongoing cohort study of 10 308 British civil servants aged 35-55 years at enrolment (phase 1), recruited from 20 London-based offices during 1985-88 [22]. Phase 1 involved a clinical examination and a self-administered questionnaire to collect information including demographics, health status and life-style factors. Subsequent phases of data collection have alternated between questionnaire alone and questionnaire accompanied by a clinical examination. A linkage was made to the National Health Service (NHS) Hospital Episode Statistics database which has been found valid for CVD ascertainment in the Whitehall II study [23, 24]. Incident CVD event was defined as a primary or secondary CHD/stroke diagnosis in the linked data set (using the procedure and International Classification of Diseases codes listed in Supporting information. Table S1), with additional cases identified on the basis of 12-lead resting electrocardiogram recording (for CHD only) or self-reports that had been verified with information from general practitioners or manual retrieval of medical records.

Data used for the present analyses came from phases 1 (1985-88), 2 (1989-90), 3 (1991-93), 5 (1997-99), 7 (2002-04), 9 (2007-09), 11 (2012-13) and 12 (2015-16) of the Whitehall II study. We included participants who survived an incident CHD/stroke event during phases 1-12 and for whom repeated measures of alcohol were available (at least two measures, starting from the most recent phase pre-incident CVD; Figure 1). Participants with previously diagnosed CHD/stroke or cancer at phase 1 were excluded from analyses to reduce reverse causality. The analysis was not pre-registered and thus the results should be considered exploratory.

Alcohol consumption

At each phase, participants were asked if they had consumed alcohol in the previous year, and if not whether they have always been nondrinkers. Those who reported having consumed alcohol in the previous year were then asked about the number of alcoholic drinks they had consumed during the previous week. Drinks were converted into UK units of alcohol (1 unit equivalent to 8 g of ethanol) using a conservative estimate of 1 unit for each measure of spirits and small glass of wine, and 2 units for each pint of beer [25]. These converted measurements were summed to define the total weekly alcohol intake in units. We then categorized intakes at each phase into none, moderate (1-14 units/week) and heavy (> 14 units/week) to reflect the current UK drinking guidelines [26].

Outcomes

All-cause mortality was traced through the national mortality register. For each patient, follow-up time began on the date of the patient's



FIGURE 1 An illustration of study design. This figure provides two illustrative examples of how drinking trajectories were constructed for patient A, who had an incident cardiovascular disease (CVD) event in 1995 and was alive at the end of follow-up, and for patient B, who had an incident event in 1990 and later died in 2012, using all available measures of alcohol intake for each patient starting from the most recent phase pre-incident CVD. Duration of mortality follow-up was calculated from date of each patient's last available alcohol assessment to the earliest of date of death, emigration or last follow-up

last available alcohol assessment and ended on the date of death, emigration, or 28 February 2021, whichever occurred first.

Covariates

Socio-demographic variables included age, sex and ethnicity. Socioeconomic position was defined using either current or last recorded employment grade as high, intermediate or low [27]. Health behaviours were assessed and comprised smoking (current, former or never), physical activity [meeting or below World Health Organization (WHO) recommendations] [28] and dietary behaviour (frequency of fruit and vegetables consumed in a week). Further medical information was obtained on self-reported use of cardiovascular drugs, prevalent diabetes and hypertension. Covariates were assessed at the most recent phase pre-incident CVD. To account for variability in the exposure assessment interval, the time difference between the date of first and last available alcohol assessment was calculated for each patient and included as a further covariate. Follow-up observations on health behaviours and medical status were also derived from the same phase when the last available alcohol assessment was recorded.

Statistical analysis

Group-based trajectory modelling (GBTM), an extension of finite mixture modelling (FMM), was applied to identify groups of patients following different trajectories of alcohol consumption [29], with all available alcohol data (categorized into 0, 1–14 and > 14 units/week and coded as 0, 1 and 2, respectively) collected at the most recent phase pre-incident CVD and from all subsequent phases post-incident CVD (see Figure 1 for illustrative examples). Unlike growth mixture modelling (which is also FMM-based), GBTM does not assume that the population is composed of discrete groups defined by different trajectories. Instead, GBTM uses groups as a statistical device for approximating the unknown distribution of trajectories in the population and is thus more appropriate for elucidating heterogeneity in alcohol use over time (as population differences in drinking trajectories are unlikely to be clear-cut) [30]. We estimated trajectory models with three to six groups and for each group a polynomial function of time (up to second order) was considered, as suggested by previous research [31, 32]. The Bayesian information criterion was used to select optimal number and shape of groups. Patients were assigned to the group for which their posterior membership probability was highest (maximum-probability rule). Model adequacy was evaluated using the recommended average posterior probability (AvePP \ge 0.7 is indicative of a high assignment accuracy) [33].

Prior to undertaking inferential analyses, multiple imputation by chained equations was completed to address missing covariate data [34]. Outcome (the Nelson-Aalen hazard and outcome indicator) and exposure (alcohol intakes at each phase) variables were also included in the imputation model, but only observed values of these variables were used in the substantive analysis [35, 36]. We treated repeated measurements as distinct variables in the imputation model [37]. Simulation studies show that this approach performs well in similar longitudinal settings [38, 39]. Altogether, 100 imputations were run.

Hazard ratios (HRs) for all-cause mortality in relation to drinking trajectories were estimated using Cox proportional hazards regression models. Models were first adjusted for age, sex and intake assessment interval (model 1), then additionally for ethnicity, socioeconomic position, health behaviours and medical status (model 2). Covariates in models 1 and 2 were from the most recent phase preincident CVD. To account for changes in health behaviours as well as updates to medical status, further adjustment was made in model 3 for covariates (smoking, physical activity, dietary behaviour, use of cardiovascular drugs, prevalent diabetes and hypertension) assessed at the phase of last available alcohol assessment. Our reference group for analyses was stable moderate drinkers [40]. The proportional hazards assumption was tested using Schoenfeld residuals and found not to be violated (Supporting information, Figure S1).

We performed cross-sectional analyses with drinking categories defined using only data from the last available alcohol assessment, so that findings from the main analyses (trajectory approach) can be compared to those that would have been obtained using the conventional approach in which exposure to alcohol was only assessed at one time-point. Former drinkers were separated from abstainers in cross-sectional analyses based on whether they reported at that phase to be always non-drinkers.

Sensitivity analyses were conducted restricting analyses to either male patients, those with ≥ 3 alcohol measures, having CHD as first event or having complete-case data. Previous research has suggested that the intake threshold associated with increased risk of mortality among CVD patients may be higher than 14 units/week [6, 41], so in exploratory post-hoc analyses the average weekly intake during the assessment interval was calculated for each patient in the group of stable heavy drinkers. The group was then divided into two subgroups based on the group mean value of average weekly intakes, and their associations with mortality were examined. Additional post-hoc analysis was conducted with further adjustment for concurrent changes in patients' self-rated health (excellent/good, fair or poor). Self-rated health has been shown to be a valid measure of overall health status as well as a predictor of mortality among participants of the Whitehall II study [42, 43]. Such analyses help to reveal whether changes in alcohol consumption occur as a consequence of worsening health. All analyses were performed using Stata version 15.1.

RESULTS

GBTM and sample characteristics

Of 10 308 Whitehall II participants, 178 were excluded due to a diagnosis of CHD/stroke or cancer before phase 1. A total of 1705 survived an incident CHD/stroke event from phases 1–12, 1306 of whom had repeated measures of alcohol and were included in this study.

In GBTM analysis, a six-group model provided the best fit to the data (see Supporting information, Table S2 for model fit statistics) and showed adequate classification accuracy, with AvePP between 0.75–0.93. The identified trajectory groups are shown in Figure 2 (where occasion 1 corresponds to the most recent phase - pre-incident CVD), labelled *a posteriori* as: long-term abstainers (15.5%), stable moderate drinkers (53.9%), reduced moderate drinkers (6.0%), former drinkers (6.3%), unstable heavy drinkers (8.5%) and stable heavy drinkers (9.8%). Overall, the resultant trajectories comprised a median assessment interval of 12.2 [interquartile range (IQR) = 7.0–18.0] years, with each patient contributing an average of four (IQR = 3–5) measures of alcohol.

Table 1 shows the characteristics of the study sample, as well as the proportion of missingness. Heavy drinkers (unstable or stable) were more likely to be male, of white ethnicity and high socio-economic position; they were also more frequently past or current smokers at the most recent phase pre-incident CVD. Across all trajectory groups, the proportions of patients currently smoking or meeting physical activity recommendations decreased from the most recent phase pre-incident CVD to the phase of last available alcohol assessment. The prevalence of cardiovascular drug use, diabetes and hypertension increased during the same period.



FIGURE 2 Alcohol consumption trajectories of the six groups identified using group-based trajectory modelling. Assessment occasion 1 corresponds to the most recent phase preincident CVD and assessment occasions 2–8 represent subsequent phases post-incident cardiovascular disease (CVD). Solid lines indicate estimated trajectories and dot symbols indicate observed group means at each assessment occasion

SLE 1 Patient characteristics by ai	Iconol consumption traject	ories						LCC
	Stable moderate drinkers	Long-term abstainers	Reduced moderate drinkers	Former drinkers	Unstable heavy drinkers	Stable heavy drinkers	Overall	онс
of patients	704 (53.9)	203 (15.5)	78 (6.0)	82 (6.3)	111 (8.5)	128 (9.8)	1306 (100)	DL TR
e assessment interval, median (IQR) years	12.2 (6.9-17.9)	10.8 (5.2-17.2)	17.8 (12.9–23.3)	7.2 (4.2–12.6)	12.4 (6.4–18.2)	14.2 (11.2-19.1)	12.2 (7.0-18.0)	AJE
of alcohol measures, median (IQR)	4 (3-5)	3 (2-4)	5 (4–5)	3 (2-4)	4 (2-5)	4 (3-5)	4 (3-5)	сто
e most recent phase pre-incident CVD								RY A
mean (SD) years	60.4 (8.9)	61.1 (9.2)	57.3 (8.1)	64.1 (9.1)	59.1 (9.1)	56.8 (7.9)	60.1 (9.0)	ND
	574 (81.5)	97 (47.8)	44 (56.4)	53 (64.6)	107 (96.4)	123 (96.1)	998 (76.4)	MOR
city								RTAL
iite	635 (90.2)	131 (64.5)	65 (83.3)	69 (84.1)	109 (98.2)	123 (96.1)	1132 (86.7)	ITY
n-white	68 (9.7)	71 (35.0)	13 (16.7)	13 (15.9)	2 (1.8)	5 (3.9)	172 (13.2)	RISK
sing	1 (0.1)	1 (0.5)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	2 (0.2)	(
-economic position								
-	314 (44.6)	29 (14.3)	14 (17.9)	24 (29.3)	63 (56.8)	81 (63.3)	525 (40.2)	
ermediate	321 (45.6)	92 (45.3)	41 (52.6)	43 (52.4)	43 (38.7)	47 (36.7)	587 (44.9)	
~	69 (9.8)	82 (40.4)	23 (29.5)	15 (18.3)	5 (4.5)	0 (0.0)	194 (14.9)	
ing status								
rer smoker	279 (39.6)	91 (44.8)	36 (46.2)	41 (50.0)	35 (31.5)	32 (25.0)	514 (39.4)	
smoker	302 (42.9)	61 (30.0)	21 (26.9)	33 (40.2)	56 (50.5)	67 (52.3)	540 (41.3)	
rent smoker	79 (11.2)	30 (14.8)	14 (17.9)	7 (8.5)	17 (15.3)	21 (16.4)	168 (12.9)	
sing	44 (6.3)	21 (10.3)	7 (9.0)	1 (1.2)	3 (2.7)	8 (6.3)	84 (6.4)	
cal activity ^a								
: recommendations	242 (34.4)	42 (20.7)	13 (16.7)	27 (32.9)	42 (37.8)	34 (26.6)	400 (30.6)	
ow recommendations	422 (59.9)	142 (70.0)	55 (70.5)	53 (64.6)	66 (59.5)	84 (65.6)	822 (62.9)	
sing	40 (5.7)	19 (9.4)	10 (12.8)	2 (2.4)	3 (2.7)	10 (7.8)	84 (6.4)	Ad
vegetable consumption								D
Daily	462 (65.6)	121 (59.6)	53 (67.9)	59 (72.0)	81 (73.0)	77 (60.2)	853 (65.3)	ICT
Daily	204 (29.0)	65 (32.0)	18 (23.1)	23 (28.0)	25 (22.5)	42 (32.8)	377 (28.9)	10
sing	38 (5.4)	17 (8.4)	7 (9.0)	0 (0.0)	5 (4.5)	6 (7.0)	76 (5.8)	N
f cardiovascular drugs								
	248 (35.2)	84 (41.4)	23 (29.5)	30 (36.6)	40 (36.0)	39 (30.5)	464 (35.5)	
	437 (62.1)	110 (54.2)	54 (69.2)	52 (63.4)	69 (62.2)	85 (66.4)	807 (61.8)	
sing	19 (2.7)	9 (4.4)	1 (1.3)	0 (0.0)	2 (1.8)	4 (3.1)	35 (2.7)	
lent diabetes ^b								SS
	73 (10.4)	50 (24.6)	10 (12.8)	13 (15.9)	16 (14.4)	17 (13.3)	179 (13.7)	Α
	612 (86.9)	145 (71.4)	67 (85.9)	69 (84.1)	93 (83.8)	107 (83.6)	1093 (83.7)	
							(Continues)	5

TABLE 1 Patient characteristics by alcohol consumption trajectories

TABLE 1 (Continued)								6
	Stable moderate drinkers	Long-term abstainers	Reduced moderate drinkers	Former drinkers	Unstable heavy drinkers	Stable heavy drinkers	Overall	
Missing	19 (2.7)	8 (3.9)	1 (1.3)	0 (0:0)	2 (1.8)	4 (3.1)	34 (2.6)	٨r
Prevalent hypertension ^c							DI	
Yes	360 (51.1)	129 (63.5)	44 (56.4)	46 (56.1)	63 (56.8)	69 (53.9)	711 (54.4)	
No	325 (46.2)	66 (32.5)	33 (42.3)	36 (43.9)	46 (41.4)	55 (43.0)	561 (43.0)	
Missing	19 (2.7)	8 (3.9)	1 (1.3)	0 (0:0)	2 (1.8)	4 (3.1)	34 (2.6) Z	N.L.
At the phase of last available alcohol assessmen	ant							
Smoking status								
Never smoker	259 (36.8)	83 (40.9)	29 (37.2)	31 (37.8)	31 (27.9)	27 (21.1)	460 (35.2)	
Ex-smoker	376 (53.4)	81 (39.9)	26 (33.3)	34 (41.5)	65 (58.6)	91 (71.1)	673 (51.5)	
Current smoker	27 (3.8)	13 (6.4)	7 (9.0)	1 (1.2)	8 (7.2)	4 (3.1)	60 (4.6)	C C
Missing	42 (6.0)	26 (12.8)	16 (20.5)	16 (19.5)	7 (6.3)	6 (4.7)	113 (8.7)	
Physical activity ^a								
Met recommendations	142 (20.2)	22 (10.8)	11 (14.1)	12 (14.6)	23 (20.7)	27 (21.1)	237 (18.2)	
Below recommendations	510 (72.4)	163 (80.3)	57 (73.1)	56 (68.3)	79 (71.2)	93 (72.7)	958 (73.4)	
Missing	52 (7.4)	18 (8.9)	10 (12.8)	14 (17.1)	9 (8.1)	8 (6.3)	111 (8.5)	
Fruit/vegetable consumption								
≥ Daily	500 (71.0)	125 (61.6)	43 (55.1)	57 (69.5)	78 (70.3)	87 (68.0)	890 (68.2)	
< Daily	186 (26.4)	62 (30.5)	23 (29.5)	13 (15.9)	28 (25.2)	38 (29.7)	350 (26.8)	
Missing	18 (2.6)	16 (7.9)	12 (15.4)	12 (14.6)	5 (4.5)	3 (2.3)	66 (5.1)	
Use of cardiovascular drugs								
Yes	642 (91.2)	174 (85.7)	67 (85.9)	74 (90.2)	101 (91.0)	117 (91.4)	1175 (90.0)	
No	60 (8.5)	28 (13.8)	11 (14.1)	8 (9.8)	10 (9.0)	11 (8.6)	128 (9.8)	
Missing	2 (0.3)	1 (0.5)	0(0:0)	0 (0:0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	3 (0.2)	
Prevalent diabetes ^b								
Yes	239 (33.9)	109 (53.7)	47 (60.3)	46 (56.1)	40 (36.0)	52 (40.6)	533 (40.8)	
No	465 (66.1)	94 (46.3)	31 (39.7)	36 (43.9)	71 (64.0)	76 (59.4)	773 (59.2)	
Prevalent hypertension ^c								
Yes	609 (86.5)	173 (85.2)	66 (84.6)	77 (93.9)	97 (87.4)	111 (86.7)	1133 (86.8)	
No	93 (13.2)	29 (14.3)	12 (15.4)	5 (6.1)	14 (12.6)	17 (13.3)	170 (13.0)	
Missing	2 (0.3)	1 (0.5)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	3 (0.2)	
Values are numbers (percentages) unless stated Physical activity meeting WHO recommendatic Prevalent diabetes defined as reported doctor- Crevalant huverhesion Indefined as remorted doct	otherwise. ons defined as ≥ 150 min of mod cliagnosed diabetes, fasting blood ctror-cliaenosed humertension soo	erate-intensity or ≥ 75 mi d glucose ≥ 7.0 mmol/1 or tholic/diastolic blood press	n of vigorous-intensity activity F use of antidiabetic drugs. urv > 140/90 mmHe or use of a	ber week. Intihvnertensive drug	s. CVD = cardiovascular dise.	ace: IOR = interculartile rar	noe: SD = standard	DI
deviation.								NG E

Alcohol consumption trajectories and all-cause mortality

There were 380 deaths, with the median time from the last alcohol assessment to death being 5.0 (IQR = 4.4–5.7) years. Long-term abstainers, stable and unstable heavy drinkers all had a similar risk of mortality as stable moderate drinkers after adjustment for all included covariates (Table 2). Compared to stable moderate drinkers, former drinkers had a higher risk of mortality after adjustment for covariates from the most recent phase pre-incident CVD (model 2; HR = 1.84, 95% confidence interval (CI) = 1.26–2.68). The effect remained but was slightly attenuated in a maximally adjusted model with further adjustment for changes in other health behaviours and medical status (model 3; HR = 1.74, 95% CI = 1.19–2.54).

Cross-sectional analyses

In cross-sectional analyses, former drinkers had a point estimate of mortality risk greater than 1 when compared with moderate drinkers and adjusted for covariates from the most recent phase pre-incident CVD (model 2; HR = 1.24, 95% CI = 0.94-1.63); this effect, however, was not statistically significant and was further attenuated in a maximally adjusted model (model 3; HR = 1.16, 95% CI = 0.87-1.53). There was little difference in mortality risk among abstainers and heavy drinkers compared to moderate drinkers (Table 2).

DDICTION

Sensitivity analyses

Results of sensitivity analyses are in Supporting information, Table S3. The findings did not alter substantially when we restricted analyses to either male patients, those with \geq 3 measures of alcohol or having CHD as first event. Similar associations were observed when using complete case data only.

Post-hoc analyses

Among the 128 stable heavy drinkers, mean weekly intake over the assessment interval was 30 [standard deviation (SD) = 12] units. Patients who died during follow-up had higher weekly intakes than survivors (mean \pm SD = 34 \pm 14 units versus 28 \pm 11 units, respectively). Compared to stable moderate drinkers, HR for all-cause mortality was 1.53 (95% CI = 0.93–2.51) in stable heavy drinkers with weekly intakes > 30 units and 0.77 (95% CI = 0.45–1.30) in those with weekly intakes \leq 30 units in maximally adjusted analysis (with adjustment for the same covariates listed in Table 2, model 3).

At the most recent phase pre-incident CVD, long-term abstainers had the lowest proportion of patients rating their health as excellent or good (55.7%), while unstable heavy drinkers had the highest (76.6%). The proportion decreased over the interval from the most recent phase pre-incident CVD to last alcohol assessment in all trajectory groups (Supporting information, Table S4), with the greatest decrease seen in former drinkers (-36.8%, from 69.5 to 43.9%), followed by unstable heavy drinkers

TABLE 2 Association between alcohol consumption and risk of all-cause mortality

			Hazard ratio (95% C	1)	
Alcohol consumption	No. of death	No. of patients	Model 1ª	Model 2 ^b	Model 3 ^c
Trajectories					
Stable moderate drinkers	192	704	1.00 (Ref)	1.00 (Ref)	1.00 (Ref)
Long-term abstainers	63	203	1.16 (0.86–1.56)	1.18 (0.87–1.62)	1.13 (0.83–1.55)
Reduced moderate drinkers	21	78	1.16 (0.73-1.84)	1.14 (0.72–1.83)	1.08 (0.67–1.73)
Former drinkers	35	82	1.77 (1.22–2.55)	1.84 (1.26-2.68)	1.74 (1.19–2.54)
Unstable heavy drinkers	34	111	1.28 (0.88-1.85)	1.24 (0.86-1.80)	1.25 (0.86–1.81)
Stable heavy drinkers	35	128	1.19 (0.83-1.72)	1.13 (0.78-1.64)	1.10 (0.76-1.60)
Categories based on single assessm	nent only ^d				
Moderate drinkers	187	652	1.00 (Ref)	1.00 (Ref)	1.00 (Ref)
Abstainers	59	187	1.08 (0.80-1.46)	1.11 (0.81–1.52)	1.04 (0.76-1.44)
Former drinkers	78	245	1.23 (0.94-1.61)	1.24 (0.94-1.63)	1.16 (0.87–1.53)
Heavy drinkers	56	222	0.91 (0.67-1.23)	0.86 (0.63-1.17)	0.85 (0.62-1.15)

CI = confidence interval, Ref = reference; CVD = cardiovascular disease.

^aAdjusted for sex, age and intake assessment interval.

^bAdditionally adjusted for ethnicity, socio-economic position, smoking, physical activity, dietary behaviour, use of cardiovascular drugs, prevalent diabetes and hypertension, assessed at the most recent phase pre-incident CVD.

^cAdditionally adjusted for smoking, physical activity, dietary behaviour, use of cardiovascular drugs, prevalent diabetes and hypertension, assessed at the phase of last available alcohol assessment.

^dDrinking categories defined using intakes from the last available alcohol assessment.

^B ADDICTION

SSA_

(-23.5%, from 76.6 to 58.6%,) and reduced moderate drinkers (-17.6%, from 65.4 to 53.8%). Further adjustment for changes in self-rated health attenuated the associations between trajectories and all-cause mortality (Supporting information, Table S5).

DISCUSSION

In this inception cohort of patients with incident CVD events, we derived drinking trajectories with repeated assessments spanning up to 30 years and examined their association with subsequent risk of total mortality. Through iterative modelling that accounted for changing life-style and health status, we found no evidence that patients who consistently consumed alcohol within the recommended limit of 14 units/week had a lower risk of mortality compared to long-term abstainers. We also found that former drinkers had a greater mortality risk than stable moderate drinkers.

The elevated risk of mortality among former drinkers was only appreciable when considering long-term drinking trajectories and was not significantly detected in our cross-sectional analyses. Indeed, a large proportion of patients in this cohort did not have stable drinking trajectories following their incident CVD. Apart from those transiting from drinking to non-drinking, this study also observed an overall decrease in alcohol intake over time among some continuers (reduced moderate drinkers and unstable heavy drinkers), as has also been reported elsewhere [16, 44]. The tendency towards desistance/lower levels of drinking with increasing age suggests that categorization of alcohol intake based on single time-point measurements may be problematic, especially when applied to cohorts with long follow-up periods and older participants. These highlight the importance of longitudinal measures and a life-course approach in examining the effect of alcohol on health and our study should be replicated with other outcomes.

Our findings echo other research which suggests that former drinkers have poorer self-perceived general health [45] and are at higher risk of experiencing adverse outcomes including CHD and overall mortality than moderate drinkers [18, 46]. As a reason for the higher risk seen in former drinkers, the sick-quitter hypothesis proposes that a substantial number of former drinkers have quit drinking for health reasons [47, 48]. In line with this hypothesis, we found that former drinkers had a higher prevalence of poor self-rated health than other groups at the most recent phase preincident CVD and showed the biggest decrease in the proportion of patients reporting good to excellent health during follow-up. The association for former drinkers was weakened following further adjustment for self-rated health, suggesting that poorer general health may partially explain former drinkers' increased likelihood of death and perhaps may have driven the decision to abstain itself.

In the present study, no statistically significant protective effect was found in relation to consistent moderate drinking compared to long-term abstinence. This concurs with general population studies measuring alcohol intake over time (collected either as repeated DING ET AL.

measures or as recall of past drinking levels) and mortality [49-51], as well as several Mendelian randomization studies where alcohol's cardioprotective effect has been tested and refuted [52-54]. Regarding CVD patients, longitudinal assessment of alcohol has been reported in two previous studies, where low levels of consumption were found to be associated with lower mortality [16, 17]. However, both studies have used a reference group composed of former drinkers and lifetime abstainers. The lower mortality risk for moderate drinking compared with non-drinking could potentially be caused by a less healthy comparison group contaminated by sick quitters (as discussed above). Furthermore, the variety of reasons for which people abstain from drinking throughout life may introduce other biases. For instance, non-drinkers in later life may include those who adopt life-long teetotalism due to continual poor health [55]. In this study, only a small minority of CVD patients were long-term abstainers. Notably, this group consisted mainly of women from a lower socio-economic position with a higher prevalence of cardiometabolic risk factors and disease as well as poorer self-rated health, a pattern that has also been reported in other study populations where alcohol use is normative [56, 57]. It has been suggested that members of this minority differ from drinkers on a number of health determinants and that unmeasured confounders may have contributed to the excess risk seen in this group [58, 59]. These motivated our choice of considering moderate drinkers as the reference group throughout this work and might explain the slightly increased point estimate for long-term abstainers, despite the extensive level of adjustment in our analyses.

Although excessive drinking raises the risk of total mortality, the level from which this effect is evident is less clear. We assessed the impact of heavy drinking on CVD patients using the 14 units/week threshold advocated by the current UK guidelines and observed no elevated risk for those who consistently drank above this limit. Previous dose-response analyses using data from 83 general population cohorts have reported an intake threshold for increased mortality risk at \geq 200 g/week (25 units/week) [41]. This agrees with the results of our post-hoc analyses, where an increased risk was seen in stable heavy drinkers with higher average intakes (> 30 units/week). Clearly, the small number of patients within this group precludes any firm conclusion. Further data are therefore needed to explore alternative intake thresholds and validate the findings of the current study. In addition, heavy drinkers who remain in the cohort are likely to be 'healthy survivors' or have safer drinking patterns and practices [10, 60]. At the most recent phase pre-incident CVD, the proportion of patients drinking in excess of guidelines (36% male and 13% female) is lower than the recent estimates from Health Survey for England (39% male and 20% female aged 55-64 years) [61], which means that heavy drinkers may be under-represented in our data set. These potential selections could have biased downwards the estimate of association between heavy intake and mortality risk, and thus caution is required when interpreting the lack of effect among heavy drinkers seen in our study.

There are other limitations that should be noted. First, our alcohol measures are self-reported; however, self-reports of drinking have shown reasonable levels of validity and reliability, especially when

ALCOHOL TRAJECTORY AND MORTALITY RISK

involving specified time-frames ('past week' instead of 'usual' reference frames) and beverage-specific questions [62, 63]. Comparison of alcohol consumption reported by the Whitehall II participants also suggests patterns similar to those in other UK cohorts [64]. Alcohol measures utilized in this study reflect intake only over the week immediately prior to each assessment, and may not be representative of participants' general consumption. Although this may introduce some exposure misclassification, the repeated assessment of alcohol over such a long period is unique. By integrating these repeated assessments, we were able to estimate trajectories, providing a more accurate account of longitudinal exposure than a cross-sectional approach. Secondly, on the basis of maximum-probability assignment rule a level of uncertainty remains in individual-level trajectory group membership. However, such uncertainty is unlikely to materially alter the profiles (characteristics and outcomes) that emerge from wellfitting models such as the one in our GBTM analysis [33]. Because of power limitations restricting further refinement, we were unable to incorporate other drinking characteristics into the construction of trajectories. Additional data may provide insights into other drinking patterns, such as binge drinking, which could further clarify the observed mortality risk associated with unstable drinking trajectories. Relatedly, subgroup analyses (for example, in female or by age groups) were not possible due to the small number of patients in certain trajectory groups. In addition, participants in the Whitehall II study are not a representative sample of the general population; however, it has been shown that cardiometabolic-related etiological evidence from this occupational cohort are broadly in agreement with those obtained from nationally representative cohorts [65]. Although we considered a wide range of covariates and accounted for their changes in the analyses, the possibility of residual confounding or confounding by unmeasured factors cannot be ruled out.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, this study has illustrated the dynamic and diverse nature of alcohol use in CVD patients and how long-term drinking profiles are associated with their subsequent risk of death from all causes. By demonstrating the differing insights obtainable from cross-sectional and repeated exposure assessment, this study has also confirmed the utility of taking a longitudinal approach in examining the association of alcohol with health outcomes. We found that CVD patients who consistently drank within the UK guidelines of 14 units/week had a similar risk of mortality as those who were continuous abstainers; therefore, this study does not support a protective effect of moderate drinking on total mortality. Patients who stopped drinking following incident CVD were at greater risk of mortality than continuous moderate drinkers; however, the former drinkers also had the highest proportion with poor self-rated health before CVD onset and experienced the greatest degree of health deterioration during follow-up. This study contributes to the dearth of evidence on health effects of alcohol consumption among CVD patients.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Whitehall II study is supported by the UK Medical Research Council (MR/K013351/1, G0902037), the British Heart Foundation (RG/13/2/30098) and the US National Institutes of Health (R01HL36310, R01AG013196). As the Harmonization Theme Lead at CLOSER, DON is funded by the Economic and Social Research Council (ES/K000357/1). The funders had no part to play in the collection, analysis, interpretation, write-up of the study or decision to submit the article for publication. We would like to thank the fieldwork staff, clinical nurses and participants of the Whitehall II Study who make the research possible.

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

None.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Chengyi Ding: Conceptualization; formal analysis. Dara O'Neill: Conceptualization; formal analysis; supervision. Annie Britton: Conceptualization; formal analysis; supervision.

ORCID

Chengyi Ding https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7959-366X Dara O'Neill https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8830-0264 Annie Britton https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6412-5430

REFERENCES

- Global Burden of disease (GBD) 2019 Diseases and Injuries Collaborators. Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2019. Lancet. 2020;396:1204–22.
- Roth GA, Mensah GA, Johnson CO, Addolorato G, Ammirati E, Baddour LM, et al. Global burden of cardiovascular diseases and risk factors, 1990–2019: update from the GBD 2019 study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2020;76:2982–3021.
- Gmel G. Beneficial effects of moderate alcohol use a case for Occam's razor? Addiction. 2017;112:215–7.
- Chikritzhs T, Stockwell T, Naimi T, Andreasson S, Dangardt F, Liang W. Has the leaning tower of presumed health benefits from 'moderate' alcohol use finally collapsed? Addiction. 2015;110:726-7.
- Britton A, Bell S. The protective effects of moderate drinking: lies, damned lies, and... selection biases? Addiction. 2017;112:218–9.
- Ding C, O'Neill D, Bell S, Stamatakis E, Britton A. Association of alcohol consumption with morbidity and mortality in patients with cardiovascular disease: original data and meta-analysis of 48,423 men and women. BMC Med. 2021;19:167.
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) Acute coronary syndromes. NICE guideline [NG185]. 2020 [cited 2021 Aug 22]. Available at: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng185/resources/ acute-coronary-syndromes-pdf-66142023361477. Accessed 22 August 2021.
- Smith SC, Benjamin EJ, Bonow RO, Braun LT, Creager MA, Franklin BA, et al. AHA/ACCF secondary prevention and risk reduction therapy for patients with coronary and other atherosclerotic vascular disease: 2011 update. A guideline from the American Heart Association and American College of Cardiology Foundation endorsed by the World Heart Federation and the Preventive Cardiovascular Nurses Association. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011;58:2432-46.
- 9. Kernan WN, Ovbiagele B, Black HR, Bravata DM, Chimowitz MI, Ezekowitz MD, et al. Guidelines for the prevention of stroke in

DING ET AL

SSA

ADDICTION

patients with stroke and transient ischemic attack: a guideline for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. Stroke. 2014;45: 2160–236.

- Naimi TS, Stockwell T, Zhao J, Xuan Z, Dangardt F, Saitz R, et al. Selection biases in observational studies affect associations between 'moderate' alcohol consumption and mortality. Addiction. 2017;112: 207–14.
- Fekjaer HO. Alcohol-a universal preventive agent? A critical analysis. Addiction. 2013;108:2051-7.
- Parekh N, Lin Y, Chan M, Juul F, Makarem N. Longitudinal dimensions of alcohol consumption and dietary intake in the Framingham Heart Study offspring cohort (1971–2008). Br J Nutr. 2021;125: 685–94.
- Emberson JR, Shaper AG, Wannamethee SG, Morris RW, Whincup PH. Alcohol intake in middle age and risk of cardiovascular disease and mortality: Accounting for intake variation over time. Am J Epidemiol. 2005;161:856-63.
- Russell M, Peirce RS, Vana JE, Nochajski TH, Carosella AM, Muti P, et al. Relations among alcohol consumption measures derived from the cognitive lifetime drinking history. Drug Alcohol Rev. 1998;17: 377–87.
- de Lorgeril M, Salen P, Martin JL, Boucher F, Paillard F, de Leiris J. Wine drinking and risks of cardiovascular complications after recent acute myocardial infarction. Circulation. 2002;106:1465–9.
- Levantesi G, Marfisi R, Mozaffarian D, Franzosi MG, Maggioni A, Nicolosi GL, et al. Wine consumption and risk of cardiovascular events after myocardial infarction: results from the GISSI-Prevenzione trial. Int J Cardiol. 2013;163:282–7.
- Pai JK, Mukamal KJ, Rimm EB. Long-term alcohol consumption in relation to all-cause and cardiovascular mortality among survivors of myocardial infarction: the health professionals follow-up study. Eur Heart J. 2012;33:1598–605.
- O'Neill D, Britton A, Hannah MK, Goldberg M, Kuh D, Khaw KT, et al. Association of longitudinal alcohol consumption trajectories with coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis of six cohort studies using individual participant data. BMC Med. 2018;16:124.
- Britton A, Marmot MG, Shipley MJ. How does variability in alcohol consumption over time affect the relationship with mortality and coronary heart disease? Addiction. 2010;105:639–45.
- Dam MK, Hvidtfeldt UA, Tjønneland A, Overvad K, Grønbæk M, Tolstrup JS. Five year change in alcohol intake and risk of breast cancer and coronary heart disease among postmenopausal women: prospective cohort study. BMJ. 2016;353:i2314.
- Hongli Z, Bi X, Zheng N, Li C, Yan K. Joint effect of alcohol drinking and tobacco smoking on all-cause mortality and premature death in China: a cohort study. PLOS ONE. 2021;16:e0245670.
- Marmot MG, Stansfeld S, Patel C, North F, Head J, White I, et al. Health inequalities among British civil servants: the Whitehall II study. Lancet. 1991;337:1387–93.
- Kivimäki M, Batty GD, Singh-Manoux A, Britton A, Brunner EJ, Shipley MJ. Validity of cardiovascular disease event ascertainment using linkage to UK hospital records. Epidemiology. 2017;28:735–9.
- Britton A, Milne B, Butler T, Sanchez-Galvez A, Shipley M, Rudd A, et al. Validating self-reported strokes in a longitudinal UK cohort study (Whitehall II): extracting information from hospital medical records versus the hospital episode statistics database. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2012;12:83.
- Britton A, O'Neill D, Bell S. Underestimating the alcohol content of a glass of wine: the implications for estimates of mortality risk. Alcohol Alcohol. 2016;51:609–14.
- 26. Department of Health UK Chief Medical Officers' Low Risk Drinking Guidelines. 2016 [cited 2021 Aug 22]. Available at: https://assets. publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/

attachment_data/file/545937/UK_CMOs__report.pdf. Accessed 22 August 2021.

- Bell S, Mehta G, Moore K, Britton A. Ten-year alcohol consumption typologies and trajectories of C-reactive protein, interleukin-6 and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist over the following 12 years: a prospective cohort study. J Intern Med. 2017;281:75–85.
- World Health Organization Global recommendations on physical activity for health. 2010 [cited 2021 Aug 22]. Available at: https:// www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/global-PA-recs-2010.pdf. Accessed 22 August 2021.
- Jones BL, Nagin DS. A note on a Stata plugin for estimating groupbased trajectory models. Social Methods Res. 2013;42:608–13.
- Nagin DS, Odgers CL. Group-based trajectory modeling in clinical research. Annu Rev Clin Psychol. 2010;6:109–38.
- Sabia S, Fayosse A, Dumurgier J, Dugravot A, Akbaraly T, Britton A, et al. Alcohol consumption and risk of dementia: 23 year follow-up of Whitehall II cohort study. BMJ. 2018;362:k2927.
- Donat-Vargas C, Guerrero-Zotano A, Casas A, Baena-Canada JM, Lope V, Antolin S, et al. Trajectories of alcohol consumption during life and the risk of developing breast cancer. Br J Cancer. 2021;125: 1168–76.
- Nagin D. Group-Based Modeling of Development. Cambridge, MA/London, UK: Harvard University Press; 2009.
- Royston P, White IR. Multiple imputation by chained equations (MICE): implementation in Stata. J Stat Softw. 2011;45:1–20.
- White IR, Royston P. Imputing missing covariate values for the Cox model. Stat Med. 2009;28:1982–98.
- Kontopantelis E, White IR, Sperrin M, Buchan I. Outcome-sensitive multiple imputation: a simulation study. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2017;17:2.
- Seaman SR, Bartlett JW, White IR. Multiple imputation of missing covariates with non-linear effects and interactions: an evaluation of statistical methods. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2012;12:46.
- 38. De Silva AP, Moreno-Betancur M, De Livera AM, Lee KJ, Simpson JA. A comparison of multiple imputation methods for handling missing values in longitudinal data in the presence of a timevarying covariate with a non-linear association with time; a simulation study. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2017;17:114.
- Huque MH, Carlin JB, Simpson JA, Lee KJ. A comparison of multiple imputation methods for missing data in longitudinal studies. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2018;18:168.
- Rehm J, Irving H, Ye Y, Kerr WC, Bond J, Greenfield TK. Are lifetime abstainers the best control group in alcohol epidemiology? On the stability and validity of reported lifetime abstention. Am J Epidemiol. 2008;168:866–71.
- Wood AM, Kaptoge S, Butterworth AS, Willeit P, Warnakula S, Bolton T, et al. Risk thresholds for alcohol consumption: combined analysis of individual-participant data for 599 912 current drinkers in 83 prospective studies. Lancet. 2018;391:1513–23.
- Singh-Manoux A, Guéguen A, Martikainen P, Ferrie J, Marmot M, Shipley M. Self-rated health and mortality: short- and long-term associations in the Whitehall II study. Psychosom Med. 2007;69: 138–43.
- Singh-Manoux A, Martikainen P, Ferrie J, Zins M, Marmot M, Goldberg M. What does self rated health measure? Results from the British Whitehall II and French Gazel cohort studies. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2006;60:364–72.
- Wannamethee G, Shaper AG. Changes in drinking habits in middleaged British men. J R Coll Gen Pract. 1988;38:440–2.
- Gemes K, Moeller J, Engstrom K, Sidorchuk A. Alcohol consumption trajectories and self-rated health: findings from the Stockholm public health cohort. BMJ Open. 2019;9:e028878.
- 46. Gmel G, Gutjahr E, Rehm J. How stable is the risk curve between alcohol and all-cause mortality and what factors influence the shape?

A precision-weighted hierarchical meta-analysis. Eur J Epidemiol. 2003;18:631-42.

- Wannamethee SG, Shaper AG. Lifelong teetotallers, ex-drinkers and drinkers: mortality and the incidence of major coronary heart disease events in middle-aged British men. Int J Epidemiol. 1997; 26:523–31.
- Shaper AG, Wannamethee G, Walker M. Alcohol and mortality in British men: explaining the U-shaped curve. Lancet. 1988;2: 1267–73.
- Jayasekara H, English DR, Room R, MacInnis RJ. Alcohol consumption over time and risk of death: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Epidemiol. 2014;179:1049–59.
- Bergmann MM, Rehm J, Klipstein-Grobusch K, Boeing H, Schütze M, Drogan D, et al. The association of pattern of lifetime alcohol use and cause of death in the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition (EPIC) study. Int J Epidemiol. 2013;42:1772–90.
- Goulden R. Moderate alcohol consumption is not associated with reduced all-cause mortality. Am J Med. 2016;129:180–186.e4.
- Millwood IY, Walters RG, Mei XW, Guo Y, Yang L, Bian Z, et al. Conventional and genetic evidence on alcohol and vascular disease aetiology: a prospective study of 500 000 men and women in China. Lancet. 2019;393:1831–42.
- Cho Y, Shin SY, Won S, Relton CL, Davey Smith G, Shin MJ. Alcohol intake and cardiovascular risk factors: a Mendelian randomisation study. Sci Rep. 2015;5:18422.
- Au Yeung SL, Jiang C, Cheng KK, Liu B, Zhang W, Lam TH, et al. Is aldehyde dehydrogenase 2 a credible genetic instrument for alcohol use in Mendelian randomization analysis in southern Chinese men? Int J Epidemiol. 2012;42:318–28.
- Ng Fat L, Cable N, Marmot MG, Shelton N. Persistent long-standing illness and non-drinking over time, implications for the use of lifetime abstainers as a control group. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2014; 68:71–7.
- Anttila T, Helkala EL, Viitanen M, Kareholt I, Fratiglioni L, Winblad B, et al. Alcohol drinking in middle age and subsequent risk of mild cognitive impairment and dementia in old age: a prospective populationbased study. BMJ. 2004;329:539.
- Handing EP, Andel R, Kadlecova P, Gatz M, Pedersen NL. Midlife alcohol consumption and risk of dementia over 43 years of followup: a population-based study from the Swedish twin registry. J Gerontol a Biol Sci Med Sci. 2015;70:1248–54.

ADDICTION

 Green CA, Polen MR. The health and health behaviors of people who do not drink alcohol. Am J Prev Med. 2001;21:298–305.

11

SSA 1

- Naimi TS, Brown DW, Brewer RD, Giles WH, Mensah G, Serdula MK, et al. Cardiovascular risk factors and confounders among nondrinking and moderate-drinking U.S. adults. Am J Prev Med. 2005;28:369–73.
- Ng Fat L, Cable N, Shelton N. Worsening of health and a cessation or reduction in alcohol consumption to special occasion drinking across three decades of the life course. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2015;39: 166-74.
- Bankiewicz U & Robinson C NatCen Social Research. Health Survey for England 2019 Adults' health-related behaviours. 2020 [cited 2021 Aug 22]. Available at: https://files.digital.nhs.uk/D4/93337C/ HSE19-Adult-health-behaviours-rep.pdf. Accessed 22 August 2021.
- McKenna H, Treanor C, O'Reilly D, Donnelly M. Evaluation of the psychometric properties of self-reported measures of alcohol consumption: a COSMIN systematic review. Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy. 2018;13:6.
- Del Boca FK, Darkes J. The validity of self-reports of alcohol consumption: State of the science and challenges for research. Addiction. 2003;98:1–12.
- Britton A, Ben-Shlomo Y, Benzeval M, Kuh D, Bell S. Life course trajectories of alcohol consumption in the United Kingdom using longitudinal data from nine cohort studies. BMC Med. 2015;13:47.
- Batty GD, Shipley M, Tabak A, Singh-Manoux A, Brunner E, Britton A, et al. Generalizability of occupational cohort study findings. Epidemiology. 2014;25:932–3.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found in the online version of the article at the publisher's website.

How to cite this article: Ding C, O'Neill D, Britton A. Trajectories of alcohol consumption in relation to all-cause mortality in patients with cardiovascular disease: a 35-year prospective cohort study. Addiction. 2022;1–11. <u>https://doi.</u> org/10.1111/add.15850 Appendix 4.2 Model fit statistics for estimation of alcohol consumption

trajectories (group-based traject	ory models)
-----------------------------------	-------------

Number of groups	Trajectory shapes*	BIC †	BIC ‡	AIC
3	111	-5456.48	-5450.46	-5427.18
	222	-5476.88	-5468.86	-5437.81
4	1111	-5416.72	-5408.69	-5377.65
	2222	-5430.96	-5420.26	-5378.86
5	11111	-5380.88	-5370.85	-5332.04
	22222	-5402.02	-5388.65	-5336.90
6	111111	-5371.05	-5359.02	-5312.45
6	211111	-5357.42	-5344.71	-5295.55
	121111	-5349.47	-5336.77	-5287.61
	112111	-5369.88	-5357.17	-5308.01
	111211	-5371.29	-5358.58	-5309.42
	111121	-5371.29	-5358.58	-5309.42
	111112	-5385.29	-5372.59	-5323.43
6	221111	-5353.73	-5340.36	-5288.61
	212111	-5353.73	-5340.36	-5288.61
	211211	-5360.41	-5347.04	-5295.30
	211121	-5375.54	-5362.17	-5310.42
	211112	-5379.57	-5366.20	-5314.45
	122111	-5374.35	-5360.98	-5309.24
	121211	-5335.95	-5322.58	-5270.83
	121121	-5375.54	-5362.17	-5310.42
	121112	-5353.73	-5340.36	-5288.61
	112211	-5348.46	-5335.09	-5283.35
	112121	-5354.81	-5341.44	-5289.69
	112112	-5379.23	-5365.86	-5314.11
	<u>111221</u>	<u>-5332.79</u>	<u>-5319.42</u>	<u>-5267.67</u>
	111212	-5345.52	-5332.15	-5280.40
	111122	-5358.44	-5345.07	-5293.32
6	222111	-5376.03	-5361.99	-5307.65
	221211	-5352.69	-5338.65	-5284.32
	221121	-5352.72	-5338.68	-5284.35
	221112	-5357.98	-5343.94	-5289.61
	211221	-5340.41	-5326.37	-5272.04
	211212	-5357.98	-5343.94	-5289.61
	211122	-5357.98	-5343.94	-5289.61
	212211	-5359.73	-5345.69	-5291.35

	212121	-5352.69	-5338.65	-5284.32
	212112	-5386.55	-5372.51	-5318.18
	122211	-5379.47	-5365.44	-5311.10
	122121	-5372.91	-5358.87	-5304.53
	122112	-5340.51	-5326.47	-5272.13
	121221	-5350.83	-5336.79	-5282.46
	121212	-5340.51	-5326.47	-5272.13
	121122	-5378.61	-5364.57	-5310.24
	112221	-5329.48	-5315.44	-5261.11
	112212	-5340.51	-5326.47	-5272.13
	112122	-5357.90	-5343.86	-5289.53
	111222	-5349.65	-5335.61	-5281.27
6	112222	-5376.33	-5361.62	-5304.70
	121222	-5363.11	-5348.40	-5291.48
	122122	-5382.80	-5368.09	-5311.17
	122212	-5361.84	-5347.13	-5290.21
	122221	-5388.56	-5373.85	-5316.93
	211222	-5385.52	-5370.81	-5313.89
	212122	-5390.78	-5376.07	-5319.15
	212212	-5356.95	-5342.24	-5285.32
	212221	-5390.76	-5376.06	-5319.14
	221122	-5413.91	-5399.20	-5342.28
	221212	-5356.95	-5342.24	-5285.32
	221221	-5358.14	-5343.43	-5286.51
	222112	-5380.28	-5365.58	-5308.65
	222121	-5363.90	-5349.19	-5292.27
	222211	-5356.91	-5342.20	-5285.28
6	122222	-5380.58	-5365.21	-5305.70
	212222	-5367.36	-5351.98	-5292.48
	221222	-5374.77	-5359.40	-5299.89
	222122	-5373.73	-5358.35	-5298.84
	222212	-5361.16	-5345.79	-5286.28
	222221	-5362.34	-5346.97	-5287.46
6	222222	-5377.97	-5361.93	-5299.83

* Polynomial type for each group trajectory (0 intercept only, 1 linear, 2 quadratic). † BIC for the total number of alcohol measurements (N=4973). A difference of 10 is strong evidence in favour of the model with a greater BIC; model with the highest (least negative) value of BIC has best fit.

‡BIC for the total number of patients (N=1306).

BIC=Bayesian information criterion, AIC=Akaike information criterion



(a) All-cause mortality for models using alcohol consumption trajectories







(b) All-cause mortality for models using alcohol consumption categories based on single assessment only





References

- Mendis S, Puska P, Norrving B. Global atlas on cardiovascular disease prevention and control: World Health Organization 2011. Available from: https://world-heart-federation.org/wpcontent/uploads/2017/05/Global_CVD_Atlas-min.pdf.
- GBD 2019 Diseases and Injuries Collaborators. Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990-2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. Lancet 2020;396(10258):1204-22. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30925-9.
- Roth GA, Mensah GA, Johnson CO, et al. Global Burden of Cardiovascular Diseases and Risk Factors, 1990-2019: Update From the GBD 2019 Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2020;76(25):2982-3021. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020.11.010.
- O'flaherty M, Buchan I, Capewell S. Contributions of treatment and lifestyle to declining CVD mortality: why have CVD mortality rates declined so much since the 1960s? Heart 2013;99(3):159-62. doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2012-302300.
- Sidney S, Quesenberry CP, Jr., Jaffe MG, et al. Recent Trends in Cardiovascular Mortality in the United States and Public Health Goals. JAMA Cardiol 2016;1(5):594-9. doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2016.1326.
- British Heart Foundation. Heart and Circulatory Disease Statistics 2021. Available from: https://www.bhf.org.uk/what-we-do/our-research/heartstatistics/heart-statistics-publications/cardiovascular-disease-statistics-2021.
- Bloom DE, Cafiero ET, Jané-Llopis E, et al. The Global Economic Burden of Noncommunicable Diseases. Geneva: World Economic Forum 2011. Available from: https://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_Harvard_HE_GlobalEconomicBur denNonCommunicableDiseases 2011.pdf.
- British Heart Foundation. BHF Statistics Factsheet UK. 2021. Available from: https://www.bhf.org.uk/what-we-do/our-research/heartstatistics/heart-statistics-publications.

- Flor LS, Gakidou E. The burden of alcohol use: better data and strong policies towards a sustainable development. Lancet Public Health 2020 Jan;5(1):e10-e11. doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(19)30254-3.
- World Health Organization. Global status report on alcohol and health 2018. 2019. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241565639.
- Office for National Statistics. Adult drinking habits in Great Britain: 2017.
 2018. Available from: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocial care/drugusealcoholandsmoking/bulletins/opinionsandlifestylesurveyadul
- Bankiewicz U, Robinson C, NatCen Social Research. Health Survey for England 2019: Adults' health-related behaviours. 2020. Available from: https://files.digital.nhs.uk/D4/93337C/HSE19-Adult-health-behavioursrep.pdf.

tdrinkinghabitsingreatbritain/2017.

- World Health Organization. Recorded alcohol per capita consumption, 1960-1979 by country. 2018. Available from: https://apps.who.int/gho/data/node.main.A1025?lang=en.
- Lim SS, Vos T, Flaxman AD, et al. A comparative risk assessment of burden of disease and injury attributable to 67 risk factors and risk factor clusters in 21 regions, 1990-2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet 2012;380(9859):2224-60. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61766-8.
- Shield K, Manthey J, Rylett M, et al. National, regional, and global burdens of disease from 2000 to 2016 attributable to alcohol use: a comparative risk assessment study. Lancet Public Health 2020 Jan;5(1):e51-e61. doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(19)30231-2.
- Office for National Statistics. Alcohol-specific deaths in the UK: registered in 2020. 2021. Available from: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocial care/causesofdeath/bulletins/alcoholrelateddeathsintheunitedkingdom/re gisteredin2020#:~:text=In%202020%2C%20there%20were%208%2C97 4,time%20series%20began%20in%202001.
- 17. Williams R, Aspinall R, Bellis M, et al. Addressing liver disease in the UK: a blueprint for attaining excellence in health care and reducing premature

mortality from lifestyle issues of excess consumption of alcohol, obesity, and viral hepatitis. Lancet 2014 Nov 29;384(9958):1953-97. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61838-9.

- Davis K, Stremikis K, Squires D, et al. Mirror, mirror on the wall. How the performance of the US Health care system compares internationally. New York: CommonWealth Fund 2014. Available from: https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/documents/___me dia_files_publications_fund_report_2014_jun_1755_davis_mirror_mirror _2014.pdf.
- Manthey J, Shield KD, Rylett M, et al. Global alcohol exposure between 1990 and 2017 and forecasts until 2030: a modelling study. Lancet 2019. 393(10190):2493-502. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32744-2.
- Pierani P, Tiezzi S. Addiction and interaction between alcohol and tobacco consumption. Empirical Economics 2009. 37(1):1-23. doi: 10.1007/s00181-008-0220-3.
- Gilmore W, Chikritzhs T, Stockwell T, et al. Alcohol: taking a population perspective. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2016;13(7):426-34. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2016.70.
- Giesbrecht N. Reducing alcohol-related damage in populations: rethinking the roles of education and persuasion interventions. Addiction 2007. 102(9):1345-9. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2007.01903.x.
- Corrao G, Bagnardi V, Zambon A, et al. A meta-analysis of alcohol consumption and the risk of 15 diseases. Prev Med 2004;38(5):613-9. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2003.11.027.
- 24. Gmel G. Beneficial effects of moderate alcohol use-a case for Occam's razor? Addiction 2017;112(2):215-7. doi: 10.1111/add.13550.
- Chikritzhs T, Stockwell T, Naimi T, et al. Has the leaning tower of presumed health benefits from 'moderate' alcohol use finally collapsed? Addiction 2015;110(5):726-7. doi: 10.1111/add.12828.
- Britton A, Bell S. The protective effects of moderate drinking: lies, damned lies, and... selection biases? Addiction 2017;112(2):218-9. doi: 10.1111/add.13585.
- 27. Ronksley PE, Brien SE, Turner BJ, et al. Association of alcohol consumption with selected cardiovascular disease outcomes: a

systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ 2011;342:d671. doi: 10.1136/bmj.d671.

- Corrao G, Rubbiati L, Bagnardi V, et al. Alcohol and coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis. Addiction 2000;95(10):1505-23. doi: 10.1046/j.1360-0443.2000.951015056.x.
- Zhao J, Stockwell T, Roemer A, et al. Alcohol Consumption and Mortality From Coronary Heart Disease: An Updated Meta-Analysis of Cohort Studies. J Stud Alcohol Drugs 2017;78:375-86. doi: 10.15288/jsad.2017.78.375.
- Reynolds K, Lewis B, Nolen JD, et al. Alcohol consumption and risk of stroke: a meta-analysis. JAMA 2003;289(5):579-88. doi: 10.1001/jama.289.5.579.
- Roerecke M, Rehm J. Alcohol consumption, drinking patterns, and ischemic heart disease: a narrative review of meta-analyses and a systematic review and meta-analysis of the impact of heavy drinking occasions on risk for moderate drinkers. BMC Med 2014;12:182. doi: 10.1186/s12916-014-0182-6.
- Roerecke M, Rehm J. The cardioprotective association of average alcohol consumption and ischaemic heart disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Addiction 2012;107:1246-60. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2012.03780.x.
- 33. Di Castelnuovo A, Rotondo S, lacoviello L, et al. Meta-analysis of wine and beer consumption in relation to vascular risk. Circulation 2002;105(24):2836-44. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.0000018653.19696.01.
- Xi B, Veeranki SP, Zhao M, et al. Relationship of Alcohol Consumption to All-Cause, Cardiovascular, and Cancer-Related Mortality in U.S. Adults. J Am Coll Cardiol 2017;70(8):913-22. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.06.054.
- 35. Bergmann MM, Rehm J, Klipstein-Grobusch K, et al. The association of pattern of lifetime alcohol use and cause of death in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) study. Int J Epidemiol 2013;42:1772-90. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyt154.
- Jayasekara H, MacInnis RJ, Hodge AM, et al. Alcohol consumption for different periods in life, intake pattern over time and all-cause mortality. J Public Health (Oxf) 2015;37(4):625-33. doi: 10.1093/pubmed/fdu082.

- 37. Bell S, Daskalopoulou M, Rapsomaniki E, et al. Association between clinically recorded alcohol consumption and initial presentation of 12 cardiovascular diseases: population based cohort study using linked health records. BMJ 2017;356:j909. doi: 10.1136/bmj.j909.
- Roerecke M, Rehm J. Irregular heavy drinking occasions and risk of ischemic heart disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Epidemiol 2010. 171(6):633-44. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwp451.
- Hartz SM, Oehlert M, Horton AC, et al. Daily Drinking Is Associated with Increased Mortality. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2018. 42(11):2246-55. doi: 10.1111/acer.13886.
- Sull JW, Yi SW, Nam CM, et al. Binge drinking and mortality from all causes and cerebrovascular diseases in korean men and women: a Kangwha cohort study. Stroke 2009. 40(9):2953-8. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.109.556027.
- Malyutina S, Bobak M, Kurilovitch S, et al. Relation between heavy and binge drinking and all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in Novosibirsk, Russia: a prospective cohort study. Lancet 2002. 360(9344):1448-54. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)11470-X.
- 42. Sundell L, Salomaa V, Vartiainen E, et al. Increased stroke risk is related to a binge drinking habit. Stroke 2008. 39(12):3179-84. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.108.520817.
- 43. Molina PE, Nelson S. Binge Drinking's Effects on the Body. Alcohol Res 2018. 39(1):99-109.
- 44. Department of Health. UK Chief Medical Officers' Low Risk Drinking Guidelines. 2016. Available from: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uplo ads/attachment_data/file/545937/UK_CMOs__report.pdf.
- 45. Haseeb S, Alexander B, Baranchuk A. Wine and Cardiovascular Health: A Comprehensive Review. Circulation 2017. 136(15):1434-48. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.030387.
- 46. Renaud S, de Lorgeril M. Wine, alcohol, platelets, and the French paradox for coronary heart disease. Lancet 1992. 339(8808):1523-6. doi: 10.1016/0140-6736(92)91277-f.

- 47. Fernández-Solà J. Cardiovascular risks and benefits of moderate and heavy alcohol consumption. Nat Rev Cardiol 2015;12:576-87. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2015.91.
- Rimm EB, Klatsky A, Grobbee D, et al. Review of moderate alcohol consumption and reduced risk of coronary heart disease: is the effect due to beer, wine, or spirits. BMJ 1996. 312(7033):731-6. doi: 10.1136/bmj.312.7033.731.
- 49. Breslow RA, Mukamal KJ. Measuring the burden--current and future research trends: results from the NIAAA Expert Panel on Alcohol and Chronic Disease Epidemiology. Alcohol Res 2013;35(2):250-9.
- Toma A, Paré G, Leong DP. Leong, Alcohol and Cardiovascular Disease: How Much is Too Much? Curr Atheroscler Rep 2017. 19(3):13. doi: 10.1007/s11883-017-0647-0.
- Goel S, Sharma A, Garg A, Effect of Alcohol Consumption on Cardiovascular Health. Curr Cardiol Rep 2018. 20(4):19. doi: 10.1007/s11886-018-0962-2.
- 52. Jani BD, McQueenie R, Nicholl BI, et al. Association between patterns of alcohol consumption (beverage type, frequency and consumption with food) and risk of adverse health outcomes: a prospective cohort study. BMC Med 2021. 19(1):8. doi: 10.1186/s12916-020-01878-2.
- Trevisan M, Schisterman E, Mennotti A, et al. Drinking pattern and mortality: the Italian Risk Factor and Life Expectancy pooling project. Ann Epidemiol 2001. 11(5):312-9. doi: 10.1016/s1047-2797(00)00183-6.
- Simpson RF, Hermon C, Liu B, et al. Alcohol drinking patterns and liver cirrhosis risk: analysis of the prospective UK Million Women Study. Lancet Public Health 2019. 4(1):e41-e48. doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(18)30230-5.
- 55. Gentry RT. Effect of food on the pharmacokinetics of alcohol absorption. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2000. 24(4):403-4.
- 56. Klatsky AL. Alcohol and cardiovascular diseases: where do we stand today? J Intern Med 2015;278:238-50. doi: 10.1111/joim.12390.
- 57. Mathews MJ, Liebenberg L, Mathews EH. The mechanism by which moderate alcohol consumption influences coronary heart disease. Nutr J 2015;14 doi: 10.1186/s12937-015-0011-6.

- 58. Brien SE, Ronksley PE, Turner BJ, et al. Effect of alcohol consumption on biological markers associated with risk of coronary heart disease: systematic review and meta-analysis of interventional studies. BMJ 2011;342:d636. doi: 10.1136/bmj.d636.
- 59. Chiva-Blanch G, Magraner E, Condines X, et al. Effects of alcohol and polyphenols from beer on atherosclerotic biomarkers in high cardiovascular risk men: a randomized feeding trial. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2015. 25(1):36-45. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2014.07.008.
- Schwartz GG, Olsson AG, Abt M, et al. Effects of dalcetrapib in patients with a recent acute coronary syndrome. N Engl J Med 2012. 367(22):2089-99. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1206797.
- Briel M, Ferreira-Gonzalez I, You JJ, et al. Association between change in high density lipoprotein cholesterol and cardiovascular disease morbidity and mortality: systematic review and meta-regression analysis. BMJ 2009. 338:b92. doi: 10.1136/bmj.b92.
- Matsumoto C, Miedema MD, Ofman P, et al. An expanding knowledge of the mechanisms and effects of alcohol consumption on cardiovascular disease. J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev 2014. 34(3):159-71. doi: 10.1097/HCR.000000000000042.
- Wakabayashi I, Groschner K. Modification of the association between alcohol drinking and non-HDL cholesterol by gender. Clin Chim Acta 2009. 404(2):154-9. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2009.03.047.
- Tolstrup JS, Grønbaek M, Nordestgaard BG. Alcohol intake, myocardial infarction, biochemical risk factors, and alcohol dehydrogenase genotypes. Circ Cardiovasc Genet 2009. 2(5):507-14. doi: 10.1161/CIRCGENETICS.109.873604.
- Perissinotto E, Buja A, Maggi S, et al. Alcohol consumption and cardiovascular risk factors in older lifelong wine drinkers: the Italian Longitudinal Study on Aging. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2010. 20(9):647-55. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2009.05.014.
- Onat A, Hergenc G, Dursunoglu D, et al. Associations of alcohol consumption with blood pressure, lipoproteins, and subclinical inflammation among Turks. Alcohol 2008. 42(7):593-601. doi: 10.1016/j.alcohol.2008.06.007.

- 67. Brinton EA. Effects of ethanol intake on lipoproteins. Curr Atheroscler Rep 2012. 14(2):108-14. doi: 10.1007/s11883-012-0230-7.
- Yin RX, Li YY, Liu WY, et al. Interactions of the apolipoprotein A5 gene polymorphisms and alcohol consumption on serum lipid levels. PLoS One 2011. 6(3):e17954. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0017954.
- Corella D, Portolés O, Arriola L, et al. Saturated fat intake and alcohol consumption modulate the association between the APOE polymorphism and risk of future coronary heart disease: a nested case-control study in the Spanish EPIC cohort. J Nutr Biochem 2011. 22(5):487-94. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2010.04.003.
- Knott C, Bell S, Britton A. Alcohol Consumption and the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes: A Systematic Review and Dose-Response Meta-analysis of More Than 1.9 Million Individuals From 38 Observational Studies. Diabetes care 2015;38(9):1804-12. doi: 10.2337/dc15-0710.
- 71. Rimm EB, Chan J, Stampfer MJ, et al. Prospective study of cigarette smoking, alcohol use, and the risk of diabetes in men. BMJ 1995.
 310(6979):555-9. doi: 10.1136/bmj.310.6979.555.
- Koppes LL, Dekker JM, Hendriks HF, et al. Moderate alcohol consumption lowers the risk of type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. Diabetes Care 2005. 28(3):719-25. doi: 10.2337/diacare.28.3.719.
- Ebrahim S, Lawlor DA, Shlomo YB, et al. Alcohol dehydrogenase type 1C (ADH1C) variants, alcohol consumption traits, HDL-cholesterol and risk of coronary heart disease in women and men: British Women's Heart and Health Study and Caerphilly cohorts. Atherosclerosis 2008. 196(2):871-8. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2007.02.002.
- 74. Sierksma A, Patel H, Ouchi N, et al. Effect of moderate alcohol consumption on adiponectin, tumor necrosis factor-alpha, and insulin sensitivity. Diabetes Care 2004. 27(1):184-9. doi: 10.2337/diacare.27.1.184.
- Davies MJ, Baer DJ, Judd JT, et al. Effects of moderate alcohol intake on fasting insulin and glucose concentrations and insulin sensitivity in postmenopausal women: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2002. 287(19):2559-62. doi: 10.1001/jama.287.19.2559.

- Shai I, Wainstein J, Harman-Boehm I, et al. Glycemic effects of moderate alcohol intake among patients with type 2 diabetes: a multicenter, randomized, clinical intervention trial. Diabetes Care 2007. 30(12):3011-6. doi: 10.2337/dc07-1103.
- 77. Gigleux I, Gagnon J, St-Pierre A, et al. Moderate alcohol consumption is more cardioprotective in men with the metabolic syndrome. J Nutr 2006. 136(12):3027-32. doi: 10.1093/jn/136.12.3027.
- Ridker PM, Hennekens CH, Buring JE, et al. C-reactive protein and other markers of inflammation in the prediction of cardiovascular disease in women. N Engl J Med 2000. 342(12):836-43. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200003233421202.
- 79. Libby P, Ridker PM, Maseri A. Inflammation and atherosclerosis. Circulation 2002. 105(9):1135-43. doi: 10.1161/hc0902.104353.
- Wang JJ, Tung TH, Yin WH, et al. Effects of moderate alcohol consumption on inflammatory biomarkers. Acta Cardiol 2008. 63(1):65-72. doi: 10.2143/AC.63.1.2025334.
- Avellone G, Di Garbo V, Campisi D, et al. Effects of moderate Sicilian red wine consumption on inflammatory biomarkers of atherosclerosis. Eur J Clin Nutr 2006. 60(1):41-7. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1602265.
- Albert MA, Glynn RJ, Ridker PM. Alcohol consumption and plasma concentration of C-reactive protein. Circulation 2003. 107(3):443-7. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.0000045669.16499.ec.
- Bell S, Mehta G, Moore K, et al. Ten-year alcohol consumption typologies and trajectories of C-reactive protein, interleukin-6 and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist over the following 12 years: a prospective cohort study. J Intern Med 2017;281(1):75-85. doi: 10.1111/joim.12544.
- 84. Zhang QH, Das K, Siddiqui S, et al. Effects of acute, moderate ethanol consumption on human platelet aggregation in platelet-rich plasma and whole blood. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2000. 24(4):528-34.
- Collins MA, Neafsey EJ, Mukamal KJ, et al. Alcohol in moderation, cardioprotection, and neuroprotection: epidemiological considerations and mechanistic studies. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2009. 33(2):206-19. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2008.00828.x.

- 86. Wannamethee SG, Lowe GD, Shaper G, et al. The effects of different alcoholic drinks on lipids, insulin and haemostatic and inflammatory markers in older men. Thromb Haemost 2003. 90(6):1080-7. doi: 10.1160/TH03-04-0221.
- Suzuki K, Elkind MS, Boden-Albala B, et al. Moderate alcohol consumption is associated with better endothelial function: a cross sectional study. BMC Cardiovasc Disord 2009. 9:8. doi: 10.1186/1471-2261-9-8.
- Teragawa H, Fukuda Y, Matsuda K, et al. Effect of alcohol consumption on endothelial function in men with coronary artery disease. Atherosclerosis 2002. 165(1):145-52. doi: 10.1016/s0021-9150(02)00193-4.
- 89. Andréasson S, Chikritzhs T, Dangardt FHH, et al. Evidence about health effects of "moderate" alcohol consumption. Alcohol and Society 2014. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Frida-Dangardt/publication/338792566_THE_EFFECTS_OF_LOW-DOSE_ALCOHOL_CONSUMPTION_-

_ALCOHOL_AND_SOCIETY_2014/links/5e2ac4fda6fdcc70a1468a59/T HE-EFFECTS-OF-LOW-DOSE-ALCOHOL-CONSUMPTION-ALCOHOL-AND-SOCIETY-2014.pdf#page=6.

- 90. Visontay R, Sunderland M, Slade T, et al. Are there non-linear relationships between alcohol consumption and long-term health? Protocol for a systematic review of observational studies employing approaches to improve causal inference. BMJ open 2021;11(3):e043985. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-043985.
- Goulden R. Moderate Alcohol Consumption Is Not Associated with Reduced All-cause Mortality. Am J Med 2016;129(2):180-6.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2015.10.013.
- 92. Naimi TS, Stockwell T, Zhao J, et al. Selection biases in observational studies affect associations between 'moderate' alcohol consumption and mortality. Addiction 2017;112:207-14. doi: 10.1111/add.13451.
- Shaper AG, Wannamethee G, Walker M. Alcohol and mortality in British men: explaining the U-shaped curve. Lancet 1988;2(8623):1267-73. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(88)92890-5.

- Costanzo S, de Gaetano G, Di Castelnuovo A, et al. Moderate alcohol consumption and lower total mortality risk: Justified doubts or established facts? Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2019;29(10):1003-8. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2019.05.062.
- Kerr WC, Ye Y, Williams E, et al. Lifetime alcohol use patterns and risk of diabetes onset in the National Alcohol Survey. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2019;43(2):262-9. doi: 10.1111/acer.13924.
- 96. Lawlor DA, Harbord RM, Sterne JA, et al. Mendelian randomization: using genes as instruments for making causal inferences in epidemiology. Stat Med 2008. 27(8):1133-63. doi: 10.1002/sim.3034.
- Davey Smith G, Paternoster L, Relton C. When Will Mendelian Randomization Become Relevant for Clinical Practice and Public Health? JAMA 2017. 317(6):589-91. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.21189.
- Davies NM, Holmes MV, Davey Smith G. Reading Mendelian randomisation studies: a guide, glossary, and checklist for clinicians. BMJ 2018. 362:k601. doi: 10.1136/bmj.k601.
- 99. Silverwood RJ, Holmes MV, Dale CE, et al. Testing for non-linear causal effects using a binary genotype in a Mendelian randomization study: application to alcohol and cardiovascular traits. Int J Epidemiol 2014;43:1781-90. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyu187.
- Peng M, Zhang J, Zeng T, et al. Alcohol consumption and diabetes risk in a Chinese population: a Mendelian randomization analysis. Addiction 2019. 114(3):436-49. doi: 10.1111/add.14475.
- 101. Millwood IY, Walters RG, Mei XW, et al. Conventional and genetic evidence on alcohol and vascular disease aetiology: a prospective study of 500 000 men and women in China. Lancet 2019;393(10183):1831-42. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31772-0.
- 102. Lawson DJ, Davies NM, Haworth S, et al. Is population structure in the genetic biobank era irrelevant, a challenge, or an opportunity? Hum Genet 2020. 139(1):23-41. doi: 10.1007/s00439-019-02014-8.
- 103. EUROASPIRE II Study Group. Lifestyle and risk-factor management and use of drug therapies in coronary patients from 15 countries; principal results from EUROASPIRE II Euro Heart Survey Programme. Eur Heart J 2001;22(7):554-72. doi: 10.1053/euhj.2001.2610.

- 104. D'Agostino RB, Russell MW, Huse DM, et al. Primary and subsequent coronary risk appraisal: new results from the Framingham study. Am Heart J 2000;139(2 Pt 1):272-81. doi: 10.1067/mhj.2000.96469.
- 105. National Heart Foundation of Australia. Secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease. 2010. Available from: https://www.heartfoundation.org.au/images/uploads/publications/Second ary-Prevention-of-cardiovascular-disease.pdf.
- 106. Piepoli MF, Corrà U, Abreu A, et al. Challenges in secondary prevention of cardiovascular diseases: a review of the current practice. Int J Cardiol 2015;180:114-9. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2014.11.107.
- 107. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Acute coronary syndromes. NICE guideline [NG185]. 2020. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng185/resources/acute-coronarysyndromes-pdf-66142023361477.
- 108. Smith SC, Benjamin EJ, Bonow RO, et al. AHA/ACCF secondary prevention and risk reduction therapy for patients with coronary and other atherosclerotic vascular disease: 2011 update: a guideline from the American Heart Association and American College of Cardiology Foundation endorsed by the World Heart Federation and the Preventive Cardiovascular Nurses Association. J Am Coll Cardiol 2011;58(23):2432-46. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2011.10.824.
- 109. Kernan WN, Ovbiagele B, Black HR, et al. Guidelines for the prevention of stroke in patients with stroke and transient ischemic attack: a guideline for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. Stroke 2014;45(7):2160-236. doi: 10.1161/STR.0000000000024.
- 110. World Health Organization. Prevention of cardiovascular disease: pocket guidelines for assessment and management of cardiovascular risk. 2007. Available from:

https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/43787/9789241547260_ eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.

 Costanzo S, Di Castelnuovo A, Donati MB, et al. Cardiovascular and overall mortality risk in relation to alcohol consumption in patients with cardiovascular disease. Circulation 2010;121(17):1951-9. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.865840.

- 112. Iestra JA, Kromhout D, van der Schouw YT, et al. Effect size estimates of lifestyle and dietary changes on all-cause mortality in coronary artery disease patients: a systematic review. Circulation 2005;112(6):924-34. doi: 10.1161/circulationaha.104.503995.
- Abe H, Kawano Y, Kojima S, et al. Biphasic effects of repeated alcohol intake on 24-hour blood pressure in hypertensive patients. Circulation 1994. 89(6):2626-33. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.89.6.2626.
- 114. Regan TJ. Alcohol and the cardiovascular system. JAMA 1990.264(3):377-81. doi:10.1001/jama.1990.03450030101041.
- 115. Janszky I, Mukamal KJ, Orth-Gomér K, et al. Alcohol consumption and coronary atherosclerosis progression--the Stockholm Female Coronary Risk Angiographic Study. Atherosclerosis 2004. 176(2):311-9. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2004.05.012.
- Janszky I, Ljung R, Ahnve S, et al. Alcohol and long-term prognosis after a first acute myocardial infarction: the SHEEP study. Eur Heart J 2008. 29(1):45-53. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehm509.
- Krenz M, Korthuis RJ. Moderate ethanol ingestion and cardiovascular protection: from epidemiologic associations to cellular mechanisms. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2012. 52(1):93-104. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2011.10.011.
- 118. Hale SL, Kloner RA. Ethanol does not exert myocardial preconditioning in an intact rabbit model of ischemia/reperfusion. Heart Dis 2001. 3(5):293-6. doi: 10.1097/00132580-200109000-00003.
- 119. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and U.S. Department of Agriculture. 2015 – 2020 Dietary Guidelines for Americans. 8th Edition. December 2015. Available from: https://health.gov/sites/default/files/2019-09/2015-2020 Dietary Guidelines.pdf.
- Costanzo S, Di Castelnuovo A, Donati MB, et al. Alcohol Consumption and Mortality in Patients With Cardiovascular Disease: A Meta-Analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010;55:1339-47. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2010.01.006.
- 121. De Smedt D, Clays E, Annemans L, et al. Health related quality of life in coronary patients and its association with their cardiovascular risk profile: results from the EUROASPIRE III survey. Int J Cardiol 2013;168(2):898-903. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2012.10.053.

- 122. Lee HT, Shin J, Lim YH, et al. Health-related quality of life in coronary heart disease in Korea: the Korea National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2007 to 2011. Angiology 2015;66(4):326-32. doi: 10.1177/0003319714533182.
- 123. Britton A, Ben-Shlomo Y, Benzeval M, et al. Life course trajectories of alcohol consumption in the United Kingdom using longitudinal data from nine cohort studies. BMC Med 2015;13:47. doi: 10.1186/s12916-015-0273-z.
- 124. O'Neill D, Britton A, Hannah MK, et al. Association of longitudinal alcohol consumption trajectories with coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis of six cohort studies using individual participant data. BMC Med 2018;16(1):124. doi: 10.1186/s12916-018-1123-6.
- 125. Britton A, Marmot MG, Shipley MJ. How does variability in alcohol consumption over time affect the relationship with mortality and coronary heart disease? Addiction 2010;105(4):639-45. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2009.02832.x.
- 126. Dam MK, Hvidtfeldt UA, Tjønneland A, et al. Five year change in alcohol intake and risk of breast cancer and coronary heart disease among postmenopausal women: prospective cohort study. BMJ 2016;353:i2314. doi: 10.1136/bmj.i2314.
- 127. Levantesi G, Marfisi R, Mozaffarian D, et al. Wine consumption and risk of cardiovascular events after myocardial infarction: results from the GISSI-Prevenzione trial. Int J Cardiol 2013;163(3):282-7. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2011.06.053.
- 128. Pai JK, Mukamal KJ, Rimm EB. Long-term alcohol consumption in relation to all-cause and cardiovascular mortality among survivors of myocardial infarction: the Health Professionals Follow-up Study. Eur Heart J 2012;33(13):1598-605. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehs047.
- 129. Rosenbloom JI, Mukamal KJ, Frost LE, et al. Alcohol consumption patterns, beverage type, and long-term mortality among women survivors of acute myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol 2012;109(2):147-52. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2011.08.021.
- 130. Mindell J, Biddulph JP, Hirani V, et al. Cohort profile: the health survey for England. Int J Epidemiol 2012;41(6):1585-93. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyr199.

- 131. Gray L, Batty GD, Craig P, et al. Cohort profile: the Scottish health surveys cohort: linkage of study participants to routinely collected records for mortality, hospital discharge, cancer and offspring birth characteristics in three nationwide studies. Int J Epidemiol 2010;39(2):345-50. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyp155.
- 132. Sudlow C, Gallacher J, Allen N, et al. UK biobank: an open access resource for identifying the causes of a wide range of complex diseases of middle and old age. PLoS Med 2015;12(3):e1001779. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001779.
- 133. Schnier C, Bush K, Nolan J, Sudlow C, UK Biobank Outcome Adjudication Group. Definitions of Acute Myocardial Infarction and Main Myocardial Infarction Pathological Types UK Biobank Phase 1 Outcomes Adjudication. 2017. Available from: http://biobank.etau.ex.ao.uk/an/atal/apa/alg.autoama.mi.adf.

http://biobank.ctsu.ox.ac.uk/crystal/crystal/docs/alg_outcome_mi.pdf.

- 134. Schnier C, Bush K, Nolan J, Sudlow C, UK Biobank Outcome Adjudication Group. Definitions of Stroke for UK Biobank Phase 1 Outcomes Adjudication. 2017. Available from: https://biobank.ndph.ox.ac.uk/showcase/showcase/docs/alg_outcome_st roke.pdf.
- 135. UK Biobank Algorithmically-defined outcomes (ADOs). 2022. Available from:

https://biobank.ndph.ox.ac.uk/showcase/ukb/docs/alg_outcome_main.pd f.

- 136. Timpka S, Fraser A, Schyman T, et al. The value of pregnancy complication history for 10-year cardiovascular disease risk prediction in middle-aged women. Eur J Epidemiol 2018;33(10):1003-10. doi: 10.1007/s10654-018-0429-1.
- House of Commons Science and Technology Committee. Alcohol guidelines, Eleventh Report of Session 2010–12. Available from: https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201012/cmselect/cmsctech/1536/ 1536.pdf.
- 138. Brown L, National Centre for Social Research. Health Survey for England 2015: adult alcohol consumption. 2016. Available from: https://cliftondavies.com/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/Health-Survey-England-adult-alcohol-consumption.pdf.

- 139. Dawes P, Cruickshanks KJ, Moore DR, et al. Cigarette smoking, passive smoking, alcohol consumption, and hearing loss. J Assoc Res Otolaryngol 2014;15(4):663-74. doi: 10.1007/s10162-014-0461-0.
- 140. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Alcohol-use disorders: prevention 2010. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph24/resources/alcoholuse-disordersprevention-pdf-1996237007557.
- 141. Office for National Statistics. Standard occupational classification 2010. Available from: https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/classificationsandstandards/standar doccupationalclassificationsoc/soc2010.
- 142. Guggenheim JA, Williams C, UK Biobank Eye and Vision Consortium. Role of Educational Exposure in the Association Between Myopia and Birth Order. JAMA Ophthalmol 2015;133(12):1408-14. doi: 10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2015.3556.
- 143. Egeberg A, Gislason GH, Hansen PR. Risk of Major Adverse Cardiovascular Events and All-Cause Mortality in Patients With Hidradenitis Suppurativa. JAMA Dermatol 2016;152(4):429-34. doi: 10.1001/jamadermatol.2015.6264.
- 144. Bansal N, Fischbacher CM, Bhopal RS, et al. Myocardial infarction incidence and survival by ethnic group: Scottish Health and Ethnicity Linkage retrospective cohort study. BMJ Open 2013;3(9):e003415. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013-003415.
- 145. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, et al. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. BMJ 2009;339:b2535. doi: 10.1136/bmj.b2535.
- 146. Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC, et al. Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting. Meta-analysis Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) group. JAMA 2000;283(15):2008-12. doi: 10.1001/jama.283.15.2008.
- 147. Aguilar D, Skali H, Moyé LA, et al. Alcohol consumption and prognosis in patients with left ventricular systolic dysfunction after a myocardial infarction. Journal of the American College of Cardiology 2004;43:2015-21. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2004.01.042.
- 148. Jackson VA, Sesso HD, Buring JE, et al. Alcohol Consumption and Mortality in Men With Preexisting Cerebrovascular Disease. Archives of Internal Medicine 2003;163:1189-93. doi: 10.1001/archinte.163.10.1189.
- 149. Muntwyler J, Hennekens CH, Buring JE, et al. Mortality and light to moderate alcohol consumption after myocardial infarction. Lancet 1998;352:1882-5. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(98)06351-X.
- Kalinowski A, Humphreys K. Governmental standard drink definitions and low-risk alcohol consumption guidelines in 37 countries. Addiction 2016;111(7):1293-8. doi: 10.1111/add.13341.
- 151. World Health Organization. International guide for monitoring alcohol consumption and related harm. 2000. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/66529/WHO_MSD_MSB _00.4.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.
- 152. Masunaga N, Kimura A, Miyataka M, et al. Effects of Alcohol Consumption on Cardiovascular Events in Male Patients With Healed Myocardial Infarction. Circ J 2006;70:1263-8. doi: 10.1253/circj.70.1263.
- 153. Jackson VA, Sesso HD, Buring JE, et al. Alcohol consumption and mortality in men with preexisting cerebrovascular disease. Arch Intern Med 2003;163(10):1189-93.
- Mukamal KJ, Maclure M, Muller JE, et al. Prior alcohol consumption and mortality following acute myocardial infarction. JAMA 2001;285(15):1965-70. doi: 10.1001/jama.285.15.1965.
- 155. Shaper AG, Wannamethee SG. Alcohol intake and mortality in middle aged men with diagnosed coronary heart disease. Heart 2000;83(4):394-9. doi: 10.1136/heart.83.4.394.
- 156. Muntwyler J, Hennekens CH, Buring JE, et al. Mortality and light to moderate alcohol consumption after myocardial infarction. Lancet 1998;352(9144):1882-5. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(98)06351-X.
- Berlin JA, Longnecker MP, Greenland S. Meta-analysis of epidemiologic dose-response data. Epidemiology 1993;4(3):218-28. doi: 10.1097/00001648-199305000-00005.
- 158. Hamling J, Lee P, Weitkunat R, et al. Facilitating meta-analyses by deriving relative effect and precision estimates for alternative comparisons from a set of estimates presented by exposure level or disease category. Stat Med 2008;27(7):954-70. doi: 10.1002/sim.3013.

- 159. Wells GA, Shea B, O'Connell D, et al. The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of nonrandomised studies in metaanalyses. Available from: http://www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical_epidemiology/oxford.asp.
- 160. Royston P, Sauerbrei W. Fractional Polynomials for One Variable. In: Multivariable model-building: a pragmatic approach to regression anaylsis based on fractional polynomials for modelling continuous variables. Chichester: Wiley 2008;71–98. doi: 10.1002/9780470770771.ch4.
- 161. Royston P, Altman DG. Regression using fractional polynomials of continuous covariates: parsimonious parametric modelling. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series C (Applied Statistics) 1994;43(3):429-53.
- 162. Bagnardi V, Zambon A, Quatto P, et al. Flexible meta-regression functions for modeling aggregate dose-response data, with an application to alcohol and mortality. Am J Epidemiol 2004;159(11):1077-86. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwh142.
- Orsini N, Bellocco R, Greenland S. Generalized least squares for trend estimation of summarized dose-response data. Stata Journal 2006;6(1):40.
- 164. White IR. Multivariate random-effects meta-regression: updates to mvmeta. Stata journal 2011;11(2):255.
- 165. Higgins JP, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, et al. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. BMJ 2003;327(7414):557-60. doi: 10.1136/bmj.327.7414.557.
- 166. Egger M, Smith GD, Schneider M, et al. Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. BMJ 1997;315(7109):629-34. doi: 10.1136/bmj.315.7109.629.
- de Lorgeril M, Salen P, Martin JL, et al. Wine Drinking and Risks of Cardiovascular Complications After Recent Acute Myocardial Infarction. Circulation 2002;106:1465-9. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000029745.63708.E9.
- 168. Janszky I, Ljung R, Ahnve S, et al. Alcohol and long-term prognosis after a first acute myocardial infarction: the SHEEP study. Eur Heart J 2008;29:45-53. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehm509.

- 169. Valmadrid CT, Klein R, Moss SE, et al. Alcohol Intake and the Risk of Coronary Heart Disease Mortality in Persons With Older-Onset Diabetes Mellitus. JAMA 1999;282:239-46. doi: 10.1001/jama.282.3.239.
- 170. Riley, R.D., J.P. Higgins, and J.J. Deeks, Interpretation of random effects meta-analyses. BMJ 2011;342:d549.
- 171. Hansen JL, Tolstrup JS, Jensen MK, et al. Alcohol intake and risk of acute coronary syndrome and mortality in men and women with and without hypertension. Eur J Epidemiol 2011;26(6):439-47. doi: 10.1007/s10654-011-9564-7.
- 172. Koppes L, Dekker J, Hendriks H, et al. Meta-analysis of the relationship between alcohol consumption and coronary heart disease and mortality in type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetologia 2006;49(4):648-52. doi: 10.1007/s00125-005-0127-x.
- Langer RD, Criqui MH, Reed DM. Lipoproteins and blood pressure as biological pathways for effect of moderate alcohol consumption on coronary heart disease. Circulation 1992. 85(3):910-5. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.85.3.910.
- 174. Emeson EE, Manaves V, Emeson BS, et al. Alcohol inhibits the progression as well as the initiation of atherosclerotic lesions in C57BI/6 hyperlipidemic mice. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2000. 24(9):1456-66.
- 175. Bernauer W. The effect of ethanol on arrhythmias and myocardial necrosis in rats with coronary occlusion and reperfusion. Eur J Pharmacol 1986. 126(3):179-87. doi: 10.1016/0014-2999(86)90047-6.
- 176. Ng Fat L, Cable N, Shelton N. Worsening of health and a cessation or reduction in alcohol consumption to special occasion drinking across three decades of the life course. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2015;39(1):166-74. doi: 10.1111/acer.12596.
- Tsubono Y, Yamada S, Nishino Y, et al. Choice of comparison group in assessing the health effects of moderate alcohol consumption. JAMA 2001;286(10):1177-8. doi: 10.1001/jama.286.10.1177.
- 178. Stockwell T, Zhao J, Panwar S, et al. Do "moderate" drinkers have reduced mortality risk? A systematic review and meta-analysis of alcohol consumption and all-cause mortality. J Stud Alcohol Drugs 2016;77(2):185-98. doi: 10.15288/jsad.2016.77.185.

- 179. Huang C ZJ, Liu Y J, et al. Association between alcohol consumption and risk of cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality in patients with hypertension: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. Mayo Clin Proc 2014;89(9):1201-10. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2014.05.014.
- Naimi TS SL, Chikritzhs T, Stockwell T, Zhao J, Britton A, Saitz R, Sherk
 A. Alcohol, Age, and Mortality: Estimating Selection Bias Due to
 Premature Death. J Stud Alcohol Drugs 2019;80(1):63-8.
- 181. Boniface S, Scholes S, Shelton N, et al. Assessment of Non-Response Bias in Estimates of Alcohol Consumption: Applying the Continuum of Resistance Model in a General Population Survey in England. PLoS One 2017;12(1):e0170892. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0170892.
- 182. Gaziano JM, Gaziano TA, Glynn RJ, et al. Light-to-moderate alcohol consumption and mortality in the Physicians' Health Study enrollment cohort. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000;35(1):96-105. doi: 10.1016/s0735-1097(99)00531-8.
- 183. Bardach AE, Alcaraz AO, Ciapponi A, et al. Alcohol consumption's attributable disease burden and cost-effectiveness of targeted public health interventions: a systematic review of mathematical models. BMC public health 2019;19(1):1378. doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-7771-4.
- 184. Knott C S CN, Stamatakis E, Biddulph J P. All cause mortality and the case for age specific alcohol consumption guidelines: pooled analyses of up to 10 population based cohorts. BMJ 2015;350:h384 doi:10.1136/bmj.h384.
- 185. Smyth A, Teo KK, Rangarajan S, et al. Alcohol consumption and cardiovascular disease, cancer, injury, admission to hospital, and mortality: a prospective cohort study. Lancet 2015;386(10007):1945-54. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00235-4.
- Wood AM, Kaptoge S, Butterworth AS, et al. Risk thresholds for alcohol consumption: combined analysis of individual-participant data for 599 912 current drinkers in 83 prospective studies. Lancet 2018;391(10129):1513-23. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30134-X.
- Liang W, Chikritzhs T. Reduction in alcohol consumption and health status. Addiction 2011;106(1):75-81. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2010.03164.x.

- LoConte NK, Brewster AM, Kaur JS, et al. Alcohol and Cancer: A Statement of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. J Clin Oncol 2018;36(1):83-93. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.76.1155.
- 189. Johnson FW, Gruenewald PJ, Treno AJ, et al. Drinking over the life course within gender and ethnic groups: a hyperparametric analysis. J Stud Alcohol 1998;59(5):568-80. doi: 10.15288/jsa.1998.59.568.
- Singer JD, Willett JB. A Framework for Investigating Change over Time.
 In: Applied Longitudinal Data Analysis: Modeling Change and Event
 Occurrence. Oxford University Press, New York; 2003.
- 191. Molander RC, Yonker JA, Krahn DD. Age-related changes in drinking patterns from mid- to older age: results from the Wisconsin longitudinal study. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2010;34(7):1182-92. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2010.01195.x.
- 192. Gavens L, Goyder E, Hock ES, et al. Alcohol consumption after health deterioration in older adults: a mixed-methods study. Public Health 2016;139:79-87. doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2016.05.016.
- Perreira KM, Sloan FA. Life events and alcohol consumption among mature adults: a longitudinal analysis. J Stud Alcohol 2001;62(4):501-8. doi: 10.15288/jsa.2001.62.501.
- 194. Marmot MG, Smith GD, Stansfeld S, et al. Health inequalities among British civil servants: the Whitehall II study. Lancet 1991;337(8754):1387-93. doi: 10.1016/0140-6736(91)93068-k.
- 195. Day N, Oakes S, Luben R, et al. EPIC-Norfolk: study design and characteristics of the cohort. European Prospective Investigation of Cancer. Br J Cancer 1999;80 Suppl 1:95-103.
- 196. Curran PJ, McGinley JS, Serrano D, et al. A multivariate growth curve model for three-level data. In: APA handbook of research methods in psychology, Vol. 3. Data analysis and research publication. American Psychological Association 2012;335–58. doi: 10.1037/13621-017.
- 197. Knott CS, Britton A, Bell S. Trajectories of alcohol consumption prior to the diagnosis of type 2 diabetes: a longitudinal case-cohort study. Int J Epidemiol 2018;47(3):953-65. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyx274.
- Tilling K, Macdonald-Wallis C, Lawlor DA, et al. Modelling childhood growth using fractional polynomials and linear splines. Ann Nutr Metab 2014. 65(2-3):129-38. doi: 10.1159/000362695.

- 199. Marsh LC, Cormier DR. Spline Regression Models. Thousand Oaks, Sage. 2001.
- 200. Long J, Ryoo J. Using fractional polynomials to model non-linear trends in longitudinal data. Br J Math Stat Psychol 2010;63(Pt 1):177-203. doi: 10.1348/000711009x431509.
- 201. Raftery AE. Bayesian model selection in social research. Sociological methodology 1995:111-63.
- 202. Royston P, White IR. Multiple imputation by chained equations (MICE): implementation in Stata. J Stat Softw 2011;45(4):1-20.
- 203. Huque MH, Carlin JB, Simpson JA, et al. A comparison of multiple imputation methods for missing data in longitudinal studies. BMC Med Res Methodol 2018;18(1):168. doi: 10.1186/s12874-018-0615-6.
- 204. Seaman SR, Bartlett JW, White IR. Multiple imputation of missing covariates with non-linear effects and interactions: an evaluation of statistical methods. BMC Med Res Methodol 2012;12:46. doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-12-46.
- 205. Kuh D, Ben-Shlomo Y, Lynch J, et al. Life course epidemiology. J
 Epidemiol Community Health 2003;57(10):778-83. doi:
 10.1136/jech.57.10.778.
- 206. Casswell S, Pledger M, Pratap S. Trajectories of drinking from 18 to 26 years: identification and prediction. Addiction 2002;97(11):1427-37. doi: 10.1046/j.1360-0443.2002.00220.x.
- 207. Muthen B, Muthen LK. Integrating person-centered and variablecentered analyses: growth mixture modeling with latent trajectory classes. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2000;24(6):882-91.
- 208. Joosten MM, Chiuve SE, Mukamal KJ, et al. Changes in alcohol consumption and subsequent risk of type 2 diabetes in men. Diabetes 2011;60(1):74-9. doi: 10.2337/db10-1052.
- 209. The Royal College of Physicans. A Great and Growing Evil: The Medical Consequences of Alcohol Abuse. Tavistock, London;1987.
- 210. British Medical Association (BMA). Alcohol: guidelines on sensible drinking. BMA, London;1995.
- 211. Cooper A, O'Flynn N, Guideline Development Group. Risk assessment and lipid modification for primary and secondary prevention of

cardiovascular disease: summary of NICE guidance. BMJ 2008;336(7655):1246-8. doi: 10.1136/bmj.39554.624086.AD.

- 212. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Cardiovascular disease: risk assessment and reduction, including lipid modification.
 2014. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg181.
- Britton A, O'Neill D, Bell S. Underestimating the Alcohol Content of a Glass of Wine: The Implications for Estimates of Mortality Risk. Alcohol Alcohol 2016;51(5):609-14. doi: 10.1093/alcalc/agw027.
- McKenna H, Treanor C, O'Reilly D, et al. Evaluation of the psychometric properties of self-reported measures of alcohol consumption: a COSMIN systematic review. Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy 2018. 13(1):6. doi: 10.1186/s13011-018-0143-8.
- Del Boca FK, Darkes J. The validity of self-reports of alcohol consumption: state of the science and challenges for research. Addiction 2003. 98 Suppl 2:1-12. doi: 10.1046/j.1359-6357.2003.00586.x.
- 216. Zins M, Gueguen A, Kivimaki M, et al. Effect of retirement on alcohol consumption: longitudinal evidence from the French Gazel cohort study. PLoS One 2011;6(10):e26531. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0026531.
- 217. Fekjaer HO. Alcohol-a universal preventive agent? A critical analysis. Addiction 2013;108(12):2051-7. doi: 10.1111/add.12104.
- Parekh N, Lin Y, Chan M, et al. Longitudinal dimensions of alcohol consumption and dietary intake in the Framingham Heart Study Offspring Cohort (1971-2008). Br J Nutr 2021;125(6):685-94. doi: 10.1017/S0007114520002676.
- 219. Emberson JR, Shaper AG, Wannamethee SG, et al. Alcohol intake in middle age and risk of cardiovascular disease and mortality: accounting for intake variation over time. Am J Epidemiol 2005;161(9):856-63. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwi111.
- 220. Russell M, Peirce RS, Vana JE, et al. Relations among alcohol consumption measures derived from the Cognitive Lifetime Drinking History. Drug Alcohol Rev 1998;17(4):377-87. doi: 10.1080/09595239800187221.
- 221. Hongli Z, Bi X, Zheng N, et al. Joint effect of alcohol drinking and tobacco smoking on all-cause mortality and premature death in China: A cohort

study. PLoS One 2021;16(1):e0245670. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0245670.

- 222. Jones BL, Nagin DS. A Note on a Stata Plugin for Estimating Groupbased Trajectory Models. Sociological Methods & Research 2013;42(4):608-13. doi: 10.1177/0049124113503141.
- Nagin DS, Odgers CL. Group-based trajectory modeling in clinical research. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 2010;6:109-38. doi: 10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.121208.131413.
- 224. Sabia S, Fayosse A, Dumurgier J, et al. Alcohol consumption and risk of dementia: 23 year follow-up of Whitehall II cohort study. BMJ 2018.
 362:k2927. doi: 10.1136/bmj.k2927.
- 225. Donat-Vargas C, Guerrero-Zotano Á, Casas A, et al. Trajectories of alcohol consumption during life and the risk of developing breast cancer.
 Br J Cancer 2021. 125(8):1168-76. doi: 10.1038/s41416-021-01492-w.
- 226. Nagin D. Group-Based Modeling of Development. Cambridge, MA and London, England: Harvard University Press. 2009.
- 227. World Health Organization. Global recommendations on physical activity for health. 2010. Available from: https://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/global-PA-recs-2010.pdf.
- 228. White IR, Royston P. Imputing missing covariate values for the Cox model. Stat Med 2009;28(15):1982-98. doi: 10.1002/sim.3618.
- 229. Kontopantelis E, White IR, Sperrin M, et al. Outcome-sensitive multiple imputation: a simulation study. BMC Med Res Methodol 2017;17(1):2. doi: 10.1186/s12874-016-0281-5.
- 230. De Silva AP, Moreno-Betancur M, De Livera AM, et al. A comparison of multiple imputation methods for handling missing values in longitudinal data in the presence of a time-varying covariate with a non-linear association with time: a simulation study. BMC Med Res Methodol 2017;17(1):114. doi: 10.1186/s12874-017-0372-y.
- 231. Rehm J, Irving H, Ye Y, et al. Are lifetime abstainers the best control group in alcohol epidemiology? On the stability and validity of reported lifetime abstention. Am J Epidemiol 2008;168(8):866-71. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwn093.
- 232. Singh-Manoux A, Guéguen A, Martikainen P, et al. Self-rated health and mortality: short- and long-term associations in the Whitehall II study.

Psychosom Med 2007;69(2):138-43. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e318030483a.

- 233. Singh-Manoux A, Martikainen P, Ferrie J, et al. What does self rated health measure? Results from the British Whitehall II and French Gazel cohort studies. J Epidemiol Community Health 2006;60(4):364-72. doi: 10.1136/jech.2005.039883.
- 234. Wannamethee G, Shaper AG. Changes in drinking habits in middle-aged British men. J R Coll Gen Pract 1988;38(315):440-2.
- 235. Gemes K, Moeller J, Engstrom K, et al. Alcohol consumption trajectories and self-rated health: findings from the Stockholm Public Health Cohort. BMJ Open 2019;9(8):e028878. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-028878.
- 236. Gmel G, Gutjahr E, Rehm J. How stable is the risk curve between alcohol and all-cause mortality and what factors influence the shape? A precision-weighted hierarchical meta-analysis. Eur J Epidemiol 2003;18(7):631-42. doi: 10.1023/a:1024805021504.
- 237. Wannamethee SG, Shaper AG. Lifelong teetotallers, ex-drinkers and drinkers: mortality and the incidence of major coronary heart disease events in middle-aged British men. Int J Epidemiol 1997;26(3):523-31. doi: 10.1093/ije/26.3.523.
- 238. Jayasekara H, English DR, Room R, et al. Alcohol consumption over time and risk of death: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Epidemiol 2014;179(9):1049-59. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwu028.
- 239. Bergmann MM, Rehm J, Klipstein-Grobusch K, et al. The association of pattern of lifetime alcohol use and cause of death in the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition (EPIC) study. Int J Epidemiol 2013;42(6):1772-90. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyt154.
- 240. Ding C, O'Neill D, Bell S, et al. Association of alcohol consumption with morbidity and mortality in patients with cardiovascular disease: original data and meta-analysis of 48,423 men and women. BMC Med 2021;19(1):167. doi: 10.1186/s12916-021-02040-2.
- 241. Ng Fat L, Cable N, Marmot MG, et al. Persistent long-standing illness and non-drinking over time, implications for the use of lifetime abstainers as a control group. J Epidemiol Community Health 2014;68(1):71-7. doi: 10.1136/jech-2013-202576.

- 242. Anttila T, Helkala EL, Viitanen M, et al. Alcohol drinking in middle age and subsequent risk of mild cognitive impairment and dementia in old age: a prospective population based study. BMJ 2004;329(7465):539. doi: 10.1136/bmj.38181.418958.BE.
- 243. Handing EP, Andel R, Kadlecova P, et al. Midlife Alcohol Consumption and Risk of Dementia Over 43 Years of Follow-Up: A Population-Based Study From the Swedish Twin Registry. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2015;70(10):1248-54. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glv038.
- 244. Green CA, Polen MR. The health and health behaviors of people who do not drink alcohol. Am J Prev Med 2001;21(4):298-305. doi: 10.1016/s0749-3797(01)00365-8.
- 245. Naimi TS, Brown DW, Brewer RD, et al. Cardiovascular risk factors and confounders among nondrinking and moderate-drinking U.S. adults. Am J Prev Med 2005;28(4):369-73. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2005.01.011.
- 246. Di Castelnuovo A, Costanzo S, Bagnardi V, et al. Alcohol dosing and total mortality in men and women: an updated meta-analysis of 34 prospective studies. Arch Intern Med 2006;166(22):2437-45. doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.22.2437.
- 247. Suissa S. Immortal time bias in pharmaco-epidemiology. Am J Epidemiol 2008. 167(4): 492-9. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwm324.
- 248. Lévesque LE, Hanley JA, Kezouh A, et al. Problem of immortal time bias in cohort studies: example using statins for preventing progression of diabetes. BMJ 2010. 340:b5087. doi: 10.1136/bmj.b5087.
- 249. Zhou Z, Rahme E, Abrahamowicz M, et al. Survival bias associated with time-to-treatment initiation in drug effectiveness evaluation: a comparison of methods. Am J Epidemiol 2005. 162(10):1016-23. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwi307.
- 250. Batty GD, Shipley M, Tabak A, et al. Generalizability of occupational cohort study findings. Epidemiology 2014;25(6):932-3. doi: 10.1097/EDE.00000000000184.
- 251. Mukamal KJ, Conigrave KM, Mittleman MA, et al. Roles of drinking pattern and type of alcohol consumed in coronary heart disease in men.
 N Engl J Med 2003;348(2):109-18. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa022095.
- 252. Britton A, Hardy R, Kuh D, et al. Twenty-year trajectories of alcohol consumption during midlife and atherosclerotic thickening in early old

age: findings from two British population cohort studies. BMC Med 2016;14(1):111. doi: 10.1186/s12916-016-0656-9.

- Dahabreh IJ, Kent DM. Index event bias as an explanation for the paradoxes of recurrence risk research. JAMA 2011. 305(8):822-3. doi: 10.1001/jama.2011.163.
- 254. Hu YJ, Schmidt AF, Dudbridge F, et al. Impact of Selection Bias on Estimation of Subsequent Event Risk. Circ Cardiovasc Genet 2017.
 10(5). doi: 10.1161/CIRCGENETICS.
- 255. Gruberg L, Weissman NJ, Waksman R, et al. The impact of obesity on the short-term and long-term outcomes after percutaneous coronary intervention: the obesity paradox? J Am Coll Cardiol 2002. 39(4):578-84. doi: 10.1016/s0735-1097(01)01802-2.
- Rich JD, Cannon CP, Murphy SA, et al. Prior aspirin use and outcomes in acute coronary syndromes. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010. 56(17):1376-85. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2010.06.028.
- Roerecke M, Rehm J. Chronic heavy drinking and ischaemic heart disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Open heart 2014;1(1):e000135. doi: 10.1136/openhrt-2014-000135.
- 258. Baan R, Straif K, Grosse Y, et al. Carcinogenicity of alcoholic beverages.Lancet Oncol 2007;8(4):292-3. doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(07)70099-2.
- 259. Middleton Fillmore K, Chikritzhs T, Stockwell T, et al. Alcohol use and prostate cancer: a meta-analysis. Mol Nutr Food Res 2009;53(2):240-55. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.200800122.
- Rota M, Scotti L, Turati F, et al. Alcohol consumption and prostate cancer risk: a meta-analysis of the dose-risk relation. Eur J Cancer Prev 2012;21(4):350-9. doi: 10.1097/CEJ.0b013e32834dbc11.
- Noble N, Paul C, Turon H, et al. Which modifiable health risk behaviours are related? A systematic review of the clustering of Smoking, Nutrition, Alcohol and Physical activity ('SNAP') health risk factors. Prev Med 2015. 81:16-41. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2015.07.003.
- 262. Harris M. Smoking, nutrition, alcohol and physical activity (SNAP): a population health guide to behavioural risk factors for general practices. Melbourne: Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. 2004.
- 263. Royal College of Psychiatrists. Our invisible addicts (No. CR211). 2018.Available from: https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-

care/better-mh-policy/college-reports/college-reportcr211.pdf?sfvrsn=820fe4bc_2.

- 264. Wilkinson C, Dare J. Shades of Grey: The Need for a Multi-disciplinary Approach to Research Investigating Alcohol and Ageing. J Public Health Res 2014;3(1):180. doi: 10.4081/jphr.2014.180.
- 265. Royal College of Physicians. The evidence base for alcohol guidelines.
 2011. Available from: https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201012/cmselect/cmsctech/write v/1536/ag22.htm.
- 266. Britton A, Bell S. Reasons why people change their alcohol consumption in later life: findings from the Whitehall II Cohort Study. PLoS One 2015;10(3):e0119421. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0119421.
- 267. National Institutes of Health. Older Adults and Alcohol. 2015. Available from: https://pubs.niaaa.nih.gov/publications/olderadults/olderadults.pdf.
- Movva R, Figueredo VM. Alcohol and the heart: to abstain or not to abstain? Int J Cardiol 2013;164(3):267-76. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2012.01.030.
- 269. Emberson JR, Bennett DA. Effect of alcohol on risk of coronary heart disease and stroke: causality, bias, or a bit of both? Vasc Health Risk Manag 2006;2(3):239-49. doi: 10.2147/vhrm.2006.2.3.239.
- 270. Leffingwell TR, Cooney NJ, Murphy JG, et al. Continuous objective monitoring of alcohol use: twenty-first century measurement using transdermal sensors. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2013;37(1):16-22. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2012.01869.x.
- 271. Masci PG, Ganame J, Francone M, et al. Relationship between location and size of myocardial infarction and their reciprocal influences on postinfarction left ventricular remodelling. Eur Heart J 2011;32(13):1640-8. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehr064.
- 272. Crowther MJ, Abrams KR, Lambert PC. Joint modeling of longitudinal and survival data. The Stata Journal 2013;13(1):165-84.
- Proust-Lima C, Sene M, Taylor JM, et al. Joint latent class models for longitudinal and time-to-event data: a review. Stat Methods Med Res 2014;23(1):74-90. doi: 10.1177/0962280212445839.
- 274. Wulfsohn MS, Tsiatis AA. A joint model for survival and longitudinal data measured with error. Biometrics 1997;53(1):330-9.

- 275. Tsiatis AA, Degruttola V, Wulfsohn MS. Modeling the relationship of survival to longitudinal data measured with error. Applications to survival and CD4 counts in patients with AIDS. J Am Stat Assoc 1995;90(429):27-37.
- 276. Andrinopoulou ER, Rizopoulos D, Jin R, et al. An introduction to mixed models and joint modeling: analysis of valve function over time. Ann Thorac Surg 2012;93(6):1765-72. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2012.02.049.
- 277. Daher Abdi Z, Essig M, Rizopoulos D, et al. Impact of longitudinal exposure to mycophenolic acid on acute rejection in renal-transplant recipients using a joint modeling approach. Pharmacol Res 2013;72:52-60. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2013.03.009.
- 278. Garre FG, Zwinderman AH, Geskus RB, et al. A joint latent class changepoint model to improve the prediction of time to graft failure. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series A (Statistics in Society) 2008;171(1):299-308.
- 279. Asar O, Ritchie J, Kalra PA, et al. Joint modelling of repeated measurement and time-to-event data: an introductory tutorial. Int J Epidemiol 2015;44(1):334-44. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyu262.
- Ibrahim JG, Chu H, Chen LM. Basic concepts and methods for joint models of longitudinal and survival data. J Clin Oncol 2010;28(16):2796-801. doi: 10.1200/jco.2009.25.0654.
- 281. Stockwell T, Chikritzhs T. Commentary: another serious challenge to the hypothesis that moderate drinking is good for health? Int J Epidemiol 2013;42(6):1792-4. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyt217.
- 282. Liang W, Chikritzhs T. The association between alcohol exposure and self-reported health status: the effect of separating former and current drinkers. PLoS One 2013;8(2):e55881. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0055881.
- 283. van de Luitgaarden IAT, van Oort S, Bouman EJ, et al. Alcohol consumption in relation to cardiovascular diseases and mortality: a systematic review of Mendelian randomization studies. Eur J Epidemiol 2021. doi: 10.1007/s10654-021-00799-5.
- 284. Holmes MV, Dale CE, Zuccolo L, et al. Association between alcohol and cardiovascular disease: Mendelian randomisation analysis based on

individual participant data. BMJ 2014. 349:g4164. doi: 10.1136/bmj.g4164.

- 285. Liu M, Jiang Y, Wedow R, et al. Association studies of up to 1.2 million individuals yield new insights into the genetic etiology of tobacco and alcohol use. Nat Genet 2019. 51(2):237-44. doi: 10.1038/s41588-018-0307-5.
- 286. Burgess S, Davey Smith G, Davies NM, et al. Guidelines for performing Mendelian randomization investigations. Wellcome Open Res 2019.
 4:186. doi: 10.12688/wellcomeopenres.15555.2.
- 287. Larsson SC, Burgess S, Mason AM, et al. Alcohol Consumption and Cardiovascular Disease: A Mendelian Randomization Study. Circ Genom Precis Med 2020. 13(3):e002814. doi: 10.1161/CIRCGEN.119.002814.
- Staley JR, Burgess S. Semiparametric methods for estimation of a nonlinear exposure-outcome relationship using instrumental variables with application to Mendelian randomization. Genet Epidemiol 2017. 41(4):341-52. doi: 10.1002/gepi.22041.
- Burgess S, Davies NM, Thompson SG. Thompson, Instrumental variable analysis with a nonlinear exposure-outcome relationship. Epidemiology 2014. 25(6):877-85. doi: 10.1097/EDE.00000000000161.
- 290. Vu KN, Ballantyne CM, Hoogeveen RC, et al. Causal Role of Alcohol Consumption in an Improved Lipid Profile: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. PLoS One 2016. 11(2):e0148765. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0148765.
- 291. Paternoster L, Tilling K, Davey Smith G. Genetic epidemiology and Mendelian randomization for informing disease therapeutics: Conceptual and methodological challenges. PLoS Genet 2017. 13(10):e1006944. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1006944.
- 292. Patel RS, Tragante V, Schmidt AF, et al. Subsequent event risk in individuals with established coronary heart disease: design and rationale of the GENIUS-CHD consortium. Circ Genom Precis Med 2019. 12(4):e002470. doi: 10.1161/CIRCGEN.119.002470.
- 293. World Health Organization. WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard. Available from: https://covid19.who.int/.

- 294. Mehra MR, Desai SS, Kuy S, et al. Cardiovascular Disease, Drug Therapy, and Mortality in Covid-19. N Engl J Med 2020;382(25):e102. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2007621.
- 295. Kiss P, Carcel C, Hockham C, et al. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the care and management of patients with acute cardiovascular disease: a systematic review. Eur Heart J Qual Care Clin Outcomes 2021;7(1):18-27. doi: 10.1093/ehjqcco/qcaa084.
- 296. Mafham MM, Spata E, Goldacre R, et al. COVID-19 pandemic and admission rates for and management of acute coronary syndromes in England. Lancet 2020;396(10248):381-89. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31356-8.
- 297. Tam CF, Cheung KS, Lam S, et al. Impact of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Outbreak on ST-Segment-Elevation Myocardial Infarction Care in Hong Kong, China. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes 2020;13(4):e006631. doi: 10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.120.006631.
- 298. Khera A, Baum SJ, Gluckman TJ, et al. Continuity of care and outpatient management for patients with and at high risk for cardiovascular disease during the COVID-19 pandemic: A scientific statement from the American Society for Preventive Cardiology. Am J Prev Cardiol 2020;1:100009. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpc.2020.100009.
- 299. Santi RL, Márquez MF, Piskorz D, et al. Ambulatory Patients with Cardiometabolic Disease and Without Evidence of COVID-19 During the Pandemic. The CorCOVID LATAM Study. Global heart 2021;16(1). doi: 10.5334/gh.932.
- Mallet J, Dubertret C, Le Strat Y. Addictions in the COVID-19 era: Current evidence, future perspectives a comprehensive review. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry 2021;106:110070. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2020.110070.
- Bollen Z, Pabst A, Creupelandt C, et al. Longitudinal Assessment of Alcohol Consumption throughout the First COVID-19 Lockdown: Contribution of Age and Pre-Pandemic Drinking Patterns. Eur Addict Res 2021:1-8. doi: 10.1159/000518218.
- 302. Aragam KG, Chaffin M, Levinson RT, et al. Phenotypic Refinement of Heart Failure in a National Biobank Facilitates Genetic Discovery. Circulation 2018 doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.118.035774.

- 303. Papadakis M, Sharma S, Cox S, et al. The magnitude of sudden cardiac death in the young: a death certificate-based review in England and Wales. Europace 2009;11(10):1353-8. doi: 10.1093/europace/eup229.
- Smolina K, Wright FL, Rayner M, et al. Long-term survival and recurrence after acute myocardial infarction in England, 2004 to 2010. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes 2012;5(4):532-40. doi: 10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.111.964700.